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We are part of everyday life for
millions of customers across Europe.
We entertain and connect them
by offering the best content,
technology to put them in control
and best-in-class service delivery.
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StrataDe report

Chairman’s statement

2015 has been a transformational year for
Sky With the acquisition of the businesses
in Germany and !taly, the Company has
moved beyond the boundaries of the

UK and Ireland to create a world-class

pay TV operation

Nick Ferguson, CBE

1« New office campus Osterley Sky UK 2 - Opening of Sky Acadey Skis Studios Livingston Sky UK
3-0ffices Milan Sky taha
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Against the backdrop of a Fast-moving industry we have brought
together the three leaders in therr respectve markets positioning
the enlarged group to take advantage of new opportunities at scale

We see the potential to launch new products and services that
will reach customers in mare ways than ever before and create
enhanced value for shareholders

On behalf of the Board it gives me great pleasure to take this

opportunity to welcome our colleagues from Sky Deutschiand
and Sky ltalia to the group We look forward to all that you can
acheve together as part of a bigger team

To recogrise the expanded international scope of the Company, we
have changed our name from British Sky Broadcastng simply to Sky

Throughout, the Company has contmued to deliver strang growth
achieving excellent results both operationally and financially

The performance far the year shows good momentum across

the group as more customers choose to join Sky and take more
of aur products For use at home or on the move

The fact that these results have been achieved at a bme of such
change for the Company demonstrates the strength and focus
of the management taam tis also proof that the actions taken
in recent years to invest in the quahty of the customer expenence
are delvenng retumns

Reflecting the Compary’s excellent performance the Board has
proposed a 3% increase i the dividend to 32 8 pence Thisis the
1th consecutive year of growth

As a successful and growing business the enlarged Sky makes
animpoertant economic contribution te the countnes inwhich
It operates 1t acts as a powerhouse for the creative industries

Strategc report

n Europe supporting 128 000 jobs across s five terntones and
investing £4 9 bilhon in quality news, sports and entertainment
content Inaddition, it contrnibutes £76 bdlion to GDP across the
five countnes and generates £3 4 bill:on tn tax revenues of which
a total of £2 3 billion goes to the UK Exchequer (Oxford Economics)

Sky 1s also committed to using its position as Eurcpe s leading
entertainment company to make a positive iImpact on society
Acrass the enlarged group, the focus i1s on using the Company’s
strengths in TV, creativity and sport to support young people
and help them to reahse thesr full potential

1 have been privileged in the course of the year to be present at
the launch of two new Intiatives for Sky Academy in the UX and
Ireland the Careers Lab in West London and the new Skills Studips
i Scotland Nearty two years after launching Sky Academy

we're delighted with the progress we're making Our colleagues

in Germany and Italy alse have a focus on young people and

we see areal opportunity to share [earming across our terntones
and to strengthen our engagement with young people in the

next few years

Moving onto the business of the Board as announced last year
Andy Higginson retired from the Board in November after 10 years
the last two of which he held the reole of Senior independent
Dwector He was succeeded n this role by Martin Gitbert

Furthermore at the conclusion of this year's AGM in November
Dawnd DeVoe, Danmy Rimer and Arthur Siskind wall step down from
the Board immediately following the AGM 1t s intended that John
Nallen CFO of 215t Century Fox, will be appointed by the Board as a
Non-Executrve Directar As a result of these proposed changes the
number of Board members would reduce from 14 t612 On behalf of
the Board | would hke to offer my warmest thanks to David Devoe
Danny Rimer and Arthur Siskind for their major contribution to the
Company over many years All three have been axcellent colleagues
Arthur jomned the Board in 19591 Dawid tn 1994 and Danny in 2008
and each has been 2 source of sound advice throughout We will
rmuss them all

On behalf of the Board | would like to thank all of our shareholders
for their continued support, in particular through the complation
of such a significant transaction | would also ke to take this
opportunity to thank every one of my colleagues across the
business for their hard work and contribution to what has been
an excellent year for Sky

Nick Ferguson, CBE
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Skrategic report

Our strategy

We create sustainable value by pursuing broad

growth opportunities across our markets,
achieving competitive advantage through

our core strengths and the way we do business

Our business model

Our strengths

Growth opportunities

Great content

We invest to deliver the best and broadest range
of content nght across the portfalio of channels
and services we provide to customers ensunng
we of fer samething for everyone in the household

Market-leading innovation

We harness new technology in orders to gve
customers the very best viewing experience,
wherever and whenever they want it

A customer focus

Woe are led by customers and what they want
We have an unrivalled ability to address therr
needs thanks to the strength of our brand
the scate of our go-to-market operation

and our expertise in service delivery

Growing pay TV penetration

We exploit the headroom for pay TV growth across
our markets using the comtunation of satellite
cable and over-the-top (OTT) serices to meet.
tustomers’ needs

Selling more to customers

We focus on broaderung out our range of products
and services In order tg sell more to existing customers
and address more of therr needs

Scaling adjacent business

We target opportunmbies in adjacent sectors like
advertising and international programme sales
to grow new revenues

How we create value

Investing for the long term

We invest over the long term because we want Lo budd 3 business
that is durable Trus means ensunng that we create the conditions
for sustainable success whilst also delivering resultsin the

short term

Seeing the bigger picture

We are committed to acting responsibly in all that we do Thats
because we know that to build a business that's successful over
the long term, how we go about doing business 15 as important as
what we do We also focus on making a positive impact on society
We call this seeng the bigger picture

Drving efficiency

We underpin everything that we do with a nigorous focus on
operating efficiency By ensuring that we have an efficient and
agile operating mode! we consistently drive down costs to allow
us to invest more where customers see greatest value

Investing in people

We invest in our people because we recognise that therr talent and
commitment are cntical to our success We aim to foster a culture
which encourages our people to fulfil thewr potential and to stnve
for continual improvement 1n all that they do enabling them to
achieve great things together

04  Skypic
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Group Chief Executive's statement

Sky has had an outstanding year, ending
2015 a very different business compared
to the same time a year ago We have
transformed the scale of opportunity
ahead while at the same time delivering
strong growth as more customers across
our markets join Sky and take more of
our products

Jeremy Darroch

With the successful acquisition of Sky Deutschiand and Sky Itatia
Sky today serves 21 mdlion customers acress five countnes - Italy,
Germany Austria Ireland and the UK - and 1s Europe s leading
Inwvestor in content

As well as bnnging greater scale the transaction was also about
bullding a great organisation and positiorung the business for
the future The three Sky businesses are highly complementary
They share a powerful brand and have a common ethes of
embracing change to provide customers with more choice
better content and a supenor TV expenence

Sky s already at the forefront of delivening services over broadcast
on demand and mobile TV platforms However, by joining the three
businesses together we are able to share our strengths and
expertise across the group This will enable us to serve customers
better and to build a igger and stronger business over the longer
term to the benefit of all shareholders

Expanded opportunity for growth

When we consider the long-term potential for Sky as an
international business, we see six broad areas of opportunity

First we will exploit the substantial headroom for pay TV growth
across our markets With mere than 65 milhon households yet

to take pay TV, we will tap into new pockets of demand by
segmenting the market using the combination of our Sky-branded
satelhte and cadle TV offering and our OTT streaming services

Second we will use our strengths in cross-selling to bring more
products to our customers across the group Everything we
see tells us that our customers are Increasingly loyal to Sky
and have an appetite to take more from us

Third we will continue to grow our adjacent businesses Inchannel
distnbution, we have more potential partners for our content as
the market opens up Well also have an expanded opportunity

to grow our programme sales as we s¢ale our content, business

Fourth we will rasse our ambitions in cantent even further

By bringing the three Skys together we have the potential to
operate at greater scale Thisis about extending our traditional
strengths in areas like sports and movies commissioning more
of cur own entertainment pregramming and bemng the best
partner for content owners around the world

Fifth we will accelerate innovation to deliver an even better
expenence for customers 8y combining our product development
actrnity across the group well be able to bnng products to market
faster at greater scale and at reduced cost

Sixth we will builld on the strength of our ga-to-market operation
and expertise in service delivery to create an orgamsation that
1s best placed to meet the needs of customers

Nine months after closing the transaction the teams ineach of
the three businesses are working together well and the integration
process ts on track Having identified multrple ways in which the
businesses can best share expertise we have started work on

a clear set of prionty workstreams that wall ensure we make

the most of the opportunities ahead

Skypkc 05
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Strategic neport

Group Chief Executive's statement
(continued)

Excellent performance across the group

At the same time as iImplementing the transaction we delivered an
excellent operational and financial performance as robust demand
from customers drove strong trading across all of our markets

We closed the financial year with revenues up 5% to £11 3 bilhen?
and operating profit up 18% to £14 bilon This was an outstanding
result in a year of such change for the business

The strength of our performance was fuelled by the addibion of
almast one millon new customers over the year This was 45%

more than the prior year and took our customer base past the
21-million mark At the same time we added 4 6 milion new paid-for
products reflecting strong levels of demand across our broad
product offering

2015 also saw us achieve significantly increased customer loyalty
across the group We reduced churn to below 10% in all our markets
as customers respoended positavely to the nvestments we have
made in the viewing expenence, in areas such as the connected
hax platform and our own ariginal drama

Standout performance in UK and Ireland

At the heart of the group results was an outstanding performance
1 the UK and Ireland, demonstrating the success of the approach

we have taken to segmenting the market with the complementary
Sky and NOW TV brands

Strong customer demand resulted in the highest organic customer
growth for 11 years of 506 000 to take us past the 12-million
milestone At the same time, we grew pard-for products by 3 3 million
thanks to accelerated growth across TV and broadband

We achieved churn of @ 8% on a 12-month roling basis an 1)-year
low, as growing penetration and usage of connected TV services
increased customer loyalty and overall satisfaction with Sky

We closed the year with more than seven million TV customers
connected an increase of more than one million over the year

1 - England vs New Zealand Investes Test Match at Lord s Sky Sports Sky UK
7 « Fortitude Sky Atanse Alltemitones 3 - Porthut Artst of the Year Sky Arts Sky UK
4 = HOW TV remote and box § —itatan Grand Pnx Mugelo Sky Spoct MotoGPHD Sy Itaka

Strong growth in Germany and Austria

Skyin Germany and Austna also achieved an excellent year of
growth We added 467000 net new customers over the 12 months
the highest-ever annual customer growth, to take the base

past four millkion Paid-for product growth of almost one milheon
represented an improvement of mora than S0% on the prior

year thanks to strong growth in HD

Churn of 8 6% on a 12-month rolhng basis was a record low
for a full year as we continued to benefit from the take-up
of two-year contracts

Italy stabilised

In Italy, we held the customer base stable for the first time in three
years, ending the 12-month penod broadly flat year on year with
47 mifhon customers Pard-for product growth was 387000 white
churn hit a low of 9 6% on 12-menth rolling basrs as customers
showed growng loyalty to the business This was a goed result
inwhat remans a challenging market

1 Wehave presented the results on an adjusted bke for ke bass for the full 12-month

penod to 30 June 2015 down to operatng profit Comparatve figures are transhated
ata constant currency of € 31E1

08 Skyplc
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Strategic repon

Bullding on our strengths

Sky s success rests on the unique combination of strengths that

we have developed in three core areas the best and broadest range
of content, market-leading innovation that enhances the viewing
experience, and our focus on the customer through our unrivalied
go-to-market capability expertise in service delivery and the
strength of our brand

We made significant progress in each of these areas in 2015

Content

Wa strengthened the range and quality of our offenng on screen
across all our ternitones In the past 12 months advancng our ambition
to create a powerhouse for content in Ewrope

in entertainment, we took another big step forward as we grew our
capability n ongnal production While each of our businesses s at a
different stage of development in this area, what s become dear as
we've started to work together s our shared vision and our common
sense of ambition

Crnimedrama Fortitude and Italian political drama 1992 became the
first of our home-grown dramas to launch simultaneously across
all five temtories, in Janwary and March respectvely

Reaching an audience of 37 milllon Fortitude was Sky Atlantic’s raost
successful onginal drama to date n the UK It also became the most
successful show for Sky Vision our distribution business with sales ta
more than 100 termtones ntemationally Meanwhile 1992 premiered
with the biggest-ever audience for an onginal scripted senes in \taly

Thelr succaess underlines the potential that we have to operate ata
greater scale with a number of exating drama projects in the pipeline
as part of more than 130 hours of onginal drama now in production
across the group

In sport we completed a series of mportant nghts deals to put
Sky In a strong position For the coming year in the UK and Ireland
we achieved a successful outcome to the Premier League's tender
process reinforang Sky Sports' position as the number cne choe
far sports Fans with the nghts to 126 Inve Premier League matches
every season from 2016/17 to 2018/19 As a result Sky Sportswill
bring customers three times as many live matches as any other
broadcaster including the best match picks and the most-watched
slots in the schedule Meanwhile In itatly we secured the ve

and exclusive nghts to all 472 matches in Sene B for the next
three seasons

Innovation

Sky s strength in Innovation enables us to get the greatest value
from our investment In content, meeting customers growing destre
far the flexibiity to consume content on thetr own terms bothiin
and out of the home It also allows us to distnibute our content
more widely tapping into new pockets of demand using OTT
technology and creating new revenue opportunities in areas

ke rransactional services
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Strategicreport

Group Chief Executive’s statement

(continued)

Across our markets, we have continued to investin the quality

of the customer experience to make it easier for customers to
access and consume our content Sky now has almest nine mihon
customers across our markets who have chosen to connect their
boxes to the internet to open up & whole range of on demand
and catch-up services

Addntronally, Sky has also extended its lead as Europe s biggest
mobile TV provider Close to 10 milkon homes across the group

are enabled to watch their favourite programmes on the move

with Sky Go We bult on our leadership in mphbite TV in the year
with the agreement of a significant new partnership with Telefénica
in the UK This will enable us to add a range of mobile vaice and
data services to our customer offering in 2016 to exploit the
opportunities for growth that we see in the fast-changing

mobile sector

The growang penetration of connected devices 1s openng up brand
new sources of revenue One area where we made real stndes in
201515 Sky Store in the UK and Ireland where revenues increased
77% wath a growang contribution from our Buy & Keep service
launched a year ago The service regularly ranks number one

or two among digital retaders for new releases, for example
delivering record digital sales for Universal onits best-seling

title, Fifty Shades of Grey We are excited about the opportunity

to expand Inthis sector

2015 also saw us make sigrificant progress in the expansion of our
OTT streaming services We see a big oppoartunity touse OTT wideo
1o drive pay TV penetration in a way that 1s complementary to our
core satellite and cable businesses In the UK, our popular NOW TV
senice continued to buld momentum as cur rebranding helped
drive a near trebling in sports pass sales wn the year

1-Paddingron Buy & Kerp Sky Store SkyUK2 - Journalst, Sky Sport Sky taha
3 - Quiltan |sadore Sky Academy Sports Scholar Sky UX

Building on this success we ve alse launched Sky Onling services in
both Germany and Italy in the past 18 months, grang us streaming
praducts in all our markets Targeted at people who like our content
but want to consume it i a different way these services are just
getung going We see a lot of potential to use them as a means

to unlock new headroom for customer growth across Europe

Customers

We know that our strength in content and innovation only matters
because we know how to bnng them together in a way that works
best for customers We have built Skyas the leaching brand in

our sector with a proven ability to stretch into new parts of the
market to deliver the proeducts and services that bast address
customers’ neads

In the UK, more than cne-third of households believe Sky s the

brand best placed to brng together their entertainment and
commurucations needs - far ahead of any other compary And in Italy
Sky is rated as the second-strongest brand \n media and technology
second onlfy to Apple

The strength of our brand combined with the scale and sophisticaton
of our go-to-market operation enables Sky to provide the products
that bhest address customers’ needs ik 2iso ensures we support them
with best-in-class customer serice

We have continued to raise the barinthe qualty of our service i the
past 12 months

Inthe UK and Ireland we have been rolkng out our Digital First
programme with the aim of putting our digital channels at the
front line of customer service delivery Qur ambition 15 very clear
= for the majonity of custemer interactions to be conductad via
our digital channels We believe the potential is stignificant we wall
grow customer satrsfaction 1o even higher levels while further
reducing operating costs as a percentage of sales Ourmtentian
1s to rell out the programmae across Germany and Italy in time

How we do businhess

Of course the success of Sky 1s based not simply on the results we
deliver aver ocne year but on our sustained performance over time
We know that to build a business that 15 durable for the long term
it 15 Mot just what we achieve as a business but how we go about

it that matters This s atthe heartofour Believein better ethos,
our commutment to constant improvemnent in atl that we do

08 Skypic
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A responsible business

Our ability to provide the best products and services for customers
1sunderpinned by a commutment to act responsibly The milions
of customers across Europe that choose Sky for their home
entertainment and commurications have high expectations

of us and 1t 1s our job to matntan their trust in the decisions

we take day to day This means for example ensuring we work
hard to keep the nformation customers share with us safe and
secure, developing easy to use energy-efficient products for
our customers and strengthening our work with suppliers on
our environmenta! and socal standards induding human rights
[0 For mare about gur commtments pages 71-73

Creating awider impact

As a succassful company, we alsa have the opportunity to use

our position as Europe s leading entertainment company to make

a positive Impact on society it's something we know our customers
value and an important part of ensuring our business Is successful
for the long term

Across Sky we've chosen to focus on supporting young people
We believe passionately that businesses need to stepup and
waork alongside schools and colleges to help prepare young
people for a successful future Given the power of our brand
1t's an area in which we believe we can make a real difference

Strategic report

Sky Academy inthe UK and ireland uses the powerof TV, sport
and creatmity to help young people build skills and experience
with the aim of reaching one million young pecple by 2020

In the autumn, we opened the newest Sky Academy imitiative

Sky Academy Careers Lab based on the Sky campus in west
London This gives 16-19 year olds the chance to take part in
practical workplace challenges in order to learn about careers in
media business and technology Since launch in November 2013
231000 young people have particpated in Sky Academy nitiatives

In taly, our Sky TG24 for Schools inibatve allows secondary school
students to see behind the scenes and develop a cnitical analysis
of the news by making ther own TV news programme In the past
12 months, we expanded it from 20 classes in Rome to more than
310 classes nationwide

Meanwhile in Germany we helped over 5,000 young people dunng
the year through our Sky Foundation This partners charity projects
Lo encourage young peaple partiularly those who are disabled or
are from disadvantaged backgrounds, to pursue more active and
healthy lifestyles

People
OF course central to any high-performing orgarusation are hard
working people who share a common set of values and a clear sense
of purpose Aswe bring together three businesses to create a
new Sky, capable of succeeding across five territones we start
from a position of strength Right across the group we are fortunate
to have a talented and diverse workforce committed to pulling
together to create a better business for all Our success comes
from ther willingness to embrace change and to work together
to achieve continual improvement iwould like to thank each and
every one of them for the contribution they have made to our
success in the past 12 months

For more about diversity and our peaple pages 71-72

Qutlook

Nine months after completing the transaction we feel good about
the prospects for the new Sky We are delivenng strong levels

of growth across the group as customers respond positively to
our products and services Our finanaal performance 1s strong
and overall we are well posiioned for the substantial growth
opportunity ahead to the benefit of our customers our people
and our shareholders

Jeremy Darroch
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1 = Chelsea FC 2015 Pramuer League Champrons Sky Sports KD Sky UK
For5ports HD Sky kaha 2 « ftaba s Got Talent. Sky UnoHD Sky ltalia

3 -Gameof Thrones Sky Alantk All territones 4 - 50 Ways to K Your
Mammy SkyTHD Sky UK § - Monkey Life, Pk TV Sky UX B - Hewsroom
Sky TG24 HD Sky ltaha 7 - Suela Sky) HD Sky UK 8 - Sky Sport News HD
anchor Birgit Nossing for Sky Foundaveon Sky Deutschland
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STratape report

Our marketplace

Expanded opportunity for growth

Sky has an addressabte market
of 98 milhon households across

5 countries

Germany, Austna, italy UK
and Ireland

There 1s a significant opportunity
for upsell of additional products with

21 million

customers each taking an average of

2.6 products

per househotd

UK

Ireland

We have a significant headroom
for growth with

65 million

households in our markets yet
to take pay TV

We are expletting adjacent, market
opportunities that are opening up as
we extend our leadership in content

and innovation For example, the UK
transactional home video market 1s worth

£1.5 billion

{BVA)

Germany

Austria

Italy

12 Skypk
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Our performance

Stratagc report

Financial key performance indicators

Adjusted revenue

- £11283m

2014 E1 0,776m
o £10,253m

Descripuon

Adpustad revenue includes nevenue
from Subscnption Trarsactonal
whalesals and Syndicausn
Adverusing and Other revenue

Anatysis

Adjusted revenut 15 a key measure
of how the Group 15 defvenng on
1S strategy to grow the business
In 2045 revenue grew by 5% with
good growth in both retad and
commercal operations

Adjusted EBITDA

= £2,030m

2014 £1,848 m
2013 £1,883m

Description

Adjusted EBITDAs 2 measureof the
profit generated by the business
esxchcng Deprecabion and Amortisation
coxsts. For the purposes of understancng
the urderiymg performance of the Geoup
the measure also excludes items that
maydistoct comparabibity

Analysis

Adpsstad ERITDA o a key meaturs of
profitabity In 2015 2diusted EBITDA
increased by 10% onthe previous year
03 Group revenue increased by 5%
winlsk EBIT increased by 16%

w £1,400m

2014 £'I,185m
2013 £1,279 m

Adjusted operating profit

Dasenption

Adjusted operating profit s a measure

of the profit generated by the business
from it4 revenoes and excludes items

that may destort comparabdity from

YEAr LOYyeal

Analyss

Adjusted cperating profit s a key measure
of the uncerhying business performance

I 2015 Adjusted operaung profit inaeased
bry 18% on tha previous year as the Group
delvered SUOng revenue growth whilst
controlling costs in the business

Adjusted EPS

205 56»Op

0 D7 1P
o0 58 Op

Dascripion

Adjusted basic EPS 1s the profit after
tax for the year excluding adusung
tems and related tax effects dnaced
bythe weighted average mumber of
ordinary shares

Analysis

Adjusted basic EPS provides a measure
of sharehalder retum that rs comparable
over ume Adjusted EFS was lower year
&n year due (o the dilhutrre imMpact

of the share placing last July to fund

the dcquisitions of Sky Deutsthland
anciSkyltaka

1-year CAGR

Total shareholder return

' S-year CAGR

Descriptron

Total shareholder returm { TSR} represents
the change nvalue of a share held fora

12 month peried to 30 June assuming
that drngends are rewrvestad Lo purchase
Additional shares at tha claseprice
spplicable onthe ex dvidend date

The vakug of the share s based on the
average share pnce over the three months
pnor to 30 June

Analyms

TSR represents 8 comparable measure of
sharehalder retum aver time Sy shasas
outperformed the FTSE 100 nder Sky s TSR
wes TN whilst thae FTSE 100 vas 0% inthe
YeArtd June 2015

We have presented the results on an adjusted Lke for kke basis for the full 12-month pancd to 30 June 2015 down ta operaung profit. Comparatrve figures are translated 213 constant

Curtency of €131 EV

Fot areconalaton of statutory to adjusted measures page 144

Sky pic.
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Suatepe report

Our performance

(continued)

Operational key performance indicators

=21.0m

2004 20 Om
2013 19 4m

Retal customers

Descnption

Acustomer s defined as a subscnber to
one of our TV packages o standalone
home communcabons seraces

Anatytss

Akey element of our strategy s lo
conunue adding New customears

In 2015 we added a total of 10 mifhon
new customers 45% mare thanthe
PO year with record growth in
Germany and the highest organ
growthw the UX for 1 years.

Total products

o D3.8M

2014 49 2m
oo 44 5m

Descnption

Toral products s defined as the totalof
a1 paig-for subscription products taken
By Guf CUSLOMErs BCrOSS tha Sky group
Inthe UK and Irpland this includes TV
HD Multscreen Sky Go Extra Broadband
Telephony and Line Rentat In ltaly this
indudes TV Multvision Sky Online and
paying HD th Getmary and Austna this
ndudes TV Second Smartcard Premaum
HD and Sky Onting

Anatysis

Akey slement of our strategy s to
eNCOUTAE New CUSTOMES (0 take multiple
product s when painng and to sefl more
products to existing customars In 2015

wa added 4 & milbon products taking our
total subscaption products to atmost

5S4 mithan

Churn

UK & Ireland

Germany & Austria

italy

Descnption

Churn represents the number of

total customers during the year who
terminated ther Subscrptons net

of formear customers who reinstated
ther subscnption (withun 12 months of
termunating ther onginal subscrrplion)
expressed as a percentage of total
BYETDRR CUSTOMErS

Anatysis

Churn s & good measure of customer
Tovalty which rs a key driver of valve
for our business tn eacmarkat
churn was under 0% whech was
significanuy lower year on year
shustratng high customer loyalty

Seeing the bigger picture

Social reach

»s 140,100

Our full set of mdependently assured key performance
INChicators used to measure pur sustanabiity
performance can be found at sky com/biggerpicture

Owscnption

Qur social reach number represets
the number of young people who have
parucipated n our soaal intlateves
across the Group

Analysis

Ia the UK and Irdland we have a target
to reach one mition young peaple by
2020 through Sky Acadery In 2015 our
cumnulative total rs 231000 For the firgt
ume n 201415 we have coltected data
from our Young peopie imuatives m
Germarry and Itaty for an overall socia!
reach This s mace up of R7000" for
Sky Acadeny in the UK and Ireland
5200 for Sky Foundation® in Germany
and 7900 for our ntiatves n faly

4 Skyple
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Stratege report

Content

Programming investment

- £4,886mM

we £4,662m
23 £4,339m

Descrption

Content investment s the amount spent
every year banging the very best content to
cur customers. Trs indudes nvestment i
Sky channels. such as Sicy 1in the UK and
treland ang Sky Una nitaly It alse ndudes
investment in partner channels such as the
Orscovery Channel or Nauonal Geographe
Tha amount spent on content will ndude the
cost of acquinng the nghtts Lo programimes.
made by others. of COmMISSIoNNG onginal
Programmes oursehves.

We grow our content Nvesiment every yeas to
differentiate our proposition and to gve cur
astomers more of the TV they want to watch
Recenty wevenoeased our Fvestment
secunng nghts twnon TV products such as
Sky Go Sky G Extraor Sky Onbe

Programiming spend
as % of revenue

005 43%

200 43%
102 42%

tvestmentin cantent broadly grows

in irve wath the rate of revernue growth
over the medium term

Analysis

Holding grewth in other operating costs
below the raze of revenue growth frees
UpP CApATLY 1O IMvest an INSreasing
proportion of revenues in the gontent.
that matters most tocustomers

Innovation

Sky Go customers

»s10.0m

e 80mM
o 7 0OmM

Description

Sy Go customers are those that have
regrstered toUse our mobde TV service
Analysis

Innovation across multple technolegies
enables the Group 1o expand INES New
areas develop new revenus streams and
benefit from adjacent sectors [n 2015
two millon more customers registered
far Sky Go across all of our markets

Connected customers

s 9.0mM

e 6 8mM
03 3 3M

Degsription

A connected customer 15 one that
has ennnected ther Sky boxtothe
interret and therefore has aCcess
to Sky 8 on demand services such
as Catch Up TV andbox sets

Analysis

In 2015 we cannected aFurther two
milion customers arss the Group
Connetted QUstomers have access
o a wider range of content and
generally they wil wakch more pary
TV eontent, churn less anduse more
of our transachional senaces

Carbon intensity

- 11.42 tCOzelem1

1 Independently assured by Dekntte LLP

2 Sky Foundatian is a separace legal entity its Board it arswerable
10 the respecive reguiatory authonties in Gernany

Description

Carbon ntensity defined as tonnes of
€O, equrvatent (tCO,e) emissions relatwe
torevenue, 1s one of the key performance
mdicatons we use o measure our
envirenmental performance Cur total
gross CO,e epwsacas include all direct
Greenhouse Gas emissions across all

of ur termtories and are 128 919°tC0,e
for 201415

Anatysis

In 201415 our carbon Intensity 150 ling
with that reported in previous years.
noung that in 201415 we have repor ted
across al our terntones We are working
on a set of Group envimonment Largats
for 2015016

For {0, e/Em temtory breakdown and
Progress agawnst qur @Mrssion targets
pages 71-72
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Operational review




1 - The Biacklst. Sky Lnang HD Sky UX2 = The Affar Sky Adantic HD Sky UK

3 - The Avengers ShyMovies HD Al terntanas 4 - Jesska Ennrs HAL, Sky Academy
Ambassador Sky UX 5 = England vs Austraha 2014 Autumn IntemaJonats

Rugby Union Sky Sports HD Sky UX 6- Gomorrah Sky Atlantic HD A1 termiones
7 - Our people B - Mayweathervs Pacquao Boxing, Sky Sports Box Office Sky UX
Shy Setect Sky Deutschland
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Annual Report 2015

SITAtegK report

UK & Ireland

Customers Net customer growth

120m  +506k

Products Net product growth

38.0m +3.3m

Sky dehivered an exceptional year’s
performance in the UK and Ireland as
investments N content and connected
services delivered growth across all
areas of the business

Our strategy of segmenting the market using the complementary
Sky and NOW TV brands helped achieve the highest organic
custorner growth n 11 years with 506 000 net new customer
additions over the year This was almost S50% more than the prior

year and took our customer base past the 12-million milestone

Atthe same ume we added 3 3 mellion new paid-for subscription
products taking us past 38 million products This reflects strong
demand across the board with accelerated growth ia both TV
and broadband

Increased customer satisfaction resuiting from the growth of
connected TV services delrvered a 110 basis-point reduction i
12-month rolling churn to 9 8% our best perfoermance in 11 years

1 -Alex Crawford Sky News HD Sky UK 2 - Enfieid Hauntng, Sky Lvang HO Sky UK

3 - Lewns Hamdton wannuing at At Dhabs to become 2014 Formmta One World Champoon,

Shy Sports F1 Sky UK, Sky Sport FI HD Sky Deutschiznd and Sky (taha 4 - Parfonson Mastendass
Sky Arts HD Sky UK 8 - England vi Canada Women s Rugby World Cup Fnal 2004 Sky Sports, Sky UK
6~ 2014 Ryder Cup Sky Sports Ryder Cup Sky UK Sky Sport HD Sky Deutschland and Sky ltaba
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Content

Much of our success in 2015 can be attributed to an outstanding
year on screen We increased the quality and range of programming
across our pertfolio making particular progress in our strategy

to ncrease the volume and quality of our home-grown content

In entertamment, we launched Fortituden January our first oniginal
drama to premier stmultaneously acress alt of our territones
Reaching a total audience of 3 7 milion in the UK across the senes

1t was Sky Atlantic s most successfut onginal drama to date and

the second most successful show ever to ar on the channel

Elsewhere tn the portfolio we launched a new Sky Arts on demand
service as part of a major refresh of our arts offering With over
1,000 hours of dedicated arts programming including programmes
commussioned and acquired exclusively for on demand the

new service underhnes Sky s long-term commitment to the

arts Sky Arts will also benefit from new pregrammeng produced

in anew Arts Production Hub to be based in Milan

Qur partnerships with some of the world s leading content

producers continue to pay dividends The Fifth senies of HBO

hit Game of Thrones was available to view by Sky and NOW TV

customers at the same time as the US, with the finale achieving
-arecord audience of 31 miflion Ttus makes it the most-watched—. . -

Sky entertainment programme ever in Sky homes

In movies the strength of the partnerships we enjoy with the major
Hollywood studios helped us continue to improve the offering for
customers Overall consumption of movies was up 10% on the prior
year fuelled by the continued success of our on demand offering
On demand downloads surpassed 500 million as customers chose
from a hbrary of more than 1,000 mowes

Strategic report.

In sport, we had a strong year on screen achieving record
performances across arange of different sports For the second
season running Sky showed 49 of the top 50 most watched Premier
League matches An éxciting end to the Fi season dehivered ive ——
race audiences up 20% year on year - a record season for Flon

Sky Sports Meanwhile the World Darts Championship attracted a
peak audience of 1 7 milhon for the final In January the biggest-ever
audienge for darts on Sky

Additionally we secured a number of key rights deals in the year
to ensure Sky Sports remamns thenumber one choice for sports
fans This included a significant win in the Premier League s tender
process in February gving us the rights to 126 Ive Prermier League
matches a season from 201617 to 2018/19 This s three timas as
many live matches as any other broadcaster including the best
match picks, and the mast-watched slots i the schedule

Skypic 19

yoda XN

SIUWAYEIS {BOURLY FUBLLDACD

UEHELLIORN IDOYArRYS



Annual Report 2015

Stratepcreport

UK & lreland

(continued)

Innovation

One of our pricnties for 2015 was to use our leadership m innovation
to step change the viewing expenence for customers and make it
even easter for them Lo access our content however and whenever
theywant it

In the home we extended our lead as the UK's biggest connected
box platform connecting more than one milion customers over the
year to take our connected base past seven milion

With over 60% of all TV households now connected on demand
usage has continued to grow as customers embrace the greater

-chaice and flexibility it offars Total on demand downloads- -—— —
surpassed 1 5 billien in the year up 60% year on year

Qur westment in Sky Box Sets proved partcularly popular with

the service, delvering viewing equivalent to our fourth most popular
Sky channel n 2015 We've also expanded our on demand library
elsewhere Including an increase in our dedicated kids’ programming
from 700 to 4 000 episodes

The growing penetration of connected devices 15 enabing us to
exploit new revenue opportunities Sky Store Buy & Keep, our entry
into the movie purchase sector, helped drve a 77% increase in Sky
Store revenues over the year We added new functionality in 2015
to enable customers to access their movie collection from thewr
mobile device This means that ¢ustemers can buy a mowvie from
Sky and watch 1t at home in therr sitting room or enjoy it when
they are out and about

This was Just one develapment that helped us cement our position
as Europe's biggest mobile TV provider The number of Sky Go
registered households in the UK and Iretand passed s« million in
the year Meanwhile, Sky Go Extra our paid-for mobite service which
offers the ability to watch on more dewvices and download content
towatch offline, became Sky s fastest-growing product ever

1-5ky Box Sets SkyUK 2 - Now TV Entartainment Pass Sky UK 3 - Sky AdSenart, Sky UK
4 - SkyService app Sky UK 5 = Sky Hub wireless broadband router Sky UK

0 Skypik
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Stratege report

2015 also saw us make great progress with our OTT streaming
service NOW TV, helping us to extend our reach into F

reeview homes Sales of sports passes almost trebled taclose to 15
mllien during the year thanks to a rebrand and the introduction of a
new sports weekly pass

Everything we see tells us that NOW TV customers love the service
maere than ene-third of NOW TV customers buy more than one
pass every month while the average NOW TV Entertainment pass
customer watches over five hours per week In addition the growth
In NOW TV s not cannibalising the Sky customer base vath more
than 90% of all customers having never considered Sky before
SIgNINg up

Customer

In a fast-moving market with an ever-greater choice of procucts and
prownders we believe that our capabiiity in service gelivery gives us
a competitive advantage We have continued to raise the bar in this
arean 2015

Qur main focus has been on simplifying the customer expenence

Central to thisis our Digital First programme which we have been

roltng out across the UK and ireland Duning the course of 2015 we
_reduced the number of iInbound calls to our service centres by 11%

as record nurmbers of customers interacted with us via our service
app through our automated voice service or via the set-top box

At the same time we closed the year with our customer satisfaction
scores at all-tme highs This was reflected in the latest Ofcom
survey which showed Sky leading the market on customer
satisfaction, with the fewest complaints across our product set

The capability we have developed in service delvery also enables

us to bring new products to market quickly and at scale In January
we announced plans to add mobile voice and data services to

our customer offering in 2016 followang the conclusion of a new
partnership with Teleforica UK Building on the strength of the Sky
brand and our leadershtp mn tnnovation and customer service we will
launch a range of exciting new senvices that will enabie us to exploit
new opportunities For growth

Our customer-led approach means we take our responsibilities
senously For example this year, we took an important next step
to protect our customers online with adjustments to our award-
winning online filtering toot Sky Broadband Shield We now make
sure the default setting 1s on' unless customers choose otherwise
We ve contacted every one of our broadband customers to explan
the benefits and to tughlight therr options

Skyplic
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Strategic report

Germany & Austria

Customers Net customer growth
4.5m +467k
Products Net product growth

/Z1m +969k

Sky achieved an excellent year of growth in
Germany and Austna, attracting more new
customers than in any year since launch
thanks to nising demand for our products
and services

Qver the 12-month pencd we added 467000 customers to take
the base past four mihon

At the same time paid-for product growth totalled almast one
trallion, rore than S0% higher than the previous year thanksto . - —
strong growth n HD

Continued take-up of two-year contracts helped drive churn down
1o a record full-year low of 8 6% a full 180 basis points lower than
the pnor year

1 = Star Wars Episode IV Sky Mones Star wars HD Sky UK Sky StarWars HD Sky
Deutschiand Sky Cnema Star \Wars HD Sky Italia 2 - Game of Thrones Tatk Sky Athanue HD
Sky Deutschiand ¥ - SkyD0 Sky Bundeshiga HD 1 Sky Dautschland 4 - Sky Oniing box and
remote Sky Deutschiand 5 - Buntkicktgus Sky Foundation Sky Deutschiand

Content

In entertainment we made important progress towards extending
the range and quality of content on offer to customers in Germany
and Austna with our first move into orginal content production
Scandinavtan crime drama 100 Code a co-production with Red
Arrow premieredin March attracting a total of 18 millkon views
across the senes Filming also started on a police crime thriler
senes, Babylon Berlin, ko ar inthe coming year

In addition 2015 was a big year for acquered content with Sky
customers enjoying more season premieres than ever before from
some of the world's best content producers This induded the
fifth senies of The Walking Dead and the final series of True Blood

Qur partnership with HBO delivered the exclusive launch of the fifth

senes of Game of Thrones on Sky Thrones HD Europe s first channel

dedicated to a single senes This setanew record for a show on

Sky In Germany and Austna with 5 4 million views across the series

Reflecting the growing demand for flexibility of viewing, Gome of |
Thrones series 5 was also the most successful senes to date on

Sky Go

In movies Christmas came early for Sky customers and fans

of Star Wars when Sky Hits was ra-branded Sky Star Wars HD

1n Decembrer, showing all six Star Wars films around the clock |
This more than doubled the wewership versus the paor year,
with more than three mithon people turung i over the two weeks

22  Skypk
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In sport, our Bundeshga coverage delivered a new ratings record in
2015 with more than six milkon views to the live action over a single
weekend at the end of February We also achieved a new record in
terms of share of viewing with the Saturday afternoon matchon
23 May winning more than 14% of all TV viewang

Meanwhile we secured a new three-year deal for the exclusive ive
broadcasting rights for all matches involving German and Austrian
teams in the UEFA Europa League starting from the 2015/16 season
We also broadened our offering with the rights to the IHF Handball
World Championship 2015 This brought 28 games exclusively ive

to Sky subscribers including all German and Austnan nattonal

tearn matches

Innovation

Buillding on the success of our connected TV strategy in the UK
we started to connect the first German and Austrian satellite
customers' boxes to the internet in December It's early days but
almost 250 000 set-top boxes had already been connectedin the
first s1ix months to the end of June opering up access to a much
ncher entertainment experience for customers

Strategic rapict

Out of the home we extended our lead as the number one provider
for mobtle TV by launching Sky Go on Androiwd devices in December
We also continuad to build out the range of content available
includimg the addition of a brand-new lifestyle section with 100
new programmes each menth from partner channels

We extended our reach into the pay hght segment of the market
with the December launch of our Sky Ontine service Using a
strearnung box based on the same technology that has been

5o popular in the UX, Sky Online offers customers a choice of
two packages as well as a Supersport Day Ticket: for those with
either one of these packages This provides customers with a
flexible user-frendly and affordable way of accessing Skys
premium content

Customer

We have made progress in butlding cur customer service capability
aver the year This has bean recognised with a number of awards,
including leader in the entertainment sectorin the TOP SERVICE
Deutschland 2015’ competition

Theimportance we place on giving customers the best experience
from Sky extends to prowding parents with easy-to-use tools to
help protect thetr family from unsuitable content Alongside PIN

—protection we provide a dedicated Kids-Zone on Sky Go which 1s = =
safe and secure

Skyple 23
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Annual Report 2015

Stratepc report

ltaly

Customers Net customer growth
4 L] : | I I -
Products Net product growth

8.6m +387k

Sky in italy held its customer base stable
after three years of negative growth, a great
achievement given a challenging economic
environment

We ended the year with 4 7 milion customers while paxd-for products
Increased by 387000 to 8 6 million thanks to good growth in HD

In common with our other markets, we delivered a significant

reduction in churnin the year The 12-month rolling churn figure was

9 6% a dechne of more than four percentage poInts ntwo years Asin
= the UK, much of this improvement can be attributed to'thenisé inthe”

connected base and the resultant mcrease In customar satisfaction

Content

In entertainment, we continued to differentiate ourselves from
the competition n Italy by investing on screen to give customers
an mncreasing range of high quatity and distinctive programming

Much of the focus In 2015 went towards butding the momentum
wo've established inonginal production Cnme drama Gomorrah

was sold ta more than 100 countnes and we comnssioned a second
senes to air n 2016 Meanwhile pohtical senes 1992 became the
second Sky drama after Fortitude Lo premere simultanecusly across
all five terntones 1992 acheved the biggest-ever auchence for

an onginalscripted series inltaly at launch in the spring

Theres more to look forward town the coming year with the
anncuncement of The Young Pope, a major new co-production
between Sky HBO and Canal+ Directed by Academy Award-winning
Paolo Sorrentino, the etght-part drama features Jude Lawn the
starang role and will launch acress all cur markets next year

2015 also saw the announcement of plans for a new Sky Arts
Production Hub to be based in Milan Part of 2 major commitment to
the arts across the group the Production Hub will act as a centre of
excellence, producing a slate of outstanding arts programming for

customers across all Sky terntones inaddition to locally
commissioned content Itwill also focus on producing pan-European
events to celebrate the arts

Elsewhere our general entertainment channel, Sky Uno, built on
s reputation as the exclusive home of mainstream franchises
The latest series of X Factor tahia and MasterChef itaha delvered

a significant increase inratings of more than 30% and 20%
respectively year on year while the successful launch of itaka s Got
Talent made it the top-rated entertanment show debut on the
platform ever

We are monetising our investment in content more broadly through
the expansion of our free-to-air offerning on Digital Terrestnal
Television (DTT) In 2015, we launched news channel Sky TG24

on free-to-air Joining Cieks our general entertainment channel
which grew wiewrng 10% year on year

In sport, we further strengthened our domestic football offering by
securing the exclusve nghts to all 472 matches in Sene 8 football
for the next three seasons We also won the exclusive nghts to the
2016 European Qualfiers and the 2018 World Cup Qualifiers Added
to our nghts for all Sene A matches, with one-third exclusive and all
Europa League matches, this confirms Sky Italia as the number one
chotce for feotball fans

Away from football, we continued to extend the breadth of our
offenng with the exclusive nghts to the EuroBasket 2015
tournament and the Rugby World Cup in 2015

On screen, motorsports performed particularly sirongly MotoGP
and Formula 1 grew their ratings by 30% and 24% respectively year
on year in a season in which [talian teams and drivers regained ther
competitiveness

1 - MastarChef (tahd Sky Una HD Skyltala 2 - TG24 for schools Sky haka 3 - huventus vs Rema Sere A
Sky Sport HD Sky Itaha 4 - Sky Calews Show Sky Sport HD Sky tahia 5 - My Sky HD box Shy ltaba
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Stratege report

[nnovation

We underlined our position of leadership in innovation i itaty with
a senies of important new launches designed to make it easier
to access and consume content

In the home, we drove a 51% increase in connected boxes to end
the year with mare than one-thurd of all customers connected to
the internet This growing penetration of connected devices fuelled
an gxploston in on demand usage with total downloads more than
double the previous year

Out of the home registered househclds to Sky Go increased to
almost half of the base by year-end Sky Go 1s particularly valued
by sports fans, attracting an average of more than half a milion
streams at weekends

We opened up new headreom for growth in Aprit with the launch
of anew IPTV service in partnership with Telecom Itaha The new
service uses the first Sky PVR Lo work wia satellite and IFTV
streaming to offer our fullcontent line-up over broadband for
the first time This broadens our reach and gives us access to the
many ltalian households who are unable to install a satellite dish

The partnershup with Telecom Itala s a key component to the
broadily-based growth strategy that also saw the launch of & new

Sky Online box In May~The new box i1s based on the same technology
as the NOW.TV box in the UK, and Sky Onhine box in Germany, and
enables us Lo tap Into a new segment of the market

Customer

Asn our cther ternitones we know that our success comes from
a focus on customers and a mindset of embracing change 1n order
to provide customers with the best-possible experience from Sky

We sought to strengthen our relationship with ltahan customers
by increasing the rewards for layalty From Apnil we reserved Sky Go
for those customers that have been with Sky for more than a year
We also sought to increase customer engagement by upgrading
our customer reward prograrnme with a series of new Intiatives
and bencfits

In order 1o give parents more control over the type of content their
children watch, we intraduced Parental Contro! Actrvated through
a remote dewvice 1t 1s avallable to all Sky customers in {taly

Alongside this, we have continued our focus to improve the quahty
and flexibility of our customer service by mowving rmare of our
customer interactions anline We reduced our calls per customer
by 12% over the year with downloads to our self-service mobile
app surpassing 1 5 million by year-end

Skyplc 25
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3 - The Avengers Sky Movies HD All territories 4 - Jessica Enng-Hill Sky Acadenmy
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Strategic report

UK & Ireland

Customers Net customer growth

120m  +506k

Products Net product growth

380m  +3.3m

Sky delivered an exceptional year's
performance in the UK and Ireland as
investments In content and connected
services delvered growth across all
areas of the business

Qur strategy of segmenting the market using the complementary
Sky and NOW TV brands helped achieve the highest orgaruc
customer growth in 11 years with 506 000 net new customer
additions over the year This was almost S0% mare than the pnor

year and tooK our customer base past the 12-million miestone

Al the same time we added 3 2 milhen new pa:d-for subscnption
products taking us past 38 million products This reflects strong
demand across the board wath accelerated growth inboth TV
and broadband

Increased customer satisfaction resulting from the growth of
connected TV services delivered a 110 basis-point reduction in
12-month roling churn to 9 8%, our best performance In 11 years

1 - Alex Crowford Sky Naws HD Sky UX 2 - Enfueld Haunting Skoy Lsang HO Sky UK

3 - Lewis Hamilton wanrung at Abu Dhabs to become 2014 Formuta One World Champon

Sky Sports F1 SkyUK Sky Sport F1HD Siy Deutschland and Sky ltaha 4 = Parkunson Mastercass
Sky Arts HD Sky UK 5 - England vs Canada Women's Rugby Workd Cup Final 2014 Sky Sports Sky UK
& - 2014 Ryder Cup Sky Sports Ryder Cup Sky UK Sky Sport HD Sky Deutschiand and Sky aka

1@ Skypkc




Annual Report 2005

Content

Much of sur suceess in 2015 can be attnbuted to an outstanding
year on screen We increased the quality and range of programming
across our portfolio, making particufar progress in our strategy

to increase the volume and quality of our home-grown content

In entertainment we launched Fertrtude in January, our first orginal
drama to prermer simultaneously across ali of our terntonies
Reaching a total audience of 3 7 million in the UK across the senes,

it was Sky Atlantic’s most successful onginal drama to dare and

the second most successful show ever to air on the channet

-

Elsewherein the portfolio we launched a new Sky Arts on demand
senvice as part of a major refresh of our arts offening With over
1000 hours of dedicated arts programmung including programmes
commissioned and acquired excusvely far on demand, the

new service underlines Sky's long-term commitment to the

arts Sky Arts wiil also benefit from new programming produced
na new Arts Production Hub tobe based in Milan

Qur partnerships with sorne of the world s leading content.
producers continue to pay dwdends The fifth series of HBO

tut Game of Thrones was available to view by Sky and NOW TV
customers at the same time as the US, with the finale achieving

Strategic report

{n sport, we had a strong year on screen achieving record
performances across a range of different sports For the second
season running Sky showed 43 of the top 50 most watchad Premuer

arecord audience of 31 milion This makes it the most-watched_ League matches An exciting end tothe Fl season delivered jive

Sky entertainment programme ever in Sky homes

In mowies the strength of the partnerships we enjoy with the major
Hollywood studios helped us continue to improve the offenng for
customers Overall consumption of mavies was up 10% on the prior
year fuelled by the continued success of our on demand offering
On demand downloads surpassed 500 million as customers chose
from a ibrary of more than 1000 movies

race audiences up 20% year on year - a record season for Fion

Sky Sports Meanwhile the World Darts Championship attracted a
peak audience of 17 miion for the finalin January the biggest-ever
audience for darts an Sky

Additionally we secured a number of key nights deals in the year
to ensure Sky Sports remains the number one choice forsparts
fans This included a significant winen the Prermer League's tender
process in February, giving us the rights to 126 lve Prermer League
matches a season from 2016/17 to 2018119 This s three times as
many hve matches as any other broadcaster, including the best
match picks and the most-watched slots in the schedule

Skyple 19
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Strategic report

UK & Ireland

{continued)

tnnovation

Cne of our prnienties for 2015 was to use our leadership in innovation
to step change the viewing experience for customers and make it
even easier for them to access our content however and whenever
they want it

Inthe home we extended our tead as the UK s biggest connected
box platform ¢onnecting more than one million customers over the
year to take our connected base past seven million

With over 60% of all TV households now connected on demand
usage has continued to grow as customers embrace the greater
—choice and flexility it offers Total on demand downloads

surpassed 15 billion in the year, up 60% year on year

Our investment i Sky Box Sets proved particularly popular with

the service delivering viewing equivalent to our fourth most popular
Sky channel in 2015 We ve also expanded our on demand library
elsewhere, including an mncrease in our dedicated kids' programming
from 700 to 4 0Q0 episodes

The growing penetration of connected devices 1s enabling us to
exploit new revenue oppartunities Sky Stare Buy & Keep our entry
Into the mowvie purchase sector helped drive a 77% increase in Sky
Store revenues over the year We added new functionality in 2015
to enable customers to access therr mowvie collection from therr
maobile device This means that customers can buy a movie from
Sky and watch it at home in their sitting room or enjoy it when
they are out and about

This was just ene development that helped us cement our position
as Europe s biggest motile TV prowider The number of Sky Go
registered households in the UK and Ireland passed six million in
the year Meanwhile Sky Go Extra our paid-for mobile service which
offers the ability to watch on more devices and download content
towatch of fline became Sky's fastest-groweng product ever

1 - Sky Box Sets Sky UX 2 - Now TV Enzertainment Pass Sky UK 3 - Sky AdSmart Sky UK
4 ~Sky Sernce app Sky UK 5 - Sky Hub wireless broadband router Shy UK

20 Skypic




Annual Report 2015

Strmegie repar

2015 also saw us make great progress with our QTT streaming
service NOW TV heiping us to extend our reach into Freeview
homes Sales of sports passes almost trebled to close to 15 mulion
during the year thanks to a rebrand and the intraduction of a new
sports weekly pass

Everything we see tells us that NOW TV customers love the servce
mode than one-third of NOW TV customers buy more than cne
pass every monthwhile the average NOW TV Entertainment pass
customer watches over five hours per week |n addition, the growth
In NOW TV 1s not canmtbahsing the Sky customer base with more
than 90% of all customers hawving never considered Sky before
SIgNING UP

Customer

In a fast-mowving market with an ever-greater choice of products and
providers we believe that our capability in service delivery gives us
a competitive advantage We have continugd to rase the bar inthis
areain 2015

Qur main focus has been on simplfying the customer experience
Central to this 1s our Digital First programme which we have been
rolling out across the UK and Ireland Duning the course of 2015 we
reduced the number of inbound calls to our service centras by 1%

as record numbers of customers nteracted Vthas watour service™

app through our automated voice service or via the set-top box

At the sarme tme we closed the year with our customer satisfaction
scores at all-time highs This was reflected in the latest Ofcom
survey which showed Sky lead:ng the market on customer
satisfaction with the fewest complaints across our product set

The capability we have developed in service delivery also enables

us to bring new products to market quickly and at scale In January
we announced plans to add mobile voice and data services to

our customer offering in 2016 foliowing the conclusion of a new
partnership with Teleforuca UK Bulding on the strength of the Sky
brand and our leadership in innovation and customer service, we will
launch a range of exciting new senvices that will enable us to explot
new opportunities for growth

Our customer-led approach means we take our responsibilities
senously For example this year, we took an important next step
to protect our customers online with adjustments to our award-
winning online filtenng tool, Sky Broadband Shield We now make
sure the default setung s on unless customers choose otherwise
We've contacted every one of our broadband customers to explain
the benefits and to highlight their options

Skyplc 2
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Stratege report

Germany & Austria

Customers Net customer growth
Products Net product growth

/71m +969k

Sky achieved an excellent year of growth in
Germany and Austria, attracting more new
customers than in any year since launch
thanks to rising demand for our products
and services

QOver the 12-month penod we added 467000 customers Lo take
the base past four million

At the same time paid-for product growth totalled almost one
_mithon, more than 50% higher than the previous year.thanks to

Content

In entertainment, we made smportant progress towards extending
the range and quahty of content on offer to customers in Germany
and Austria with our first move 1Into ongnal content production
Scandinavian crime drama 100 Code a co-production with Red
Arrow premiered in March, attracting a total of 18 milion views
across the series Filming aiso started on a police crime thnller
seres Babylon Berlin to air in the corming yaar

In addition 2015 was a big year for acquired content with Sky
customers enioying more season premieres than ever before from
some of the world s best content producers Thisincluded the
fifth senes of The Walking Dead and the final senes of True Blood

Our partnershipwith HBO delivered the exclusive launch of the fifth
senes of Game of Thrones on Sky Thrones HD Europess first channel
dedicated to a single seres Thss set a new record for a show on

Sky in Germany and Austrnia with 5 4 milllon views across the series
Reflecting the growing demand for flexibility of viewing. Game of
Thrones senes S was also the most successful senes to date on

Sky Go

Inmovies Chrnistmas came early For Sky customers and fans
of Star Wars when Sky Hits was re-branded Sky StarWars HD
in December, showing all six Star Wars Films around the clock

strong growth in HD

Conunued take-up of two-year contracts helped dnive churn down
to a record full-year low of 8 6% a full 180 basis points lower than
the prior year

1 =Scar Wars Episode TV Sky Mowes Star Wars HD Sky UK Sky Star Wars HD Sky
Deutschlang SkyCnema Star Wars HD Sky Itaha 2 - Game of Thranes Talk Sky atiantc HD
Sky Deutschiand 3 - Sky$) Sky Bundeshga HD1 Sky Dautschland 4 - S<y Online bor and
remote Sky Deutschiand 5 - Bunthicktgut Sky Foundaton Sty Deutschtand

This more than doubled the iewershup versus the prior year
with more than three mithon peaple tuning n over the two weeks
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In sport our Bundeshga coverage delivered a new ratungs record in
2015 with more than six million views to the live action over asingle
weekend at the end of February We alsp achieved a new record in
terms of share of viewing with the Saturday afternoon match on
23 May winning more than 14% of all TV viewing

Meanwhile we secured a new three-year deal for the exclusve Ive
broadcasting nghts for all matches imvotving German and Austrian
teams in the UEFA Europa League starting from the 2015A16 season
We also braadened our offering with the rights to the IHF Handball
World Championship 2015 This brought 28 games exclusively five

to Sky subscribers induding all German and Austnan national

team matches

Innovation

Building on the success of our connected TV strategy in the UK,
we started to connect the first German and Austnan satellite
customers’ boxes to the internet in December IT's early days but
almost 250 000 sei-top boxes had already been connected in the
first six months to the end of June opening up access to a much
ncher entertainment experience for customers

Strategic report

Out of the home we extended our lead as the number one provider
for mobile TV by launching Sky Goon Android dewices in December
We also continued to build out the range of content available,
including the addiuon of a brand-new lifestyle section wath 100
new prograrmes each month from partner channels

We extended our reachinto the pay ight segment of the market
with the December launch of our Sky Online service Using a
streammng box based on the same technology that has been

50 popular in the UK Sky Online offers customers a choice of
two packages as well as a Supersport Day Ticket for those with
either one of these packages This provides customers witha
Flexble, user-friendly and affordable way of accessing Sky s
premum content

Customer

We have made progress in bullding our customer service capability
aver the year This has been recognised with a number of awards
including leader in the entertainment sector in the TOP SERVICE
Deutschland 2015 competition

The importance we place on gring customers the best experience
from Sky extends to providing parents with easy-to-use tools to
he!p protect thetr family from unsuitable content Alongside PIN

protection, we provide a dedicated Kids-Zone on Sky Gowhich is——
safe and secure
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Strategc report

ltaly

Customers Net customer growth
4.7m
Products Net product growth

8.6m +387k

Sky In Italy held its customer base stable
after three years of negative growth, a great
achieverent given a challenging economic
environment

We ended the year with 4 7 million customers, while paid-for products
ncreased by 387000 to B 6 mulion thanks 1o good growth in HD

In common with our other markets, we defivered a sigruficant
reduction in churn in the year The 12-month rolling churn figure was
96% adechne of more than four percentage points Intwo years As In

U
customers across all Sky terntones in addition to locally
commussioned content It will also focus on producing pan-European
events to celebrate the arts

Elsewhere, our general entertainment channel, Sky Uno, built on
118 reputation as the exclusive home of mamnstream franchises
The latest senes of X Factor ftaka and MasterChef Itata delivered

a sigmficant increase in ratings of more than 30% and 20%
respectively year onyear while the successful launch of ltaha s Got
Talent made it the top-rated entertainment show debut on the
platform ever

We are monetising our investment in content more broadly through
the expansion of our free-to-air offering on Digital Terrestrial
Tetewvision (DTT) In 2015 we launched news channel Sky 7G24

on free-to-air joiming Cielo our general entertainment channel
which grew viewing 10% year on year

the UK ‘much of this improvement can be attributed to the nsein the
conpected base and the resultant increase in customer satisfacton

Content

In entertainment, we continued to differentiate ourselves from
the competitton in Italy by investing on screen Lo give customers
an increasing range of high quabty and distinctve programming

Much of the focus in 2015 went towards buillding the momentum

we ve established in onginal production Crime drama Gornorrah

was sold to more than 100 countnes and we commissioned a secand
senes to air n 2016 Meanwhile, political series 1932became the
second Sky drama after Fortitude to premiere simultaneously across
all five terntonies 1992 achieved the biggest-ever audience for
anonginal scnpted series in ltaly at launch in the spnng

There's more to ook forward to in the comung year with the
announcement of The Young Pope a major new co-production
between Sky HBO and Canal+ Directed by Academy Award-winning
Paglo Sarrenting, the exght-part drama features Jude Law in the
starnng role and will launch across all aur markets next year

2015 also saw the announcement of plans for a new Sky Arts
Preduction Hub to be based in Milan Part of a major commitment to
the arts across the group, the Production Hub will act as a centre of
excellence producing a slate of outstanding arts programming for

securing the exclusive nghts to all 472 matches in Sene 8 footbalt
for the next three seasons We also won the exclusive nghts to the
2016 European Qualfiers and the 2018 World Cup Qualifiers Added
to our nghts for all Sene A matches, with one-third exclusive and all
Europa League matches this confirms Sky ltalia as the number che
choice for football Fans

Away from football, we continued to extend the breadth of our
offering with the exchusve rights ta the EuroBasket 2015
1ournament and the Rugby World Cup in 2015

On screen motorsports performed particularly strongly MotoGP
and Formula 1 grew thew ratings by 30% and 24% respectively year
on year In a season n which Itahian teams and dnivers regained thear
campelitiveness

1 =MasterChef [tata SkyUno HD Skylraha 2 = TG24 for schogts Sky itaha 3 ~ Juventisvs Roma Sene A
Sky Spert HD Sty Rtaka 4 — Sky Caleo Show SKy 5part HD Sky rtaka 5 - My Sky HO box Sky aba

In sport“we farther strengthened our domestic foothali offering by —
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Innovation

We underlined our position of leadership in innovation n italy with
a series of Important new launches designed to make it easier
to access and consume content

In the home, we drove a 51% increase in connected boxes to end
the year with more than one-third of all customers connected to
the internet This growing penetration of connected devices fuelted
an expleson in on demand usage with total downloads more than
double the previous year

0Qut of the home, registered households to Sky Go increased to
almost half of the base by year-end Sky Go 1s particularly valued
by sports fans atuacting an average of more than half a mihon
streams at weekends

We opened up new headroom for growth in Apnl with the launch
of anew IPTV service in partnershipwith Telecom ltahia The new
service uses the first Sky PVR to work via satellite and IPTV
streaming to offer our full content ine-up over broadband for
the first sme This broadens our reach and gives us access to the
many Itahan households who are unable to install a satelite dish

The partnership with Telecom Itala 1s a key component to the
broadly-based growth strategy that also saw the launchof a new

Sky Online baox tin May The new box (s based on the' same technology
as the NOW TV box in the UK and Sky Online box inGermany and
enables us to tap into a new segment of the market

Customer

Asn our other ternitories, we know that our success comes from
afocus on customers and a mindset of embracing change in order
to provide customers with the best-possible experience from Sky

We sought to strengthen our relationship with Italian customers

by increasing the rewards for loyalty From April we reserved Sky Go
for those customers that have been with Sky for more than a year
We also sought to increase customer engagement by upgrading
our customer reward programme with a sernes of new imiatives
and benefits

In order to give parents more control over the type of content thewr
children watch we intrduced Parental Control Activated through
aremote device 1t s avarfable to all Sky customers in [taly

Alongside this we have continued our focus to improve the quahty
and flexibility of our customer service by moving more of our
customer interactions onling We reduced our calls per customer
by 12% over the year with downloads to our self-service mobile
app surpassing 15 million by year-end
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1 = New England Paviots 2015 NFL champions
Super Bowl Sky Sports HD Sky UK 2 = True Detective
Sky Atlantc HD All termtones 3 - Sky Fraventauf
Sky Foundlatson Sky Deutschland 4 - Sky Go

All temtones 5 - Stand Up Be Counted,

Becuon 2015 Sky News natve Sky UK

& - Sercna Wdaams LS Open 2014 champwon
Sky Sports HD Sicy UK 7 - SkySpares Living for
Sport Awards Shy Academy Sky UK B - Sky Ride
Sky UK 8 - Sky Acadermy Skilts Stuthos Sky UK
10 = A League of Thewr Own Sky | HD Sky UK
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Financial review

We achieved an excellent year of growth
across the group Our Investments in

the viewing experience attracted record
numbers of customers to join Sky and drove
loyalty among existing customers to new
highs with churn under 10% tn each market
This operational performance translated
Into strong revenue growth and, alongside
our good cost control, this resulted in an
18% increase in operating profit and over

£1 bilhion of operating free cash flow We also
propose afurther 3% ncrease in the dividend

Andrew Griffith, Group Chief Financial Officer

Adjusted operating profit Adjusted basic EPS
£1.4bn  56.0p
Dmdend

32.8p

Group financial performance

To provide a more representative analysis of ongoing performance
of the Group allcommentary down to the operating profit

level for the Group 1s on an adjusted basis as If we had owned
Germany and ttaly for the full year from 1 July The financial results
of Germany and ltaly are translated into sterfing at a constant
currency rate of €131 £1

Unless otherwise stated adjusted figures below are from
continuing operatons and on a recurnng basis excluding 1)

the impact of Sky Bet as this s presented as a2 discontinued
operation, it) set-top-box sales to Italy which are now an intragreup
transaction, and w) ESPN carnage revenue in the UK and Ireland
from FY14 comparatives aswe no longer retail the channel

Numbers below the operating profit ine for the Group consolidate
Germany and Italy only for the actual period of ownership from
12 November and are on 2n adjusted basts

Our statutory financial reporting consohidates Germany and italy
for the pernod from 12 November 2014 to 30 June 2015 Dunng this
pened Italy contributed revenue of £1 297 mill:ion and operating
profit of £25 million while Germany contributed revenue of

£866 million and an operating loss of £21 milhon
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Revenue

We achieved excellent growth in Group revenues which were up

5% to £EN,283 milion (2014 E10 776 mulion) Revenue in Germany
was up 9% to E1,377 milllon (2014 E{ 262 millior} whilst revenue in
the UK was up 6% to £7820 millicn (2014 E7 368 milkon) Revenues
nltaly remained resslient at £2,086 milkon (2014 £2140 million)
despite the tough economic backdrop

We have delivered strong rates of growth across all of our main
revenue streams with good consumer demand for our products
and services helping drmve subscription revenue up 5% whilst
transactional revenue was our fastest growing area with revenue
up 22% We also achieved good growth in both advertising

(+4%) and wholesale (+5%) revenues highlighting the strength

of our ability to monetise content

Subscnption revenue growth of 5% was underpinned by excellent
customer growth across the group of almost one milton customers
and strong product growth of 4 6 mullion, with the largest proportion
of revenue growth continuing to be delvered through the UK where
revenues were up over £300 million Alongside this, our best year of
custamer growth m Germany drove a 10% increase in subscnption
revenues, whilst in [taly we held total customers and revenue flat

Transactional revenues increased by 22% to £173 milkon (2014

Strategx report

We delvered good growth in adverusing revenues of 4%to

£716 mulion (2014 £690 milhon) with Germany delivering excellent
growth of 26% through higher sellout rates and increased inventory
around Bundeslhga Advertising revenues in the UK grew strongly up
5% due to the benefit of Incremental AdSmart revenues combined
with Sky Media Increasing their share of net advertising revenue by
almest 170 basis points, white advertising revenue was down inftaly
as we lapped the €27 million benefit of the FIFA World Cup revenues
n Q4 last year

Costs

Total Group costs grew by just 3% well below the rate of reveriue
growth, to £ 883 million (2014 £9591 million} as we maintained
ught discipline over our operating cost base while continuing to
nvest where our customers see the greatest value

Programmung costs increased 5%, in ine with revenue growth as we
ncreased the depth and breadth of our offering We launched the
exclusive ITV Encore channelin the UK in June 2014 and expanded
our channel ine-up n Germany aswell as having a full-year impact
of the new Sky Atlantic channel in italy We continue to investn

a diverse content portfolio with an enhanced box set offering in
the UK and increased investment on Sky onginated content, with
successes including Fortrtude and 1992 The strong growth in

£142 million) as we benefited from the success of our Buy and
Keep service which surpassed weekly revenue of E1 million in Q4
and NOW TV transactions which totalled almast 15 mikien over
the past 12 months

Qur content-related revenues also performed well Wholesale and
syndication revenues were up 5% to ES50 million (2014 £524 mithon)
fargely driven by continued growth in the UX where revenues were
up 19% as success on screen led to more favourable terms for our
channels with wholesale partners Alongside this revenues were
strong through the distribution of our programming internationally
and the first time consalidation of Znak& Jones and Love
Productions !n italy underlying whalesale revenues were broadly
flat year on year (excluding the benefit in the prior year from
Champions League resale revenues), whist revenues in Germany
were slightly down following the successful migration of former
Dautsche Telekom wholesale customers to a retad relationshup

In the prior year

Sky Store revenues has driven an Iincrease i our transactional
programming costs

Qur network costs i the UK were up only 3% well below the rate
of home communications reverte growth

Sales General and Administration costs grew by just i%asthe
higher up-front cost of strong subscriber growth in Germany was
offset by efficiencies made across the UK and Italy as part of their
respective operating efficiency programmes
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Strateg report

Financial review

(contnued)

Profits and earnings

Ogperating profit grew strongly up 18% to £1400 million (2014
E1185 mifiory) as we combined excellent reveniue growth with
careful choices within our cost base whilst continuing to invest
in programnung This has driven a 140 basis point expansionin
our operating margin

The share of joint ventures and associates’ profits was £28 milion
{2034 £35 mifhion) and net finance costs increased by £91 million
to £200 rmilkon (2014 E109 mullion) due Lo the interest charge
associated with an additronal £5 4 billion of gross debt that we
1ssued dusing the year

The tax charge of £251 millon (2014 £237 million) was at an
effective tax rate of 21%

Profit after tax for the year grew by 6% to £945milhion (2014

£892 million) resulting in adjusted earnings pershare of 56 0 pence
(2014 571 perke) after accounting for the higher number of shares
following our issuance in July 2014 Over the year the werghted
average number of shares excluding those heid by the Employee
Share Ownership Plan { ESOP ) for the settiement of employee share
awards was 1,680 mullion (2014 1,562 milion) The closing number of
shares excluding the ESOP shares at 30 June 2015 was 1704 milion
(2014 1,546 milion)

Group cash flow and financial position

Group free cash flow increased year on year by 20% to E1060 mulion
(2014 £885 milion) while net debt wncreased to E5 056 mitlion (2014
£1 212 milkon) as a result of the acquisiton of Sky Deutschland and
Sky Italia in November 2014 Gross debt as at 30 June 2015 was
£7534 mallion with cash of £2,478 millon The rauo of net debt

to EBITDA at 30 June 2015 was approximately 2 5 times Sky has

an investment grade credit rating, being rated BBB by Standard

& Poors and Baa2 by Moody s both with stable outlook

Non-
Cash cash
move- move-  Asat3D
As at 1July ments ments June 2015
2004 €m £m Em £m
Current borrowmngs ] - 483 494
Non-current borrowings 2658 5082 (322) 748
Borrowmngs-related derwative
financialinstruments (80) ~ (298) (378)
Gross debt 2589 5082 {137) 7534
Cash and cash equvalents Q082 (296) - (1378)
Short-term deposits [295) (805} - 100)
Net debt 1212 398 137 5 056
Balance Sheet

During the year total assets increased by £8 909 milioa to

Adjusting stems

Statutory profit for the year includes a gain of over £1 bithon
relating to a £492 million gain on the disposal of avallable-for-sale
Investments, a £299 milion gain on the disposal of our stake in
the National Geographic Channel, and a profit of £600 mullion on
the sale of a controling stake in Sky Bet This was partially offset
by operating expenses of £396 milion prinaipally compnising the
costs of a corporate efficiency and restructuring programme
the casts of a programme to replace aged customer equipment,
adwisory and transaction fees incurred on the purchase of

Sky Deutschiand and Sky Italia costs of integrating those
busnesses in the enfarged Group and the ongoing amortisation
of acouered intangible assets

Statutory profit after tax was £1332million (2014 £820 milhon)

Following the sale of a controling stake in Sky Bet on 19 March 2015
the results of Sky Bet are now presented as a discontmued operation
The sale resultedn a profit on disposal of EG00 milkon which 15
ncluded withun profit for the year from discontinued operations

For areconcilatan of stamtory to adjusted numbers page 144

£15 358 million at 30 June 2N15 Non-current assets increased
by £6 923 nullion to €13 799 milkon, pamanly due to an increase
of £3141 mulion in goodwill and an increase of £3 274 milhion n
intangible assats largely as a result of the recognition of goodwill
and customer contracts and relationshups recogrised on the
acquisition of Sky Deutschland and Sky Itaha Current assets
increased by £1,986 mithon to £4 559 milon at 30 June 2015
pnncipally due to a £805 millton increase in shart-term deposits
a £461 millon increase in current trade and other receivables
and a £301 million increase In inventones Current inventores
and trade and other recevables have Increased mawly due to
the impact of the consahdation of the inventories and trade
and other recevables of Sky Deutschland and Sky ltalta

Total habiities increased by £6 757 milllon to £12134 million at

30 June 2015 Current habilities increased by £1,685 milhon to
£4,204 million, pnmanty due to a £1,144 millon increase in trade
and other payables due to the impact of the consolidation of the
trade and other payables of Sky Deutschland and Skyltala and a
£483 milion increase in current borrowings Non-current habihties
increased by £5 072 million to £7930 midhon, princopatly due to

a £4 760 milon increase in the Group s non-current borrowings
Current and non-current bormwngs have increased as a result

of the 1ssue of euro dollar and sterling bonds in the year
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Distnbutions to Shareholders

The Directors’ proposed final dwvidend of 20 5 pence per share
takes the total dvidend payable in respect of the financial year
to 32 8 pence per share an increase of 3% on last year

The proposed dvidend continues the track record of shareholders
benefiting from our strong financial performance and represents
the 11th consecutive year-on-year increase in the dividend

The ex-dwidend date wall be 22 October 2015 and, subject

to shareholder approval at the 2015 Annual General Meeting,
the final dnrdend of 20 5 pence will be paid on 20 November
2015 to shareholders appeanng on the register at the close
of business on 22 October 2015

Post balance sheet events

Purchase of minonty interests in Sky Deutschland

As announced on 17 February 2015 Sky initiated the necessary
steps for the transfer of the remarung appreximately 4% minority
shareholdings 11 Sky Deutschland The requisite shareholder
resolution was subsequently approved by 99 4% of shareholders
at an Extraorcinary General Meeting of Sky Deutschland on

22 July 2015 and we expect the formal transfer of the minority
shareholdings to be effective in the second quarter of the 201516

Stratape report

financal year
For more detad see note 32 page 130
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Stratagic port

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Group nisk register 1s reported formally to the Audit Committee twice
ayear and focused nsk reporting on selected themes occurs on a quartery
basis Adcitional mformatian on the Group s Internal control and risk
management processes Is set out in the Corporate Governance Report
and the Audit Commatiee Report

For Carporate Governance report pages 40 50

Detailed controls and any relevant action plans are prepared for the Audt
Committee as part of the formal half-yearly reporting process Additionally
we have established a procedure to monitor nsks and any changes thergto
across the Group Any relevant information ansing from such monitoring 1s
also reported to the Audit Committee

This section desenbes the current principal iisks and uncertammties facng
the Group In addition to summansing the matenal nsks and uncertainties
the table below gives examples of how we mitigate those nisks

The Group has a formal nsk management framewark embedded within the
business to support the identfication and effecuive management of risk
across the Group

The divisrons within the Group are ¢ach responsible for managing and
reporting riskin accordance with the Groups nsk management policy and
standards that have been approved by the Audit Commuttee The risks are
then consolidated into a Group nsk register which provides an overview of
the Group risk profife taking into account the breader geographical spread
and larger scale of the Group following the acguisitions of Sky Deutschland
and Sky ltalia

Descrptwon of nsk

Miugaton

Market and competition

The Group aperates in a highly competitive environment and faces
compebtion from a broad range of organisations Technologcal
developments alsc have the ability to create new Forms of quickly
evolving competition

Afailure to develop the Group s product progosition in line with
changing market dynamics and expectations could erode the
Group s competitive posiion

The Group continues to make significant investments in innovation

The Group s product development strategic aim s to be at the forefront
of progressive technology

Please se¢ the Innovation section on page 7 of the Group Chief
Executive s Statement for further detalls of these products

The Group regufarty reviews its pnong and packaging strectures to ensure

Great content I5 central to SKy's prodict propasition and INc/éased
competition could impact the Group s abihty to acquire content that
our customers want on commercially attractive terms

Economig conditicns have been challenging i recent years across
the territones in which the Group operates and the future remaing
uncertain A sigrificant economic decline in any of those temitories
could impace ethe Group s ablity Lo continue to attract and retain
customers in that terntary

that its praduct proposstion 1S appropriately placed withunthe madket. . _

The Group works closely with its marketing partners to ensure that the
value of its offering I1s understocd and communicated effectively toits
customers

The Group makes sigruficant investment i the arigination of content
as well as in acguisition from across the world

The Group also works to develop and maintain the brand value assoaated
wath s indmidual chanrels
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Description of nsk

Miigation

Regulatory breach and change

The Group 15 subject to regulaucn pnmarily under Austrian German
Insh Italian UK and European Union legislation

The regimes which apply to the Group s business include but are not
hmited to

Broadcasting - as a prowvider of audiovisual media services the Group
15 subject to Austnan German [talian and UK kcensing regimes under
the apphcable broadcasting and communications legistation These
cobligations include requirements to comply wath relevant codes and
directions issued by the relevant regulatory authonties inchuding

for example tn the UK Ofcoms Broadcasting Code Code on the
Scheduling of Telewswon Advertsing and Cross Promotions Code

Technical services - as a provider of certain technical services
i the UK and Germany $ky UK and Sky Deutschiand ane subject
to regulatian in therr respective countries and

Tetecommunmications — Sky UK 1s subject to the General Conditions
of Entitlement adopted under the Communications Act 2003 (UK)
and the Condtions for the provision of Electromic Communications
Networks and Services under the Commurications Regulation Act
2002 (Ireland) wiuch impose detalled requirements on providers
of communications networks and services

The Group s also subject Lo generally apphcable legislauon rcluding

The Group's abitity to operate or compete effectrvety could be adversely
affected by the outcome of investigations or by the introduction af new
laws pohicies or regulations changes i the interpretation or apphcation
of existing faws policies and regulations, or fadure to obtan required
regulatory approvals or cences Please see page 36 of Lthe Regulatory
Matters section for further details

The Group manages these nsks through activa engagement in the
regulatary processes that affect the Group s business

The Group actwely sceks to entfy and meetits regulatory obhgations
ang to rgspond to emerging requirements Thes includes for example

« Broadc¢asting - comphance controls and processes are in place »n the
Group s content services Interactionwith the relevant regulatory
authornities 1s co-ordinated between the relevant local Compliance
Regulatory and Legal departments

+ Technical services = with respect to the provis:on of certain technicat
servicas in the UK and Germany processes are in place to momtor
third-party broadcaster access to the relevant broadcast platforms
and to ensure that thus 5 prosded on fair reasonable anct
non-giIscrmINatory terms

Telecornmunications - comphiance controls and processes are n
ptace in the UK and Ireland overseen by the Customer Compliance

butnat mied to, compeution Aoutrust) antizbobeory cansumer . Commitige Lo.monitercomphiance and performance aganss the,

protection data protection and laxaton

The Group s currently and may be in the future subect to proceedings
and/or investigation and enquines fram regulatory and antitrust
authonties

Please see page 36 of the Regulatory Matters section for further detads

General Conditions of Entitlernent and the Conditions for the prowsion

of Electromc Communications Networks ar Services

The Group maintains appropnate oversight and reporting supported
by traming to provide assurance that it 1s compliant with regulatory
requirements

FUBUIIN0D
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Customer senice

A significant part of the Group s business s based on a subseription
model and its future success relies on building long-term relationships
with its customers A fallure tomeet its customers expectations with
regards to servee could negatively tmpact the Group s brand and
competitive position

The Group strives consistently to exceed its customers expectations
to puL its customers first to understand what they want and to be
responsive to what theysay

The Group makes sigrfant investments in order to deliver continuous
development and improvement to its customer serace capabilities
Including snvestment In iLs COntact centres across the UK and wreland
insourcing of service cantres n Germany and implement:ing ongoing
trainng and development plans

The Group tracks its customer service performance benchmarks
Its cUstomer service expencrke and strives to be best in class

Technology and business interruption

The preducts and services that the Group provides to its customers
are rehant on complex techrucal infrastructure

A failure i the operation of the Group s key systems orinfrastructure
such as the broadcast platfoerm customer management systems

OTT platforms or the telecommunications networks anwhich the Group
relies could cause a fadlure of servica to our customers and negatively
wapactour brand

The Group makes signsficant nvestment in technolegy infrastructure
to ensure that it continues to support the growth of the business and
has a robust selection and morutonng process of third-party providers

The Group 1S commatted Lo achueve best in-class business contineity
standards and makes sigruficant investment s in the resiience and
rebustness of its business infrastructure

The Group also orgamses regular scenang based group-wide business
continuity exercises to ensure ongong readiness of key staff systems
and sites

UBNELLIOJN SPTOYARYS
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Stratepcreport

Principal risks and uncertainties

(continued)

Descnprionof nsk

Mitigation

Supply chain

The Group rekes on a number of third partres and outscurced suppliers
operatng across the giobe to supportits supply chan

A sigreficant Failure within the suppfy chain could adversely affect
the Group s ability to deliver products and service 1o I1ts customers

The Group contmues to mvest i its supply chain infrastrocture to
SUPPOrt ILS BusIness plan commitments

A robust suppher selection process 15 in place with appropriate
angoing management and manitoring of key partrers and suppliers

The Group performs regular audits of key suppliers and of their
installations and wherever possible has dual supply capability

Financial

The effectrve management of its financial expasunes 15 central to
presening the Groups profizability

The Group I1s exposed to financial market nsks and may be impacted
negatively by fluctuations in foreign exchange and interest rates which
create volatlity n the Group s results to the extent that they are not
effectively hedged

Any increase in the finangial leverage of the Group may bmit the
Group s financial Aexibihty

The Group may also be affected adversety by hquicdity and
counterparty Nsks

The Group s finance teams ara embedded within the business to provide
support to management and to ensure accurate financal reporung and
tracking of our business performance Reporting on financial performance
1s provided on a monthly basis to sericr management and the Board

The Group conunually invests in the improvement of its systems and
processes in order to ensuré sound finanaal management and reporting

The Group manages treasury nsk by minimesing nsk to capital and
prowding approprate protection agamst foresgn exchange and interest
rate movements

Cash investment s made in hne wath the Group s stnct treasury pohcy
which is approved by the Audit Cammittee and sets imitson deposits
based on counterparty credit ratings No more than 10% of cash deposits
are held with a single bank counterparty with the exception of averright
deposits which are invested in a spread ef AAAFrated liquidity funds

All non-sterling debt 15 swapped at inception to ensure appropriate
currency and interest rate protection isin place and trading currency
nsk s hedged up to five years in advance

The Group manages its tax sk by ensunng that rnisks are identifed and
understood at an early stage and that effective compliance and reparting
processes are un place

The Group continues to maintain an open and proactive relationship
with the regulating tax authonues prhmardy HM Revenue & Customs
The Group aims to deal with taxatien 1ssues wherever possible as they
anse n order Lo avoid unnecessary tisputes

Security

The Group must protect its customer and corporate data and the
safaty of its people and nfrastructure as well as needing to have
in place fraud prevention and detection measures

The Group 15 responsible to third-party intellectual property owners
for the security of the content that it distributes on vanous platforms
(Sky s own and thurd-party platforms)

Asignificant breach of secunty could impact the Group s ability
to operate and deliver against 1ts business abjectives

The Group takes measures ranging from physical and logical access
cantrols to encrypuon or equrvalent technotogies raisng employee
awareness and menitoning of key partners to manage its security fnsks

The Group continues Lo mvest in new technological controls and

N improving broader busenass process and works closely with law
enforcement agencies and policy makers in order LO protect iLs
assets and to comply with its contractuat obligations o third parties
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Descripuon of nsk

Mitigaticn

Projacts

The Group wnwests in and delivers significant capital expenditure
progects in order to continually drive the business forward The [evel
of the Group s capital expenditure has increased as a result of the
increased size of the Group s business following completion of the
acquisitions of Sky Deutschland and Sky italia

The fanlure to deliver key projects effectively and efficiently could
result in significantly increased project costs and inpede our ability
toexecute our strategic plans

A common project management methodology 1s used toenable the Group
to manage monitor and control its major capital expenditure projects
and strategic programmes This inciudes detailed reporting and regular
reviews by senior management as wel as cross-functional executive
steering groups for major projects

Third-party partners will where appropriate be engaged to provide
support and expertise 1n our large stralegic programmes, complex
invtiatives and for emerging technologies

BUBLIAMOG

intellectual property protection

The Group Incomman with other service prowigers, relies an inteflectual
property and other propnetary nghts tncuding i respect of
programming content, which may not be adequately protected

under current laws or which may be subject to unauthonsed use

We maintain an ongomng programme Lo support appropriate protections
of our ntellectual property and other rights This includes for example
the use of automated onhne momtanng teols the mplementation of
on-screen imprinting of content together with an actve programme

e protect our intellectual property nghts

Pcople

People at 5ky are cntical to the Group s abiity to meet the needs
of Its customers and achieve its goals a5 a business

Fadure to attract or retan suitable employees across the business
could it the Group s abrlity to deliver its business plan commitments

Making Sky a great place to work 1s central to the Group s strategy
The Group champions diversity and develops talent through a number
of acteattes incuding the Graduate programme, Development Studio
an apprenticeship scheme and a leadershup programme

The Group has well established channels and procedures ta recruit and
retan its employees and toensure that an adequate number of suntable
employees work within 1ts customer service teams and across alt its

operation

i
|
1

Further details on our people s set out 1n the Employees sectuon of the
Directors Reporton pages 71-72

SIS POUBUL
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Below 1s an overview of the ongoing
investigations and reviews of regulatory
and competition matters involving

the Group

European Commission investigation
On 13 January 2014 the European Commission (the ECopened a formal

antitrust InvesLigaton into cross-border provision of pay TV services in the
European Unior The EC 15 examirng certain provisions relating to terntonal
protection in heence agreements between major US film studios (Twenueth

Century Fox Warner Sros Sony Pictures NBCUmiversal Paramount and
Disney) and key European pay TV broadcasters (Sky UK Canal Plus Sky
Itaha Sky Deutschland and DTS oparatng under the Canal Pius brand in
Span) On 23 July 2015 the EC adoptad a Statement of Obyections (50)
setting out its prehmanary finding that there has been aninfingement of
EU Compeniion law involving Sky UK Sky UK s responding ta the concerns

inthe 5O The EC has not yet reached its final views and the Group 1s not yet

able to determine the cutcome of the investigation or (s financial impact

————————1owEer shéGld thEGutcome be advarSe t6 SKYUK HREmayhaves— ——Consultationss 21 September 2015 Ofcom plans to set out the condusions —— ——— ——

significant effect on the fmancial posison or profitability of the Group

Wholesale must-offer obligations

On 31 March 2010 Ofecom published its decision to impose whalesale
must-offer obhigations on the Group (the WO Obligations ) for the
channels Sky Sports 1 Sky Sports 2 Sky Sports | HD and Sky Sports 2 HD
{the Affected Channels ) The WMO Obhigations require Sky UK amongst
other things to offer the Affected Channels ona wholesale basis to third
parties which satisfy vanous minimum quahfying cntena

in Aprl 2010 Sky UK apphed to the Competition Appeal Tribunal (the CATY)
far a suspension of the implementation of the WMO Obligations On 29
April 2010 the Group s application was resolved by way of an agreed Order
from the President of the CAT {the Order ) whichwas subsequently varied
on 23 Novermnber 2010 andd 12 November 2014 The effect of the Order as
varied 15 that pending the outcorne of Sky UK 5 substantive appeal Sky UK
1s raquired to offer the Affected Channels to Virgin Media for distnbution
via DTT and cable to REAL Digital via DTH and to BT for distnbution wa
DTT and BT 5 Internet Protocol Television { IPTV ) platiorms Cardinal

and BT YouView The CAT granted the November 2014 vanation extendmg
the WMO Obligations 1o 8T's IPTV platforms subject to BT gmng an
undertalong that it would maintam the self-retailing of its sports channels
(8T Sport 1 BT Sport 2 and ESPN) wia Sky § DTH satellite platform unti the
final determimation of the matters remitted to the CAT

On 8 August 2012 the CAT handed down its judgment on Sky UK s appeal
against Ofcoms deaision to impose the WMO Obligations (the Pay TV
Judgment) The CAT found that Ofcoms core competition concern

15 unfounded (Ofcom had found that Sky UK delberately withheld
wholesale supply of its Premuum Channels) and that accordingly

Sky UK s appeal must be allowed

BT appealed the Pay TV Judgment to the Court of Appeal On 17 February
2014 the Caurt of Appeal allowed BT s appeal finding that Cfcom s decision
contamed a further compeutuon concern in relation ta Sky UK s rate

card prices and discounts to those pnces and that the CAT should have
considered that concem It therefore remitted thatissue to the CAT

for further consideration Whele the CAT s finding that Ofcom s core
competition concern was unfounded remains undisturbed the WMO
Obhgations {as modified by the Order as vaned) continue in force pending
the CAT consderaton of the further ssue renutted to it Asyet there s no
date set for the heaning of the remitted ssue

0On 19 December 2044 Ofcom published a consultation as part of IS review
of the WMO Obligatons announced in Apnl 2014 This dacument represents.
the first phase of Ofcom s review the purpose of which is to deade the
extent to which the WMOQ Obligations remaun appropriate or need to be
modified or removed Ofcom 1s consuling on its assessment of whether
absent regulanion providers of channels which carry key sporis content
might mit distnbution to some pay TV retailers and whether that would
undermine competition At the time of the consultation Ofcom s view was
that it rmight be appropnate to maintain some form of regulation on Sky UK
i order to ensure fair and effective competiion in pay TV and that it would
be unhiely to be appropriate to impose simular zegulation on BT Sky UK

has responded Lo the consultation On 27 July 2015 Ofcom pubished a
supplementary consuitation which seeks stakeholders views on the extent
towhich an insistence by Sky anreciprocal supply of channels contaiming
key sports content, as a condition of Skys supply of ts own key sports
channels may be a practice which is prejudicial to fair and effective
competitian The closing date for responses to this supplementary

of its assessment from both consultavions laterin 2015 and where
necassary to censult further onany propased remadies

.

The Group 13 currently unable to determine whether and to what extent '
the appeals concerning the WMO Obhggations will be successful norisdt
able to determine the outcome of Ofcom s review of the WMO Obhgatons
1t 15 therefore not passibte far the Groupta concflide oty the finagtal ¢
inpact of the sutcome of the appeals or the consullation at this stagey,
However should the cutcome of thesa processes be adverse to the Group
this may have a significant effect an the financial position or profitability
of the Group

Ofcam Competition Act Investigation

Foltowing receipt of a complaint from BY on 14 June 2003 Ofcom opened an
investigation into whether Sky UK has abused a dominant positscn contrary
1o Chapter i of the Competiton Act 1998 and/or Arude 102 of the Ireaty

on the Functioning of the EU The complaint alleged that Sky UK was making
wholesale supply of Sky Sports 1 and 2 to 8T for its YouView service
conditional on BT whotesahng BT Sporis channels to Sky UK for retail on
Sky UK s satelite platform and that constituted an abuse of dominance

Ofcomss investigation of BT's complaint s sull open

The Group 1s currently unable Lo determine the outcome of Ofcoms
nvestigation or its financial impact howaver should the cutcome be
adverse to the Group this may have a significant effect on the financial
position or profitabiity of the Group
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Virgim Media complaint to Ofcom concerming the ‘collective’

selling of ive UK television rights by the Premier League

In September 2014 Ofcom received a complamt from Virgin Media ( VM }
alleging that the arrangements for the collective selling of tive UK telewvision
nghts by tha Premicr League ( PL) for matches played by its member dubs
are in breach of compettion law On 18 November 2014 Ofcom opened an
invesugatian under section 25 of the Competition ACt 1998 into how the

PL selis hve UK aud:o-visual media nghts for PL football matches

Ofcom s investigation 1S contnuing The Group 15 currently unable to
determine whether or to what extent VM s complaint will be upheld by
Ofcom and it s not passible for the Group to condude on the financial

impact of the outcome at this stage

Competition law investigation into 2014 Serie A auction

In May 2015 the italian compebtion authority the Autonta Garante
della Concorrenza e del Mercato (AGCM ) opened aninvesugation
into the outcome of the June 2014 auction for broadcasting nghts

to Sene A football matches for the 2015-2018 seasons The investigation
1s considerng whether the Italian football leegue Lega Nazionate
Professionist Sene A 1its achsor Infront Italy Sl and broadcasters
Sky ltalia St Retr Telewisive ltaliane S p A and its subsdiary Medaset
Premium Sp A entered into an anti-competitive agreement in relation
to the award of the rights The AGCM expects its investigation to be
completed by 30 Apnl 2016

The Group Is currently unable to determine the outcome of the AGCMs
nvestigation or its finanaal impact however should the outcome be

Strategic report

Forward looking statements

This document contains certain forward locking statements with respect
to our financial condition results of operations and business and our
strategy plans and objectives

These statements include without hmitation thase that express forecast,
expectations and projecuans such as forecasts expectations and
projections with respect to new products and services the potential for
growth of free-to-air and pay television ficed-lne telephony broadband
and bandwadth requirements advertising growth OTH and OTT customer
growth Muluscreen On Demang NOW TV Sky Go Sky Go Extra Sky+
Sky—HD Sky Store, Sky Online Multvision Second Smartcard mobie and
ather services churn révenue profitabdity and margn growth cash flow
generation pregramming costs subscnber management and suppty chain
costs admirustration costs and ather costs marketing expenditure caprtal
expenditure programmes and proposals for returming capital to
shareholders

Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in such
forward lcoking statements are reasonable these statements (and al
other forward looking statements contained i this document) are not
guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks uncertainties
and other factors some of which are beyond our control are difficutt

to predict and could cause actual results to differ materally from those
expressed orimphed or forecast in the forward Jooking statements
These factors include but are not mited to those nisks that are
rughlighted 1 this document in the section entitled 'Princapal nsks and
uncertainties and mfarmation an the significant risks and uncertainties
associated with gurbusinesss desenbied thergin

adverse to the Group this may have a significant effect on the financial
pasition or profitabdity of the Group

myrategic report was approved by the Board and signed on ts behalf
poup Chief Executive Officer

ve Officer
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No part of these results constitutes or shall be taken to constitute

an invitation or Inducement to irvest in the Company or any other
entty and must not be relied upon in any way in connection with any
investment deasion Al forward locking statements in this document
arebased on informatron kriown tous on the date herecf Except as
required by law we undertake no obhgation pubhcly to update or revise
any forward locking statements whether as aresult of new information
future events or otherwise
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Gavernance

Board of Directors

Key
Auchit Comruttee
Bigger Pcture Committee

Cerporate Governance
& Nominations Committee

Remunerabon Committee

Commuttee Charman

For more about, the Board
sky comicotpocate

Nick Ferguson, CBE(56)
Charrman

Appointed Nickwas appointed to the
Board as a Non-txecutve Drrector in lune
2004 and became Cha rmanin Apnl 2012
He has previously served as Deputy
Charrnan and Senior lndependent
NorrExscutve Drector

Sids and expenence Nick bnngs
extensive [sadership expenence fromthe
private equity and Investment sectors
He was co-founder and mstrumental in
the dnakopment of Schroder Ventures
{the prvate equity group which later
became Permirs) of which he served as
Charman from 1984 to 2001 He later
served as Charman of SVG Capital plc

a puble quotedprivate equity group
from Apnl 2005 Lo November 2012

He has a kong-standing interest in the
arts and philanthropy and served as
Charman of the Courtauld Institute of
Art for 10 years before retring in July 2012
External Appomnbments Nk s Charman
of Alta Acvisers Limited animvestment
advisory firm a positionhe has held
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Jeremy Darroch (53)

Group Chief Executive Officer
Appointed leremy janed Sky as Chief
Financial Officer and Executne Director
1N 2004 and was appoanted to his current
role in Decemnber 2007 inNovember 2014
Jeremy was appointed Chaurrnan of the
Supennasory Board of Sky Deutschland AG
Shills and gxpenence Jeremy has
extengve experence inthe retailing
and fast-moving Consumer gocds
sectors Pnor tojoinng Sky Jeremy
was Group Finance Director of DSG
tnternational plc, formerty Dixons Group
plc He has also spent 12 years at Progter
&Gamblawn avanety of roles inthe

UK and Europe Jeremy s a former
Nor-Executsve Director and Charman
of the Audiz Committee of Marks and
Spercer Group plc from 2006 to 2013
External Appointments. in February
2014 Jeremy was apponted
Non-Executve Director of Burberry
Group plkc and serves as a member

of the Audrt, Remuneration and
Nominations Committees Heisa

Andrew Gnffithces)

Group Chuef Financial Officer
Appainted Andrew joned Skym 1939
and beld 3 number of seruwor finance

roles pror to s appointment as Cref
FRnancial Officer and Executive Duector

N Apd 2008 tnNovemder 2014 Andrew
was appointed as a member of the
Supearvisory Board of Sky Deutschland AG
Shils and experience Prior to joreng Sky
Andmewwas at Rothschid the investment
banking organisation where he provded
finanqal and strategic advice o axrporate
clents m the technology media and
telsCHMMUNICItIoNS sectar Harsa
qualfied Chartered Accountant and

has 8 Bacheior of Law degree from
Nettngham Unnersity

External Appomntments in March 2014
Andrewwas appomnted Sersor
Independent Non-Exgtutve Drectorof
Just Eat plewhere he atsa hofds positions
as Charrrman of the Aucet Committee

an member of the Remwneration and
Nommnatons Committees He samember
ofthe 100 Group of Finance Cwectors and

Since January 2007 HES3IEe Charman
and Founger of the Kilfinan Graup which
offers mentorng by Charmen and CEOs
10 Heads of Chantwes Nick s 3 Fellow of

BiSmess Member of the National
Centre for Universities and Business

AdviEhy Boand Of R OG0 UnRiversity
Cenue for Businass Taxaton

Winchester College
Chase Carey (51} Tracy Clarke (48) Dawid ¥ DeVace (648)
Non Executive Durecter tndependent Non-Executive Drrector Non-Exgeutive Dirgctor

Appointed January 2013

Skills and expenence Chase has
extensme knowledge and expenence

of the inteenaten al madia and pay TV
sectors He s former President and

Chmef Executive Officer of DirecTV

where ha fed the operations and strategic
drrectan of the DarecTV Group Pror

to inng DrecTV Chase was Co-Cheef
Operating Officer of News Corporation
(subsequently renamed 215t Century Fox)
and Chasrman and Cheef Executve
Officer of the Fox Telewsion Group

Untd Novemnber 2014 he served as a
member of the Supenisory Board

of Sky Deutschiand AG

Extermal Appointments Chase was the
former President, Cruef Operating Officar
and Deputy Charman of 215t Century
Fox bnom 2009 48 2015 In kune 2005
Chasewas appomted as the Executve
Vice Charman of 215t Century Fox and witt
serve n this rode through Lo June 2016

Appointed June 2012

Skills and experience Trocybangs a
wnde range of operabional expenence
and oversight for corporate affairs brand
and marketng medha relatons. human
resources legal and comphance matters
nher role at Standand Chartered Bank
She has served as a Non-Executve
Drector of Standard Chartered First, Bank
in Kaea from 2005 to 2007 and
Non-Exceutve Diector of Eaga pic

from 2007 Lo 2011 where shechaired

the Remuneration Commitiee

External Appontments Tracy s a
rrember of the Executve Management
Group and s Dwrector for Compliance
People and Communications at Standard
Chartered Bank She s atrusteeof
WORKIng far YOUth a chanty worang
with Business to Greate jOb Spportunrties
for yourng people Tracy s amember of
the Institute of Financil Serwces and
aFellowof theChartered Inst.tute

of Personnel and Development

Appointed December 1994

Skills and expencnce Cavad brngs
awealth of executve and finance
expenence fom the media secur

He served as Creef Fieunaal Officer

of News Corporabion (subsequently
renamed 21stCenturyFox) forover

20 years and dunngthat Lmewas
asponted Servor Executrve Vice Pressdent
wnulhe stepped down fromboth mes

in June 2013

External Appointments Davd ts $enor
Advsor tothe Board and Director

of 21t Cervtury Fox Hers aflsaa

formrer crec.or of Gemstar TV Gude
Intemationaline servng from 2001 to
2008 ang DirecTV from 2003 to 2008
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Martin Gilbert (60)

Saruor Independent

Non-Executive Director

Appanted November 201

Siils and expenence Martin has been
rrchved i Uhe VeSTUTIENE Managy 1t

Adine Grate (54)

Indepandant Non Executrve Director
Appointed July 2013

Skills and expenence Adnebrings
awealth of executive finance and

ndiustry snce 1982 and has extenswve
rvestment finance and executive
leaderstup expenence through hss role

as co-founder and Chief Executive Officer
of Aberdeen Asset Management PLC He
has served as Chaurman of FrstGroup ple.
Chaucer PLC and was Non-Executive
Owector of Dynmarkinternational Limited
amobde messagng and data applcations
‘sarvices provader

External Appomtments In adoton
tohus rote as Chief Executive Officer

of Aberdeen Asset Management PLC
Martin s @ member of the Scottish
Government s Finanaial Services
Adwsory Board

Ly £ manag and
mmmunicabions techrology expenence
hawving operated at the top bers of
Nordie-based intematonal business

for the past two detades Farmerty
Executive Vice President and Managing
Durector of Investor AB owner of a
number of Nordic-based international
COMmpanes

External Appomntments Adines a
Chairperson of NASDAQ OMX Swedish
Listing Committee and Vice Chairperson
of AP7 a Swedrsh pension and savngs
asset management company Shers

Darector of Three (Scandinavia) a mobre

telecommuniations and broadband
operator SOBIAR an intematonal
specality healthcare company Sampa
OY aleading finanoal and msurance
INSLALbon pnd Swedawa AB an awrpart
operatar Advie s alse Chapersonct

Dave Lews (50)

Independant Non-Exacutive Director
Appointed Novemnber 2012

Skills and axpenence Dave s an
experenced executive with szong
aperational experuse Hers Chef
Executrve Qfficer of Tesco pic andt pnor
to that he was President Personal Care
for Unnlever plc where hesat onthe
Umiever Leadership Executive He has
held a vanety of leadership roles at
Unilever n Eurcpe South Amerca

and Asia including Prestdent for the
Amerncas and Chirman of Undever

UK and |redand

External Appomtments Davewas
appointed as Chief Executoe Officer
of Tesco plc in September 20

James Murdoch (42)
Non-Executivg Director

Appainted February 20C2

Skills and expenence James brings
significant media sector knowledge
and expenence thvough his role at
st CenturyFox He was formerty the
Chief Executive Officer and Executve
Owrector of Sky from 2003 to 2007 and
he acted as Charrman from 2007 to
2012 James was Chawman and Chref
Executive Officer of Star Group Limited
and held Non-Executive Director roles
at GlaxoSmithKkne plc from 2009 to
2012 and Sotheby s from 2010 to 2012
Heis amember{and former Charman)
oftheSupervisory Board of Sky
Deutschtand AG

Extermal Appantments lames was
appanted as Chief Executve Cfficer
at 21st Century Foxin June 2015

He also serves as amember of the
Board of News Corporaucn andis

a Non-Executve Drector of Yankee
G'obal Enterpnses Vice Meda and
amember of the Boad of Trustees

uodx a3aens
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non-profit organusations Frends of
aDesign museum and the Swedsh
Dance Museum

of the Harvard Lampoon and the
Ghetto Film Schoal

Matthieu Pigasse (47)
Independent Non Executive Director
Appointed November 2011

Skills 2nd expananca Matthiey bangs
sigmficant knowledge of the European
media sector and finance experuse to
the Board Hes the Global Head for
Mergers and Acquisittons and the Giobal
Head for Sovereign Adwsory for Lazard
also Cheef Executne Officer of Lazard
n France s Surope He has also served
as cailan admenustrator of the French
Minustry of Economy and Finance
External Appointments. [naddibon

o tus role at Lazard Matthieu has a
number of persanal interests iInmedia
and publistung notably Le Monde and
the Huffingten Post (France) Hersa
Board member of Group Luoen Barnére
5AS anoperator of liury hotes and
restaurants Dencheboug arecychng
andmantenance senaces bysiness

Danny Rimer (44)

Independent Non-Executive Dsrector
Appointed Apei 2008

Slalts and expenence Danny brings
significantnternational nvestment
and finance experience Hehas
extensne knowliedge of Intemet
nfrastructure software and services
technolgy communicatiens and
e-commerce businesses through

his role as General Partner of the
venture capetal firm Index Ventures
Management LLP {Index Ventures)
Pnor Lo jpining Index Ventures

hewas 3 Genersl Partner of

The Barksdale Group

External Appowrntments Danny serves
on anumber of baards mchuchng First
Dibs Inc, Fhpboard Inc Nasty Gal Inc
RightScale Inc Viagogo Farfetch com
Limrted Good Eggs and Patreon

He resigned from Groupg Xange
Technolagres i Apnl 201 and Etsy ing
in March 2015

Arthur Siskind (76)

Hon-Exezutrve Director

Appantad November 1951

Skills and expertance Arthur brings

over 30 years expenence ganed through
exequtve and legal counse| rotes at

News Corporauon (subsequently
repamed 21st Cantury Fax) Hesa

heghly expenenced legal pract ey

and member of the Bar of the State

of New'York since 1962

Extemal Appontments Arthur s Semor
Advisor to the Charman of 21st Century
Fox from January 2005 to December 2034
and he has served as Ovector Ementus
from October 2012 1o November 2014

Andy Sukawaty (60)
Independent Non-Executive Drrector
Appanted june 203

Skilts and Expenence With over 30years
of telecommmunizations media technology
experience Andy brings strongndustry
knowledge tothe Board Hehasled
compares nthe mobide phone, Cable Tv
and satelite ndustnes n the Us and
Europe and serves as Non-Executive
Charman of Inmarsat plc global mobnle
satelite COMMUMICIDONS provder
External Appomntments. iy addton

o hsrole as Non-Exeautve Charrman
of Inmarsat pic Andyis Executve in
Rezdence for Warburg Pincus and

nas previously hekd a number of

Senor management postions n the
telzrcommuncauens scusTy ndudng
Chasman of Ziggo N V. a Dutch cable TV
2] COMMUNCALIONS COMPATY resign'ng
nDecember 2014 He has 5o previously
served as Tmef Executve Officer angt
Presutent of Spnnt PCS aNYSE bsted
gobal natonal wire!ess Camer
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Govemnanca

Corporate governance report

Chairman’s overview

On behalf of the Board rt gives me great pleasure ta introduce this years
corporate governance regart

As a Board we are the stewards of the Company [tis our responsibility
to ensure that the Company s strategy ts aligned to the interests of
ourinvestors and takes account of Lhe interests of all the Companys
stakeholders Asindiadualk we believe that effettve corporate
governance 1s based on hanesty integnty and transparency and can
only be fully reatised within an environment of open robust and effectve
debate Thisis the Board culture we foster at Sky and it 15 my personal
responsibisty as Chairman to ensure that we continue to hive thrs culture
and promote it withen our business

| am pleased to report that your Company complied in fufl with the UK
Corporate Governance Code ( the Code ) as revised in September 2012

dunng the year under review We are also reviewng the changes to the Code

which were introduced in October 2014, which apply to the Company from
1 July 2015

It has been a transformational year for the Company following the

Compliance with the Code

The Code provides the standard for ¢corporate governance n the UK
The Financial Conduct Authority requires hsted compames to disclose
whether they have comphed with the provisions of the Code throughout,
the financial year

The Board considers that, the Company has fully comphied wath the
provisions and apphed the mam principles of the Code for the who'e

of the year ended 30 June 2015 This section of the Annual Report along
wath the Diectors remuneration report on pages 51to 65 the Directors
report and other statutory disclosures on pages 70 to 77 prowde details
of howthe Company has apphed the man principies

Leadership

Role of the Board and 1ts Members

The Board has collective respensibility for the management direction and
performance of the Company and prowides leadership withm a framework
of prudent and effective controls which enables nsk Lo be appropnatety
assessed and managed The Board sets the strategic drection ensunng
that the necessary resources are in place for the Company tomeet its
objectives and deliver sustainable performance

The Board takes along-termoutiook and sees itself as responsible to
awde range of stakeholders whilst pursuing its objectives in a manner
cansistentwith its statutory duties for the benefit of the Company s
members as a whole !

acquisitions of the Sky businesses in Germany and Italy Much of The Crirectors of the Board are selected on the critena of proven skill

the Board s actmty has been around ensunng that the acquisitions
successfully completed and positioned the business For the next
stageinits developmant

Thus year we undertook annternal Board evaluation and | met with

all the Directors and discussed a range of topscs The feedback from

the evaluatan confirmed that the Board and each of its Committees
continue to operate effectively and that each Director continues to

make an effective contribution and retains a strong commitment to

therr role The resulung findings of the evaluat:on are discussed on page 49

The Board has established arrangements to evaluate whether the
information in the Annual Report 1s fair balanced and understandable
Further detall of these arrangements can be found on paga 47 As a result
of this the Board cansiders the Annual Report, taken as awhole 15 far
balanced and understandable and prowides the information necessary
for shareholders to assess the Company s performance business model
and strategy

During the year we have continued our work 1n promoting greater and more
effecuve engagement with our shareholders | aleng with the Executive
Directors meet our investors and analysts and discuss a wide range of
topics Tracy Clarke Charman of the Remuneration Committee has also
engaged with sharehelders on remuneration issues and wilt continue

to do so over the course of the comeng financial year

Nick Ferguson CBE
Chairman

N BOURTY iTT e A icUTar figle of engEavour anda diversity of outlook ™
arxt expenence which directly banefits the operation of the Board as
the custodian of tha business A full mography of each Board member
1s provided on pages 38 and 39

Roles and responsibilities

The roles of the Chairman and Group Chief Executive Officer are separate
and have been so since the Company s shares were admitted to hsting
N1994 Theroles and expectations of each Director are clearly defined
and recorded within their letters of appointment or service contracts
The roles and responsitnlities of the Board members are explained below

The Chairman

Nick Ferguson is responsible for leadership of the Board ensunngits
effectiveness on all aspects of Its role and setting its agenda The Charman
15 responsible for creating an enviconment for epen robust and effectve
debate This inciudes ensunng via the Company Secretary that the
Directors receve accurate timely and clear infarmation

The Group Chief Executive Officer ( Group CEQ )

Jeremy Darroch 1s responsible and accountable to the Board for the
management and operaucn of the Company advanang long-term
shareholder value supported by the management team He s also
nvolved in the management of the social and ernvwronmental
responsibiities of the Company

Senior Independent Non-Executive Director { SID)

The role of the SID 1s currently carned out by Martin Gilbert wha succeeded
Andy Higginson on 21 November 2014 Marun 1s responsible for providing
support to the Chawrman and provices an additional point of contact

for shareholders
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Non-Executive Directors

Chase Carey Tracy Clarke Dand CeVea Martin Gibert Adine Grate

Oave Lews James Murdoch Matthieu Prgasse Danny Rmer Arthur
Siskind and Andy Sukawaty coltectively are responsible for constructively
chaltenging the Execubive Directors and overseeing the delivery of

the Company s strategy within the risk and control framework

Company Secretary
Chins Taylor s responsible for the following in respect of affectve
Board operation

+ Toensure good wiformation flows within the Board and its Committees
batween senior management and Non-Executwe Directors

To facilitate Director Incuction and assising with professional
development

To advise the Board through the Chairman of all corporate governance
obligations and developments in best practice and

Tobe responsible for communmicaung with shareholders as appropriate

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company

Secretary who adwises on corporate governance matters Board procedures

and ather relevant rules and regulations In addition Directors have the
right Lo seek independent professional advice at the Company s expense

Emaironment supportive of challenge
The effective operation of the Board 15 dependent an the inherent
checks and balances within the vanous Board roles As highly quahfied

all Non-Executrve Directers influence debate and cantribute to decisions
relating to the strategy of the Cornpany its performance andits impact
on stakeholders The Non-Executive Cirectors are evaluated and judged
an the quality and content of thewr contributions to Board debate and
are expected to offer afternative wiewpoints and challenge perceptions
and decisions as approprate

Board Agenda

In acdibion to s reserved and standing matters dunng the year
the Board also considered and received a number of updates and
presentaucns gmng Directors a further opportunity to explore
and analyse topics such as

+ The Group s operations and five-year financial plans
+ The genera market and econormc outloak
The competitive landscape opportunities and market trends
« Growthof existing business actvbies and
» Eusting and new products services and technological developments

Ta mantam an appropniate level of control over the day-to-day affars
of the Company the Board has identified certam mattess that only it
canapprove and these matters are contaned within the Company s
Schedule of Matters Reserved to the Board which can be found at
sky com/corporate

Board delegation

The Board has delegated speafic responsibiities te Board commytiees
notably the Audit Remuneration Corporate Governance & Nominations
and the Biggar Picture Committees Each Commuttees terms of reference
can be found on the Company s corporate website sky comicorporate/
about-skyfcorporate-governance

Annual Report 2005

Board and Committee framework

The Audit Committee has responsiaility for oversight of torporate
reporung, nsk managermnent and the Company s relationshipwith its

ST B $Utces3fl dwiduals Th thew rESpECvE s Bl EndEmavear — JUditdr STgmfleantriskS o thr busnessare keprunder raview and

appropriate matenal controls are sanctioned and employed as appropnate
The Company 5 principal risks and examples of how we mitigate those risks
are detalled on pages 32 to 35 Forfurther details the Audit Committee
Report can be found on pages 45 (o 48

The Rermuneration Committee 1s respons ble for setting the Remuneratien
policy for the Board and ensures that no Director 15 involved Indecisions
affecting their own remuneration The Drrectors remuneration report can
be found on pages 51 to 69

The Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee 1s responsible for
oversight of the structure size composition and successIon plannng

of the Board and its Committees and overall compliance with corporate
governance standards The Repeort of the Corporate Governance

& Nominations Committee can be found on pages 48 and 49

The Bigger Picture Committee has respensibility for oversight of the sociat
environmental and ethical impacts of the Company s actmities The report
of the Bigger Picture Committee ¢an be found on page 50

The minutes of Committee meetings are made avaitable to all Board
Directors on a tmely basis At each Board meeting the Charman of each
Committee prowdes the Board with a brief update of the work currantly
being camed out by the Cammittee they chatr Other sub-commuttees and
steering groups provide additional resource and support to the Board
Cornmitiees or are formed for specific tasks A Committee of serior
managernent generally meets on a weekly basts to allow prompt discussion
of relevant business issues The Committee compnses the Group CEQ
Group Chief Financial Officer { Group CFO ) and other senior executives
fram within the Group
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{contunued)

Board and Committee attendance

Attendance at Board and Committee meetings dunng the year 1s set out in the table below The rable shows the number of meetngs each Directar was

eligible to attend

Corporate
Governance &
Board Audit  Remuneration Nominations  Bigger Picture
Number of meetings held m year 7 6 5 3 2
Executiva Directors
Jeremy Darroch Group CEQ w7
Andrew Gnffith Group CFO w7
Non-Executive Directors
Chase Carey Hr
Tracy Clarke 7 SI5 212
David DeVoe 77
Nick Ferguson 7 5/5 33
Martin Gilbert! 77 6/6 041 212
Adine Grate?! 6&/7 6/6 44
Angy Higginson'? 34 213 11
Dave Lewis "7 6/6 373 212
James Murdoch Fiid 212
Matthieu Pigasse’ a7 6/6
Danny Rimer?* ar7
Arthur Siskind * 617 23
Andy Sukawaty?® 717 415
Notes

1 Martn Gilbert replaced Andy Higgmson as member of the Govemnance & Nemmatuons Commutee followng Andy s returement at the AGM on 21 November 2014
2 Adine Grate was appomted as 8 member of the Remunérabion Commitee replacing Marun Gilbert with effect from 25 July 2014

3 Diréctors are encouraged Lo attefid Bodrd Ihd fESHEctvs BOA M biid Commetted miedlings TUL in (erLEn GraumBstancEs meetings aTe called Tt 220rt (OLCE A/ U W RAtr USRS ™

commitments and time differences Directors may be unabla to attend In these arcumstances Oirectors recenve relevant papers and are updated on developments by either the

Chawrman or Geoup CEQ

Acquisition of Sky Deutschland and Sky ftalia

During the prior year the Board apponted a committee to investigate consider and evaluate the overall strategy in tonnection with the proposal
to acquire Sky Deutschiand and Sky Italia The committee compnised allmembers of the Board other than any Directors who were not independent
of 215t Century Fox Inc or had a conflict of interest The committee mat on two occasions dunng the year and formally approved the transaction

Effectiveness

Board composition and independence

The Board currently comprises 14 Directars made up of two Executive
Directors and 12 Non-Executive Directors At least half of the Board of
Directors are determined to be independent by the Board n accordance
with provision 812 of the Code On appointment the Charman met the
independence cntera set out in provision B 11of the Code Biographies
of each of the Directors are set out on pages 38 and 39

Chase Carey David DeVee, James Murdoch and Arthur Siskind represent
the Company s largest shareholder 215t Century Fox and as such are
not considered to be independent withun the meaning of the Code

Each of these Directors has extensive media and pay TV experience

and makes significant contribution to Board discussion

The Independent Non-Executive Directars bring a wide range of experience

and expertise to the Group s affairs and carry significant werght n
the Board s deaisions The Independent Non-Executive Directors are
encouraged to challenge management and help develop propesals
on strategy Time s regutarly put aside at Board meetings to discuss
the strategic direction of the Company

Prior to appointment and on an annual basis each Board member receives
and completes a questuonnaire 1o determine factors that may affect
independerice according te best practice statements contamed vathin
the Code The respanses to the questionnaire assist the Board in
ascertamnung whether a Oirector 1scindependent in character and
judgement and whether there arerelationships or circumstances which
are likely to affect or could appear to affect the Director s judgement

Baard Composititon
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Appointments to the Board diversity and successton planning

The Carporate Govemnance & Nommnations Committee keeps the Board s
balance of skills knowledge expenence and the length of service of
indviduals under constant rewew In respect of succession planmng and
supplementing the skill set of the Board there i1san established procedure
for the appointment of Directors In brief the Committee identifies the
set of skills snd expenence required and with the assistance of extemal
search agencies selects indmiduals to take Board posions on review of
ther ndmdual ments regardless of gender race rehgion ageor disatulity
Further information an the work of the Committee during the year can

be found on pages 48 and 49

Copies of the Executive Directors service contracts and letters of
appointment of the Non-Executive Directors may be inspected at the
registered office of the Company during narmal business haurs onany
weekday (except Saturdays Sundays and public holidays) and at the place
of the Annual General Meeting (AGM ) for 15 minutes prior to the meeting
until the condusion of the AGM

The Board has published a statement of its iIntention tomncrease fermnale
representation an the Baard which can be found on the Company s
corporate website sky comicarporate As required by company legrslauon
atable on page 71 tlustrates gender diversity amongst the Board

Dsversity ratio of Directors appaointed in pastthree years

AnnualReport XN5

External directorships

Any external appointments for the Executive Directors are considered by
the Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee Executve Directors
are not allowed Lo take on the Chawrmanship of a FTSE 100 company but are
allowed to take up one external Non-Executive FTSE 100 appomntment and
retan any paymentsn sespect of such appointments

Jeremy Darrochwas apponted as antidependent Non-Executve Director
of Burberry Group plc on § February 2014 and s a member of the Audit,
Nominatsons and Remuneration Comauttees

Andrew Griffith was appainted as an Independent Non-Executive Dinector
of Just Eat pic on 12 March 2014 Andrew serves as Senor Independent
Director Chairman of the Audit Committee and 1s @ member of the
Remuneration & Nominatans Committees Details of pay in respect

of these appointments can be found i the Directors remuneration
report an page 68

Time commitment

All Non-Executve Directors are advised of the hikely bme commiuments
required oninduction and are expected Lo devote sufficient me

for the effective discharge of their functions The Company prowides
Non-Executive Dwectors with appropnate support and faclites for
consideration of the Campany s strategy and performance and a
dhatogue with the Chairmanas strongly encouraged so that any 1ssues
regarding conflicing commitments and tme pressures can be
addressed appropnately

Induction and training

Length of ime served on the Board

Industry/Background experience’

Notes
1 Durectars may fallinto one or more categones

Directors appomtment and reappaintment.

In respect of Code provision 871 all Executive and Non-Executive Directors
wall retire and offer themselves lor reappointment at the Company s 2015
AGM with the exception of Dawvd DeVog Danny Rimer ang Arthur Siskand
whe have decided not to seek reappointment this year and will step down
from the Board at the conclusion of the AGM Immediately followang the
AGM 1t1s Intended that John Nallen Chief Financial Officer of 235t Century
Fox will be appointed by the Board as a Non-Executive Director Asaresult
of these proposed changes the size of the Board would reduce from 14 to 12
Directors and at least half of the Board (excluding the Charrman) would
continue to be compnsed of Incependent Non-Executive Drectars in
comphance with the Code

All new Directors receive an induction talered to ther indwdual
requirements The inducton process invalves meeting with all of the
Company s Executive Directors and Serwor Executrves This faciitates

their understanding of the Group and the key drivers 6f the business
performance Dunng the year Directors have received presentations

from a numbar of areas of the business mcluding Customer Group Contant,
Corporate Finance and Strategic Planning Group The Charman meets

with the Oirectors throughout the year to review and agree therr indvidual
training and developmental necds

An example of a tadored induction programma is detalled below

Meetngt with Customer Product Accompaned
Senmor Executves  contact demonslrations a Sky engmneer
Sky Naws and centre wsit on customer
Skoy SLudo virs wMLS

In addition to this vanous presentations frorm pror Board meetings wall
be made avalable to the Director in order to improve thesr understanding
of the Group and the competitive and regulatary landscape i which it
operates Consideration s given to Commiktee appointments and where
relevant talored trarming may be required

Board evaluation

In kne with the Cade and following the external Board evaluation carried
out by Alice Perkins of 3CA Growp in 2013 anwnternal Board evatuation
has been carned out for the past two years

Dunng the period under review the process was faciitated by Neck
Ferguson Further detads of the evaluation process can be found
n the Corporate Governance & Nominabwons Committee report
on pages 48 and 49
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(eontunued}

Information provided to the Directors

The Company Secretaryis responsible for ensuring good information flows
wittun the Board and its Committees and batween serkar management and
Non-Executive Directors For each Board and Committee meeting. Durectors
are provided with a tailared Board pack at least one week prnor Lo the
meeting Toimprove the delivery and secunty of Board papers the
Company has adepted an electron system allowing the Board to easily
access infarmation wrespecove of geographuc location Drrectors regularty
recerve additranal infermation from the Company between Board meetings
inclucding a daity press summary and a maonthly Group performance update
Where a Director was unable to attend a meeting they were provided with
all the papers and information relating to that meeting and were able
todiscuss issues ansing directly with the Chairman and Group CEQ

Conflicts of interest

Under UX Company law all Directors must seek authensation before
taking up any position with another company that conflcts or may
possibly conflict with the Company s interests The Company s Articles
of Association contain provisions to allow the Directors to authonse
situations of potential conflicts of interest so that a Director s nat

n breach of hes duty undercompany law

Al existing external appeintments for each Director have been authorised
by the Board and each authonsation is set out i a Conflists Register
Drrectors are required to noufy the Board of potenual conflicts so that they
can be considerad and f appropnate authonsed by the Board In addion
the Corporate Governance & Nominations Committes conducts an annual
review of Directors conficts and reports its findings to the Board

The Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee 1 d the

Shareholder engagement

The Company 1s committed Lo mamntainng and improving dialogue wath
shareholders i order to ensure that the objectives of both the Group

and the shareholders are understood A programme of meetings with
institutional sharehotders fund managers and analysts Lakes place each
year and the Chawrman Group CEC and Group CFO have attended meetings
withanvestors as appropriate The Company also makes presentations

to analysts and irwestors around the twne of the half-year and fuli-year
results announcement conference calls are held wath anatysts and
investars following the release of tha first quarter and third quarter trading
statements and presentations are made dunng the year to many extsung
or potential shareholders at investor conferences The Company hosts

an annudl meetung for iIts major shareholders to discuss remuneration

The AGM

The Board views the AGM as an oppaortunity to communicate with private
rweastors and sets aside time at the meeting for shareholders to ask
questions At the AGM the Chairman prowdas a bnef summary of the
Company s actvities for the previous year All resolutions at the 2014

AGM were voted by way of a poll This follows best practie and allows

the Company to count all votes rather than just those of sharehoiders
attending the meeting As recommended by the Code all resolutions

ware voted separately and the final voting results which inctuded all votes
cast for against and those withhetd together with all prowes lodged prior
1o the meeting were released to the London Stock Exchange as sponas
practicable after the meeting The anrmouncement was also made avarlable
on the Company's corporate website Asin previous years the proxy

form and the announcement of the voting results made it clear that

Board s conflicts during the financal year and conduded that conflicts
had been appropriately authonsed and that the process for authonsaton
s operating effecuvely The Carporate Governance & Nominations
Committee and the Board will continue to manitor and review potenual
conflicts of nterest an a regular basis

Directors and Officers Insurance and Indemnity

The Company recognises that all Directors are equally and collectively
accountable under the law for the proper stewardship of the Company s
affairs The Company maintains a Directors and Officers hablty insurance
pohcy Addimonally the Company s Aruicles of Associaton allow the
Company to Indemmify the Directors and deeds of indemmity have been
1ssued to all Directors of the Company to the extent permitted by law

Relations with shareholders

Shareholder communications

Presentations and webcasts on the development of the business are
available ta all shareholders on the Company § corporate website

The Company also uses ematf alerts and aclively promotes downloading

of all reports enhancing speed and equality of shareholder commuricaton
The Company has taken full advantage of the provisions within the
Companies Act 2006 alloming the website to be used as the piamary
means of commurucation with sharghalders where they have not requested
hard copy documentation The shareholder wnformation section on page
W7 contains further details on electroruc shargholder communications
together with more general information of interest to shareholders which
15 also included on the Company $ corporate website sky comfcorporate

a vote vathheld s not a vote infaw andwill not Be counted in the
caleulation of the praportion of the votes for or agamst the resclution
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Report of the Audit Committee

Chairman s oveniew

During the year the Audit Committee has continued to play a key oversight
role on behalf of the Board The Committee s prinapat activilies have
focused on the financial perfarmance of the Company internal audit,
extemal audit nsk management compliance and governance We reviewed
the impact of the acquisitions of the Sky businesses in Germany and Italy
on the 201415 extemal and internal audit plans and the evoluvion of
financial repor ung under the new structure

The Committee Mas atso monitored the Companys approach to risk
management and the inde pendence and effectiveness of the external
suditors and received a number of presentations from management
relaung to data governance, secunty internal audit treasury taxation
and health and safety

We have considered the processes underpinning the productien and
approval of this year s Annual Report Lo enable the Board to confirm that
the Annual Report taken as awhale s far balanced and understandable
and provides the informaucn necessary for shareholders to assess the

Company s performance business modal and strategy. A description of

Annual Report 2015

Attendance at Committee Meetings

Dawid DeVoe and Arthur Siskind have a standing imatation to attend
meetings However therr attendance at these meetings Is 35 oDseners
only and in a non-voung capaoty The Group CFO other business and
finance executives and representatives from the external auditor
Delotte LLP and the internal sudit department attend meaungs

at the request of the Committee Tha Comparny Secretary acts as
Sccretary to the Committee

Audit Committee Agenda
Focus for the Comauttee this year has induded the following items

» Rewiew and recommendation to the Board of the quarterly intenm
and full-year financial statements

Quarterly updates from the Group CFO on business performance across
the Group

Audit plans and findings of external and internal audits

The review and recommendation to the Board of the dvidend policy
and proposed payments

Liquidity and going concern review

Annual repor ting due diigence procedures and corporate governance
updates

The mpact of the acquisitions of Sky Deutschland and Sky [taha on the
201415 External Audit plan

uoda ¥dnens

UAUIOY

how we approached this can be found in this report

There were soe meatings duning the year and after each Committee meeting
1 gave an oral update to the Board on the key issues discussed dunng our
meetings The Committee also had a meeting with the Comparw s external
auditors without management present

You can find additional information of how we have carned out our role
and responsibiities within the remainder of this report

The Committee s terms of reference are available on the Company s
carporate website

Marun Gilbert
Comymittee Chairman

Commuttee composition
Martun Gelbert (Chaurnany
Adine Grate

Dave Lewns

Matthieu Pigasse

Andy Higginson a former Charr of the Commitiee stepped down as a
member of the Committee in November 2014 following hus retrement
as a Director

The Committee members have considerable financal and business
expenence and the Board considers that the membership a3 & whole

has sufficent recent and relevant Financial expenence to discharge its
responsibiities In addicion the Board has detarmined that each member
of the Commuttee has sufficient accounting or related financial
managemant experuse inine with the Code

Assessment of the effectiveness of the external audit process
and scope of audit

Auditor independence and the polcy on the provision of non-audit
services by the external auditer

Quarterly review of nan-audit servces and fees

»

Quarterty reports from the treasury function on the funding hquidity
going concern and operational capabilities of the Group and comphance
with treasury polces

Quarterly updates on planned internal audit work and on the status
of Sermor Accounting Officer { SAQY) certification work to ensure
SAC comphiance

-

Quarterly reports of all transactions with a related party dunng the
penod in excess of £100 000 in value

Review of all transactions wiich falt withun the Listng Rule 111 5R
defintion of Related Party Transacteon and afl transactions with
arelated party in excess of £10 mihion and where required
recommendaucn Lo the Board

Review and oversight of the Group nsk register nisk methodology
and nsk management systems and processes

Monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the Group s intemmal
audit functson and controls

Taxabion secunty fraud health and safety and data protection

Sky Deutschiand s refated party transactons are approved by the supenvisary board

o secordanca with Garman Law Once the purchase of the remanmg mnonty Interests
m Sky Deutschiand has concluded Sky Deutschiand will be subject to the sama approval
procets as U and ltaly
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Significant accounting issuas

When considenng the annual finanaal statements the Committee
reviewed the sigruficant accounung issues and the Groups cotical
accounung poliies as set out on pages 32 to 35 with parucular focus
on the following

Retal subscrpuion revenue

The majonty of the Group s revenues denve from retall subscription
packages including hardware supplied to customers The Group apphes
Judgement in determining the accounting allocation of payments recered
from customers to dif ferent elements of the bundled package taking into
consideration the timing and retative value attnbuted to each element
Duning the year the Commtttee receved a performance report from the
Group CFO at esch Commuittee meeting that mduded a review of revenues
recogrised in the pencd

The Committee considered management s policy and considered the views
of the external auditor and s satisfied that the policies have been apphed
consistently and appropnately

General entertainment programming inventory

The Committee reviewed the poficy for the recognition of content costs and
sought assurances from management, and taok into account the views

of the external auditor that the policy is appropnate and has been

apphed consistently The method for recogrusing general entertamment
programming expense requires estimation and judgement to ensure

that the expense profile 1s consistent with the expected value of the
content to the Group

The Committee s satisfred that the poiicies have been applied consistently

Internat control and risk management

The Board 1s responsible for estabhshing and maintarung the Groups
systems of internal control and nsk management and for reviewing thesr
effectiveness These systems are designed to manage and where possible
ehminate the nskof failure to achieve business objectives and to provide
reasonable but net absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss Thera s anangoing process foridentifying evaluating and managing
the significant nsks faced by the Group in accordance wath the revised
guitance onintarnal control issued by the Finanaal Reportng Councilin
October 2005 Dunng the pertiod under review no significant fadings or
weaknesses were identified

The Committee onbehalf of the Board considers the effectveness of the
operation of the Group s systems of internal contrel and nsk management
dunng the year and this review has been carned out for the year ended

30 lune 2015 and up te the date on which the financial statements were
approved This review relates to the Company and its subsidianes and does
not extend tojoint ventures The Committee meets on at least 2 quarterly
basis with the Group s Directer Audit Risk Management and Compliance
and the external auditor

Thereis a comprehensive budgeting and forecasting process and the
annual budget which 1s regutarly reviewed and updated 1s approved by

the Board Performance 1s monitored against budget through weekly and
menthly reporting cycles During the financial year under review monthly
reparis on performance were prowded to the Board and the Group reports
to shareholders each quarter

In respect of Group finangial reporting the Group Finange teams

are approprate and are alhgned to ndustry practice

Capitalisauion of ntangible and tangble non current assets

The Committee considered the Group s pohiaes and sought assurances
from management that the Groups project accounting controls are
operaung as intended and that spend capitalised as property plant
and equipment and intangble assets meets the relevant accounung
requirements The Committee also conswdered the report from the
external auditor

The Cammittee is satisfied that the Group has fallowed appropriate
accounting standards regarding the capatalisatian of project expenditure

Accounting for acquIsiuons

The Commitiee reviewed management s accounting for the acqursitions

of Sky Deutschland and Sky [taha ncluding cetermmatian of the fair
val.es of assets and habikties acquired and of the consideration pasd and
alignment of accounting pelicies across the Group which require significant
estimation and judgemaent The Committee considered the views of the
external auditor and recewed a presentation fram managemant explaimng
the evolution of the Group s financial reporting to incorporate the acquired
entitigs into the enlarged group

The Committee s sabisfied that the Group has followad the applicable
accounting requiremants in accounting for the acquisitions and that
accounting policies across the Group have been appropriately aligned

responsible for prepanng the Group finanoal statements and there
are well estabhshad controls over the financial reporting process
These are also documented in ine with the requirements of the SAQ
legislation and the controls are reviewad and signed off to confirm
their continuous operation by the contral owners twice 8 year and
are independently tested by the internal audit team The results of
the 5AD tesung are reported to the Committee on a quarterly basis

Changes ininternal controls

No change n the Group s intemal control over finanaal reperung has
occurred in the UK during the year ended 30 June 2015 that has matenally
affected oris reasonably Iikely to matenally affect the Groups internal
contral over financial reporting During the year the Group acquired

Sky Deutschland and Sky ltala which introeduced addibonal complexity

to financia! reporting Since the operaung model and busingss operations
of the acquired enuties are similar Lo those of the exisung Group

the controls over financial reporting remain matenally consistent

Risk registers

There are nsk registers which identify the nsks faced by the Graup
and these are consolhidated into a Group Risk Register The nsk register
framework is based on methodology to enufy the nsk based on
impact and ikehhood The risk s assessed quantified and measured
which enables discussions onrisk appette The registers detad the
comtrols that manage the risks and where necessary the action plans
to mitigate the nisk exposure

The bustness develops the action plans and the internal audit team
manitors ther implementaton The Commuttee formally reviews the
Group Risk Register twice a year and senior executives from the
business present ther nsk management plans from time to bme
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The internal audit team provides objecuve assurance as to the
effecuveness of the Group’s systems of internal control and risk
management to the Group s operating management

The Group s principal risks and uncertainties are detailed on pages 32 to 35

Fair balanced and understandable assessment

The Anancial Reporung Commuztee ( FRC ) has responsisbility for the
production of the annual report and the assocated review process
Guidance and comprehensive due dikigence procedures were issued
toreviewers by the FRC 1o help them assess whether the document was
fair balanced and understandable and complied with the requirements
of the Code The FRC maintaned oversight of the review process and
submitted certfication to the Committee to enable it to be in a posttion
ta recommend to the Board that the required statement could be made

Disclosura controls and procedures

The Company maintains disciosure controfs procedures and systems that
ara designed to ensure Lthat Information required to be disclosed as part
of the Compary s UK listing obligations 1s acoumutated and communicated
to management induding the Group CEO and Group CFO as approprnate
10 allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures

Auditor independence

During the year ended 30 June 2015 the Commulttee reviewed audt
independence and scope of non-audit senaces and mdependence
safeguards with Deloitte LLP { Deloitte ) the Group s external auditor

-A5 part of the raview, the Audit Corumitiee has recenved and r d

Annual Report 2015
Govermance

adwisary services on these strategic projects has been appraved by
the Cormnmuttee to be proveded by Deloitte in the financial year 2015/16
to ensure an appropriate level of project adwisory contnuity and these
senaces are planned to substantially cease by the end of that year

i hne with the implementation of the EU audit regufauon

Audit and non-audit services provided duning the year were approved by
the Committee An analysis of auditor remuneration 1s disdosed in note
7 to the consolidated financal statements

Augit and non-audit services
The Group has a policy on the provision by the external auditor of audit
and non-audit services which categonses such services between

+ Those services which the auditor 15 not perrmitted te provide

» Those sennces which are acceptable for the auditor to provide and
the prowision of which has been pre-approved by the Committee and

Those senices for which the specific approval of the Committee
1srequired before the auditor is permitzed to provide the service

The poly defines the types of services faling under each category

and sets out the critena which need to be met and the intemnal approval
mecharsms required te be completed prior to any engagement.

An analysis of all services provided by the external auditor 15 reviewed
by the Commuttee on a quarterly basis

Dunng the year the following examples were deemed to be pre-approved
n accordance with the policy

confirmation in wnoing that i Deloitte s professional judgement Detoitte
15 ridependent withon the meaning of all UK regulatory and professional
reguirements and the objectity of the audit engagement partner and
audit staff 15 not impaired

The Committee was satisfied throughout the year that the objectmity
and independence of Deloitte was notin any way impaired by erther

the nature of the non-audit related services undertaken during the year
the level of non-audit fees charged or any other facts or orcumstances
Akey aspect of this year s consideration was the effect of the acquisitions
of Sky Deutschland and Sky Itala

« These acquisitions were both defined as Class One transactions
under the London Lisung Rutes To suppoert the transaction facditate
regulatory reporting and the rassmng of the necessary finance the
Committee approved due diigence services by KPMG the auditors of
Sky Deutschtand and reporung accountant services from Emst & Young
(EY) the auditors of Sky ltalia and reporting accountant and other
transaction support and adwsory services from Sky plc s own auditors
Deloitte The committee was saushied appropnate safeguards had been
mptemnented in thes regard

Deloitte network firms in Germany and Italy had been selected to prowde
consulting and othet services to Sky Deutschiland and Sky Itaha pnor

to ther acqursiban by Sky In order to ensure an orderty reduction in

and to reduce transiuon nisk the Committee approvad the continuation
of services by Deloitte until ndwidual actmises were rescoped or
completed taken on by Sky personnel or other vendors commussioned

Al necessary adjustments to scope to ensure audizor independence
were made withun the six-month pencd permitted under the relevant
professional standards which envisage circumstances such as these

The auditors considered the need for additona! safeguards and satisfied
the Commttee Lhat they had implemented these appropnately

Tne safeguards considered by the committee included the continuation
of the use of KPMG and EY for theyear ended 30 June 2015 as auditors
of Sky Deutschland and Sky Itaha A certam level of permitted consulting

< Comidrt procddures inveRtion rodibinssTances 3nd programme
update

» Assurance af certain XPis for the Bigger Picture Revew
Effectiveness of external audit process
Dunng the year the effectiveness of the audit process was assessed

by the Commmttee Group Finance team and cther key nternal stakeholders
n the form of a questionnaire The areas under review were

« Quality resources and scope of ptanning of the audit

.

Objectivity independence and transparency of the audit

Identification of key accountng judgements sigrficant audit and
accounting 1ssues

Level of techmical knowledge and professional scepticism

« Understanding Sky as a business its values and culture and challenges
it faces

+ The qualty of planning and supervision of the group audit

Quality of reporting and cormmesmcations to the Audit Committee

Therespanses to the assessment were discussed which confirmed that
Deloitte are performing as expected Deloitte conunue to demonstrate
strengths in the majonity of these areas There were no signficant findings
from the assessment and the review confirmed that Delostte continue to
carry out an effectve and robust external audit including the supervision
of the enlarged group audit The Cornmittee also continues to be satisfied
with the quality of challenge and scepuaism of the external auditor

The Comruttee therefore recommended to the Board that shareholder
approval be sought to reappont Delaitte as the external auditor

and has alzo recommended that Delontte be appointed auditors of

Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia for the 2015116 financal year
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Corporate governance report

(continued)

Audit partner foLaton

The external auditor Is required to rotate the audit partner responsible

far the engagement every five years As reported previously the current
sudi partner rotates after the 2004/15 audit The partner was shadowed
by B successoer budit partner throughout the year after aselection process
to ensure the develapment of thoraugh knowledge of the enlarged group
and to safeguard challenge and gbjectwity The incoming audit partner

will be required to rotate after the 2019/20 audit

Tenure of external auditor

The regulatory regime relating to mandatory audit tendenng has
srignificantly changed in the UK and Europe The Commuitteers closely
monitoring these developments and taking tnto account that Delaitte
has been the extemnal auditor of the Company since June 2002 1t expects
to conduct an audit tender in advance of June 2020 whichatself isin
advance of 2023 by which the transitionat rules in UK and EU regulation
would require the Company to have performed a tender

The Committee considered the ments of conducting an audit tender
process this year however in ight of the significant enlargement in the
size ard scale of the Group following the acquisivions of Sky Deutschiand
and Sky Italia - and the significant internal me and effort devoted

to establishung common financial controls and processes as a result -

it was decided that for now shareholders interests would best be
served by focusing on the integratuon of the enlarged Group induding
the consohdation of the Group audit with a smgle firm The Committee
will contrnue to keep the uming of a future tender under annual review

Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee
Chairman s overview

Following the retrement of Andy Higginson as a Non-Executive Director
Senior Independent Director and Charman of this Committee at the
Company s 2014 AGM in Novernber |1 am pleased to confirm that Martn
Gilbert replaced Andy as Senor Independent Director and was appointed
as a member of this Commuttee | succeeded Andy as Chairman of the
Committee and all of these changes were effective from 21 Navember 2014

Over the past three years a number of new Independent Non-Executive
Onrectors have been appointed to the Board and it was very encouraging
that ane of the findings of this year s internal Board evaluation was that
these new Directors have bedded down well and had strengthened the
dwersity of the Board The findings of the evaluation also confirmed that
the Board and its Committees conbinue to operate effectvely with each
of the Drectors making valued and effective contnbutions

The Board as a whole welcomes the opportunity to adapt to Innovations
and change within the Field and continues Lo actively progress mtiatives
to adapt to corporate governance changes address gender balance on

team and create robust succession plans to safeguard the Company s
future performance

There were three meetings held duning the year and after each Committee
meeting | reported to the Board on the key issves discussed dunng

our meetings You can hind further information of how we have carned

out our role and responsitilities wathin the remainder of this report

The Committee s terms of reference are avaulable on the Company s
corporate website

Nick Ferguson
Committee Chairman

Committee compasition
Nick Ferguson {Charrman)
Dave Lewis

Arthur Srskind

Marun Gibert

Andy Higginson stepped down as a member of the Committee n November
2014 followang his retirement as a Director

Attendance at Commuttea Meetings
The Group CEQ and General Ceunsetattend the meeungs from tme to bme
and the Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Committee

48 Skypk

the Board source the nght skills to complement our talented management




Corperate Governance & Namrnations Committee Agenda
Focus for the Commuttee this year has centred on the following items

.

Board and Committee composition

.

Internal Board evaluation

Review of Non-Executive Director independence
» Rewiew of Directors conflcts of interest

« Succession plannmng

Changes ta the Listeng Rules far camparnies with controlling sharehalders

Actraties during the year

Recruitment processes

The Committee keeps the Board s balance of skills knowledge and
expenence and the length of service of Individuals under constant review
In respect of succession plarmmg and supplementing the skil set of the
Beard the Cornmittee s responsible for the wentification evaluation and
recommendation of candidates for appaintment to the Board There has
been a formal process in place for anumber of years and all of the current
Independent Non-Executive Directors have been through the same
selection process

This process volves the Committee working with the Executive Directors
and the wader Board to identify and agree the cntena for the appointment
of any new iIndependent Non-Executive director 1o the Board Once agreed
the Charrman of the Committee engages with and briefs an external

Anrwal Report 2005

The evaluation of the performance: of the Chairman was ted by the
Senior Independent Director The Charrman of the Committea reported
the findings of the evaluation te the Committee and the Board

The overall conclusion was that ndividual Board members are satisfied
that the Board warks wefl and operates effectively in an environment
where there 15 constructve challenge from the Non-Exgcutive Dirgctors
The Directors wera satisfied with the current mix of skills and expenence
on the Bioard and that the composiuon of the Board and its Committees
had been adequately reviewed during the vear A number of new
ndependent Non-Executive directors have joined the Board since

201 and they have complemented the existing Board members and
contributed well to Boardroom debate offered alternative viewpoints
and challenged perceptions

The quality of information presented to the Board was of a high standard
and distibuted on a tmely basis Thergwas a good balance of focus
between strategy the competitive marketplace aperations and governance
within Board meetings

It 15 the mtention of the Board to undertake an externally facilitated
evakuation during the 2015416 financial year in hine with the Code

Independence

During the year all Non-Exacutive Directors were asked to complete
quesuonnares to enable the Commities w0 determne ther mdependence
The Committee reviewed the questionnarres and recaommended to the
Board that there be no changes to the independent status of the current
Independent Non-Executrve Directors The Non-Executive Directors who

recrutment consultaney -The external recruitment consultancy s asked
to draw up a list of potentiat candkdates for the Committee to review
The Committee considers the hst of potential candidates and agrees a
shorthst for intarview by the Charrman Group CEQ and other members
ofthe Committee and Board as appropriate Subject to agreement by the
Commuttee the Comrnittee then recommends the proposed appomtea
ta the Board for cons:deration

Commuttee composition

Dunng the year the Committee reviewed the composition of all Committees
On 24 july 2014 Marun Gilbert stepped down as a member of the
Remuneration Committee and Adine Grate was appainted in his place

with effect from 25 July 2014 Following Andy Higginson s retrement

atthe Company s 2014 AGM it was agreed that Martin Gilbert be apponted
as SID on 21 November 2014 Maruin replaced Andy as a member of the
Corporate Governance & Nomtnations Committee on the same date

Mick Ferguson was identified as a suitable successor as Charman of

the Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee and he succeeded
Andy Higginson on 21 November 2014

Board evaluation

The Board undertakes an annual review of 1ts effectveness and at
least once gvery three years anndependent third party facilitates the
evaliation Dunng the year the Charrman of the Commuttee conducted
anwnternal evaluaton and scheduled Lime with each Directer to discuss
the following

the effectiveness of the Board as a whole
+ the mix of skills and expenence on the Board
+ the effectiveness of Board processes and procedures.
+ development of the Company s strategy and

the performance of Board commuttees

are considered by the Board to be :ndependent are dearly identified on
page 42

As noted on page 42 James Murdoch Chase Carey Dawvid DeVoe and Arthur
Siskind are not considered to be ndependent within the meaning of the
Code However followang the evaluationthe Committee constders that each
of these directors continue Lo make asigmuficant contnbution to Board and
Commuttee discussions

Directors conficts

The Committee reviewed the Board s conflicts during the financiat
year and conduded that Directors conflicts had been appropnately
authonsed and that the pracess for authonsation was operating
effectively The Committee and the Board will cantinue to monitor
and roview potential conflicts of interest and take action to mitigate
them as necessary

Relationship Agreement

Changes tothe lsting rules came mto effect in November 2014 which
require a premum hsted comparly which has one or more controlling
shareholders to havein place an agreement which s intended to ensure
that any controling shareholder complies with the independence provisions
n the Listing Rules {see page 70) The Committee engaged external counsel
o assist with negotiating a relatronshp agreement with our controlling
shareholder 215t Century Fox Inc which was subsequently entered nto

by the Company on 13 November 2014
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Corporate governance report

(continued)

Bigger Picture Committee
Chairman s overview

There were two meetings dunng the year and after each Committee
meeting | reported to the Board on the key issues discussed

| am pleased to report that there has been sigruficant progress acress
the Bigger Prcture initiatives in the UK and Ireland from building the reach
impact and awareness of Sky Academy 1o the tontinued success of Team
Sky and the Company s approach to responsible business

Sky s commitment has been recagnised through Its strong performance
na number of Investor mdices dunng the year including the Carban
Disclosure Project and the Dow Jones Sustainability Index

The Committee believes that the focus and scale of the work baing done
contnuas te make a significant contribution to Sky s abitity to build a better
business for the lang term

Progress. against all of the Bigger Picture comamitrents and inibiatves
15 detated at sky comfbiggerpicture

James Murdoch
s mme— MMt tee Chaurman

Actnities during the year

The Committee oversaw a number of key developments in relavon

to Sky s Bigger Picture initiatives notably progress towards our target
to help ene milhgn young peaple build pragucal skills and experence
through Sky Academy tn the UK and ireland

Sky Academy s a set of intiatives using the power of TV creatnty and
sport to unlock the potential Inyoung people In addiion to the ongong
success of the Sky Sports Lnang for Sport, Sky Academy Skills Studios

Sky Academy Scholarshups and Sky Academy Starting Out. the Committee
oversaw the development of the new Sky Academy Careers Lab at Sky s
West London campus which will see at least 4 000 young people aged
16-19 visat Sky each year to gaincareer insights and buld employabdity
skills Dunng the year we also launched an additional Sky Academy Skills
Studio at our Livingston site in Scotiand which is pronding opportumbes
for another 12 000 young people in Scotland 1o take part inadditionto
the 12000 in West London each year Both imtiatives have provided more
opportunities for Sky staff to get involved in Sky Academy through
volunteering and we saw a 43% increase involunteenng this year

The aperung of Sky Academy Careers Lab supparts the Committee s
view that the Sky Academy expenences should be providing msight into
the diversity of rales for young peaple at Sky The Commuttee noted the
Increase in career oppor tuniies for young people through Sky Academy
Starting Qut with 1100 places across nts apprenticeship graduate
placernent and work expenence programmes ty 201415 up from almost
600 in 2013114 which 1s on track against the commitment to double the
number of career apportunibies available for young people vathin Sky

0 threa.years.

Composition of the Committee
James Murdoch (Chawrman)
Tracy Clarke

Dave Lawns

Attendance at Committee Mectings

The Group CEO Group CFO servor executives representatives from
Corporate Affars and the Bigger Picture team attend meatings at the
request of the Charrman The Deputy Comparny Secretary acts as Secretary
to the Committee The Committee s terms of reference are available on the
Company’s corparate website

Bigger Picture Committee Agenda
Focus for the year has centred on the fellowing items

- Arewew of progress on Sky Academy
* Thempact of our partnership with Bnush Cychng and Team Sky
+ Progress as detailed i Sky s Bigger Preture reporting

Ower the year the Committer reviewed the acheevements of Sky Academy
n working towards its targets for increasing participation impact and
awareness OF note has been the doubling of customer awarengss of

Sky Academy along with the triphing of prospect awareness over the year

Through the partnershep with Bntush Cyching the Committee noted that
aver 1 7 milion mora pecple are now cycling at least once a month when
compared to 2009 The Commitiee also noted the role of Team Sky w
using the inspiration of elite succeass todrive participation Inaddibion
the Commuttee was miormed of the Tcam Sky objectives to strengthen
the focus on Grand Tour perfarmance and bunld fan engagement as we
move 1nto the last 18 manths of the partnership with Bnush Cyehing

Through its review of the Bigger Picture reporung the Cornmuttee noted
the overall progress against Sky s commitment s includng in relation to
the Company s approach to responsible business The recommendations
the Committee made Lo improve the commurucation of progress have
been incorporated far the 2014115 year

Overall the Committee continued to note the positive ecanomic soCal
and envircnmental contribution of Sky For mora information abaut Skys
approach and progress over the year go 10 sky com/biggerprcture

50 Skypk




Annuat Report 2015

Governance

Directors’ remuneration report
Annual statement from the Chairman

Dear Shareholder
On behalf of the Board 1| am pleased ta preseat our Deectors
Remunerat:on Report for the year ended 30 June 2015

Context and bustness performance

Ttus has been a transformational year for Sky By acquinng the Sky
businesses in Germany and Italy we hawe apened up a significant new
growth oppartunity whilst continuing to delrer excellent financial and
operationa! performance There has been strong growth across altour
markets, parucularly v the UK and trefand and we have increased the
dmdend to our sharehalders by 3% This represents the 11th consecutve
year of dnadend growth an excellent record by any measure

These results are parucularly strong considenng the level af change in
the business Group revenue s up 5% year anyear and operating profit
up by 18% In the UK and Ireland we achueved the highest organic customer
growth in 11 years while in Germany and Austna we delivered record
customer growth and in italy we held our customer base stable after three
years of dechne In totalwe added almost one milion new customers across
our five temtonas 45% more thanin the prior year to Laks our customer
base past the 21:millionmark Atthe sama Ume.we Increasad our paid-for.

The continued support of our shareholders is extremely important to us
The Comnmuttee intends to réview its position on dawback with a view

to introducing suitable provisions for our business alongside our existing
pohicyon malus over the course of the next year The Committee revisited
the topec of disclosure this year specifically the degree to which it deems
the disclosure of perfarmance targets to be commercially sengitve

and the umung of disclasure

Disclosure of performance targats

Qur targets which include significant fixed costs relauing to rights deats
are cammercially sensiuve We operate in a hughty compeuuve market,
both in acquiring customens and bidding for key nghts with a discrete
number of players and a number of our direct competitors do not
disclose therr targets

Nevertheless the Commuittee acknowledges investor concerns and has
decided to disclose the targets for the 2013 annual bonus and LTIP vesting
ayear earlier than we anucipated in the Remunerauon Reportlast year

We continue to disclose performance ranges in advance for EPS growth

for the Co-investment Plan and relauve TSR performance for the Long Term
Incentve Plan The Committee wall conuinue to use its judgement at the
end of gach year to detarmine levels and tming of disclosure

Inaddiian the Committee has also provided greater clarity on pay and
performance outcomes for the 2015 bonus payment and Long Term
Incentrve Plan vesting A clearer chart and more detaled commentary
on performance are pravided on pages 53 to 55

Impact of the acquisition of Sky Deutschland and Sky ltalia

woda n8neng

SIUBLLIDNOS)

subscnption products by 4 &milkon for the year and saw a sigruficant
Increase N customer loyalty with churn under 10% in each of our markets
Against this backdrop of excellent performance the business has a strong
platform on which to bulld and a clear set of plans to deliver long-term
grewth and returns for sharehalders

The long-term sustamability and success of our business isbasedona
relentless focus on our key drivers for growth Our remuneration policy
directly knks pay to the achievement of stretching performance targets
which drive our strategy as set out on page 4 This principle of inking pay
to stretch performance has remained unchanged over the past six years
and has helped to mantan the stability and focus of the senor team to
dehver putstanding value to our shareholders The Cammittee ensures
that the performance measures selected i sts incentive plans reflect the
key performance indicators of the business and thereby provide a direct
Ak to Sky s strategrc aims Having conswdered other performance
measures the Commettee 1s comfortable that the current measures

and therr incjusion across all three incentive plans ensures the nght link
to our strategic KPIs and the proper focus on thesa results over both

the short and long term

Last year the Commuttee introduced a number of changes to our
remuneration policy which were welt recewved by our shareholders including
the mntroduction of a cap on annual Long Term Incentive Plan awards a
muntmum sharehaolding requirernent for Executive Directors a formal policy
anmalus and more explanabtion and disclosure on performance outcomes

Followang the completion of the acquisitions of Sky Deutschiand and Sky
Italia in November 2004 the Cormmittes considered whether any changes
to executrve remuneration were required Notwithstanding the new
intesnational and enlarged responsibiiues of both Execdtive Directors
as aresult of this transaction the Committee decrded that existng
COmpensaton ATangemeants wera appropnate

In respect of our multi-year incentve plans that span the transaction
period the Committee made no change to the required performance
targets but resolved that to avord any distoruve effect from the
transacuon measurement would be made on a like-for-lke hasis
restating cither to a UK & treland only basis or to a peo forma basis
for the transaction and disposal of Sky Bet depending upon when
the plans commenced Targets for all new plans that commence
post-completion are on the basis of the enlarged Group

Fulldetals of alt targets and the actual performance aganst these
witl be disclosad in alignment with our policy on disclosure

Pay and performance outcomes for 2015

Performance across tha Group has been excellent and renforces that
our approach Lo Incentvisation continues Lo work our management team
15 delivering the nght outcomes for the business and Sky s shareholders
It rs aganst this great set of results that the Committee has decided the
remuneration for 1its Executive Directors
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Directors’ remuneration report -

Annual statement from the Chairman
(contmued)

Annual bonus

Each year the Commattee considers the business plan and pnonties in
settmg one dear amtious stretch target for each chosenmeasure of
performance The key measures that drive our business plan are product
growth, operating profit and operating cash flow Payments earned under
this plan are determined by the performance athieved under each of the
three measures and the bonus 1s structured such that there would be 2
matenal Impact on the annual bonus for underperformance There s also
no addivonat payment for performance beyond the stretch targets

Operationdl performance across the Group has been excellent This was
jed by the outstanding performance of the UX and ireland business
which delered cur strongest customer growth for 1 years Paid-for
product growth for the UK and Ireland was 3 3 rullien sigruficantly
ahead of stretch target

This strong trading performance combined with a continued focus on
operational efficiency and cost control deivered an adjusted operating
profit to £14 bilkon in the UK and treland ahead of target Operating cash
flow which 1s an important indicator of the financial health of the business
and 1ts aknlity to sustain and grow s operstions was ahead of target at
El4 bitlion

As a result of the excellent performance thig year and in accordance with
the nules of the scheme the Remuneration Committea approved maximum
bonus awards of 200% and 150% for the Group CEC and Group CFO
respectvely for this parfermance year

Long Term incentve Plary

The business has delivered a remarkable period of sustained performance
dunAg the threasyear period of this Plan 2012 1o 2015 Al thretaf the
operational measures - revenue growth operating cash flow and growth
in earmings per share - were exceeded with revenue growth in the UK and
treland of 17% earnings in the UK and Ireland up by 33% and an average
annual gperating ¢ash flow in the UK and iretand of E1 4 biion Therefore
thss part of the Pan will pay outin full However the part of the Plan based
onrelatrve TSR performance will pay out at 75 9% The total overall vesting
1s therefore 93%

This consistently strong company performance has delivered excellent
returns for our shareholders and the SBoard has proposed 2 3% increase
n the dividend to 32 Bp which is the 11th consecutwve year of growth

Asignificant element of the value delrvered to Executive Directors by this
Plan is a direct consequence of the increase in the share price over the
three-year performance penod Our approach to awarding a fixed number
of shares @ach year with ne correlatinn to salary means that year-an-year
growth n total remuneration can only be achieved through share price
appreciatvon particularly when stretch performance targets are being
met This construct defivers strong sharehofder alignment By awarding

an absolute number of shares as opposed to a percentage of salary
management benefit when the share prce ncreases but are exposed f the
share price dechines In addition, vesting occurs only every two years which
helps to ensure that the management team brings a longer-term focus
tothe business This year 15 a vesting year so « 15 important to remember
that the LTIP payment this year represents two separate years of grants
not one This causes a spike i total pay every other year and distorts

the single figure remuneratron shewn on page 57 as therawill be no

LTIP payment next year total remuneration will be sigruficantly reduced

N 2016 The next LTIP vesting wall be in July 2017

Co-investment Plan

Thus 1s a highly successfut ptan for our most serior managers It encourages
them to reinvest ther earned bonus into Company shares and therefore
the future of our business Vestings deferred for three years and
dependent on EPS growth underpinrung alignment to shareholders
interests Qur Executive Directors renvested the maximum 50% of their
annual bonus in the 2012 Plan Over this three-year penocd the grawth

In earnings per share m the UK and treland of 33% was in excess of the
maximum vesting threshold and the matching shares therefore vest

n full Details are provided on page 53

Remuneration n 201516

The Commuttee follows a policy of maintarming tower levels of fixed pay
relative to the mariet We are confident that the structure of a highratio
of variable to fixed pay continues to provide a strong link between pay

and performance and delvers high returns for our shareholders 5o looking
ahead to the naw financial year 201516 while thelevel of personal
achievement dehvered by the Executive Directors would allow for greater
increases under the all employee salaryreview policy the Commuttee has
made modest adjustments to the base salanes of the Group CEO and
Group CFO of 3% effective ¥ duly 2015

Long Term Incentive Plan awards of 600 00C for the Group CEO and
350000 for the Group CFO are mamtaned at the same level as was
previously agreed last year and in ing with our policy

The performance measures for the annual bonus LTIP and Co-Investment
Plan alsc remamn unchanged

The Committee considered whether the acguisitions made during the

year might lead to a change inthe long term incentive arrangements

After carefid reflection the Commuttee determined that the LTIP and
Co-lnvestument Plan which are bolh key elernents of the total remuneration
For the broader management team aof Sky pic has been successfulin
driving performance incentivising management and delivenng shareholder
returns The Committee continues to keep all elements of the remuneration
pohicy and structure undar review to ensure it drves the performance

of the buswess and therefore the interests of the shareholders

Tracy Clarke
Commuttee Charman
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Tius section sets out how our remunerauon polcy was implemented during
the year ended 30 June 2015 ana how 1t will be implemented for the coming
year It also sets out the Ink between Company performance and Executwe
Directors remuneration the context in which our policy operates details
on our Executive Directors shareholdings and the general governance of
Cirectors remuneration The remuneration policy 1s summansed on page
64 1o 69 and availabrle to read in full n our 2014 Annual Report which can

be accessed via our Coporate website at sky com/corporate

Vanable pay outcomes for the year ended
30 June 2015

As shown on pages 13 to 15 the business has delivered another year
of exceptional operating and financial performance in what has been
atransformational year for Sky All measures for the plans aperating
I the year ended 30 June 2015 and described in thrs section are for
the UK and Ireland

Annual bonus for 2015 performance

The annual bonus drives the achievement of annual financial and
operational business goals The plan for 2045 for Executwe Directors and
senior executives was based on three equally weighted measures which
were idenufied by the Commttee as being key indicators of performance
dnwing growth for our business and returns to our shareholders

+ Paud for Products Growth
= Adjusted Operaung Profit

= Adjusted Operating CashFlow This is a key measure of the underiytng
health of the business and strong performance of £1 41 bilion ahead
of stretch target contnues to support our growth strategy

As aresult of this axcellent performance the Remuneration Committee
recommended that the maxmum bonus awards af 200% and 150% of base
salary be awarded to the Group CEO and Group CFQ respectvely for this
perfarmance year

Annual bonus metrics

performance Weghting Performance Achievermnent agamnst
measure performante measuras
UK ang Ireland pand-  33% +33Im Sifwdicint out -parformance
for products growth

K and lreland 33% E1350m Out perfarmance
operating profit

UX and Ireland 33% E1414m Strong eut-perfarmance
operating cash flow

The Commuttee judges that immediale retrospectve disclosure of
specific targets s commercially sensitive because we operate in a ighly
compettive market bothin acquinng customers and brdding For key
nghts with a very small number of players We therefore believe that
early disclosure of our targets would offer an unfair comgetitive
advantage and would be Lo the detriment of our shareholders

we will make retrospective disciosure when the targets are deemed
to be no longer commeroially sensitive We anucipate this to be two

+—Adpsted Operating Cash Flow

We bebeve the concept of threshold target and maximum perforrnance
wauld compromuse the drive for growth so the Committee sets one clear
stretch target for each performance measure each year after careful
consideration of the busmess plan and of consensus analyst forecasts

Thss year we have provided greater clanty on performance outcomes

The table 1n the next column sets out the Carmnmittee s assessment of
performance versus the three measures for the last performance pencd
The Committee sets stretching targets which must be delivered to achieve
the business plan and for the Executive Directors to receve the maximum
bonus There are no payments above maximum for performance above
these stretch targets

The Committee will use its judgement to assess the level of bonus if
astretch targets mot met taking nto account personal performance
the performance of the ather measures the underying performance
of the business and other factors which the Committee conssders

to be material Lo the results achieved Payments are earned in direct,
correlation to performance achieved Performance agamnst these key
targets 1s described below

« Pawd for Products Growth Inthe UK and ireland we saw our strongest
operational perfarmance for many years with excepuonal product
growth in the UX of +3 3 milon which significantly exceeded the stretch
target, underpinaed by our continued focus on customer quality and
our Investment i productaty improvements which drove robust growth
1 both new customer addibions and paid-for product sales in a highly
competitive market Increased customer loyatty and satisfaction s
alsoreflected in a signuficant reduction in sur churn rate

Adpsted Operating Profit Strong revenue growth and a successful
operational efficency programme resulted in an operating prafit
of £135 billion whach was ahead of stretch target

voda x3nens
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years afrer theerd of the performance period

Vesting of shares under the Co-irwestment Plan 2012-2015

Under tha terms af the CP offered on 28 August 2012 for the performance
penod 1 July 2012 to 30 June 2015 Executive Directors voluntanty deferred
50% of their earned 2012 bonus into nvestment shares which were then
maiched by the Company up to 15 times the gross equivalent of thewr
investment

Thae tabla below shows the performance conditions for vesting of the
matching shares

EPS growth performance
(annual average growth
over threo-year term)

Match awarded
(number of matching shares
awarded per invastment share*)

Less than RPi +3% oo
RPI +3% 10
RPl +4% "W
RPI +5% 133
RPH +5% 15
More than RM +6% 15

Straight-lne interpolation between pomts
* 18 an eguvalent gross basis

The average ad,usted UK and Irefand bas:c EPS growth rate of 10% per
year over the three-year penod exceeds the threshold for maximum
vesung The Commutiee has agreed that the matehung shares under
the 2012 CIPwillvest in full on 28 August 2015

Vasting of shares under the Executive Long Term Incentive Plan 2012-2015
The vesting of awards made in 2012 and 2013 for the performance period
1.July 2012 1o 30 June 2015 was dependent on operational perfarmance
measures whuch determined 70% of the award and TSR the remaming 30%

Skyplc 53
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(conunued)

The three equally weighted operational performance measures each of which is a key inticator of Sky s continued success were

* Revenue growth key to our growth strategy

+ Operaung cash flow measures our ability to generate and manage cash

+ EPS growth measures our bottom line perfarmance

Points were Bwarded for performance on the three operational measures as follows

+ For EPS two points are awarded for growth of RPI +3% per year with the maximum 10 pomts awarded for RPI +5% per year or more

« For operating cash flow and revenue growth one point 15 awarded for 75% achievement of target on a shding scale up to 10 pomnts for 105% or more
» One point equates Lo 10% of the award vesting. with maxmurm vesting for 21 points or mare vesting on a straight-ine basis between these points
Annual Performance Measures are shown in detail in the table below

Avernge EPS growth Operating cash flow Revenue growth
Performance Performance
Performance Points achievad Points achieved Paints
achieved awarded (% of target) awarded (% of target} awarded
RPM +5%pa 0 105% or more 0 5% ormore 10
RPL+45% pa B 100% 8 100% 8
RPl +4% pa & 95% 6 95% [}
RPI+35%pa 4 0% 4 90% 4
RPI +3%pa 2 85% 2 B5% 2
LessthanRPi+3%pa [s] 75% 1 75% 1
Less than 75% 0 Less than 75% 0

As with the annual bonus the commruttee will make full retrospective disclosure when the targets are deemed Lo be ne longer commercially sensitive
which 15 anticipated to be two years after the end of the performance period However the commentary and performance chart below asms to provide

greater transparency and clarity for our shareholders

As with the bonus performance measures the committee made careful consideration of consensus analyst forecasts and the business plan before
setting what it believed to be stretching performance targets Payments are earned in direct comrelation to performance achieved and perfarmance
against each target 1s described below

+ Revenue growth revenue has increased by 17% over the pened in UK and Irgland which 15 in excess of the performance target represenuag
excellent growth and strong momentum for the future

« Operating cash flow A key measure of the underiying health of the business and the ability of the management team to sustain and grow
1ts operations Average annual operating cash flow n the UK and Ireland of £14 billion was in excess of target,

EPS growth The top end of the EPS growth range was set for awards in 2032 ang 2013 at RPI 45% p a This s equivajent to absolute growthin earnings
of 26% ower three years if RPHis 3% a year This level of growth in earnings was set at alevel which exceeded consensus research analysts esumates
at the ume Actualgrawth in earmings per share aver the three-year penod was 10% with average RPY over the penad of the scheme of 2 3% pa

This element of the plan vests i full reflecung the value generated for our shareholders over this perod

The actual ponts awarded for the period are

Actual points awarded

Average EPS growth Operaung cash flow Revenue growth
Actual points awarded  Actual points awarded  Actual paints awarded
1000 1000 1000

The total of 30 00 15 well ahead of the 21 points raquired for full vesting of this element of the award which comprises 70% of the total

Despite excellent share price growth and a consistent dvidend pohicy our TSR perfarmance over the three-year penod was an ncrease of 72 7% compared
to the FTSE median of 48 7% with the upper quartie at 90 2% and as a consequence 759% of thus proportion of the award vested on 28 July 2015

54 Skyplc




Annual Report 2015

The table below summanses performance aver the three-year perfarmance period versus the stretch targets

2012.2015 Long Term Incentive Plan performance matrics

Performance Weighting  Performance Achievement agamnst
maeasure performance measures
Revenue Growth 23% Nn5% Out-performance
Operattng Cash  23% 4% Out performance
Flow
EPS Growth 23% 137% Sgruficant ot -parforfance
Relative TSR 30% 759% Butween madien

anduppar quartie

The total overall vasting for the LTIP was therefore 93% Owver the longer term our consistently strong company performance has delivered excellont
returns for our shareholders and the Board has proposed a 3% imcrease in the dwidend to 32 8p which is the Tith consecutive year of growth

Long Term Incentive Plan, Co-Investment Plan and Sharesave Awards made in the Year

yodar x3nens

IUBLINO

Mirumum % Maximum %
No of shares Face Value on of sharesthat  ofsharesthat
awarded Grant Date DateafGrant  Performance Penod  Vesting Date can vest tan vest

Long Term Incentive Plan

Jeremy Darroch 600000 250714 ES 247000 010714 -30 0617 25077 0% 100%

Andrew Gnffith 350000 250714 E3060750" 10714 -300617 25077 0% 100% g.

Co-Investment Plan é

Jeremy Carroch 163644 010914 £1443 3402 010714 -30 0617 Q09 0% 1C0% w

Andrew Gnffith 76930 010914 £678 5237 0 0713 -300617 [ e-RF 0% 100% %
]

Sharesave Plan g

Jeremy Darroch 2138 300914 E18 866" nl/a mo220 nfa n/a

Andrew Gnffith 1274 300914 EN Y nfa 010218 nla nfa

1 Markat pnce at date of LTHP award was £8 745 on 25 July 2014

2 Manet pace st date of CIP matching award was £B 82 on 15eptember 2004

3 Market prce it ctate of Sharesave grant was £8 82 on 30 September 2014

Performance conditions for the Long Term Incentve Plan

Awards mademn July 2014 were Year T nul-cost option awards Thats they relate to the three-year performance penad begiiring on 1 july 2014 and

ending on 30 June 2017 and are subject to the following performance conditions

1 Operauonal targats - 70% of the award

There are three equally weighted operational performance measures each of which is a key indicator of Sky § continued success

» EPSgrowth
wm

» Qperatungcash flow 2

+ Revenue growsh §:
o

Tha Commsttee will make retrospectve disclosure of these targets when they are deemed to be no longer commercialy sensitive We anticipate this to be 2

two years after the end cf the performance period This means that we will review disclosure of performance targets i our 2019 kmplementabion report 2

with aview o pubhshing unless the Commuttee believes they are stil commercially sensitive in the context of the market 1n which the company operates §
W

For EPS two points are awarded for growth of RPI +3% pér year with the maximum 10 points awarded for RPl +5% per year or more §

For aperating cash flow and revenue growth one point 1s awarded for 75% achievemnent of target on a shding scale up to 10 points for 105% or more

One pomnt equates to 10% of the award vesung with maxmum vesting for 21 ponts or more vesting on a strarght hne basis between these paints
There s no additsenal award for achievement above 21 points

IF the miremum range s met each year for all measures 26% of the shares vest

The Committee sets a high threshold vesting fevel in ine vath our sohey of rewarding success not fadure Maximum vesting 15 not achievable if
performance 1s below threshold for any one measure

To earr: the minimum of one pont on any one of these measures requires the achievement of 75% of targat Missing two targets would represent a
significant and dispropartionate reduction n total compensation

Skypk 5%
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{conurued)

Annual performance measures are shown in further detarl in the table balow

Average EPS Growth Operating Cash Flow Revenue Growth
Performance achieved Performance
Performance achieved Points awarded (% of target) Paints awarced achieved (% of target) Pomts awarded
RPI+5%pa 0 105% or mare 10 105% ar more 10
RP! +4 5% pa 8 100% 8 100% 8
RPi +4% pa 6 95% 3 G95% 6
RPM +35%pa 4 S0% 4 90% 4
RPI+3%pa 2 B5% 2 a5% 2
Less than RPl +3% pa Q 75% 1 75% 1
Less than 75% C Less than 75% 4]

The top end of the EPS growth range was set for awards in 2014 at RPi +5% p a This 1s equivalent to absolute growth in earrungs of 26% over three years
IFRPI IS 3% a year This level of growth In earnings was set at alevel which exceeded consensus research analysts estimates

2 Relative TSR perfarmance - 30% of the award

The Company s TSR performance 1s measured relative to the TSR of the constituents of the FTSE 100 if the Company s TSR performance 1s below median
the TSR element of the award lapses i full For median performance one-third of the shares subject to the TSR condition may vest, with afl the shares
vestng for upper quartile performance Vesting 1s on a straight-line basis between these points as shown below

TSR Vestng Schedule

TSR calculations are conducted independently by Towers Watson, advisors to the Committee

Performance conditions for the Co-Investment Plan
COIP awards made in 2014 are subject to the performance conditions set out in the table below

EPS growth performance Mateh awarded
(annual average growth (number of matching shares
over three-year term) awarded perinvestment shara*)
Less than RPI +3% 00
RPI +3% 10
RPI +4% 125
RPi +5% 15
Mare than RP +5% 15

Straight-line interpotation between pomts

1 on equivalent gross basis
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Review of past performance

TSR perfarmance

The graph below shows the Campany s TSR fer the six years to 30 June 2015 measured as the value of a E100 holding in ordinary shares at the start
of the penod The performance 1s shown relative to the FTSE 100 which represents the broad market index against which the Company s shares are
traded With the acquisitions of Sky Deutschland and Skey Italia the narraw focus af the FTSE 350 Media companies is no lortger relevant given the
broader scope of the business and this ndex which was shown in previcus years, 1s removed from the chart below

TSR 15 ameasure of the returns that a company has provided for its shareholders reflecting share price movements and assuming remnvestment
of dvidends Datas averaged over three months at the end of each financial year

Payments made to Executive Directors

The table below sets out total remuneration recerved by the Executive Directors for the finanaal year ended 30 June 2015 and the prioryear
ended 30June 2014, The vestng pattemn-of awasds under the LTIR1s bienaial, shares vest every otharyear over-a thrae-year perfarmance pencd
This means that avery other year no payment s due as thera 1s no vesting of awards The follewing year assuming performance condiuons are met,
there will be a payment which covers the equivalent of two years vesting 2015 was a year sawhich the LTIPs awarded for the performance period
1July 2012 to 30 June 2015 vested The single figure for the Group CEQ i 2015 15 therefore lazger than the 2014 figure

Single Figure for Executive Directors’ Total Remuneration (audited)

Long Term
Salary' Taxable Benefits? Pension® Bonus* Incentive Plan® Co-investment Plan® Total
£ 10 2015 2014 2018 24 2015 201 2075 2014 2015 2014 2015 oW 015
JDeremyh S607C0 984750 17807 18807 14949) 47814 1921400 1969500 Afa NBWB440 1830092 1950138 4879590 16889249
armoc
en?;‘e\g 602175 620000 1615 16115 83481 94755 903263 930000 nfa 6303168 843936 8971 2448970 8861148
rfhit

1 Exeqitive Dirctors salanes were increasad on July 2014 by 2 55 for the Group CEO and 2 96% for tha Group CFO Tha average increase for employees at that e was 2 5%

nsing to 3 5% for those earning less thanE 30 800 per year with a range of 0% to 10% for performance promotans and market adustments

Taxable benefas mclude company car of car allowance and healthcare

Pension compnses a cash allowance inlieu of company contnbutions far Jeremy Darroch and Andraw Gnfffith

Bonus shows the full amount earmed shortly after year end inwhich the perfarmance measuses zpphed induding amounts deferred through tha OP The payout for the 2004 bonus

was 200% of base salary for the Group CEQ and 150% for the Group CFQ The figures for 2015 ara 200% For the Group CEO and 150% for the Group CFO The Executve Direclors

deferred 50% of their bonus into shares through the CIP in 2014 and it is anticipated they will do so far 2005

S LongTermincentme Plan shaws the market value of the awards vested inmediately foliowing the end of tha relevant performarce pencd No LTIP shares vested for the performance
penod ended 30 June 204 The figure for 201515 for LTIP shares which vested on 28 July 2015 using the aviérage share prce over the pennd 1 Apnl to 30 June 2015 of £1059

6 Co-investment Plan shows the market value of the matching shares that vested on 30 August 2014 with a share pace of £8 82 Previously the value of these shares was estimated
usIng the averaga share price over the penad 1 Apnl to 30 June 2014 of £8 B1 It also shows the esumated va'ue of matchung shares that are due to vest on 28 August 2015 using the
average share pnce over the penod 1 Apni ta 30 June 2015 of £1059

b ow N
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{continued}

Group CEQ's remuneration

The table below provides a summary of the total remuneration for the

Group CEO over the past six years wcludmng bonus payout LTIPand CIP
vesting levels The table highlights the unique structure of our remuneration
pohcy in which vesung of LTIP shares pccurs every twa years rather than

the customary 12-month cycle As our LTIP awards are made as a fixed
number the realised value s purely reflective of delvery agamst performance
measurgs ang any share price growth over this penod keeping italigned

o shareholders nterests

It should be noted that total remuneration for 2013 includes vesting of the
one-off addiional LTIP award of 300 000 shares made in 201 at the tme

of the possible News Corporation bid The average annual total remuneration
paid to the Group CEC over this si-year perrod exciuding this one-off award
15 £9108 B5S

Annual LTIP

Bonus vesting
payout rates [«]4
Swmngle agamnst against vesting rates
figure maximum maximum against maximum
oftetal opportunity opportunity opporturuty
Year remuneration % % %
2ms 16889 248" 100 93 100
2014 48795307 100 nfa c0
2013 170269827 975 100 100
2012 4550037 100 nfa 100
piel)] 1133554 100 a3 nfa
2010 2678744 100 n/a n/a

1 tndudes valuation of LTIP shares which vested on 28 July 2075 and CIP matching shares
due to vest on 26 August 2015 both using the average share price over the penog

1 Apal to 30 June 2015 of E10 59

Includes valuation of CIF matching shares which vested on 30 August 2014 with share
price of £8 82 Previcusly reportad using the average share pnce over the period
1Aprilto 30 June 2014 of EB B18

Includes vesting of the ane-off additional LT!P award of 300 000 shares made in

2011 at the bime of the possibla News Corpavatian bid

indudes first year of vestng of P introduced in 2010

L=

w

»

Percentage change in Group CEQ s remuneration 1 July 2014 to 30 June
2015

The table below shows the percentage change in Group CEO remunerauon
from 1 July 2014 ta 30 June 2075 compared to the average change for afl
employees

Group CEQ%
change All employees % change
Base Salary' 5% 3 5% employees earning less than
£30000 2 5% above E30000
Taxable Benefits 39% 0%
Annual Bonus 25% N%

1 Employees were awarded up to 10% for outstanding performance prometions and
market adjustments
Relatve importance of pay spend

The table below shows total employee costs and dwdend payments to
shargholders for 2014 and 2015

204 2m5

(Em) (£m}
Tota! employee costs 1044 13348
Dindend payments 485 549

1 Group total nduding Germany and italy

Disclosure of Performance Targets for 2013

The Committee has discussed at length its approach to disclosure of
performance targets Whilst maintaining its position that early disclosure
of targets would be cormmeroally datnmental because of the highly
competitive nature of the market in which it operates it constders that
performance targets for the 2013 annual bonws and for the Long Term
Incentive Plan that vested in that year are no longer commercially sensitive

In setting the targets the Committee gavecareful consideration to the
business plan and to the research analyst consensus forecasts at the tima
The targets and performance for the 2013 annual bonus are shown in the
Lable below

201213
Performance vx
Performance Metric Target Performance Target
Paid-for Praducts Growth +275m +2563m 93%
Operaung Profit E£13G0m E1330m 102%
Operaung Cash Flow £1275m E1396m 109%

On the basis of this performance the Committee deterruned that the
bonus was paid at 97 5% of maximumn for the Group CEO and 96 7% for the
Group CFO

The Long Term Investment Plan that vasted in 2013 for the 2010-2013
parformance period was based on three equally weighted operational
performance measures of average EPS growth Operating Cash Flow
and Revenue Growth Eachwas considered by the Commitiee to be

a key indicator of Sky § continled success-T SR wasnotincuded as
a performance measure for that particular award due to the possible
News Corporation {subsequently renamed 215t Century Faox inc ) bid
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Remuneration of the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors
The table belaw summanses the key components of remuneratron for our Charman and Non-Executive Directors

Elemnent and purpose

Operation

Fees Reflectindmdual responsibilities and membership of Board
Commuttees Attract Non-Executve Directors with the skills and
experence required to oversee the implementation of strategy

Fees for the Charman and the Non-Executive Directors are
reviewed annually having regard to ndependent adwvice and
surveys

The Corporate Governance and Nominations Committeg
deterrmnes the fees paid to the Chairman taking into account
the complesaty of the role and the time and commitment required
The 8oard of Directors determines the fees for the Non-Executre
Directors

Additionat fees for membership of or chairmanship of a
commttee orfor other responsibiliies are payablein addition
to the basic fees Fee levels for 2015 are disclosed in the table
on pege 62

Non-Executive Directors can elect to receve a portion of their
fees in the Company s shares which are purchased on a monthly
basis {nrectors who are deemed to be affiliated with 21st Century
Fox are not permitted to take partn this faclity Non-Executive
Birectors interests are disclosed In the table on page 60

UoduxBnens

BIIBLLIZADD)

Benefits Additional benefits may be provided for business purposes
eg provsion of a car to travel wo/from meetings -
Non-Executive Directors are not ehgible to join Sky s pension plan §
MNon-Executive Directors are ehgible to recewe a Sky subscnption nz_
package a
Bonus and Non-Executive Directors are not eligible to particpate in any g
Share Plans bonus or share scheme offered by the Company G
Notice and Each Non-Executive Director’s appomtment 1s for an irvtial
termnation three-year term In accordance with the UK Corporate Governance
provisions Code all Directors submut themselves for annual reappontment
Mon-Executive Directors each have a letter of appointment
these appointments may be terminated without notice
Any fees payable would be settled at the date of termination
No continuing payment of fees are due if a Non-Executrve Director
15 not re-elected by shareholdars at the Annual General Meeting
The Remuneration Repory was approved by the Board of Directors an 28 July 2015 and signed on its behalf by
Tracy Clarke ?
Chairman of Remuneration Comruttee 2
:
Ey
g
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Directors’ report and statutory disclosures

Introduction

In accordance vath the Comparnies Act 2006 the Corporate governance
repart on pages 40 to 50 and mformation contained in the Strategic report
forms part of this Directors’ report and are incorporated by reference

The Directors present ther report together wath the audited cansoldated
and parent company financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015

Shares

Dmdends

The Directors recommend a final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2015
of 20 50 pence per ordinary share which togethaer with the intenm dvidend
of12 30 pence paid to sharehoiders on 21 April 2015 will make a total
dridend for the year of 32 80 pence (2014 32 00 pence) Subject to
approval at the 2015 AGM the final dvidend will be paid on 20 November
2015 to sharehotders appearing on the register at the cloge of business

on 23 October 2015

Share capital

The Company s issued ordinary share capital at 30 June 2015 eomprised
ane class of ordinary shares All of the issued ordmary shares are Fully
paid and rank equally In allrespects Further details of the Company s
share capital and share issues under the period under review are
disclosed in note 25 to the consalidated finanacal statements

Interests i voung rights

Information provided to the Company pursuant to the UK Lisuing
Authonty's Disclosure and Transparency Rules ('DTRs') 15 pubhished
on a Regulatory Information Service and on the Company’s website
As at 30 June 2015 the Company had been noufied under DTRS of
the fellowing significant holdings of voting nghts inits shares

Percent

Amount of glass

Idantity of person or group awned notified
215t Century Fox UK Nominees Limited' 6572783139% 3914
BlackRock Inc? 88682765 506

1 Drrect holding which is subject to resirctons on its vetung nghts (please see Voung
fghts balow)

2 Indirect helding

3 rumberof shares held as at 30 june 2005

There have been no changes ta the above sigruficant holdings between
1 July and 28 July 2015

The Employee Share Ownership Plan ( ESOP Y was established to sausfy
awards made to participants of the Compary s employee share plans
The trustees of the ESOP have waved the nght to dividends payable

n respect of the shares held by it except to the extent of 0 0007% of
the dmdend payable on each share AL 30 June 2015 the ESOP had an
intergstin 14 805780 of the Company s ordmary shares The Trustees
who are independent of the Company have full disereton an how they
vote the ordinary shares held by the ESOP

voting rights

The Company s Articles of Assotiation provide that subject taany nghts
or restrictions attached toany shares on a show of hands every member
present m person of by proxy shall have one vote, and on a poll every
member shall have one vote for every share of which he s a holder

On a poll votes may be gwen either personally or by proxy or (in the case
of a corporate member) by a duly authonsed reprasentative

Ashareholder entstled to attend and vote at a general meeting may
appoInt ore or mare proxtes to attend and vote instead of him If a member
appaints more than one proxy he must specfy the number of shares

which each praxy 1s entitled to exercise nghts over A proxynesednotbaa
shareholder of the Company Holders of the Company 5 ordinary shares do
not have curmulatve votng rights A voting agreement dated 21 September
2005 was entered nto between the Company BSkyB Hotdco Inc,

2isk Cenkury Fox and 215t Century Fox UK Nominees Limsted which became
unconditonal on 4 November 2005 and caps 21st Century Fox UK Nominees
Limited s voting nghts at any general meeting at 3719% The provisians of
the voting agreement cease to apply on the first to occur of a number of
carcumstances which nclude the date on which a general offer 1s made

by anindependent person (as defined in the vouing agreement) for the
ordinary share capital of the Company

Restrictions on transfer of secunties
There are no spealfic restnctions on the transfer of secunities in the
Camparry which 1s governed by Lhe Artides of Association and prevaiing
legislauen noris the Company aware of any agreements between holders
of secunties that may result in restrctions on the transfer of secunties
ar.that may result in restrictions on vobng nghts

Vanation of nghts

Subyect to the Comparmes Act 2006 nghts attached to anyclass of shares
may be varnied with the consent tn writing of the holders of three-quarters
nnominatvalue of the 1ssued shares of the class or with the sancuon of
aspecal resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the
shareholders

Relationship Agreement

Changes to the Listng Rules came into effect tn November 2014 whieh
require a premsum isted company which has ane or mere controlling
shareholders to have in place an agreement which is intended to ensure
that any cantrolling shareholder complies with the independence provisions
Inthe Listing Rutas

21st Century Fox inc { 21CF yand certan of it5 wholly owned subsidianes
directly or mdirectly exercise or control 39 14% of the voung nghts of the
Company and are therefore deemed tobe controlling shareholders for
the purposes of the Listing Rules

Accordingly the Company entered into a relationship agreement with
21CF on 13 November 2014 (the Relaucnship Agreement ) contaming
the undertakings required by the Listing Rules

In accordance with the Lisung Rules the Board confirms that throughout
the perad urder review thatis from 13 November 2014 to 30 June 2015

(1} the Companyhas complied with the independence pravisions in
the Relationship Agreement

(1) sofar as the Company s aware 21CF and its associates have complied
with the independence provisions in the Relauonship Agreement and

{u1) sofaras the Company 1s aware, 2ICF has procured compliance by its
relevant subsidiaries and their associates with the independence
provisions in the Relationship Agreement
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Outstanding share awards Jeremy Darroch (audited)
Share prce Market  Date from

At 30 June Vested  Exerased Lapsed At30June atdateof pnce on which
Date of award 2014 duringyear duringyear duringyear 2015 award exefcise exerasable Expery date
e
260712 600000 - - - 600000 E7065 nla 260715 260720
260713 600000 - - - 600000 £822 nfa B0N5 260720
CIP Matching23+®
2708097 204 4325 - 204428 - o ES5405  £85877 270812 270817
308107 183935 - 183935 - o] E7075 EB 5877 o813 310818
Jooam 207729 207725 207729 - Q £6 46 £a 81 00814 300819
280812 184149 - - - 184,149 £764 nfa 280815 280820
280813 162794 - - - 162 794 €84y nfa 280816 280821
Sharesave
250909 359 3591 3591 - o] E4 33 ES 555 mo21s 010815
Outstanding shara awards Andrew Griffith (audited)

Share price Market Datefrom

At 30 June Vested  Exercised Lapsed At3a0June atdateof price on which
Date of award 2014 dunngyear dunngyear dunngyear 2015 award exercse axercasable Expiry date
LTips
260712 320000 - - - 320000 £708&5 nla 60715 260720
260713 220000 - - - 320000 £822 n/a 260NM5 260720
CIP Matching 2*4*
3008117 95793 95793 85793 - 0 EG 46 £aa 300814 300819
280812 84713 - - - 34713 £764 nia 280815 280820
780813 74 249 = = = 747249 [2:20] wWa 280816 80821
Sharesave - -
16081 1771 1771 177 - 4] E508 ES 555 010215 o10815

-

Performantg condibons relating to LTIP awards made in 2012 and 2013 ara disclosed n the 2013 Annual Report
The shares were exeraised and subsequently sald on 1 September 2014 (the Awards granted in 2011) and on 23 October 2014 (Uhe Awards granted . 2009 and 2010)

The aggregate value recerved by the Executive Directors on axercise of ther 2009 2010 and 201 QP Matching Awacds befora tax was EE009 147

[F 0 ™)

Drvidends are payable on shares purchased through the CIP During the yaar the Executive Directors receved 8172576 (2004 EB2168 60)
Performance conditions relating to CIP matchwng awards can be found on page 56
Following the vesung of awards partapants canbiowng ta be empioyed by the Campany have frrs yaars (o ereruse thew avard
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Govermance

Directors’ remuneration report -
Annual Remuneration Implementation Report

(conunued)

Single Figure for the Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors

The following table sets out the single figure for total remuneration for the Charrman and Non-Executive Directers for the financial year ended
30 June 2015 and the prior year ended 30 June 2014

2015 Total 2014 Total

Fees' Fees
Mick Ferguson 473934 462375
Chase Carey 61500 60000
Tracy Clarke 106 500 95160
Dawnd DeVoe 61500 60000
Dave Lews 91500 90000
Marun Gilbert? 127513 105000
Adine Grate' 80859 66987
Andy Higginson? 61042 145000
James Murdech 96 500 95000
Matthieu Pigasse 71500 70000
Danny Rimer 61500 77769
Arthur Siskind 71500 70000
Andy Sukawaty 71500 70000

1 Basic Fees ware increassd by 2 5% with effect from 1 July 2014
? Andy Higginson tatired At the AGM on 21 Navembar 2014

3 Mmartin Gilbert replaced Andy Higgnson as Senior independent Drector and member of the Governance and Nominations Committee Follewing Andy & retirement at the AGM
on 21 Novembdar 2014

4 Adine Gratewas appoimnted as a member of the Remuneration Comattesd replacing Martin Gibert with effact from 25 July 2014

fees for the Charman and base Non-Executive Director fees were increased by 2 5% effective 1 July 2015 as detailed in the table below

1 July 1uly
2015 o} F i
€ £
Chairman (all inclusive fee) 485782 473934
Deputy Chatrman' 30000 30000
Board member 63000 61500
Additional responsibilities
Seror Indenendent Director 40000 40000
Chairman of Comrmttee 25000 25000
Member of Committee 10000 10000

1 Therale of Ceputy Charman s not required to be filed at this present tme

Payments to past Directors and loss of office
There were No payments made to past directors and no payments made for loss of office during the financial year

Shareholder voting outcomes

The Company 1s committed to engaging with shareholders and every year engages with rajor sharehalders and iInstitutional investar groups to
talk about remuneration This enables the Campany to take shareholders views fully into account when making decisions about remuneration
At the AGM held on 21 November 2014 82 97% voted in favour of the Remuneration Policy and 86 23% of shareholders voted in favour of the
Directors Report on Remuneration

Resolution Votes For % For Votes Agamnst %Agamst TotalVotesCast  Votes Withheld
Approval of the Remuneration Policy 1313682688 9297 59341288 703 1413023976 13646452
Approval of the Remuneration Report 996 564 957 B6 23 159084 662 1377 1155649619 271020809

The Committee has sought the views of majar shareholders since then and has made a number of impartant changes te its approach to transparency and
disclosure of performance targets as set out in the Charman s statement an page 51
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Membership of the Commuttee

Dunng the year ended 30 June 2015 the Committee chaired by Tracy Clarke met five mes Nick Fergusen Adine Grate and Andy Sukawaty are members
of the Committee Attendance during the year is shown on page 42 Marun Gilbert stepped down from the Commuttee on 24 July 2014 and Adine Grate
was appointed in his place with effect from 25 July 2014

Role of the Committee

The role of the Commttee 1S to oversee the remuneration policy so that the Company s able to recrurt, retan and metivate sis Executives and reward
their ndnadual contnbutions in a Far and responsible manner The Committec reviews the design and structure of employee incentives and 1§ responsible
for approving the key terms of employment for the Executive DirecLors or any SENIW executive who reports directly to the Group CEO The full terms of
reference for the Committee are avarlable on the Company $ corporate website The terms of reference were reviewed during the year as part of the
normal corporate review process and no matenal changes were made

Committee activities during the year
The table below shows a summary of the key areas discussed by the Cammittee dunng the financial year

July 2014 November 2014 January 2015 Apni 2015 June 2015
Performance outcomes for  Performance update - Performance update - Performance update - Performance update -
bonus LTIF and CIP bonus, LTIP and QP bonus LTIP and QP bonus LTIPand QP bonus LTIPand CIP
Target setting for 201415 Update onreparting season  Review Committee Terms of  Benchmarking for Executive  Policy review an 2015

f
Rewiew and app Shareholder feedback and Reference Directors g;re::rs Remuneratuon
remuneration far Executive  proxy voting guidance Update on reporting season P
Directors and Servor Review position on
Managemant disclosure of performance

Review and approve

targets

1003 H8Nens

FEUIDA0D

Directors Remuneration
Report
Update on meetings with

shareholders voting
advisory services

Adwvisors to the Committee

Towers Watsen acted as independent adwisors ta the Committee throughout the year The Committee s satisfied that the advice it receives on Executive
Drirectors remuneration 1S Independent and objective Terms of reference are mormitared throughout the appomntment Towers Watson subscribes to the

Remuneration Consultants Group s Code of Conduct in relation to executive remuneration The Code clanfies the scope and conduct of the role of
remuneration consultants when adwvising UK listed companies The fees paid to Towers Watson for their services 1n relation to directors pay totalled

E161804 Dunng the year Towers Watson also prowided Sky with advice on pension withun its reward strategy and the operation of its pension and related

benefit provisions

The Group CEQ and the Director for People prowde information and adwice and attend meetings as required The Committee 1s also supported by the
Company Secretary Finance and Human Resources funcuons No indviduals are mvolved m the decision m relabon to thew own remuneration
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Directors’ remuneration report
Our Remuneration Policy

This section describes the Directors Remunerabion Policy that was approved by shareholders at the 2014 AGM and which the Comsmuttee intends wall be
effective until the 2017 AGM The Policy Lable s reproduced in full below For ease of reading some subseguent sub-sections Including remuneration on
recruitment or appaintment to the Board and payments on termination and loss of office have been omitted but may be referred to in the 2014 Annual
Report pages 60-66 available on our website at sky comicorparatefinvestorsfannual-report-2014

Remuneration Principles

There are five key principles which underpin the remuneration policy for our Executive Directors

*

Our approach to executive pay s aligned to the interests of our shareholders

Wa reward our peeple fairly and compettively (o attract motivate and retain the skills we need ta delwer significant growth

The levet of base pay s decided in the same way as for all employees based onindidual performance and experience the size and scope of the role
and takeng account of total remuneration

The majarity of executve pay is tied to the achievement of stretching performance goats inked to the strategic pnonties for the business Executive
Directors wil be well rewarded anly if they meet or exceed the maxenum performance standards set and achveve stretchuing levets of per formance

- Wa take care to ensure that remuneration does not inadvertently encourage tnappropriate risk taking

Qur principles set the foundation far our remuneration policy and ensure that decisions made by the Committee are consistent and appropnate in the
context of business pnonties sharehalder interests and employee pay

Summary of the Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy

The table below shows how our remuneration pelicy bnks to our business strategy and its terms of operauen Any contractual commitments entered into

or awards made before the potcy came into effect or a person became a director will be honoured

Purpose nnd ink to strategy  Operation Maximum opportunity Perfaormance knk
Base salary Attracts and retains Rewiowed annually, typically Any increase will be in ine with Indmdual and business
- Executive Directors taking——wath effect from 1 july——————those praviied toemployees——perfarmancens taken mto
f withy mpan
:;ﬁ;;goﬁe;::ge Salary 1s set relatively low versus nihe Company ::f:r‘l"::men reviewng
of role the peer group of companies Higher increases may be made
of similar market capitalisation as aresult of a change inrole
to the Company o responsibiity or other
The Committee looks at pay performance-based
circumstance
pracuces In selected
international modia compames This ss.en ktne with our policy
Deaswons on salary also take into for all emplayees
acceunt the performance and
expenence of the indnadual
changes i the size and scope
of the role and the level of satary
awards across the business
Pension Provides opporturity for Executrve Directors may recewve Employer contnbutions to the NIA
longer-term saving andfor  employer contributions into the  pension scheme or an eguivalent
reurement provision Sky Penston Scheme acash cash supplement are around 16%
supplement in leu of pension of base salary
ar a combination thereof

All payments are made as
a percentage of base salary
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Purpose and ink to strategy Operation Maximum opportunity Performance ink
Ctherbenefits  Prowides Executive Executive Directors are entitied Benefits provided to Executive NiA

Drrectors with arange of to arange of benefits mduding. Directors are broadly in ine with
core and fringe benefits as  but not hmited to prvatemedical  those effered to all employees
part of a competitive total  insurance bfe assurance iheaith  Where exceptions are made
remuneration package Income protectsaon pad holday, the Committee ensures that

sick pay Sky subscnption package  benefits offered are nline

company car allowance and use with market practice for similar

of a company car generally roles in similar crganisations

for business travel purposes

The Committee may make minor

changes to benefits or incude

other benefits that are deemed

appropniate from time to time

Relocation allowances and

benefits may be provicted

where needed to assist with

the relocaton or international

transfer of an Executive

Director and therr dependents

Annual bonus Drives and rewards the Performance measures and The maximum bonus Performance 15 assessed

delvery of stretchung
annual performance goals
aligned wath the
Company's cverall

businessstrategy TargeLsare sevannually

weightings are reviewed at the
start of each year to take
account of current business
plans Stretching perfermance

opportunity 15 200% of base
salary and s payable for the
achievement of stretch
objecuves

Performance against targets

15 momtored quarterly and
determined annually based

on assessment of performance
versus each target

Payment 1s made only once
annual results have been audited

tn exceptional crcurmstances the
Committee will use ITs judgement
to adjust bonus outcomes up or
down to ensure alignment of pay
with performance and with
sharehelder interests within the
policy maximum

The murumurn payment 15 zero

The Commutiee beheves the
concept of chreshold target and
MAaxumum Compromises ous drve
for growth sowe set one clear
and ambitious stretch target

for each performance measwre
every year The achievement

of stretch goals will resuitin

a payout at Maximum or
near-maximum The Committee
exercises its judgement on

the level of bonus payable for
outcormnes short of maximum

against a comtenation of
operatonal and finanoal
objectives wiuch are
determined at the start

podaBnens

of the year

The weghung of the measures
15 determined at the start

of each year but each measure
wall have a maumum weighung
of 40%

Further details are disclosed
in the notes 1o the policy table
and the Annual Remuneration
implementatan Report

Co-lrvestment
Plan (CIP)

Encourages personal
nvestment and
shareholder ahgnment
rewards long-term focus
and perfarmarce
achievement

Executive Cirectors may invest
up to half of ther earned annual
bonus in the Company s shares

These investment shares are
matched on a gross basis and
vest based on performance over
a three-year period Shares are
matched by up ta 1 5shares for
every 1 share invested i line
with performance

Once vested particpants may
exercise the awards during
afive-year penad

Parucipauon in the planis
valuntary

The maximum annual award
15 150% of base salary

Nomatching awards are capable
of vesting if performancg s
below threshold alfor1 match
may vest when the runimum

of the range 15 met and all the
shares vest (or 1 5 shares for
every share invested) when the
maxtmum of the range 1s met

The performance measure to
determine the vesting of the
shares s chosen each year and
15 typically a financeal measure
such as EP5 growth

Further details en the
performante cntena for
threshold and maximum
vesting are disdesed in
the Annual Remuneration
Implementauon Report
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Our Remuneration Policy

(contmnued)

Purpose and bnk {pstrategy Operation

Maxmum opportunity

Performance hnk

Long Term
Incentive Plan
(LTIP)

Rewards longer-term value  Awards are made annually

creation and ahgns under the terms of the scheme

Executrve Directors rutes based on number of

nterests with those of shares Thisde hinks the award

shareholders from increasing automatically
with salary adjustments

Vesung of awards i1s based on
stretchung performance over a
three-year pernod Awards are
maden Year | andin Year 2 with
vesting of both awards at the
end of Year 3 Thus means that
vesung of awards occurs every
other year with zero vesting
inbetween

Once vested paruapants
may exercise the awards during
a frve-year period

Ininstances of gross misconduct
alt unvested LTIP awards lapse
tmmediately

This year the company has
introduced a policy on malus
The Commitige may use its

The Committee reviews tha
number of shares to be granted
annually Acyprcal award for
the Group CEQ 15 600000
shares in any 12-mmonth period

The maximum award levelis
$00 000 shares in any 12-month
period Such awards wall only

be made in exceptional
circumstances

100% of the shares vest when
the performance criteria are
met i fult If the mimmum of
the range 1s met each year

for all measures 6% of

the shares vest

Perfarmance measures are
typically a mix of operationat
measures and relativg TSR

Operauonal measures used
n the past have included EPS
operating cash flow and
revenue growth

The weighting of the measures
may vary but 1s typically 70%
aperational measures and 30%
relative TSR

discrétion after Having taken
ndependent advice to withhold
orvary downwards any unvested
awards typically in the event of

the matenal restatement
of the Company s audited
results or

.

actions attrbutable to
partipants resulting in
matenal reputational
damage to the business

Tne Committee witl determine
how to apply this sanction on
acase by case basis

Around 650 employees are eligible for awards under the Long Term Incantive Plan A smaller number of employees (arcunkd 130) are also invited to
participate in the Co-Investment Pan All employees are ebgible to receve a comprehensive benefits package and the majonty are elgible to recerve
ether amonthly or quarterly cash incentive or an annyal bonus
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Shareholder ahgnment

The Committee considers sharehotders views as they are receved
dunng the year at the AGM through shareholder meeungs and through
correspondence

We will continue to engage with our major shareholders and welcome
feedback at any tume Should we propose to make any major changes
to the remuneration structure we will seek the views of our major
shareholders in advance

The context for setting exacutive remuneration policy

The principles underlying our executive remunerabion policy are ahgned

to those that underpin réward for our employees as a whole which aim be
attract rmotivate and retain people by offenng a market-competitive total
remuneration package The Committee takes into considerauon the pay
and conditions of all employees when determining the remuneration for
the Executrve Directors It does not consult with employees in this process

Our performance measures and how they operate

Executive pay remains firmly bed to the achievernent of stretching
performance goals hnked to business strategy The measures we use are
based on the speafic areas of our business that drve growth ang retumns

to shareholders We believe the concept of a threshold target and maxmum
farmula would compramuse cur drive for growth sowe set one clear and
ambitious suretch target for each performance measure every year

Annual bonus
The performance measures for the annual bonus are determined oy the

Governancy

Pay scenano analysis (updated for 2015)

The charts below provide an estumate of the awards that could be receved
by our Executrve Directors under the remuneration policy effective fram
the 2074 AGM showing

Minimum base salary as at 1.July 2015 plus pension and benefits
as per the table on page 57 (fed pay)

Maximum fixed pay plus maximum awards For annual bonus
(200% of base salary for the Group CEQ and 150% for tha Group CFO)

Co-lnvestment Plan (maxmum deferral of 50% of the annual bonus inte
investmant shares and full vesting of 1 5x matching shares) and Long
Term Ingentsve Plan (600 OO shares for the Group CEQ and 350000
shares for the Group CFO)

The Committee sets ane clear and ambitious streteh target for each
performance measure i stretch targets are met then 100% of maximum for
the bonus 15 paid and the shares awarded under the LTIP and CIP will vest in
full There 1s no additional payment for achievement over the stretch goals

Awards under the LTIP are made annually but vesting occurs only every two
years Theimpact of this vesuing cyele on actual reatised pay 1s shown in the
six year single figure remuneration table for the Group CEO on page 58

Jeremy Darrech Group CEC

——————committee based on the business-pronties for-theyear-They are typically

a mix of operational and financal performance measures The measures
are usually a combinatson of operating profit operating cash flow and a
measure of product growth They are all key iIndicators of the undertying
performance of the business Each year stretch objectives arg set in the
Iight of the Company s annuat business plan and the operating
environment

Co-Investment Plan and Long Term Incentive Plan

Performance measures for the LTIP and CIP are reviewed annually to enstire
ahgnment with the Company s strategy and shareholders interests The
QP measure 15 typically compound EPS growth in excess of RP over the
performance penod which ensures close alignment with our shareholders
interests Performange required for threshold and maxmum vesting are
described in the Annual Remuneration Implemantation Report on page 53

The LTIP measures are typically a mix of operational measures and relatwe
TSR performance with a 70/30 split The operational measures are usually
EPS growth operating cash flow and revenue growth As the conversion of
profit to cash flow s a key indicater of the underlying performance of the
busiiess itis used as a measure in both the annual bonus and the LTI

Our LTIP vesting cycle 15 atypical and has served the busmess and
shareholders well since it was introduced in 2005 Vesung oceurs onty every
other year and as a consequence the amount of remuneranon delvered to
Executive Directors will spike every other year This approach encourages
focus on the longer term The performance ranges for each measure are
reviewed annually in the ight of the Company s three-year ptan brakers
forecasts and historical perfarmance Performance at the top end of the
range s stretching

Andrew Gnffith, Group CFO

Scenanos are modelled assuming a share price of E10 59 which is the
average share price over the penad | Apri! to 30 June 2015 with no
allowance for share price appreciation
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DOirectors’ remuneration report -
Our Remuneration Policy

{continued)

Othershare schemes

Management Long Term incentive Plan {(MLTIP)

The Company also operates a MLTIP for selected employees exclucing the
Executive Directars and Senior executives who particepate in the LTIP
Awards under this scheme are made at the discretron of the Group CEQ
within the parameters agreed by the Committee The MLTIP mirrors the LTIP
n design i onder ta @nsure aignment between paruapants in ether plan

Executrve Share QOpuon Schemes (Executive Schemes)

The Campany has in plate Approved and Unapproved Executive Share
Option Schames No aptions have been granted since 2004 and no opbions
are outstanding at 30 June 2015 We do not envisage making any future
awards as part of these schemes

Sharesave Scheme

The Sharesave Scheme is open to UK and Insh employees and encourages
them to make a long-termnvestment in the Company s shares in a tax
efficient way The current fegislation provides for employees to save up to
£500 per month Currently the hmit for Sky employees 15 £250 per month
although the Company may decrde to adpust ths amount in future Options
are normally exercisable afier erither three or five years from the date of
grant The price at whch opuons are offered i1s not less than 80% of the
middle-market price on the deahing day mmediately preceding the date of
nvzation or the average of the three days preceding the date of invitation
15 the pohcy of the COMPany 10 INMLe eMpioYees Lo pErUOpate m the
scheme following the announcement of the year-end resuits Currently
appraxmately 10 000 emplayaes parucipate i these schemes Itis
anucpated that employees in Sky Deutschland and Sky Itaha will be mwnted
to participate in ssmilar unapproved schemes duning 2015

How the Remuneration Committee exercises discretion
The Committee retans discretion retating to annual bonus LTIP and
CIP inline wath ther nules and accord ing o the rermuneratien policy

These include but are not Imited to

Tirung of a grant of an award/payment

Suze of an awardfbonus payment up Lo the maximums indicated
in the policy table

Deterrmination of vesting and the apphcation of malus for the LTIP
Dealing wath a change of ¢control

Deterrrunation of treatment of leavers based on the rules of the plan
and the feaver policy

Annual review of performance measures and weighting and targets
of the plan from year to year

Any use of discretion withun the policy framework will be explained

n the Annual Remuneration implementation Report. There may

be exceptional circumstances under which the Commitiee may use
discretion or judgement in the interests of the business and shareholders
These exceptional corcumstances may be the subject of discussion

with the Company s major shareholders

External appointments

External appontments for Executive Directors ara considered by the
Company s Corporate Governance & Nomimations Committee to ensure
they would not cause a canflict of interest and are then approved by

Sharehotding guidelines and share ewnership

The Committee recognises the importance of aligrng Executive Directors
and shareholders interests through executives burkding up a sigruficant
shareholding i the Company The shareholding requirements are 3x base
salary for the Group CEQ and 2x base salary for the Group CFO Executive
Directors are required to buld up ther shareholding to the required levels
within five years There are no shareholding guidelines for independent,
Non-Executrve Direckors but they are able to participate in a monthly share
purchase plan See page 60 for further details on Directors interests

tHE LhairThan on behall of thg B8ard 11T W CompBany S polity that
remuneration earned from such appontments may be retamned by
th¢ indwiduai

Jeremy Barroch bacame a Non-Executive Director of Burberry Group pikc
in February 2014 and serves as 2 member of thair audit remuneration
and nominations committees For the period 1 July 2074 to 30 June 2005
Jeremy earned £BQ Q0O in this role

Andrew Griffith became a Non-Executive Director of Just Eat plc in March
2014 and serves as semor independent director charman of the audnt
comnuttee and as a member of the remuneration and nomemations
commuttees Forthe penod | July 2014 to 30 June 2015 Andrew earned
£60 000 n this role
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Remuneration of the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors
The table below summanses the key components of remuneration for our Chairman and Non-Executve Directors

Element and purpose

Operaticn

Fees

Reflect ndnadual responsibibties and membership of Board
Commuttees Attract Non-Executre Crrectors with the skills and
expenence required to oversee the implementation of strategy

Fees for the Chawrman and the Non-Executive Directors are
reviewed annually having regard to independent adwice and
SUrveys

The Corporate Governance and Nominations Commsttee
determines the fees pard to the Chatrman taking :nto account
the complexity of the role and the time and commitment required
The Board of Directors determines the fees for the Non-Executive
Directors

Additional fees for membership of or charmanshup of a
commuttee or for other responsibiities are payable in addition
1o the basic fees Fealevels for 2015 are disclosed in the table
on page 62

Non-Executrve Directors can elect to recenve a poruon of their
fees inthe Company s shares which are purchased on a monthly
basis Directors who are deemed to be affiliated with 215t Century
Fox are not permitted to take partn this facility Non-Executrve
Dwrectors nterests are disclased in the table an page 60

Benefits

Additional benefits may be prowded for business purposes
eg provision of a car to travel toffrom meekings

Non-Executive Directors are not ehgible to join Sky s pension plan

wodu a3uensg

Non-Executive Directors are eligible to recerve a Sky subscrption
package

Banus and
Share Plans

Non-Executive Directors are not eligrole to participate inany
bonus or share scheme offered by the Company

MNatwce and
termination
Provisions

Each Non-Executive Director s appointment 1s for an wutsal
three-year term In accordance with the UK Corperate Governance
Code all Directors submit themselves for annual reappointment

Nan-Executive Directors each have aletter of appointment.

these appointments may be terminated without nobice

Any faes payable would be settled at the date of termination

No continuing payment of fees are due iIf a Non-Executve Director
15 not re-elected by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting

The Remuneration Report was approved by the Board of Directors on 28 July 2015 and signed on its behalf by

Tracy Clarke

Charman of Remuneration Committee

Skyplc €9
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Govamance

Directors’ report and statutory disclosures

Introduction

In accordance with the Companies Act 2006 the Corparate governance
report on pages 40 to 50 and information contained in the Strategic report
forms part of this Directars report and are tncorparated by reference

The Dwectors present ther repert together vath the audited consolidated
and parent campany Financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015

Shares

Dividends

The Directars recommend a final dimdend for the year ended 30 June 2015
of 20 S0 pence per ordinary share which together wath the interim drdend
of 12 30 pence paid to shareholders on 21 Apnl 2015 wall make a total
dwidend for the year of 32 80 pence (2014 32 00 pence) Subject to
approval at the 2015 AGM the final dvidend will be paid on 20 November
2015 to shareholders appearing on the regrster at the close of business

on 23 October 2015

Share capital

The Campany s 1ssued erdinary share capatal at 30 June 2015 compnised
one class of erdinary shares All of theissued ordinary shares are fully
paid and rank equally in all respacts Further detadsof the Company s
share capital and share issues under the perniod under review are
disclosed i note 25 to the cansolidated finanaal statements

Interests tn voting nights
information provided to the Company pursuant, to the UK Listing

Voting nghts

The Cempany s Articles of Association prowde that subject to any nghts
of restrichions attached to any shares on a show of hands every member
present in person or by proxy shall have ane vote and on a poll every
member shall have one vote for every share of which he 1s a holder

On apell votes may be given either parsonally or by proxy or (in the case
of a corporate member) by a duly authonsed reprasentative

A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at a general meeLng may
appomnt one ar more proxes ta attend and vote instead of im If a member
appotnts more than ane proxy he must specify the number of shares

which each proxy 1s entitled to exercse nghts over Aproxy need not be a
shareholder of the Campany Holders of the Company s ordinary shares do
not have cumulative voting Nghts A voting agreement dated 21 September
2005 was entered intc between the Company BSkyB8 Holdco Inc

2ist Century Fox and 21st Century Fox UK Norminees Limited which became
uncandittonal on 4 Novernber 2005 and caps 215t Century Fox UK Nominees
Lirited s voung nghts at any general meeting at 3719% The provisions of
the vating agreement cease to apply on the first to occur of a number of
crcumstances which indude the date on which a general offer 1s made

by anindependent person (as defined in the voung agreement) for the
ordinary share capital of the Company

Restrictions on transfer of securities

There are no speafic restrctions on the transfer of securities (in the
Company which s governed by the Arucles oF Association and prevailing
legislation nor s the Company aware of any agreements between halders
of securiues Lthat may result tn restrictions on the transfer of securitias

Authonty = DiSciosure and Transparency Rules { DTRs Y is published
on a Regulatory information Service and on the Company s website
As at 30 June 2015 the Company had been natified under DTRS of
the following s:gruficant holdings af voting rights in its shares

Percent

Amount of class

Identity af persen or group gwned noufied
21st Century Fox UK Nominees Limited' 672783139° 3914
BlackRock, lnc ? 88682765 506

1 Oirect holding which s subpect TOrastrcLons on its vating nghts {please see Voting
rights below)

2 Indiract hokiing

3 Mumber of shares held as at 30 June 2015

There have been no changes to the above significant hotdings between
1July and 28 huly 2015

The Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP ) was established to satisfy
awards made to participants of the Company s employee share plans
The trustees of the ESOP have waved the nghit to dvidends payable

n respect of the shares held by it except o the extent of 0 0001% of
the divdend payable on each share At 30 June 2015 the £50P had an
nterest o 14 BAS 780 of the Company s ordinary shares The Trustees
who are ndependent of the Company have full discretion on how they
vote the ardinary shares held by the ESOP

or that may result in restrictions on voting rights

Vanatonof nghts

Subject Lo the Companies ALt 2006 nghts attached to any class of shares
may be varied with the consent inwnting of the holders of three-quarters
m norminal value of the issued shares of the class or with the sanction of

a special resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the
shareholders

Relationship Agreement

Changes to the Listing Rules came into effect in November 2014 which
requite & premuum listed company which has one or mera controling
shareholders to have in place an agreement which 15 intended toensure
that any controlling shareholder complies with the independence provisians
In the Listing Rules

215t Century Fox Inc ( 23CF ) and certain of 1ts wholly owned subsidiaries
directly orindirectly exercise or control 3914% of the voung nghts of the
Company and are therefore deemed to be controlling shareholders for
the purgoses of the Listing Rules

Accordingly the Company entered into a relationship agreement with
21CF an 13 Movember 2014 (the Relationstup Agreement ) contamning
the undertakings required by the Listing Rules

In accordanca with the Listing Rules the Board confirms that throughout
the penod under review that is fram 13 Mavernber 2014 Lo 30 Juna 2015

) the Company has comphied with the Independence provisions In
the Relaticnship Agreement

(n) sofarasthe Companysaware 21CF and its assocates have complhied
wath the independerce prowisions in the Relationship Agreement, and

(m) sofar asthe Company s aware 21CF has pracured compliance by its
relevank subsidianes and thew associates with the independence
peovisions in the Relationshap Agreement
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Directors’ powers in relation to the Company

1ssuing and buying back its own shares

Following the previous share buy-back programmes approved at the 2011
and 2012 AGMs at the Company s 2013 AGM, the Company was granted

the authonty to retum £500 mellion of capital to sharehalders wvia a further
share buy-back programme ( the 2013 Authonty ) The authonty was subject
to an agreement between the Company and 21st Century Fox UK Nominees
Limited (and others) dated 25 July 2013 whereby following any market
purchases of shares by the Company 21st Century Fox would sell to the
Comparny sufficient shares to mamtain its percentage shareholding at the
same level prior to those market purchases Following the announcement
of the acquisitions of Sky italra and the majonty holding of Sky Deutschland
the buy-back ceased on 25 July 2014 No purchases were made by the
Company under the 2013 Authonty during the year The 2013 authonty
expired at the 2014 AGM and was not renewed

At the 2014 AGM the Directors were given authonty to allot erdinary
shares up to a maximum nommnal amount of E286 502 B71 representing
approxsimately 33% of the Company s then 1ssued ordinary share capital
(the Alotment Autharity) The Dkrecters were additionally empowered
to allot ordinary shares for cash pursuant to the Allotment Authority
on a non-pre-emptive basis (a) m cennection with a rghts 1ssue or open
offer and (b) (otherwise than in connection walh a rights 1ssue or open
offer}up to a maximum namunal value of £42 975 430 representing 5%
af the Company s thenssued share capital

Articles of association
The Company s Articles of Association ray only be amended by special
TESolation at @ general meetng of sharehidlders

Alternate Directors

A Director may appoint any other Director ar any other persen to act as

hrs Alternate An Alternate Drector shalt be entitied to recetve notice of
and attend meetings of the Directors and commuttees of Directors of whuch
his appornter is a member and not able to attend The Alternate Director
shall be entitled to vote at such meetings and generally perform all the
functrons of his appointer as a Directorin hus absence

On the resignation of the appointer for any reason the Alternate Director
shall cease tobe an Alternate Diractor The appomter may also remove
his Alternate Director by notce to the Company Secretary signed by

the appomter revoking the appointment

An Alternate Director shall not be entitled to fees for hus service as an
Alternate Director

Chase Carey David DeVoe Arthur Siskind and James Murdoch have
appointed each of the others to act as therr Alternate Director

Employees

Equal cpportunities

TheCompany 15 an equal opporturities employer and beleves that
everyone should have full and farr consideratwon for all vacancies
promotions training and development Should an employee become
disabled dunng their employment at Sky where possible the Company

will actwely retrain and adjust the ervironment to allow them to maximise
the employee s potential

Dhversity.

Annual General Meeting

The venue and timing of the Campany s 2015 AGM is detailed in the notice
convening the AGMwhich will be available for download from the Company s
corporate website at sky com/corporate

Board of Directors

Board of Directors and therr interests

The Directors who served dunng the year were Mk Ferguson Jeremy
Darroch AndrewGnffith Chase Carey Tracy Clarke Dawid DeVoe Matthieu
Pigasse Martin Gilbert Adine Grate Andy Higginson Dave Lewns James
Murdoch Danny Rimer Arthur Siskind and Andy Sukawaty Andy Higginson
retired after not seeking reappointment at the Annual General Meeting on
21 November 2014 The biographical details of the Qirectors of the
Company can be found on pages 38 and 39

The Dwrectors’ interests in the ordinary shares and aptions of the Company
are disclosed within the Directors remuneration rgport on pages 53 ta 69

Appointment and retirement of Directors

The Directors may from time to bme appoint one or more Directars Any
such Director shall hold office anly until the next AGM and shall then be
eligrble for reappointment by the Company s shareholders At the
Company s 2015 AGM all current Executive and Non-Executive Directors will
retire and offer themsetves for reappointrment m compliance with the Code
wath the exception of David DeVioe Danny Rimer and Arthur Siskind who
have decided not Lo seek reappomiment this year and will step down from
the Board at the conclusson of the AGM tmmediately following the AGM itis
intended that John Nallen CFO of 21st Century Fox will be appointed by the
Board as a Non-Executive Director

The Company trasts all peopla equally farrly wath respect and without
prejudice Deasions about people s employment wath the Company are
based on abihty qualificattons and performance This princsple also applies
when the Cormpary makes decisions about development, promotron

pay and benefits

The Company delivers some of the most diverse content and services
available to a wide range of consumers and It valyes the same diversity
wathuin the business and promaotes a qulture of opparturuty for all
regardless of background The Compary does not tolerate unfarr treatment
or discrimination at work based on ethrucity gender age rehigion disabiity
or sexual onentaton

We are currently focusing on Women in Leadership as we beheve gender
halanced teams ¢reate better business outcomes in arder Lo meet the
needs and wants of our consumers more effectively

As at 30 June 2015 the table below demonstrates diversity throughout
the Group

Male Female
Board of Directors'? 12 86% 2 14%
Sentor managers'? 278 TE% B6  24%
All employees™ 17881 65% 9562 _ 35%

1 Asdefinedinthe Companies Act 2006

2 2014/15 data s independ ently assured by Delorcte LLP and can be viewed online at
sky corvinggerpeture

3 Based on full-ume equivalent emplovees from contmuing operatons and exdudng
peaple who work for our jont ventures
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Governarce

Directors’ report and statutory disclosures

(continued)

Employee involvement

We want all our people 1o feel involved and engaged in our business
Therefore we need to know what our people are thinking and how they
feel about working for Sky Thrs s our key indicator and we measure this
through our people survey which we runtwice a year The engagement
scores are for the UK anly as they are not currently cormparable to the
wader European organsation

Wae continue to experience high levels of participaticn in our people survey
averaging 78% across the two surveys this year We benchmark our results
externally using data from Aon Hewatt so that we can compare our
performance against other large UX compantes

This year we have mplemented 8 new engagement index which allows
us to further pinpoint the key elements of hife at Sky that really make a
difference to how our employaes feel about our Company Therefare the
score has been calculated differently Our overall employee engagament
scare i1s 59% which represents a high level of engagement and continues
to autperform the external benchmark of 48%

The employee engagement score s made up of results from questions
about whether our people support our strategy understand how their
work contnbutes to it are wiling to go the extra mile to help us succeed
and whether they would recommend Sky as a goed place to work

Responsible business

Qur commitment Lo act responsibly in alt we do s integral to the culture we
have at Sky (see the Employee section above) Our hegh ethical socal and
environmental standards set out what people can expect of us and the_

We are commutted to upholding the panoples of human nghts Trus

15 particularty impartant at Sky in managing the sotal ethwcal and
environmental impacts of our supply chain and i the way we Lreat our
people and our customers We do not hava a spectfic human nghts policy
as this commitmentis reflected through Sky's Ways of Working in the UK
and lreland our Code of Conduct and across a range of pohaes relevant
to these areas Thisincludes our pohaes relating to environment data
protectson and child safety

Our commitment to respect and uphold human nghts)s also conveyed
through our Responsible Sourcing Policy Qur approach to responsible
sourcing 55 inline with the Guding Principles on Business and Human
Rights (or Ruggie frameworik)

Ervironment and Greenhouse gas cmissions

To date our environment strategy as a UK business has been threefold

to reduce our carbon foetprnt 1o make our products more sustamnable
and to use our position as aleading media and communialions comparny
to raise awareness and drive positive change on environment al issues
amangst our business partners and Lo Nspire ACtion amongst our
customers through Sky Ranforest Rescue

Through Sky Rainforest Rescue our six-year partnership with WWF we have
reached qur target af helping to save one billion trees 10 the Amazon
rainforest. We have raised over £9 milhon exceeding our target of £8 milion
of whuch Sky has match-funded €4 milion On the ground in our preject
area in Acre in Branl 1500 farmers have signed up to our sustainable
farming scheme helping make the forest worth mare alive than dead
Andinthe UK and Ireland 73 millon peopte have a greater awareness

standards we expect from our business partners

Customers

S0 that our customers can all have the same great experience of Sky

were ensuring child safety and accessibility elements are included in

now product offenngs in line with government and regulator expectations
across our markets as well as consumer demand And because we
understand the risk to our customers and our business should there be
abreach of data we are expanding on the exisung approaches to data
protection and pavacy in each temtory te put in place a comprehensve
group-wade approach

Responsible sourcing and Human nghts

We are committed to building productive fair and ethicalrelabionsheps witn
our suppliers and distributors relatronships onwiuch so much of the
success of our business rehes We expect alt our business partaers to
deliver a hugh-quality servie and provide good vatue for money, as well as
to behave ethically arwd comply with retevant environmental and sooal laws
and regulabians including labour standards and practices These are set
aut in our Responsible Sourcing Policy which 1s available on our website

We are currently working to roll out this pohcy across the Group expanding
anwhat s already in placein Germany and Itaty in the UK all of the supplers
wa spend mare than E100000 with per year are assessed for mherent
social ermaranmental and ethucal nsk' and we wark with these that are
deermed high risk to ¢conduct audits and set aul action plans for addressing
1ssues that are flagged such as working hours or health and safety We are
now expanding this approach to risk assessment night across the Group

} Excluding one-off suppliars Independently assured by Defautte LLP far 201415

of deforestation as a result of our innovative communications on-screen
programming, and expenienual actrndies Over the next three years

we willbe working strategically with WWF to continue to raise awareness
of erronmentalssues

Inthe UK and treland we continue to ensure all of the products returned
Lo us are reused or recycled and wa are working closely wath our suppliers
to help them reduce thewr ernvronmentalimpacts

We have been reporting on our environmental performance smce 2008
well ahead of the mandatory disdosures of greenhouse gas emissions
under the Comparmes Act 2006 introduced wn 2013 We have reduted

our emissions relative Lo revenue (tCO.e/Em) across Sky s UK and Insh
terntories by 38% since 2008 meaning we are on track to meet our target
of halwng eur emissions relatwe to revenue (tCO,effm) by 2020 In addition
despite significant growth as a business we are mamtaming a reduction in
absolute carbon emissions against our 2008 baseline (see table opposite)

With the continued development of our new West London campus ou?
new bulldings and our leased buildings were both stil operational over
the 2014115 year It was therefore challenging to keep our energy use and
carbon emissions lower than in the year before Howaver as ournew
buildings are BREEAM Excellent and have a number of smart, sustainable
Inigiatves we expect Lo see energy demand reduce i the future We also
cantnue ta exceed the Industry benchmark for the energy-effitency

of our Data Centres which willhelp us manage energy demand as our
business needs mcrease We remain commitied to our long-term
nvestments for example in renewable energy and are exploning ways

to further complement our existing on-site solar wind biomass and
Combined Coalmg and Heating Plant energy ge neratron
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Sky UK & lreland Progress against target to halve our carbon emissions relativa to revenue
2008/09

Terget (Basekne) 200910 2000Mm 20112 200213 201304 201405
Gross absolute smissions (1C0eY ? . 105639 10BBI7 107294 94617 92568 94420 99724
Scopel 20222 23465 23093 209839 20429 20633 221361
Scope2 85517 85352 84196 73677 72539 73787 77363
Carbon mtensity (tCO/Em)? 207 191 163 139 128 Y] 128
Reductson in gross absolute C0,e emissions relative to revenue (96) -50 0 -8 -21 -33 -38 -40 -38

1 Histoncaldata has beenre basekned toreflact changein vericle fusl emission Factocs as well as toinclude loint Ventures (where ownership >51%) Intermnatonal of fces/burgaus
Trawung Centies and sigruficant utes associated with Sky Home Senices
2 indepencently assured by Detowtte LLP

We are now roliing out our UK environment strategy across Europe starting with reporting on our Group emissions (see table below) as well as working
on a set of Group environment targets for 201516 These will reflect our progress to reduce our carban intensity in the UK and Ireland and wall buiid on

the investments already made in Germany and Italy Lo mcrease energy-effiaency measures such as LED hghting and distrct heating, engage ermployees
and reduce product waste

Sky group-wide carbon emissions and carbon intensity 201415

UK & Germary
Sky Group reland & Austna’ Itaky'
Gross absclute carbon emssions (tCO,e) 1?4
Scopel 2145 22361 2n9 2665
Fuel combustion (gas diesel generators fuel o vehides)

Desel 668 607 | 60

FuelOn® 54 n/a 54 nfa

Gas 4502 4344 nla 158

Vehide Fuel 21226 16933 2064 2229
Operation of faalites refngarants)

Refrigerants 695 a77 ] 218
Scopa 2 101674 77363 3248 21063
Purchased district heatung net® - 184 “nfa n2 72
Purchased district heating gross 485 nfa 413 72
Purchased electnaty net? 38649 15572 2086 20991
Purchased electniaty gross ons? 77361 2835 20991
Purchased steam 2 2 nfa nla
Total (Scope 1and 2) net CO,a (tCO,e) 65980 37,935 4317 23728
Total (Scope 1and 2) gross COze (t€CO;¢) 128819 95724 5 367 23728
Jant Ventures® 138 138 ala na
Carbon intensity®
Revenue (Em) 1283 7820 1377 2086
Carbon intensity (LCO,e/Em revenue) 142 275 390 naz

1 Emussions are for the full financial year (1 juty 2074 - 30 June 2075) nchuding the perod pnor Lo acquisition

2 wemeasure our CO,¢ emessions sccording to the Greenhouse Gas Protocol the global standard for reporung greenhouse gas emissions Our Lotal gross OO & emissions nclude

ofl dwect Gregnhouse Gas emssions and our net enussions nclude the energy that we do ot procur from a renewabig energy source Dur net esms$ions are those remaning after
deducting the renewable energy procured from a renawable energy tanff with Scottish and Southem Energy Group Scottish and Southern retan on our behal! the Levy Exampion
Certficates and Renewable Energy Guarbnteée of Ongwn (REGOS) In additron, we off$gt our total gross emssions through the purchase of Voluntary Carbon 5.andard offsets

Our CO,@ pmiss ons cata s Independently assured by Deloitte LLP More informauon about our ervivonmantal Largets and perfarmance can be found at skycomfemwronment
Hrstoncal data 15 recaiculated each yaar inling with the latest gudelnes o DefraiDECC s Greenhouse Gas Conversion Factors for Company Reporuing and restated accordingly

Fuel Od onty used for heating by Sky in Germany

Drstngt heating (1 ¢ heat obtaned from a cogeneratson plant) can be used as in Alternative souice of heat to gas Sky in Germary and Italy purchase distnct heaung ' the UK

Sky does not purchase any distoct heating as «t generates s own Feat from an onsite bomass plant

Sky in lraty does not purchase electricity from a renewable etectnaity tanff and £0 there sno difference between the r gross and net emssons

Jont ventures are enterpnses or business where Sky i the maonity shareboider (»50%)
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Governance

Directors’ report and statutory disciosures

{continued)

Other disclosures

Contracts of Significance
The follovang agreements are contracts of sgnificance in accordance with
Listing Rute 9 8 4(10)

On 25 July 2014 the Company (and certan of its subsidianes) entered into
varigus agreements with 21st Century Fox (and certain of 1ts subsidiaries)
10 effect the acquisiion the entire 1ssued and Lo beissued corporate
capital of Sky Itaha S (the Sky Italia Acquisition ) far £2 06 bilkon (subject
to working capital agjustments) with the consideration bemng parteally
setted by the disposal of the Company s indiregt 21% stake in Nauonal
Geographic Channel Intemational to certam of 215t Century Fox s wholly
owned subsidianes { National Geographic Channe! Transfery at avalue

of US$650 million The sale and purchase agreement far the Sky ltalia
Acquisiton contained custemary warranties covenants and ndemnties
ineluding certain mdemmities relating 1o tax and other matters as well as
certam commitments not To retad certain services Lo consumers In certain
terntones until 1 January 2017 The sale and purchase agreement for the
National Geographic Channel Transfer contamed customary warranties
as 1o title and ownership and vanous commitments and undertakings

not to compete with the business of tha National Geographic Channel
international unul 1 January 2017

Alsoon 25 July 2014 as partof the acquisition of Sky Deutschiand the
Company (and certain of its subsidiarias) entered iNto vanous agreements
with 21st Century Fox (and certan of its subsidianes) to effect the
acquisitton of 215t Century Fox s entre shareholding (appraxmately 57 4%)
in Sky Deutschland AG a German stock corporation listed on the Frankfurt
Stock Exchange for £2 9 bihon (the-Sky Deutschland Acquisition yand
the related voluntary cash offer to all Sky Deutschland AG sharehalders
subject to certain conditions (the Sky Deutschland Offer ) The sale
and purchase agreement For the Sky Deutschland Acguisition contained
custamary warrantigs as to title and ownershep as well as certain
commitments not to offer certam sernces to consumers ncertam
terntones until 1 January 2017

The Company undertook a placing of ordinary shares to part-Fund the
consideration for the Sky ltaha Acquisition the Sky Deutschiand Acquisson
and the Sky Deutschland Offer and 215t Century Fox entered into 8n
agreement with the Company to subscribe for approwmately 611 mithion
ordinary shares so as ta mamtanits then-existing percentage shareholding
n the Company followng completion of the placing

Significant agreements

The following significant agreements which were in force at 30 June 2015
take effect alter or terminate on a change of contrd! of the Company
following a takeover bd

Premuer League

In 2072 Sky UK Limited (a Group subs:ichary) entered into an agreement
(the 2012 PL Licence”) wath The Football Association Premiers League
umited (the PL) pursuant to which the Group was awarded five of seven
available packages of live audio wsual rights for Premier League football
(the seven packages are together the Live Packages ) together consistng
of 116 live matches per season The PLwill not award Live Packages
contaiming mn the aggregate more than 6 ve matches per seasontoa
single icensee (e1ther on its own or as part of a consertium or through one
or more of its related parues) (the PLSingle Buyer Rule } Pursuant to the
2012 PL Licence the PL can suspend andfor terminate afl of the nights which
are inciuded In or exercisable as part of Live Packages containing i the
aggregate up to 38 kive matches per season in the event that a change of
control of the Company occurs at any time prior to the expiry of the 2012 PL
Licence which if it had occurred pnor to the award of the Live Packages

to the Group would have resulted in a breach of the PL Single Buyer Rule

In 2015 Sky UK Umited entered into & further agreement (the 2015 PL
Licence ) with the PL pursuant to which the Group was awarded five of the
seven avadable Live Packages together consisting of 126 Iive matches per
season The PLwill not award Live Packages contaiming m aggregate more
than 125 live matches per season to a single heensee (esther on (ks own or
as part of a consortium or through one or more related parues) (the 2015
Sngte Buyer Rule ) Pursuant to the 2015 PL Licence the PL can suspend
andfor terrmnate all of the rights which areincluded in or exercisable as
partof Live Packages contaimng in the aggregate up to 42 lve matches per
seasonin the event that a change of contro! of the Company occurs at any
ime pror to the expiry of the 2015 PL Licence which if s had ocourred prior
to the award af-the Live Packages to the Group-would have resulted in a
breach of the 2015 Single Buyer Rule

DFL Contract/Bundeshga Rights

In April 2012 Sky Deutschland Fernsehen Gmbt & Co KG entered into

an agreernent with the Deutsche Footbalt Liga in relation to the exclusme
right to broadcast all matches of the Bundeshga (1 Bundeshkga 306
Matches and 2 Bundeshga 306 matches) for the seasons 2013/14-201617
acress all distrbution means (the Bundeshiga Agreement )} The Bundeshiga
Agreement may be terminated on a change of control

Sere A

In 2014 Further to aninvitation to offer (the 150 ) Sky ltaha Srl entered
into an agreement (the Sene Albcence ywith Lega Nazionale Profassionist
Serie A (the Lega) pursuant 1o which Sky italia Srl was awarded cne of
four avalable packages of ive audio-visualnghts for the Itahan Serie
Afootball championshup for the seasons 2015/16-2017A18 (the four
packages are together the "L Packages ) In addition Sky Itaha Srl has
been granted a second package through a sublicence agreement entered
nto with Mediaset Premium These two packages consist of ail the 380

Iwve matches per season but do not grant nghts across all distribution
platforms Pursuant to the relevant provisian in the ISO Legawill not award
all of the Live Packages for alt platforms to a single icensee (either on its
own or through one or more of its related parties) (the Sernie A Singte Buyer
Rule } As a consequence the Lega could suspend andfor tenmunate ane

or mare of the nghts which are included in the package assigned to

Sky Itaha Sl in the event that a change of control occurs at any me

prior to the expry of the Sene A Licenca which 1f it had eccurred prior

to the award of the Live Packages wouldhave resulted in a breach of

the Sene A Single Buyer Rule
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2ist Century Fox voting agreement

On 21 September 2005 the Company BSky8 Holdeo Inc, 21st Century
Fox UK Nominees Liniited and 21st Century Fox entered into a voting
agreement pursuant towhich 215t Century Fox UK Nominees Limited s
voung nghts at any general meeting are capped at 3719% (the Voung
Agreement ) The provisions of the Votng Agreement cease to apply
inter aha on a change of control of the Company

Revolning Credit Faciity

The Group has a £1 000000 000 syndicated multscurrency revalving

cradit faclity (RCF ) with a matunty date of 30 November 2020 In the event
of a change of control of the Comparny as a result of which both $&P and
Moody 5 downgrade the Company's crodit rating below investment grade
withun 90 days the lenders can require any amounts outstanding under

the RCF to be repaid {other than «n the event that 21st Century Fox or any
subsidiary or holding company thereof (or a subsxdiary of such holding
company) acguires such controf)

GMTN Programme bond 1ssue

On 3 April 2007 the certain Group entities established a euro medium-
term note programme which provides the Groupwith a standardised
documentatien platfarm to allow for senior debt ssuance in tho
Eurabend markets On 7 February 2014 the programme was updated
and expanded to become a global medum-term note programme

(the GMTN Programme } The GMTN Programme was updated in

June 2015 The maximum potential ssuance under the GMTN Programeme
1S £S billkon On 14 May 2007 the Company issued bonds under the GMTN
Programme (then known as an EMTN programme) consising of E300 mullion
guaranteed notes paving 5 000% nterest and matunng en 14 May 2027

EMTN Programme bond issue

On 5 September 2014 certam Group entitres also estabished a £10 bithon
EMTN programme (the EMTN Programme } which prowides the Groupwith
a standardised documentation platform to allow for senior debtissuance
in the Eurobond markets In September 2014 the Company issued (1) €1500
rrllion 1 500% guaranteed notes due 2021 and (») €1000 mdlion 2 500%
guaranteed notes due 2026 In November 2014 the Company 1ssued (1)
€850 million 1 875% guaranteed notes due 2023 (1) E450 million 2 B75%
guaranteed notes due 2020 (w) £300 midhan 4 000% guaranteed notes
due 2029 and () £400 milhon 2 750% guaranteed notes due 2029 In Apnl
2015 the Company issued €600 mihon floaung rate guaranteed notes cue
2020 (together the Not¢s ) Pursuant to the conditions of the Notes the
Company will be required to make an offer to redeem or purchase the Notes
at the relevant pnnaipal ameunt plus interest up to the date of redemption
if there s a change of contsel of the Company or the announcement of a
patenual change of control (1) which «f the Notes carry on investment grade
credit rating results in a8 downgrade to a non-investment grade rabing or a
withdrawal of thatrating or (n) where (f the Notes carry a non-investment
grade rating results in a downgrade by one or more notches or a withdrawal
of that non-investment grade rauing or (is) where f the Notes do not
carry a creghit rating. the Company does not seek Such araung oris

unable to achieve such araung prowded that in each case the decision to
downgrade withdraw or not ko award a credit rating occurs withn a certan
penod of ume after the change of control and the relevant rating agency
ates that such deasion(s) resulted from the change of control or the
announcement of the potential change of control

{the 2007 Notes ) Pursuant to the finalterms attaching to the 2007

Notes the Company will be required to make an offer to redeem or
purchase the 2007 Notes at 1ts prificipal ameunt plus interest up to the
date of redemption or repurchase if there 1s a change of control of the
Comparyy () which if the 2007 Notes carry an investment grade credit
raung results in a downgrade to @ non-investment grade ratng or a
withdrawal of that rating or {nywhere if the 2007 Notes carry a non-
investment grade raung results in a downgrade by one or more notches or
awithdrawa) of that non-investment grade rating or {w) where (f tha 2007
Notes do not carry a credhit rating the Company does not seek such a ratsng
or s ynable to achieve such arating provided that in each case the deciston
to dewngrade withdraw or not to award a credit rating occurs within a
certain penod of ume after the change of contrel and the relevant rating
agency cites that such decrsion(s)resulted from the change of control
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Govermnance

Directors’ report and statutory disclosures

{conunued)

October 2005 February 2008 November 2008 Novemnber 2012 and
September 2014 bond issues

In October 2005 certam Group entitres entered Into an indenture in
respect of US$750 000000 5 625% semor unsecured notes due 2015
US$350 000 Q00 6 500% senmor unsecured notes due 2035 and

E400 000 Q00 5§ 750% senior unsecured notes due 2017 {the 2005
Indenture ) In February 2008 certain Group entities entered into an
indenture in respect of US$750 mithign 6 100% sentor unsecured notes due
2018 (the February 2008 indenture ) and in November 2008 certam Group
entites entered into an indenture «n respect of US3600 miflion 9 500%
senior unsecured notes due 2018 (as amended and supplemented from
time to time the November 2008 indenture ) tn November 2012 the
parties to the November 200B indenture entered into a supplemental
indenture in respoct of a further 1ssuance of US$800 milkon 3 125% senar
unsecured notes due November 2022 The November 2008 indenture was
further amended and supplemented in September 2014 with the parties
thereto entenng into a supplemental indenture in respect of a further
1ssuance of Us$750 000 000 2 625% senior unsecured notes due 2019

and US$1 250 000 000 3 750% sentor unsecured notes due 2024 Pursuant
to the February 2008 Indenture and the November 2008 indenture

the Company will be required to make an offer to redeem or purchase its
secunbies at a price equal Lo 101% of ther prancpal amount plus accrued
and unpaid Interest up to the date of redemption or repurchase If there

1s a change of control or the anncuncement of a potential change of control
of the Company (1} which if the securities carry an investment grade

credit raung results in a downgrade to a non-investment grade rating

or awithdrawal of that rating or (ywhich if the securibies carry a nan
investment grade rating results in a downgrade by one or more notches

German broadcasting icences

Sky Deutschland Fernsehen GmbH & Co KG 1S party to a number of
broadcasting icences issued by the State Media Authonties BLM
{Bayerische Landeszentrale fur Neue Medien) and MaHSH (Medienanstailt
Hamburg Schleswig-Holstein) for its near Sky Channels The Interstate
Treaty on Broadcasung (as amended on15Apnl 2015) sets out a number
of requirements for the hicensees of broadcasting licences and providers
of non-linear telemedia services Licensees have an ongaing obligation

to compty with these requrements Faillure by a licensee to do so may
constitute a breach of the hcence and if not rectified could result in fines
or in the revotation of the likence The State Media Authanties also have
& duty under the Broadcasting ACLs to be satsfied that any person
holding a broadcasting hcence is frt and proper to hold those licences

and may revoke those icences if it ceases 1o be so satisfied Any change
n the ownership structure including but not hmited to aninterest change
exceeding the threshold of 5% in the shareholder structure of the licensee
has to be noufied to and approved by the authonues

Itahan broadcasting icences

In accordance with the ltalan regulatory system, the transfer of control
of a company such as Sky Italia which 15 classified as an audiowisual media
service provder 1s subject to an authorisatton by the Itahan Regulatory
Authanty which s aimed at verifying the hanourabrity of the drwectors
and nabionality Public adminustrations public entities state-owned
companes banks and financialinstitutions are prohybited from being
gwen such authonsauon inrelauon 1o autiovisual media senace prowiders.

Disclosures required under Listing Rule 38 4R

orf @ withdrawal of that non-investiment grade rating or (m) where if the
securities do not carry a credit rating the Company does not seek such a
rating or 1s unable to achieve an nvestment grade rating provided that n
each case the decrsion to downgrade withdraw or not to award a credit
rating occurs within a certain period of me after the change of control
and the relevant rating agency cites that such decision(s) resulted from the
change of control or the announcement of a potential change of control

UK broagcasting hcences

Sky UK Limnted 15 party to a number of Ofcom broadcastung ticences for
the broadcast of the Sky Channels The Broadcasting Act 1990 (as amended
by the Broadeasung Act 1996 and the Communications Act) lays down

a number of restnctions on those parties permitied to hold Ofcom
broadcasting icences Among those restrcted from hotding Ofcom
broadcasting hcences of from controling 2 icensed company are (a)

locat authorities (b) pohtical bodies () religious bodies (@) any company
controlted by any of the pravious categornes orby thew officers or
associates (e) advertising agencies or any company controlled by such
an agency or in which it holds more than a 5% interest. Licensees have an
ongoing abligatian to comply wath these ownership restncuions Failure
by ahicensee to do so (either by the heensee becoming a disquatified
persan or any change affecting the nature characteristics or control of
the hicensee which would have precluded the oniginal grant of the lkence)
may constitute a breach of theheence and f not rectified could resultin
revocation of the icence

Ofcom also has a duty under the Broadcasting Acts to be satrsfied that
any person holding a broadcasung Ience 15 fit and proper to hold those
licences and may revake those iicences if it ceases 1o be so satrsfied

F&r tha purposes of (R F B4 The midrmation required 1o be disciosed
by Lssting Rufe 9 8 4R can belocated as set out below

Informavion regured Page
(0 Amount of wnterest capitalised and tax rebiof 58 (Note 4)
¢2) Publication of unaudited financial informaton nla
(43 Details of long-term incentive schemes £1-69
(5) waver of emoluments by adirector nfa
{6) Warver of future emoluments by a director nfa
(7) Non pre-emptive issues of equity for cash na
(8} tem {7} In relation to major subsidiary undertakimgs nia
{9) Parent participatian in a placing by & listed subsidiary nfa
(10) Contracts of significance 74
{11) Provision of services by a controling shareholder na
(12) Sharehsider wawvers of dendends 70
(13) Shareholder warvers of future dvidends Fol
(14) Agreements with controlling shareholders 70

Financial instruments

Details of the Groups use of financial instruments together with
mformation on our financal nsk management objectves and policies
and our exposure to finanaial nsks can be found in note 22 to the
consoldated financal statements
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Governance

Political contributions
Political contnbutiens of the Group duning 2015 amounted to mi (2044 nil)

Branches
The Group through vanous subsidianes has estabished branchesin
a number of different junscictions inwhich the business operates

Pastbalance sheet events
Deraits can be found in the Financial review on page 31

Going concem

The Group s business activities together with the factors hkely to affect s
future development performance and pasition are set outin the Strategic
report on pages 2 to 37 The Nnanaal position of the Group 115 cash flows
and liquidity posiuion are described in the Financial review on pages 28 Lo
31 Inaddition notes 1 to 34 to the consoldated financial statements
include details of the Group s treasury actmties {ong-term funding
arrangements financialinstruments and hedging actmties and exposure
to financial nsk

As set out above the Group has suffiaent financial resources which
tagether wath internally generated cash flows will continue to provide
sufficient sources of iquidity to fund its current operations including its
contractual and commercial commitments as set out in note 28 on pages
123 and 124 1ts approved capital expenditure and any proposed dmdends
and the Group 1s well placed to manage its business nsks successfully
despite the current economic outlook

After making engunes the Directors have formed the judgement at the

wodaaBnens

FIUPUIAROG

ume of approving the consofidated financial statements that thera s
a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to
cortnue (n operagonal eustence for the foreseeable future For this
reason, tha Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in
prepanng the consolidated financial statements

Disclosure of information to auditors

In accordance with the provisions of section 418 of the Comparues Act
2006 each of the persons who are Directors of the Company at the date
of approval of this report confirms that

+ sofar as the Director 1s Aware there 15 no relevant audit informatson
(as defined in the Compamies Act 2006) of which the Company's auditor
s unaware and

+ the Director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have takenas a
Director to make himselfiherself aware of any relevant audit information
(as defined) and ta establsh that the Company s auditor 1s aware of that
informatton

Auditors

Deloitte LLP the auditors of the Company have expressed their willingness
to continue In office A resolution to reappont them as the Company s
auditors and to authonse the Directors to determine therr remuneration
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM

By order of the Board —

Chris Taylor 5 | 4—7 '\/
Company Secretary

28 July 2015
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Financial statemants

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are responsitle for prepanng the Annual Report and the
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regutations

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for
each financial year Under that law the Directors are required ta prepare
the Group financial statements in accordance with international
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union
and Artidle 4 of tha IAS Regulation and have also chosen te prepare the
parent Company financial statements under IFRSs as adopted by the EU
Under Comparny law the Directars must net approve the accounts unless
they are sabisfied that they grve a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period
In preparmg these financial statements International Accounting
Standard 1 requires that Directors

+ properly select and apply accounung policies

+ present information ncluding accounting poticies in a manner that
provides relevant rel:able comparable and understandable
information

provide additional disclasures when comphance with the specific
requirements in IFRSs are nsufficent to enable users 1o understand
the impact of partscular transactions other avents and conditsons
on the entity s finanaial position and financial performance and

maka an assessment of the Company s abrlity Lo continue as a going
concerm

The Directors are responsible for keeping adeguate accounting recerds
that are sufficent to show and explain the Company s Lransactions and
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any tme the financial position of
the Company and enable them to ensure that the financoal statements
comply with the Companies Act 2005 They are also responsible for

——__safeguarding the assets of the Company.and hencefor_taking reasqoable

steps for the prevention and detestion of fraud and otherirregularitias

The Directors are responsible for the mamntenance and integnty of the
carporate and financial information ncluded on the Company s website
Legislation in the United Kingdom goverrung the preparation and
dissermination of financial statements may differ from tegistation in
other junsdictions

Directors responsibiity statement
The Directors confitm that to the best of their knowledge

1 Thefinancial statements prepared m accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union give a true and far view of the assets
nabtities financial position and profit or loss of the Company and the
undertakings included in the consohdation taken as a whale

¥

The strategic report includes afair review of the development and
performance of the business and the position of the Company and the
undertakings included in the consoldation Laken as a whale together
with a description of the pnncipal nsks and uncertamtes that they
face and

w

The Annual Report and financial statements taken as a whole are fair
balanceg and understandable and pravide the information necessary
fdd shareholders Lo assess the Company s perform,

Group Chief Financal Officer
28 July 2015

28huty 2015
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Financial statements

Independent Auditor’s report

Independent auditor’s report to the members
of Sky plc

Opinion on the financial statements of Sky ple
I cur opinion the consolidated and Parent Company financial
statements of Sky pic

* give a true and fair view of the state of the Group s and Parent
Companys affarrs as at 30 June 2015 and of their profit for the
year thenended

have been properly prepared in accardance with international Finanoal
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and

have been prepared m accordance with the requirements of the
Cermpanies Act 2006 and Arude 4 of the IAS Regulation as regards
the consolidated financal statements

The consolidated finanaal statements compnise the consolidated and
company Income statements the consoldated and cornpany statements
Bf comprehensive income the consolidated and company balance *
sheets the consolidated and company cash flow statements the
consolidated and company statements of changes in equity and the
related notes ¥ to 34 The hnancial reporung framewaork that has been
applied in ther preparation is apphcable law and IFRSs as adopted

by the European Urvon

Our assessment of nisks significant to our audit

Separate opinton (n relation to IFRSs asissued by the IASB

As explained in note | to the consohdated financial statements in
addition to comphying with 1ts legal cbhgation ta apply IFRSs as adopted
by the European Union the Group has also applied IFRSs as issued by
the intemational Accountng Standards Board (1ASE)

in our opimion the consolhidated financial statements comply with IFRSs
asissued by the IASB
Going Concern

As required by the Listuing Rules we have reviewed the Directors
statement on page 77 that the Group s a going concern We confirm that

+ we have concluded the Directors use of the going concern basis
of accounuing in the preparation of the financial statements 1s
appropnate and

we have not identified matenal uncertamnties related to events or
canditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group s ability
to contmue as a going concern

Howewver bacause not all future events or conditions can be predicted
ths statement 15 not a guarantee as to the Group s ability to continue
as a going concern

The nsks of matenal misstatement descrbed below are those that had the greatest effect on the audit strategy the allocation of resourdes n the audit
and directing the efforts of the engagement team Dunng the year the Company acguired Sky Deutschland and Sky ltaha introducing new audit nsks and
additional complexity to the audit However since the operating model and business operations of the acquired entities are similar to those of the UK

business theaudit usks are simitar to those previously deatified and reperted onin this yearof acquisition, we also focused onthe accounting forthe_

business combenations and the alignment of accountng polictes across the Group

Risk

How the scope of pur audit responded to the nisk

Revenue recognition

Sky retasls subscription packages to custemers which include multeple
elements and may mclude discounts and offers for example TV
subscripon hardware and telephony services scld for a single package
price The allocation of retall subscnption revenue to each element of a
bundled transactan 1s complex and requires judgement, as described in
the Group s cntical accounting pohcres on page 93 There is a nsk that
mappropriate allocations could iead to non-comphance with accounting
standards andncorrect acceleration or deferral of revenue princepally
for new customers who may enter a centract of one to two years
duration which may indude hardware or installaten at discounted prices
up front

We evaluated the group's revenue recogrition policy and management s
current year assessment in respect of accountmg for bundled
transactions against relevant accounting standards and gu dance

We tested the pohicy s implementation in each terntory by

- perfornung tests ko confirm our understanding of the process by
which revenue 1s calculated by the refevant bitling systems

.

performing an assessment of the different product bundles and offers
made available Lo customers inthe year and confirmung the far value
of different elements of these packages to appropnate evidence of
fair value

assessing whether revenue should be accelerated or deferred based
on the relative fair value of elements delivered at different paints
dunng the contract when compared to the revenue calculated by the
relevant bilhng system and

where diff¢rances arose between the revenue calcutated by the bithng
system and the revenue recogrition profle calculated in accordance
with the Group s revenue recogniton policy we audited the valuation
accuracy and completeness of those adjustments recogrised to align
revenue recognised with the Group s accountuing policy
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Financial statements

Independent Auditor’s report

{continued)

Risk

How the scope of our audit responded to the risk

Entertainment programming amortsation

Deterrmiung the timung and anount of the recognition of general
entertamment programming expense requires judgement as set
out In the Group s cnbical accounting policies on page 93

There ts a risk that the policy selected and appled by management
to expense general entertainment programming does not recagnise
the cost of inventory in line with its expected value to the group
Entertainment programming expense nvolves more judgement
than other programming types due to the number of qualitateve
factors involved in the sefection and applicaton of an appropnate
expense profile

The level of expenditure on general entertainment programeang varies
m each territory and our procedures focused on entertamment spend
in the UK and [taty whach are sigrificant to the group

We exarmined the method for expensing general entertaimment
programming Inventory taking into account the differing genres
of programmes any signficant changes 1o viewing profiles and
sndustry benchmarks

Cur procedures included

.

benchmarking management s policy agamst industry practice

considering the consistency of amortisation profiles applied year
on year

testing the design and implementation of controls over the recogmtion
and expensing of general entertanment programming and

companng the expense profite determined by management against
that which would be indicated by viewing trends (used as a proxy
for value from broadcast)

Capital expenditure

Inthe UK spending an capital projects s material and the assessment
and turming of whether assets meet the capitahsation critena set out
n1AS 16 Property Plant and Equipment and 1AS 38 intangible Assets
requires judgement as set out in the Group s critical accounting polices
on page 93 th addition determining whether there s any indication

of imparment of the carrying value of assets being developed also
requires jJudgement

As a resu't there s a nisk that expenditure on intangible and tangible
non=current assets in the UIC businass s inappropriately capitahsed
against relevant accounting guidance and that assets not yet inuse
are nol recaverable at therr carryng value

Our procedures performed in the UK induded

.

Tests of the design implementation and operating effecuveness
of controls i respect of the capitalisation of assets and the
identficauon of potental Indicators of impairment

Sample tests of capital expenditure projects induding an examination
of management s assessment as to whether the project spend

met the recogrution cntena set forth in 1AS 16 Property Plant and
Equrpment and |AS 38 Intapgile Assets and reviewing project

status reports for the Group s most ssgruficant projects to check

for ndicators of impairment and

For a sample of capital projects we developed an understanding

of the business case and challenged key assumplions and estimates
venfytng capital project authorisauon tracing project costs 1o
appropriate evidence
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Risk

How the scope of our sudit responded to the nsk

Acquisition accounung and ahgnment of accounung policies

As descnbed in note 31 the Group acquired 100% of the share captal of
Skey Itaha and B9 05% of Sky Deutschland an 12 November 2014 for total
consideraton of £6 866 million Accounting for business comtinattons
1$ complex and requwes tha recognition of both consideration pawd and
acqurred assets and labikties 3t the acquisttion date at farr values
which can involve sigmificant judgement and estimates

In addibon accounting poliaes of the acquired entities must be abgned
ta the group s accounung policies winich may invobve sigruficant.
JJdgement and esbimatas

In particular the risks relaung to these business combinations are that

1 The consideration used in the purchase prce atlocation may not
be recorded at farr value grven that the consideration paid to Fox
{arelated party) incuded the value of Sky plc s stake in the National
Geographic Business

2 That the complexity and selection of iInput assumptions used in the
valuation of intangible assets recogrused on acquisiLion may result
n the recogrution of ntangible assets not representative of fairvalue

3 That lustonical tax kosses in Sky Deutschland may not be recoverabla
and

¢ That the accounung policy alrgnment of Sky Deutschland and Sky taba
o Sky plc s accounting policies 1s not complete

Controls refevant to the acqursition

We tested the design and implementation of oversight controls over
key outputs of the groups acguisiban accounting. induding controls
over the consideration of accounting treatments for new or complex
areds the oversight exercsed by group finance over the harmorusation
of accounting palicies eng Lhe newly mplemented controls over the -
group consohdation

1 Faw valuation of consideration
Qur procedures included the following

« Tesis of the cash value of consideration Lo relevant transaction
agreements and bank documentation and

+ Auditing the valuation of Sky plcs stake in National Geographic
by assessing the expert valuauons obtained by management and
using our own valuation spetialists to challenge the key assumptions

2 Valuation of acquired intangible assets
Our procedures included the following

+ An assessment of the pracess that management had undertakento
determne the fair value of the acquired intangible assets ncluding
understanding the scope of work, qualifications andindependence
of the valuation speaalists engaged by Sky pic and

Auditing the valuations prepared by managernent and therr experts
inctuding

- Assessing the key valuation assumptions using our own valuatoen
specialsis

- Vahdaung and challenging key inputs and data used i the

valuation madel such as customer numbers-ARPU and churn
assumptions by reference tohistorie data

3 Sky Deutschland historical tax losses
Our procedures included utiising our tax speciahsts in the UK
and Germary to audit the estimate of tax losses available in Sky
Deutschland and assessing the udgementinvolved in recogrising
the related deferred tax asset

4 Accounting policy alignment
Our procedures included

- Consideration of the matenal accounting pokcies of the acquired
entites the completeness of management s own analysis of the
accountng policy differences

Planmng and directing the component auditors of Sky Deutschland
and Sky Itala to perform an audit of the balance sheet at the date
of acquisiticn and

Auditing the valuauon of adjustments recorded where alignment.
was required

The description of the nsks above should be read in conjunction with the sighficant 1Issues considered by the Audit Committee discussed on page 45
We reported to the Audit Commuttes that our audit wark on these nisks was concluded satisfactonly

Our audit pracedures relating to these matters were designed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole and not to exprass an
opinion on indnidual audit risks indstdual items or disclosures in the financal statements CQur opirvon on the financial statements s not modified with
respect to any of the key nsks descnbed above andwe do not express an opirwon on these indidual matters
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Financial suatements

Independent Auditor’s report
(continued)

Our apphcation of matenality

We define matenality as the magratude of misstatement in the financial
statements that makes it probable that the economi deasions of a
reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced

We use materiality in both planning the scope of our audit work andan
evaluatng the results of our work The Groups acGuisitions in the year
have not sigruficantly changed the Group's adjusted profit before tax
and we determined audit matenality for the Group to be E50malkon
2014 ES0 milbon)

We used profit before tax for our assessment of matenahty which s
stayutory profit before tax after remowing the impact of one-off items
such as profit on disposal of associates and avalable-for-sale
nvestment, and transaction fees incurred in relation to the acqursitions
tn the year Materality represents 6% of this measure The Group s
adjusted profit before tax measure further excludes the impact of
amortsaton of acqured intangible assets mntegration costs
restructunng costs derrvatives not qualfying for hedge accounting and
the tax effect of these adjusting items (see note 10 for management s
defimtion and reconahatton to adjusted profit, for further detais)

Audit matenabty of £50 mdlion represents approximately 5% (2014 6%)
of the Group s adusted profit 2% (2014 5%) of equity and 3% (2014 5%)
of statutory profit before taxation

wWe agreed with the Audit Committen that we would report to the
Commttee all audit dif ferences in excess of £2 5 rmdlion (2014

£25 mullion) as well as differences below that threshald thatin

our view warranted réporting on qualkitative grounds We also report
to the Audit Commuttee any significant disclosure matters that we
identify when assessing the overall presentation of the financial
statements We canfirmed to the Audit Committee that we had

no significant disclosure matters to report

Matters enwhich we are required to report by exception
Adequacy of explanations recerved and accounting records
Under the Companses Act 2006 we are required 1o report to you If
1N OUr OpPINIBN

= we have natrecered ali the information and explanations we require
for ouraudit or

adegquate accounting recards have not been kept by the Parent
Company or returns adequate for our audit have not been recerved
from branches not wisited by us or

the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement
with the accounting recards and retumns

We have nothing to report n respect of these matters

Directors remuneration

Under the Compames Act 2006 we are also required to report if n our
epmuon certain disclosures of Dhrectors remuneratwon have not been
made or the part of the Directors Remunerabion Report 1o be audited
ts not in agreement with the accountuing records and returns We have
naothung to report ansing from these matters

Corporate Governance Statement

Under the Listing Rules we are atsorequired to review the part of the
Corporate Governance Statement relating to the Company s comphance
with 10 provisions of the UX Corporate Governance Code We have
nothing to report ansing from our review

Qur duty to read other information in the Annual Report

Under the International Standards on Auditing (UK and reland) we are
required to report to you if 1n our opinton wnformation m the Annual
Reportis

=_materially incons:stept wath the nformation in the audited fingnoal

An overview of the scope of our audit

Cur group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group
and 1ts environment mncluding group-wide cantrols and assessing the
risk of matenal misstatement at the group level Ouraudit scope focused
on the Group s UX and Ireland German and Austnan and itatian
aperations which were subject to a full scope audit for the year ended
30 June 2015 Qur audit scope encompasses all prinapal business units
of the Group and substantially all of the Group s assets revenue and
adusted profit before tax The Group audic team directed supervised
and reviewed the work of the companent auditors far Germany and
Austra and for Italy which involved 1ssuing detailed instructions holding
regular discussions with component audic teams making several wisits to
each location duning the period performng detailed file reviews and
attending focal audit meetings with management Audit work completed
by component auditors was executed at levels of matenality applicable
to each entity which were lower than group matenality

Opinions on other matters prescnbed by the Campanes Act 2006
in our opireon

» thewmnformation given inthe Strategic Report and the Directors Report
for the finanaal year for which the financial statements are prepared s
consistent with the financal statements and

the part of the Directors Remuneration Report to be audited has baen
properly prepared i accordance with the Companies Act 2006

statements or

apparently matenally incorrect based on or matenally inconsistent
with our knowledge of the Group acquired in the course of performing
our audt, or

« otherwnse misleading

In particular we are required to consider whetherwe have dentified any
nconsistencies betweenour knowtedge acguired dunng the audit and
the Directors statement that they consider the Annual Reportis far
batan¢ed and understandable and whether the Annual Report
appropriately discloses those matters that we communicated to the
Audit Committee which we cons:ider shauld have been disdosec We
cenfirm that we have notdenufied any such inconsistences or
misleading statements
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Respective responsibiities of Directors and Audstor

Responsitulity of Directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors responsibihties set
out on page 78 the Directors are responsible for the adequacy of the
sccountng records the preparation of the financial statements from
those records and for being sausfied that the finanaial statements give
a trug and fawr view

Auditor’s responsibility

Qur responsibikity 1 to audit and express an opinvon on the finangial
statements in accordance with applicabla law and Internationa! Standards
on Auditing (UK and treland) Those standards require us to comply with
the Auditing Practices Board s Ethical Standards for Auditors We atso
comply vath Intemational Standard on Quality Controt 1 (UK and treland).
Qur audhit methodolegy and tools am to ensure that our qualty control
procedures are effective understood and appled Our quality controls
and systems inchude our dedicated professional standards review team
and mdependent partnar reviews

Thes report i made solely to the Company s members as a bady i~
accordance wath Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Comparues Act 2006 Our audit
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's
members those matters we are requined to state to them in an auditor s
report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by law we
do nat accept or assume responsibtity to anyone other than the Company
and the Company s members as a body forour audit work for this report
o for the opinions we have formed

Financial stat ements

ot x8aens

Scope of the sudt of the financia) statements

An audit involves abtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that
thae financial statements are free from matenal misstatement whether
caused by fraud or error This ncludes an assessment of whether the
accounting policies are approprate to the Group s arasmstances and
have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the
Dwectors and the overall presentaucn of the finanaal statements
Inaddition we read all the financial and non-financal information in

the Annual Report to dentify matenal iInconsistencies with the audited
financial statements and to rdenufy any informartion that s apparently
materially ncorrect based on or matenally nconsistent with the
knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit

Ifwe become awargof any appare
inconsistencies we gonsider thi

oueU MO0

lications for our report

William Touche

!

b"@——

(Semor Statutory ASdRDT) nd on behalf of

Delostte LLP Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
Lendon

United Kingdom

28 July 2015
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Finsnaal statements

Consolidated financial statements

Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 30 June 2015

2018 2014
Notes £m £m
Conunuing Operations
Revenue 2 94989 7450
Qperating expense 2 [¢1nrs! {6346)
Operating profit ~Te73 1104
Share of results of joint ventures and associates 15 28 35
Investment ncome 4 8 26
Finance casts a (283 Q40
Prafit on dispasal of avallable-for-sale-investments S 492 -
Profit on disposal of assogate 6 299 -
Profit before tax 7 1516 1025
Taxaton E) (184) (205)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 1332 820
Discontinued Operations
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 3 620 45
Proft for the year 1952 865
Profit (loss) Fer the year attributable to
Equity shareholders of the parent company 1957 865
Non-controlling mterests (5) -
1952 865
Earnings per share from profit for tha year (in perce)
Basic
Continuing operations 10 7p 525p
Discontruad operations 10 367p 29p
Total 10 N5 8p 554p
Diluted
Continuing operations T T 10 7872p 5205
Drsconunued operations 10 362p 290
Total 10 1144p 54 9p
The accompanying notes are anintegral part of this consolidated income statement
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June 2015
2018 2014
Em £m
Prefit for tha year 1952 B6S
Other comprehensive income
Amounts recagrised directly in equity that may subsequently be recycled to the income statement
Gain on revalyation of available-for-sale iInvestrments 6 104
Gain (foss) on cash flow hedges 276 {176)
Tar on cash Row hedges {57} 39
Exchange differences on translation of foraign eperations net of net invvestment hedges (n13) -
42 (33)
Amounts reclassified and reported in the income statement .
(Loss) gan on cash flow hedges o . - {174) 137
Tax on cash flow hedges 37 (an
Transfer Lo income statement on dispesal of avaltable-for-sale investment (see note 5) (492} vo-
Transfer towcome statement on disposal of associate (3B) -
(667) 105
Other comprehensive (loss) incoma for the year {(net of tax) {625) 73
Totai comprehensive income for the year 1327 a38
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to
Equity sharehotders of the parent company 1345 938
Non-controlling interests (18) -
1327 938
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Consoldated balance sheet

Finanoalstatements

as at 30 June 2015
M 2015 2014
Notes fm Em
Non-current asseLs
Googwll 12 4160 1018
Intangble assets 3 __4084.._ B0
Property plant and equipment 14 1646 1088
Investments 1n Jaint ventures and assocates 15 133 173
Availlable-for-sale irwestments 16 n 533
Deferred tax assets 7 175 3
Programme distnibution nghts 18 n 0
Trade anct other recewables 19 86 7
Dervative financial assets 23 453 195
10799 3876
Current assets
Iventones 18 847 546
Trade and other recervables 19 1096 635
Current tax assets g -
Short-term deposits 23 1100 295
Cash and ¢cash equivalenits 23 1378 1082
Derwative financial assets 23 130 15
4559 2573
Total assets 15 358 6 449
Current llabtities
Barrowangs 22 494 1
Trade and other payables 20 3430 2286
Current tax hatwhties 154 128
Provisions 2 103 48
Dernative financial habihves 3 23 46
4204 2519
Non-current liabilities .
Barrowings 22 7418 2658
Trade and other payables 20 94 56
Prowvisions 21 77 L]
Derwvative financial habilitkes 23 60 129
Deferred tax liabilities 17 281 1
7930 2858
Total habiities 12134 5377
Share capital 25 860 781
Share premium 26 2704 1437
Reserves 26 (399) (1146)
Total agqusty attobutable to equity sharehatdars of the parent comparny 26 3165 1072
Total equity attributable to non-controling interests 59 -
Toral habifities and equity 15 358 6449

Andrew Griffith
Group Chef Financial Officer
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Fnanaal statements

Consolidated financial statements

{conunued)

Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2014

MNotes Em £m
Conunuing operauons
Cash fMows from operaung activitics
Cash generated from operations 27 2080 1696
Interest receved and dvidends from available-for-sale investments 9 27
Taxation paid {219) (229)
Met cash from operating activities ) 1870 1494
Cash flows from imvesting actnaties
Deadends recerved from jomnt ventures and associates 25 32
Net funding to joint ventures and assocates 4L} (6)
Praceeds on disposal of avaitable-for-sale investment 546 -
Purchase of property plant and equipment (385) (238)
Purchase of intangible assets (357) (302)
Purchase of subsidiaries (net of cash and cash equivalents purchased) (6 340) (20)
Purchase of available-for-sale investments (8B) @
(Increase) decrease in short-tesm deposits (805) 300
Net cash used in investing actntias {7414) (241)
Cash Rews from financing actmties
Net proceeds from borrowings 5364 -
Repayment of borrowings 72y -
Repayment of oblhgations under finance leases (10) (4)
Proceeds from dispasal of shares in Employee Share Ownership Plan ( ESOP) 10 1|
Purchase of own shares for ESOP ({5} (164)
Purchase of own shares for cancellation - (266}
Issue of own shares 1346 -
Interest paid (246) (137)
Purchase of non-contraling nterests {328) -
Dmdends pard to shareholders of the parent (549) (485)
Net cash from (used 1n) financng actvities 5303 {1045)
Effect of foreign exchange rate mavemeants %7 -
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations {308) 208
Net increase in cash and cash equevalents from discontinued operations €04 59
Cash and cash equivalents at the begsnrung of the year 1082 815
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 1378 1082

The accompanying notes ara an integral part, of this consolidated cash flow statement.
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Financal statements

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2015

Attrnibutable Lo equity shareholders of the parent company

Total
Avatabla- share- Non-
Share Share ESOP Hedging  for-sale Other Retaned  hoiders  controfing Total
- _ _capital  premuum  fESEfvE  reserve reserve  reserves @armngs equity  Interests equity
£m £m £m Em £m Em £m Em Em Em
At1July 2013 797 1,437 (147) n s 439 (1876) 1,012 - 1012
Profit for the year - - - - - - 865 865 - =15
Revaluation of available-for-sale investments - - - - 104 - - 104 - 104
Recognition and transfer of cash flow hedges - - - (39) - - - (39) - (39)
Tax on jtems taken directly to equity - - - B - - - B - B ﬁ
Total comprehensive Income for the year - = - (3n 104 - BES 938 - 938
Share-based payment - - - - - (95) S3) - {93}
Tax on itermns taken directly to equity - - - - - - 9 9 - 9
Share buy-back programme
- Purchase of own shares for cancellation (i6) - - - - 16 (250) (250) - {250)
- Financiatiatility for dose period purchases - - - - - - {59) 59 - {59)
Dividends - - - - - - (485) (485) - (485)
At 30 June2014 781 1437 (145) €20) 455 455 {1891) 1,072 - 1,072
Profit for the year - - - - - - 1957 1957 (&) 1952
Exchange differences on translation of
fareign operations net of netinvestment
hedges - - - - - £200) - {200) (13) 213
Revaluation of avaiiable-for-sale investments - - - - 36 - - 36 - 36
Transfer to ncome statement on disposal of
associate - - - - - (38 - (38) - (38}
Transfer to mcome statement on disposal of Y
available-for-sale mvestment (see note 5) - - - - (492) - - (492) - (492) %
Transfer ondisposalof subsiiarnas - - = = = 97y 57 = - = &
Recogrution and transfer of cash fiow hedges - - - 02 - - - 102 - 102 b
Tax on items taken directly to equity - - - 20) - - - (20) - 20) T
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 82 {456) (335) 2054 1,345 (18) 1327 g
Share-based payment - - 20 - - - 69 B9 - B3 &
Issue of own equity shares 79 1267 - - - - - 1346 - 1346
Non controlling nterests arsing on purchase
of subsidianes - - - - - - - - 19 191
Tax onitems Laken drecty to equity - - - - - - 7 7 - 1?7
Share buy-back programme
- Reversalof financial habidity for close penod
purchases - - - - - - 59 59 - 2]
Dwidends - - - - . - (549) (549) - (549)
Purchase of non-controlling mterests - - - - - - (214) {214) ma) (328)
At 30 June 2015 860 2704 [125) 62 m 120 {455) 3,165 59 3224

For a descaption of the nature and purpose of each equity reserve see note 26

The accompanying notes are an Integral part of this consolidated statement of changes mequity
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Finangal statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Accounting policies

Sky plc (the Company formerly British Sky Broadcasting Group pic)
1S a putblic imited company incorperated in the Uinited Kingdom (UK )
and registered in England and Wales The consolidated financial
statementsinclude the Company and its subsidranes (together the
Group ) and its interests in associates and jointly controlled entities

a) Statement of compliance

The consohdated finanrcial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS )
as adopted by the European Union ( EU ) the Comparias Act 2006 and
Article 4 of the International Accounting Standard (1AS) Regulations
In additson the Group atso complied with 1IFRS asissued by the
Intematicnal Accounting Standards Board ( IASE )

b) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financral statements have been prepared on a going
concern bases (as set out in the Directors Report) and on an historical
cost basis except for the remeasurement to fair value of certam financal
assets and habiities as described in the accounting policies belaw

The Group has adopted the new accounting pronouncements which
became effecove this yaar none of which had any significant impact
onthe Group § results or financial position

The Group maintains a 52 or 53 week fiscal year ending on the Sunday
aearest to 30 Junen each year In fiscal year 2015 this datewas 28 June
2015 this being a 52 week year (fiscal year 2014 29 June 2014 52 week
year) For convenience purposes the Group continues to date s
consolidated finanaal statements as at 30 June and to refer to the
accounting period &s a year for reporting purpases The Group has
classified assets and Llabibties as current when they are expected to be

reabsed in o¢ intended for sale or consumptionn the Normal OPerating————xrngson disposal

cycle of the Group

<) Basis of consolidation

1| Subsidianes

Subisidianes are entities cantrolled by the Company Control s achieved
where the Company has existing nghts that give it the current ability to
direct the actmities that affect the Company s returns and exposure or
rights to vanable returns from the entity Subsidiaries are included tn
the consolidated financial statements of the Company from the date
control of the subskdiary commences untld the date that control ceases
Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains and losses orincome
and expenses ansing from intragroup transactions are ehminated

tn preparing the consohidated financial statements

1l Associates and jomt ventures

Assooiates are entities where the Group has significant influence but

not control or joint control over the relevant actmues of the entity

Jont venturas are joint arrangements whereby the partes that have

jaint control of the arrangement have nghts to the net assets of the
arrangement These consohdated financial statements include the Groups
share of the total recogrised gains and losses of associates and jont
ventures using the equity methad from the date that signdficant influence
or joint control commences to the date that it ceases based on present
ewnership interests and excluding the possible exercse of potanual votng
nghts less any mpairment losses (see accounting policy 1) When the
Group s interest In an associate or jJaint venture has beenreduced to nd
because the Groups share of losses exceeds its mterest in the assooate
or joint venture the Group only provides for addibional losses ta the extent
that It has wcurred legal or constructuve cbligations to fund such losses

of where the Group has made payments on behalf of the assocrate or
jont venture Where the disposal of an investment in an assotate or
jontventure s considerad to be hughly probable the mvestment ceases
to be equity accounted and instead 1s classified as held far sale and
stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell

i1 Non-controlling interests

Nan-contralling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsichanes
are identified separately from the Group s equity Non-controlling
interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the
acquisition and the non-controlling shareholders share of changes

n equity since the date of the acquisition The nterest of the non-
contralling shareholders in the acquiree may inibially be measured either
at farrvalue cr at the nen-centroling shareholders proportion of the net
farr value of the identifiable assets acquired and habilities and contingent
hatiities assumed The choswce of measurement basis ismade an an
acquistion-by-acquisitian basis In transactions with non-controling
partes that do not result i a changein control the difference between
the far value of the consideration paid or recerved and the amount by
which the non-controlling interest s adjusted (s recogmised in equity

d} Goadwill

Business combinations that have oceurred since 1 July 2004 the

date of transition ta IFRS (the “Transition Date } are accounted for by
applying the acquisition method of accounting Following this method
goodwill s initially recogrised on consolidation representing the
difference between the farr value ¢ost of the business combination and
the fair value of the identfiable assets habilities and contingent assets
and habilities assumed

In respect of busmness combinations that occurred pnor to the Transition
Date goodwill has beenncluded at the amounts recogrrsed under

the Group s UK Generally Accepted Accounung Principles (UX GAAP )
accounting pohcaes on the TransitionDate On disposal of asubsidiary
assooate or jaint venture the attnbutable amount of goodwill rs included
In the determination of profit or loss on disposal except for goodwill
written of F to reserves under UK GAAP prior to the Transition Date which
1s not rernstated and i1s not included in deterriring any subsequent gan

Goodwillis stated at costiess any imparment losses and 1s tested
atleast annually for rmpairment based on the recoverable amounts

of the cash generating unit to which the goodwill has béen allGeated
Any imparmentidentified 1s reccgmised immediately in theincome
statement and 15 not subsequently reversed The carrying amount

of goedwill in respect of associates and jont ventures 1s induded in
the carrying amount of the nvestment in the associate or joint venture
Goodwill 1S tested for impairment in line wath accounting policy 1 below

©) Intangible assets and property plant and equipment { PPE)

t Intangible assets

Research expenditure 1s recogrused in operating éxpénse in the INCome
statement as the expenditure 1s incurred Development expenditure
(relating to the applcation of research knowledge ta plan or design new
o substantaly improved preducts for sale or use withm the business) 1s
recogrused as an mtangible asset from the point at which the Group has
the intention and ability to generate probable future econormic benefits
from the development expenditura that the development 15 techrically
feasible and that the subsequent expenditure can be measured reliably
Any other development expenditure 18 recognised tn eperating expense
as Incurred
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Other intangible assets which are acguwed by the Group separately or
through a business cambination are initially stated at cost or fair value
respectively less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses
other thanthoese that are dassified as held for sale which are stated
at the lower of carrying amount and farr value less costs tosell

The amortisabion of an intangrole asset begins when the assetis
avallable fer use and s charged to the incame statement through
operating expense over the asset s useful economuc Ufe In order 1o
match the expected pattemn of consumption of future economic
benefits embodied in the asset

For acquired customer contracts and related customer relauwenships the
assels are amortised on either a reducng balance basis or on a straight-
hne basis or over estimated useful ife based on estimated customer
retentian rate prinopallty being a penod of between 1 and 15 years as
appropriate

For afl ether acquired and internally generated intangible assats the
assets are amortised on a straght-ing basis principally being a period
of between 1 and 25 years as appropnate

IF the asset s useful economic life s jJudged to be indefirute or the assat
1S not yet avalable for use no amortisation s charged and animpairment
test 1s carned out at least annually Other intangible assets are tested
for impairment in ine with accounting policy ( below

Il Property plant and equipment

Owned PPE 15 stated at cost. net of accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses {(see accountng pohicy 1) other than those tems that
are classified as held for sale which are stated at the lower of carrning
amount and fair value less costs to sell Whenanitem of PPE compnses
mayor components having different useful economuc ives the
companents are accounted for as separate items of PPE

Financial statements

) Dervative finanaal (nstruments and hedging activities
The Group uses denvative financialinstruments to hedge its exposure
to Auctuations in interest and fareign exchange rates

Derwvatsves are held at fair vatue from the date onwhich a dervauve
contract s entered ;ito Fair value = defined as the pnce that weutd be
received to soll an asset or paid to transfer a habiity in an orderly
transaction between market particpants at the measurement date
under {FRS 13 Fair Vatlue Measurement The Group calcUtaies a separate
credit valuation adpstment { CVA ) or debit valuavon adyustment { DVA}
far each denvative based upon the net position for each counterparty
relationship The Group calculates the CVAwhere it has a net agsat
position using a quoted credit default swap curve for the counterparty
and calcu!ates the DVA where it has a net hability position usingan
industry proxy credit default swap curve for the Group The fair value

of dervative financial Instruments 1 calculated by discounting future
cash flows wath reference to the benchmark Libor curve adjustad by the
relevant aredit default swap curve Certain dervatives held by the Group
which relate to highly probable Forecast transactions (hedgeditemns )
which meet quahifying critena under [AS 39 Finanoal Instruments
Recogrution and Measurement (IAS 39 ) are designated as cash flow
hedgas Other derivatives which hedge changes in fair value of fixed rate
financial nstruments and meet the requirements of 1AS 39 are
designated as far value hedges and are subject to cash flow hedge
sccounting or farr value hedge accounting respectively Certain
barrowangs and derrvatives have been designated as net investment
hedges of the Group s foreign operations for movements i the spot
foreign exchange rate seesectionr)far further details Certamn other
derwatives held by the Group do not meet the gualifysng critena for
recognition For accounting purposes as hedges despite this being ther
economic Function Changes in the fair vatues of these denvatives are
recognised immediately in the iIncome statement The Group does

110001 XBNENS
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Assets held under finance feases which confer nghts and obligations
sirmular to those attached o owned assets are treated as PPE (see
accounting policy n)

The cost of PPE less estimated residual vaiue 1s depreciated in operating
expense on a straight ine basis over its estimated useful Wfe Land and
assets that are not yet avallable for use are not depreciated Principal
useful economic Iives used for this purpose are

+ Freehold bulldings 25 to 40 years

« Equipment furmniture and fixtures 3 to 20 years

» Set-topboues Sto? years

- Assots under finance leases and  Lesser of lease termand the
leasehold improvements useful economc ife of the asset

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantizl pened of ume to get ready for therr intended use
or sale are added to the cost of those assets untd such time as the
assets anre substantially ready for their intended use or sale

To the extent that the financung for a qualifying asset 1s part of the
Groups general borrowings the interest cost to be capitahsed s
catculated based upon the weighted average cost of borrowing tathe
Group (excluding the interest on any borrowings speafic to any qualifying
assets) This s then applied to the expenditures on the asset

All other borrowing costs are recognised 1n profit of 10ss in the penod
to which they relate

not hold or 1ssue dervatives for speculative purposes

+ Denvatives that quahfy for cash flow hedge accounting

Changes in the fair values of dervatives that are dessgnated as cash
flow hedges (cash flow hedging instruments ) are imbially recognised
mthe hedging reserve In arcumstances i which the denvative used
15 a currency option only changes inthe intnnsic value of the optton
are designated under the cash flow hedging relationship with all other
movements being recorded )immediately in the income statement
Amounts accumulated in the hedging reserve are subsequentty
recogmsed in the income staternent in the penods in which the
related hedged stems are recogrused in the income statement

At inception the effectiveness of the Group s cash flow hedges s
assessed through a companson of the principal terms of the hedging
instrument and the underiyrng hedged em The angoing effectiveness
of the Group s cash flow hedges 15 assessed using the dollar of fset
approach with the expected cash flows of hedging instruments being
compared toa the expected cash flows of the hedged items This
assessment 15 used to demonstrate that each hedge relationstup 1s
expected to be heghty effectrve oninception has been highly effectve
n the period and 15 expected to continue to be highly effective i future
periods The measurement of hedge ineffectiveness for the Group's
hedging nstruments 1s calculated using the hypothetical dervative
method with the fair values of the hedging instruments being compared
to those of the hypothetical dervative that would resultin the
designated cash flow hedge achieving perfect hedge effectveness

The excess of the cumulative change in the far value of the actuat
hedging nstrument comparad to that of the hypothetical derrvatrve

15 deemed te be hedge ineffactiveness which s recogrised inthe
Income statement.

The Group uses a range of 80% to 125% for hedge effectivenass n
accardance with IAS 39 and any relationshup which has effectiveness
outside this range s deemed to be neffective and hedge accounting
15 suspended
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Financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

{contnued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

when a cash flow hedging instrument expires (s termunated or 1s
exerased or if a hedge no longer meets the quahfying cntena for hedge
accounting any cumulative gan or loss existing in the hedgng reserve
at that tme remains i the hedging reserve and 1s recognised when the
forecast transaction s ulbmately recogrused in the income statement
provided that the underlying transaction 1s still expected to occur
When a forecast transaction 1s no longer expected to ocaxr the
cumulative gain or loss that was reported in the hedging reserve

s immediately recagnised in the income statement and all future
changes in the farr value of the cash flow hedging instruments are
immediately recogrused i the income statement

u Derwvatives that qualify for fair value hedge accounting

The Group has designated certamn dervatives as fair value hedges as
defined under I1A5 39 Any changes in the fair value of the dervatyves are
recognised immediately in the income statement The carrying values
of the underhying hedged items are adjustad for the change in the

fair vaiue of the hedged risks with the gains or losses recognised
immediately n the ncome statemnent offserting the far value
movement on the derwvative

Prospective effectiveness s assessed quarterly through acomparison of
the principal terms of the hedging instrument and the undertying hedged
item including the likelihood of default by the derivative counterparty
The retraspective effectiveness of the Group s far value hedges s
calcufated quarterly using the cumulative dollar-offset approach with
movements in the faw value of the hedged item being compared to
mavemaents in the far value of the hedging instrument.

The Group uses a range of 80% to 125% for hedge effectuveness and
any relauonship which has effectiveness outside this range s ceemed
to be ineffectve and hedge accounting 1s suspended

The cost of television programime nventones s recognised in the
operating expense kne of the income statement, over the period

the Group utiises the programming nghts taking into accourk the
arcumstances pamarily as descnbed below These arcumstances

may change or evolve over tme and as such the Group regularty reviews
and updates the method used to recognise programiming expense

= Sports - the majonty or all of the cost 1s recogrused in the ncame
staternent an the first broadcast or where the nghts are for multiple
seasons or competittons such nghts are recogrused principally on
a straight-ine basis across the seasans of competitions Where
the nghts are packaged sold and consumed over the off-seasan
the Group allocates an appropriate portion of the total nghts value
to the off-season penad and that cost (s recogrsed on astraight-ing
basws over the off-season penod

+ News - the cost 15 recogrised in the income statement as ncurred

+ Mowies - the cost s recogresed in the income statement on a straight-
hine basis over the penod for which the broadeast nghts are heensed

-

General entertainment - the cost relating to acquired commissioned
and produced nghts are recogmised in the Income statement based

on the expected value of each ptanned broadcast onthe Group s hnear
channels and the time period over which non-linear programrne rights
are utiised The cost attnbutable or apportioned ta non-linear

(on demarnd) nghts are amortised on a straight-ine basss over the
penod of broadcast rnights

The Group regulardy reviews its programrung nghts forimparment
where programme broadcast nghts are surplus to the Group s
requirements and no gain 1s anuapated through a dispesal of the nghts
or where the programming wil not be broadcast for any other reason a
write~-down to the ncome statement 1t made Any reversals of inventory

i Embedded denvatives

Denvatives embedded in other financial instn:ments or other host
contracts are treated as separate dervatives when their risks and
characteristics are not dosely related to those of the host contracts
and the host contracts are not carned at fair value with unrealised
gains orlosses reported n the iIncome statement Embedded dervatives
are camed on the balance sheet at fair value from the inception of the
hast contract Changes in fair value are recognised with n the income
statement during the penod inwhich they anse

g) toventories

I Acguired and commissioned television programme

inventones for broadcast

Programme inventones for broadcast are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value ( NRV ) including where applicable estimated
subscriber escalatuon payments and net of the accumulated expense
charged to the Income statement to date

Such programming nghts are induded as inventones when the legally
enforceable kcence penodcommences and allofthe followng conditrons
have been met () the cost of each programme s known or reasonably
determinable (b)the programme matenal has been accepted by

the Group in accordance with the conditions of tha nghts and (c) the
programme 5 avalable for its first showing Prior to baing included
ninventones the programming nghts are cassified as tefevision
programme nghts not yet avaldabte for transmussion and not recorded
as inventones on the Group s balance sheet and are mstead disclosed
as contractual commitrents (see note 28) Payments made upon receipt
of commissioned and acquired programrmung but in advance of the legal
nght tobroadcast the programmes are treated as prepayments

wnte=downs are recognised asredurtions' i operauing expense

1 Programme distnbution rights

Programme distrbution rights are valued at the lower of cost and
NRV net of the accumulated expense charged to the ncome
statement to date

Tne cast of the programme distribution rnghts 15 recogrused in the
operating expense hne of the income statement on.an ulbimate revenue
forecast basis

111 Set-top boxes, routers and related equipment

Set-top boxes routers and refated equipment held for sale to customars
are valued at the lower of cost and NRV the latter of which reflects the
value that the business expects to realise from the set-top baxes and
related equiprent in the hands of the customer and are recogrused
through the operating expense line of Une ncome statement Any
subsidy 1s expensed onenablement which s the process of activating
the viewing card duringanstallation so as to enable a viewer to view
encrypted broadeast services and effectively represents the completion
of the mnstallation progess for new customers The amount recognised

in the income statement 15 determined on a weighted average cost basis
in accordance with IAS 2 Inventory

W Raw matenals consumables and geods held for resale

Raw matenals consumables and goods held for resale are valued atthe
lower of cost and NRV The cost of raw matenals consurnables and goods
held for resale s recogmised through the operating expense line of the
meome statement on a firstan-first-out basis
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h) Fenancial assets and habilities

Financial assets and habikties are iniually recogrused at fair value plus
any directly attnbutable transaction costs At each balance sheet date
the Group assesses whether there 1s any objective evidence that any
financial asset issimpaired Financial assets and labibties are recogrised
on the Group s balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial asset or hability Financial assets
are derecognised from che balance sheet when the Group s contractual
nghts to the cash flows expire or the Group transfors substanually

all the nsks and rewards of the financial asset Financial kabilities are
derecogrused from the Groups balance sheet when the obligation
specfied in the contract 1s discharged cancelled or expires

) Available-for-sale investments

Equity investments intended to be hekd for anindefinite pencd are
dassified as avalab’e-for-sale investments They are carried at fair
value whete this can be rebably measured with movements in fair
value recogrused dinectly in the available-forsale reserve Where the
fairvalue cannot be reliably measured the investment s carned at cost

Any impairmerit iosses in equity investments classified as availlable-for-
sale investments are recognised in the income statement and are not
reversible through the income statement and are determined with
reference to the dosing market share price at the batance sheet date
Any subsequent increase in the fair vatue of the avaiable-for-sale
nvestment above the impatred value will be recognised within Lhe
avarable-for-sale reserve

Available-for-sale investments are included wittun non-current assets
unless the carrpng value s expected to be recovered prinapally through
sale rather than continuing use i which case they are included wathin
current assets On disposal the difference between the carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration recerved and any cumulatve gain

Financsl statements

vi Borrowings

Borrowings are recorded as the proceeds recewed net of diract issue
costs Finance charges, ncluding any premium payable an settlement
or redemption and derect 1Issue Costs are accounted far an an accruals
basisin the income statement using the effectve interest method and
are added to the carrying amount of the underlying instrument to which
they relate tothe extent that they are not settled in the penad in which
theyarise - - - - -

1) impawment

At each balance sheet date sn accordznce with IAS 36 Impawment

of Assets the Group reviews the carrying amounts of all its assets
exduding Inventones (see accounting policy g) non current assets
classified as held for sale financial assets (see accounting palicy h) and
deferred taxation (see accounng polcy o) to determine whether there s
any mdication that any of those assets have suffered an imparmant loss

Animparment 15 recognised in the inccme statement whenever the
carrying amount of an asset or 1ts cash generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount An impairment of 2n Investment (0 a joINt venture of
associate 1s recognised within the share of profit from joent ventures and
assouates The recoverable amount s the greater of net selling price
defined as the fair value less costs to sell and valueinuse Inassessing
valuein yse the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time vatue of money and risks speafic to the asset
Where it Is not possible to estimate the recaverable amount of an
indrvidual asset the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash generating unet to which the asset belongs impairment fosses
recogmised inrespect of cash generating units are allocated first to
reduce the camrying amount of any goodwilt allocated to those uruts

and then to reduce the carrying amount of other asseis n the unit

or loss that had previousty been recognised directly INreserves is
recogrused in the iIncome statement

1l Trade and other receivables

Trade and other recevables are non-dervative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments and where no stated interestrate 1s
applcable are measured at the eriginal invorce amount if the effect
of discounting 15 immatenal Where discountimg 1s matenal trade anc
other recevables are measured at amortised cost using the effectve
intarest method An allowance account 1s maintained toreduce the
carrying value of trade and other recevaples forimpairment losses
dentified from obrective evidence with movements In the allowance
account either from increased ympairment losses of reversals of
impairment losses beng recognised in the mcome statement

i Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents indude cashin hand bank accounts
deposits recevable on demand and deposits with maturity dates

of three months orless from the date of inceplion Bank averdrafts
that are repayable on demand and whuch form anintegral part of the
Group s cash management are also induded as acomponent of cash
and cash equivalents where offset condibions are met

v Short-term deposits

This includes short-term deposits which have matunty dates of
mare than three manths frominception These deposits are imtially
recognised at far value and then camed at amortised cost through
the income statement less any allowance for impairment losses

v Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are non-denvative financal labihties and are
measured at amorused cost using the effective interest method Trade
and other payables with ne stated interest rate are measured at the
origmal invoice amount if the effect of discounting 1s /mmaterial

onaprorata basis

Anmpawrment loss for an indmdual asset or cash generating urut will be
reversed if Lthere has been a change in esumates used to determine the
recoverable amount since the lastimparment loss was recogrsed and
1s only reversed to the extent that the asset s carrying amount does
nct exceed the carrying amount that would have been daterminad

net of depreciation or amaortisation if no impairment loss had been
recognised Imparment of goodwill 15 not reversed

JyProvisions

Provisions are recogmised when the Group has a probable present legal
or constructive obligation to make a transfer of econormic benefits as a
result of past events where a reliable estimate 1s available The amounts
recogrused represent the Group s best estimate of the transfer of
benefits that will be required to seitle the obhgation as of the balance
sheet date Provisions are discounted If the effect of the time value of
money IS matenal using a pre-tax market rate adjusted for nsks specific
to the habhty

k) ESOP reserve

Wherg the Company orits subsidianes purchase the Company s own
equity shares the costof those shares including any attnbutable
transaction costs 1s presented within the ESOP reserve as a deduction
in shareholders equityin the consohidated financial statements
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Financal statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

contnued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

1) Revenue recognition

Revenue which exdudes value added tax and transactions betweaen
Group comparies represents the grass inflow of econorme benefit from
Sky s operating actvities The Group s main seurces of revenue are
recegnised as follows

+ Subscnpuion revenue mcludes revenue from residential and
cormmeraal subscnbers to TV and commuracaton products includmg
over-the-top (OTT)subscrptions and income from set-top box sales
and installation service calls and warranties Revenue rs recognised
net of any discount gven as the goods or serices are provided

Transactional revenue includes the purchase of physical content
OTT passes pay perview and buy 1o keep content by residential and
commercial customers Transactional revenue s recognised net of
any discount given when the relevant goods or service are provided

- wholesale and syndication revenue includes revenue from the sale of
channels and programmes across other platforms and internationally
Wholesale revenue Is recognised as the services are provided to cable
and other retailers and 15 based on the number of subscnbers taking
the Skychannels as reported to the Group by the cable and other
retalers and the applicable rate card or contract Syndication
revenues are earned from the production of programming and the
distribution of programming rights Production revenue 1s recogrised
an a stage of campieton bas:s and distnbution revenue 15 recognised
when the contract 15 signed and the content (s avalable for
explomtation

Adverusmg sales revenue 1s recognised when the advertising
15 broadcast Revenue generated from arirme sales where Sky
acts as an agent on behalf of third parties 1s recogmsedona

The Group ssues equity-settied share-based payments Lo certam
employees which must be measured at fair value and recogrised as

an expense in the ncome statement, with a corresponding increase

m equity The farr values of these payments are measured at the dates
of grant using option-pnong models taking ;mto account the terms

and condibrons upon which the awards are granted The fair value

15 recognised over the penod dunng which empleyees become
unconditionally entitled to the awards subject to the Groups estmate
of the number of awards which will be forfeited either due to employees
leaving the Group prior to vesting or due to non-markat based
performance canditions not being met Where an award has market-
based performance condittons the far value of the award 1s adjusted for
the probability of achieving these wa the option pricing model The total
amount recogrused in the Income statement as an expense 1S adjusted
to reflect the actual number of awards that vest, except where lorfeiture
s due to the fadure to meet market-based performance measures

In the event of a cancellanon whether by the Group or by a participating
employee the compensation expense that would have been recognised
over the remainder of the vesting perod 1s recogrised immediately

n profit orloss

n) Leases

Leases are classifed as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the nisks and rewards inodental to ownership of
the asset to the lessee Al other leases are clossified as operating leases

Sub-lease income fram operating leases 1s recogresed on a straght-ine
basis over the term of the lease

When the Groupis alessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group
at ther farr value on the date of acquisition or If lower at the present
value of the mumuimum lease payments The corresponding hability to

net commmssion basis

Other revenue pnncipally includes income from technical platform
services and the provision of network services Otherrevenue s
recognised net of any discount gven when the relevant goods or
service are provided

Revenue 1s measured at the fair value of the consideration received

or recevable When the Group sells a set-top box instatlatian or service
and a subscnption 1y ane bundled transaction the total consideration
from the arrangerment is allocated to each elemant based on therr
relative faw values The Far value of each indmdual element is deterrrined
using vendor specific or third-party evidence The amount of revenue the
Group recognises for debvered elements s hmited Lo the cash receved

m) Employee benefits

Wages salaries social secunty contnbutions bonuses payable and
non-monetary benefits for current employees are recogmsed in
the income statement as the employees services are rendered

where the Group provides pensions to eligible employees through
defined contnbuuon schemes the amount charged to the incarne
statement m the year represents the cost of contributions payabte

by the Group to the schemes in exchange for employee services
rendered in that year The assets of the schemes are held ndependently
of the Group

Liabitiues 1n relation to employee obligatians whuch are economically
stmilar to defined benefit pension schemes are accounted for as such
under IAS 19

Termination benefits are recogrused as a hability at the earber of when
the Group can ne longer withdraw the offer of the termunation benefit
and when the Group recognises any related restructunng casts such
termination being bafore the normat retirement, date or as the result
of an offer to encourage voluntary redundancy

the lessori1s nduded in the balance sheet'as a finance fease cbigatian
Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and
reductions to the lease obligations 5o as to achieve a constant rate

of interest an the remaming balance of the iabihity

The lpase expense arsing from operating eases « charged to the income
statement on a straight-lne basis aver the term of the lease Benefits
receved and receivable as incentives to énter into operating leases are
recorded on a straight-ine basss aver the lease term

when the Group s alesser

Set-top boxes which are provided to subscnbers under operating lease
arrangements are recogrised as assets within property plant and
equipment The sat-top boxes remain in the economic ownership of the
Group for the duration of thelease and are deprecated over their useful
economic Ings of between five and seven years

©) Taxation including deferred taxation

The Group s lability for current tax 1s based on taxable profit for the year
and s calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantrvely
enacted at the balance sheet date

Deferred tax assets and habilities are recogmised using the balance sheet
habitity method providing for temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and habihues tn the balance sheet and the
carresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit
Temporary differences ansing from goodwill and except i a business
combination the witial recognition of assets or habilities that affect
nesther accountng profit nor taxable profit are not provided for Deferred
tax habiliies are recognised for taxable temporary differences ansing

on Investments n subsiharnes and associates and interests inoint
ventures except where the Group s able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and It 1s probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future The amount of defamed tax
prowded s based on the expected manner of reahsatron or settlement
of the carrying amount of assets and babibties using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date
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The carrying amaount of deferred tax assets 1s reviewed at each balance
sheet date and adusted to reflect an amount thatis probable to be
reahsed based on the weight of all available evidence Deferred tax1s
calculated at the rates that are expected to apply in the penod when
the hahility 1s settled or the asset 1s realised Deferred tax assets and
habiites are not discounted Deferrad tax s charged or credited in the
ncome statement, except where 1t relates taitems charged or aredited
directty Lo equity iIn which case the deferred Lax 1s also included wathen
equity Deferred tax assets and habilities are offset when therersa
legally enforceable nght to set off current tax assets against current
tax labihbes and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authornty and the Group intends to settlets current tax assets
and habihtees an a net basis

p) Distrnibutions te equity shareholders
Dradends are recognsed in the retained earrungs reserve in the yearin
which they are declared

The cost of repurchasing the Group s own equity shares for cancellation
{'share buy-backs ) I1s recorded in retained earnings In addikion the
nommal cost of shares repurchased 1s deducted from share capital
and a matching creditis recorded in the capital redempuion reserve

q) Earrangs per share

Bask earnings or loss per share represents the profig or loss for the year
2tinbutable to equity shareholders of the parent company drnded by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year
excluding the weighted average number of ordinary shares purchased by
the Group and held in the Graup s ESOP dunng the year to satisfy
employee share awards

Diluted earnings or loss per share represents the prefit or loss for the
yearattnbutableto equity shareholders of the parent company drnded:
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares used to calculate
basic earrungs plus the weighted average number of dilutrve shares
resulting from share aptions where the incluston of these would not

be antidiutve

1) Foreign currency translatien

Trading activbies denominated m foresgn currencies are recorded inthe
functional currency of the entity at applicable monthly exchange rates
Monetary assets iabihues and commitments denorminated in foreign
currencies at the balance sheet date are reported at the rates of
exchange at that date Non-monetary assets and habiittes denominated
n foreign currenaes are translated to the functional currency of

the entity at the exchange rate prevaiing at the date of theitial
transactron Gans and losses from the retranslation of monetary

assets and labilities are included net in profit for the year

The Group s presentational currency s pounds sterkng Assets and
lrahibties of the Group s foreign operabons are translated at exchange
rates prevaikng on the balance sheet date Income and expense items
are ransiated at the applcable monthly average exchange rates

Any exchange differences ansing are dlassified as equity and transferred
to other reserves Goodwd and fair value adjustments ansing on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and habliues
of the foreign operation and translated accordingly Gans and losses
accumulated in the translation reserve are included in the mtame
statement when the foretgn operation s disposed of

Financial statarmants

Gains and losses on those instruments designated as hedges of the net
investments in foreign operations are recogrised i eguity to the extent
that the hedging relationshep s effecuve these amounts areancuded
inexchange differences on translation of foreign operations as stated

in the statement of comprehenswve income Gamns and losses relatung

to hedge ineffectveness are recognised immediately In the income
statermens for the period

s) Reportable segments

IFRS 8 Cperating Segments requires the segment information presented
In the financial statements to bethat whichis usad internally by the chief
operating decisionmaker to evaluate the performance of the business
and detide how to allocate resources The Group has identufied the
Board of Drrectors as (ts cheef operating decision maker and the segment
wformation presented in the finaraal statements 1s consistent with the
internal reporung reviewed by the Board

t) Accounting Standards interpretatons and amendments to existing
standards that are not yet effective

The Group has not yvet adapted certain new standards amendments and
mnterpretations to exisLing standads which have been pubhshed but are
only effective for our accounting periods beginning an or after 1 July 2015
or later penods These new pronouncements areisted below

- Amendments toIFRS 11 Accounting For Acquisitions of Interests in
Joint Operatons (effectve | January 2016)*

+ Amendments to1AS 16 and IAS 38 Clanfication of Acceptable Methods
of Depreciation and Amortisation (effective 1 January 2016)*

Annual imprevements 2012-2014 cycle (effective 1 July 2016)°

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers' (effectve 1 January
2017y

IFRS 9 Financal instruments (effective 1 January 2018
ROt yer erdorsed for use i the B

The Directors are currently evaluaung the impact of the adopuion of
these standards amendments and interpretations in future penods

u) Cntical accounting policies and the use of judgement

Certain accounting pohicies are considered to be cntical ta the Group
An accounting policy 1s considered to be cntical if in the Directors
judgement, its selection or apphcation matenally affects the Groups
financial positon or results Below s a summary of the Group s cnbical
accounung polices and details of the key areas of judgemant that are
exercsed i thew application

1 Revenue (se¢ note 2)

Selecung the appropnate iming for and amount of revenue to be
recognised requires judgement This may involve estimating the fair value
of consideration before itis received When the Group sells a set-top box
instaflation or service and a subscription in one hundled transaction the
total consideraton from the arrangement is allocated to each element
based on its relauve fair value The fair value of each indnrdual element

1s determined using vendor specificor third-party evidence The amount
of revenue the Group recognises lor delivered elements is imited to the
cash receed

11 Taxation including deferred taxation (see notes 9 and 17)

The Group $ tax charge 15 the surmn of the total current and deferred tax
charges The calculation of the Group s total tax charge necessanty
nvolves a degree of esumation and jutigement in respect of certam
items whose tax treatrment cannot be finally determined until resaluton
has been reached with the relevant tax authonty or as appropriate
through a formal legal process
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Finandalstatements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

Provisians for tax conuingencres require management to make
Judgements and estimates In refation to tax audilissues and exposures
Amounts provided are based on management s interpretation of
country-specific tax law and the likebhood of settdement Taxbenefits
are not recogrused unless it s probable that the tax posiuons will be
sustamned Onge considerad to be probable management reviews.
each matenal tax benefit to assess whether a provision shoutd be
taken aganst full recognition of the benefit on the basis of the likely
resolution of the 1ssue through negotiation and/er kiugaton

The amounts recogmsed in the consoldated finanaial statements n
respect of each matter are denved from the Group s best esumation

and judgement as descnbed above However the nherent uncertanty
regarding the outcome of these items means the eventual resalution
could aiffer from the provision and in such event the Group would be
required to rake an adjustment In a subsequent penod which could have
a matenal tmpact on the Group s profit and loss and/or cash posiion

The key area of jJudgement n respect of deferted tax accounting s

the assessment of the expected temeng and mariner of reaisauion or
settlement of the carrying amounts of assets and liabiities held at the
balance sheect date In particular assessment is required of whetheritis
probable that there will be suitable future taxable profits against which
any deferred tax assets can be utilised

1 Acquisition accounting and goodwill (see note 12)

Judgement 1s required in determining the far value of idenufiable assets
habilises and contingent assets and habilites assumed in a business
combrnation and the Fair value of the consideration payable Caleulating
the fair values irwvolves the use of significant estmates and assumptions
including expectations about future cash flows discount rates and the

Assessing whether assets meet the required critena for iniual
capitalisation requices judgement This requires a determinatan

aof whether the assets will result in future benefits to the Group

In partoutar mternally generated intangible assets must be assessed
dunng the development phase to idenufy whether the Group has
the abtlity and intention to complete the development successfully

v Programming inventory forbroadcast {(sce note 18)

The key area of accounting for programming inventery for broadcast that
requires judgement I1s the assessment of the appropnate profile over
which to ameruse general entertainment programming This assessment
requires the Graup to form an expectation of

+ the ttme perwod aver which the programme (s expected to be
utibsed the number of imes & programme will be breadcast on the
Group s channels

+ therelatrve value associated with each broadcast and

- the relative value assocated with linear channel and non-linear
prograrmme nghts

In order to perform this assessment, the Group considers the following
factors

- The sme penad and frequency wathwhich the programme s expected
to be utdised on the Groups Imear channels and non-inear services
This s usually based on a combination of the actual penod speafied in
the contract for the programme rights the initial expectation of when
anngs will ba scheduled and the alternative pragramming avalable to
the Group withun this period

Expectations as to the number of viewers a prograrmine 15 kkely to
actueve for each incividual broadcast on the Group s inear channels
over the centractual broadcast pertad The number of viewers per

Ives ofassets following purchase

Judgement is required in evaluating whether anyimpairment [oss has
arisen against the carrying amcunt of goodwill This may require
calculation of the recoverable amount of cash generating units b which
the goodwll s associated Such a caleulatson may inveive estimates

of the net present value of future forecast cash flows and sefecung

an appropnate discount rate Alternatively it may involve a calculation
of the Fair value less costs Lo sell of the apphcable cash generating unit

Judgement.s required in identfying the cash generating units towhich
the goodwillis assodiated for the purposes of goodwill tmparment
testing Identification of cash generating unuts Invalves an assessment
of whather assets or groups of assets generate cash Flows that are
largely independent of other assets or groups of assets Goodwillis
then allocated to each identfed cash generating unit that is expected
to benefit from the synergies of the busingss combinations fromwhich
goodwill has ansen

v Intangible assets and property plant and equipment

(see notes 13 and 14)

The assessment of the useful econemic ives and the method of
amortising these assats requires judgement Depreciation and
armortisation are charged to the Income statement based on the useful
economic [Ife sefected which requires an estimation of the penod and
profile over which the Group expects to consume the future economic
benefits embodied in the assets The Group reviews s useful economic
Iives on at least an annual basis

Determuning whether the carrying amount of these assats has any
ndication of imparment also requires jJudgement (Fanindication of
mparrment 1s dentified, further judgement 15 required to assess whether
the carrying amount can be supported by the net present value of future
cash flows forecast to be denved from the asset This forecast involves
cash Flow projections and selecting the appropnate discount rate

Broagtast ifed iy mfTuences sdvertsing revenue forchammels
although thisconsiderauon s partly influenced by the Group s

assessment of the potential impact of the publecly available

information onits competitors scheduling intentions aganst planned
broadcasts

The potential benefits associated with uthising programmeng Certain
high-profile or high-quality programmeng titles have addiional value to
the Group as they attract new TV customers and encourage retention
of existing TV customers As Such these programmes ace able to retan
maore value thvoughout ther icence period than would be indicated
when considenng the expected customer viewing and consumplson
numbers alone

The relative value associated with iinear channel and nen-bnear rights
are assessedbased on the manner in which the Group expects to
utidise the programmung rights and the refative value percerved by
customers for the Group s channels and services Those relativevalues
may also dif fer based on the type and genre of programme Such
values are reviewed by the Group agamst current and expected future
trends in customer viewing behawour for the Group s programming
and channels The vaiue apportoned to non-hnear nghts (in addition
to any separately acquwed non-inear rights) s amorusedon a
straight-ine basis over the period of the broadcast rights as the
Group considers this tobe the profite most closely algned toits
consumption of thase nghts
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2 Operating Segments

On 12 November 2014 the Group purchased operatons in ftaly Germany and Austna and as a result has reassessed the number of reportable

operating segments

Financial statements

The Graup now has three reportable segments that are defined by geographuc area to reflect how the Group s operations are monitored and managed
The reportable segments presented reflect the Group s management and reporting structure as viewed by the Board of Directors which is considered
to be the Group 5 chief operating decision maker

Reportable segment

UK &Iretand
taly
Germany & Austna

Description

The activities and operations of the pay TV home commurnications and adjacent businesses inthe UX and Ireland

The activities and operations of the pay TV and adjacent businesses intaly

The activities and aperations of the pay TV and adjacent busmesses in Germany and Austria

Segmental income statement for the year ended 30 June 2015

Results for full year

Italy and

Germary

Adjusting &Austna
UK & Germany & lzems & pre-  Statutery
Ilrefand Italy Austna Eiminauons  acquisiion  Group Tatal
Em Em Em £m £m Em

Continuing Operations

Subseription 6596 1845 1265 - (1179) 8518
Transactional 120 s 8 - [ele)) 153
Whaolesale and syndication 515 16 20 (O] [¢)] 541
Advertrsing 510 162 44 - &7 649
Other 95 2B 3z (&) {25} 128
Revenue 7836 2086 1377 [de)) {1300y 9989
Inter-segment reventue (16) - - 10 6 -

{ Revenue from externzl customers 7820 2 086 1377 (1294)—.9989_-
Programming {2865) (1258) (764) [€)] 724 @72
Direct network costs (840 - - - - (840)
Sales general and administration (2781 (767 (€624) (377} 544 {4 003)
Operating expense {6 486) (2025) {1388) {386) 1268 907
EBITDA 1740 21e 74 (163} (129) 1738
Depreciation and amorusation (3903 (155) (85) (23 g7 (765)
Operating profit (loss) 1350 61 n (396) {32) 972
Share of resutts of jomt ventures and associates 28
Investrment income 8
Finance costs (283)
Profit on disposal of avalable-for-sale investments 452
Profit on dsposal of assoaate 299
Profit before tax 1516

Skyplc 9%
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(conunued)

Segmental income statement for the year ended 30 June 2014

Results for Rull year
laby and
Germany &
UK& Germany & Adyustung Austna  Statutory
lreland {taly Austrta Items fullyear Group Total
£rn Em Em Em £m £m
Continwing Operations
Subscnpuon 6278 1850 1144 - (2994) 6278
Transacoonal 86 kh) 19 - (S6) as
wholesale and syndicatuon 433 65 26 15 9N 448
Advertising 487 168 35 - (203) 487
Other 151 20 38 - (58) 151
Revenue 7435 2140 1262 15 (3402) 7450
ITnter-segment revenue (5% - - - 61 -
Revenue from pxternal customers 7374 2140 1262 15 (3341 7450
Programmng (2656) 127 {735) (O] 2006 {2657)
Direct network costs (816) - - (29) - (845)
Sales, general and administration (2760) (830) (584) (84) 1414 {2B44)
Operating expense (6 232) (2101) (1319) (14) 3420 (6346)
EBITDA 1606 224 8 70 (242) 1536
Depreaation and amortisation (a03) (185) (75) (29) 260 (432)
Operatung profit (055) 1203 39 (57) {(99) 18 1104
Share of results of joint ventures and associatas 35
Investment income 26
Finance costs (H0)
Profit before tax 1025

Resuits for each segrent e presented on an Adjusted bass A reconcliation of statutory Lo adpusted profit & shown o note 10 which also ndudes a descnpuon of the adusting tems.
Tramactions between segments are recorded based! on estimated market prces

T,

L presentaton, g 1t has chosen to manalyse the evenus 2nd operatng expen se categones fom thase prevously reported The evenue categones have been
wmmﬂmhmmmdmhnmsmamdmatmumwmwmwwasm&h general and adm.nastraton (SGEA)
operatng expenss ke AS such certan pros perod revenues and arsts with.n the 2014 stawtory Group total comparatves have been redassified as set out bekow

Prior year reversues of £85 miion and £20 mdkien primsously inchuded n Instalaton hardwace and senace and Other respectvely arg now nchuded n Subscn plon revenue Transactional menue
indudes £B82mlion and £4 milkon relating to Sky Stom and Sports and wholesale pay per view which were previousty nciuded in Retal subscnpucn and Whalesale subsanpuon respectvely
Reverues of E15 million and £2 milion @lauing to Sky IQ and Seanth revenues 3 now inchuded in Advertrsing and Wholesale and syndscaton respectively having prewnously been inchuded n Other

Sports syndicaton and Sky Vision revenues of £28 mubon ang now ncluded in Wholesale et syndicatron, having priraoutly been induded i Cthar Prcr year expense of £2 mdin prenously
niduded in Programneng 15 now induded i 5GEA

Revenue of £7387 mudion (2004 £6 972 mion ) arises from goods and seraces prowded Lo the U and revenue of E2602 mebon (2014 €478 mfion) mtes from seraces provided 10 othed
countnes. Non-QUTent 255805 Iocated m the UK were £10148 rulhen (204 £3 873 methon) and non-cuument assets located outside the UK were £651 mibon (2014 £3 mikon)
Inchucted within operatng expensas for the year ended 30 Juna 2015 are
Costs of E10 mdbon relating to the integration of Sky Deutschiand and Sky itaks in the enlargod Group recogneted n SGEA
+ Costs of E50 mdtion relating to adwsory and transaction fees incumed on the purchase of Sky Deutschiand and Sky kalia recognised n 5GEA
Costs of £105 mdon ELAUNG tO COPOMLE restracturng and efficiency progammes nduding 3n imparment of £ 2milhon < relation to fixed assets These costs have been recognead as follows
= E10 myfkon withy Programaming
= E95 milon withun SGEA
Corsts of £231 melon relating Lo the amortsaton of acquired mitangibic asse s recogneed in SGEA,
InCudad withn wholesali 20 Syndicabon riscnue for the yer ended 30 aune 2014 5 a E15 miion credt recerved foliowng the tenmenation of an esoow sgreement with 3 cument whalesale operator
Inchuded wnthn operatng expenses for the year anded 30 June 2014 are

Costs of £49 mdan relatng Lo the stquisiton and integration of the O2 consumer breadband and fired-line telephony bussness. nduding amertsation of £4 mdkon in relasan ta assocated
ntang ble assets The wsts have beenrecogrised as fodows

- E29 mdion withun diect networks

- EZ0 mubon within SGEA.

Cersts of £40 mulion retating 19 a tarporats festaiunng and eHatency programma o the Cument year widkudng dn drgasment of £2 radion o rlaton to assocated ntangble and tangbie
assets These aosts hine been reangrused as fallows

- Elsmihon withen programening

- £39 midlon withn 5G&A

+ Costs of E2mdhon as a result of the termenation of an e5trow agreerment with a cument wholesale operatar Tha cost has baen recognzed within SGEA.
Costs of £23 mubon n relaton Lo the amortsaton of scquied ntanghie 255405 recognosed 10 SGSA
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3 Discontinued operations

On 19 March 2015 the Group completed the sale of a controlling stake i 1ts online betting and gammng business Sky Betung & Garmung ( Sky Bet ) to funds
advised by OVC Capital Partners and members of the Sky Bet management team Sky has retained an equity stake of 20% post completion v Sky Bet.

Sky Bet represented a separate major bne of busmess for the Group As a result its operauons have been treated as discontinued for the year ended
30 tune 2015 and the year ended 30 June 2014 Asingle amount 1s shown on the face of the consolidated income statement compnising the post-tax
result of discontinued operations and the post-tax profit recognised on the disposal of the disconunued operation A pre-tax profit of E600 million
arose on the disposal of Sky 8et being the net proceeds of disposalless the carrying amount of Sky Bet s net hablities and attrnbutable goodwill

The resuits of discontinued operations which have been induded in the consolidated income statement were as follows

uodaradnens

2057 2014 g
To 18 March Fud year
£m Em
Revenue 158 182 §
Operatng expense [28) (125)
Operating profit 30 57
Profit on disposal 600 -
Profit before tax B30 57
Attnbutable tax expense? 10y (12)
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 620 45
1 Results for the year ended 30 June 2015 mchude the results of discontinued operatians up to the date of dispasal (19 March 2015)
2 Attnbutable Lax expense compnses £3 milion Q0% £12 mitkon) in respect of operating actrabies and £1milbon (2014 nif) ersing 8s o resudt of the chsposal
The net habilities of Sky Bet at the date of dsposal were
19 March
2015 o
£m §
Non-currentassets ]
Property plant and equipment 9 g
Deferred tax assets ] a8
10 2
Current assets 4
Trade and ather recevables 5
Cash and cash equivalents 30
35
Totalassots 45
Current habilities
Trade and other payables 88
Provisions 6
&4
Tatal habilities 64
Net liabtiities 19
Total consideration 730
Net habiltses disposed 19 %
Attnbutable goodwil (149) 'g,
Profit on dispasal 600 g
Consideration recewed in cash and cash equivalents 598 g“
Less cash and cash equivalents disposed of (30) 2
Net cashinflow ansing on disposal 588 §

During the year cash flows atinbutable to Sky Bet compnsed a net cash inflow inrespect of operating actvities of £44 million (2012 nflow of €62 mdlion)

and a net cash nflow in respect of nvesting activities of £560 mullon (2014 outFflow of £3 million)
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Notes to the consoldated financial statements

{continued)

4 Investment income and finance costs

2015 2014
Em £m
investment income
interest on cash cash equivalents and short-term deposits 8 4
Dividends receved from avallable-for-sate investments - 22
- - . - .. -— 8 26
20 2014
Em fm
Finance costs
- Interest payable and simitar charges
Faciity related costs (44) (2)
Guaranteed Notes (see note 22) (214) {26)
Finance lease interest N [¢)]
_(265) (135)
- Qther finance income (expense)
Remeasurement of borrowings and borrowngs-relsted denvative Financial instruments (not qualifying for hedge accounting) 16y {2
Remeasurament of other derivative financial nstruments (not qualifying for hedge accounting) 3) @
Gain (loss) ansing on derivatves In a designated fair value hedge accounting relationshep 7 [E1)]
(Loss) gain arising on adjustment for hedged stem in a designated Farr value hedge accounting relatucnship (6) 32
() (5)
(283) (140)

Borrowing costs included in the cost of qualifying assets dunng the year arose on the general borrewing poal and are calculated by applying a
capitalisation rate of 31% (2014 4 9%) to expenditure on such assets The amount capitahsed in the current year amounted to £9 milon
{2074 £4 milion) Tax reliefin the current year on capitalised interest totals EQ 4 million (2034 £06 milkon)

Finance costs incude ES7 million incurred in conmection with £6 & bithan of firm underwritten debt Fachues and other associated transaction costs

relating o the purchase of Sky Deutschland and Sky ltala These facalities induding the previous revolving ecedit facility ( RCE) have been repaid or.
cancelled duning the period with the exception of a £1 billion RCF which remains undrawn

5 Profit on disposal of avallable-for-sale investments

On17 July 2004 the Group sold a shareholding of 6 4% in {TV plc consssting of 259 820 D65 ITV shares for an aggregate consideration of £481 million

Aprofitof £429 millon was reabsed on disposal being the excess of the consideration abave the previously wrtten-down value of the shares for
accounting purposes {£52 million)

On 5 November 2014 the Group sold a further shareholding of 0 8% 0 ITV plc ¢onsisting of 31,864 665 ITV shares for an aggregate consideration of
€65 mulion A profit of £58 million was realised on disposal being the excess of the consideration above the previously wrtten-down value of the shares

for accounting purposes (£7 million)

The Group recognised a gan of £5 million as a result of measunng to far value its equity interest in Sky Deutschland held prior to the acquisition
For Further details see ncte 31

6 Profit on disposal of associate

On 12 November 2014 the Group transferred a shareholding of 21% in NGC Network international LLC and a shareholding of 21% in NGC Network Latin
Amenica LLC to 21st Century Fox Inc ( 2Ist Century Fox') for an aggregate consideration of £410 milion as part of the purchase of Sky ltalia {see note

31 for further detar} A profit of £299 million was reahsed on disposal

7 Profit before taxation
Profit before taxation s stated after charging

2015 0a

£m £m

Cost of inventones recognised as an expense EEE) 2208
Depreciabion imparment and losses (profits) on disposals of property plant and eguipment 297 204
Amortisation imparment and losses (profits) on disposals of mtangible assets 465 228
Rantals on operating leases and similar arrangements 70 49

Foreign exchange
Foreign exchange gains recogrised in the income statement during the year amounted to E14 milhion (2014 losses of £2 mithon)

98 Skyplc




Annual Report 215

Femanaal statements

Audit fees
Ananalysis of auditor's remunerationis as follows

2015 2014

Em £m

Fees payable to the Company s auditor for the audit of the Company $ snnual accounts 20 13
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audi of the Company s subsidiaries 03 03
Total aud:t fees 23 - 16
Audit-related services 02 Q2
Taxauon services 15 a5
Other assurance servces 08 o1
Other adwsory services n4 -
Transaction services 19 [+1-]
Total non-audst fees 158 14

Non-audit fees payable to the Company s au:ditor in the UK pritaipally comprise transacton related services including reperting accountant services
comfort procedures in relation to debt msuance and programmes and acquisivon-related tax serwices Other assurance serwces pnnopally relate to
The Bigger Prcture assurance and the mtenm review

Delaitte Germany and Deloitte Italy provided non-audit services to Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia prior to ther acquisibion by the Group on 12 November
2014 These principally comprised technology consulung and advisory services As described in the Report of the Audt Committee a comprehensive
review and reorgarusation of these services was performed following the acquisition date n order to ensure the continued independence of Deloitte LLP
as auditors of the Group The total fees for non-audit services provided ta Sky Deutschiand and Sky {taliain the full year ended 30 June 2015 were

£15 7 milion and the table above includes those servces provided to Sky Deutschiand and Sky Italia by Deloitte since 12 November 2014

Total audit fees payable to the Groups component auditors of Sky Deutschiand and Sky (taha in the full year ended 30 June 2015 were E11 mallion
The Group s component, auditors of Sky Deutschiand and Sky itaha also provided non audit services tothe Group during the year none of which
compremised their tndependence in respect of their reporting to the Group s auditor andtheir respective local reporting requirements

8 Employee benefits and key management compensation

2) Group employee benefits

waday x3nens

DOUBLIMOG

<000 2014
Em £Em
Wages and salaries 1040 844
Social secunty costs 159 101
Costs of employee share option schemes! 26 60
Contnbutians to the Group s pension schames? 39 39
1334 1044

1 €91 mil.on charge relates to equity-settied Shace besed payments (2014 £60 mihon charge) and E5 mihon charge relates to cash-sattied share based payments (2014 mil)
2 The Group aparates defined contsibutian penman schemes The pension chargé for the year represents the cost of contributions pavable by the Group to the schemes
during the year The amount payabla to the schemes by the Group at 30 June 2015 was £5 rmithon (2014 €5 milkon)

The average monthly number of full-time equivalent persens (including temporary employees) employed by the Group duning the year was as follows

2015 201

Number Number

Channels and services 5089 3477
Customer service sates and marketing 15487 13035
Transmussion and technology 4156 3257
Management and admenistration 2328 1072

27060 20 B41

There are approxmately 921 (2074 497) temporary staff induded within the average number of full-time equivalent persons employed by the Group

b) Key management compensation (see note 30d)

205 2014

Em £m

Short-term empioyee benefits 6 6
Share-based payments 8 7
14 13

Post-employment benefits were less than EY milbon (2014 less than £1 million) The amounts disclosed for key management compensation areincluded
within the disclesures i note 8(a)

Skyplc 99

STURAURNE]S PDUENY

UDRRPULIOJUIBDIOUIRYS




Anrwal Report 2015

Finanoal statemants

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

{continued)

9 Taxation

a) Taxation recogrused in the iIncome statement

2005 2014
Em £m
Current tax expense
Current year - UK 229 218
Adstment in respect of pnor years - UK @9 - @y
Current year - Qverseas 62 2
Total current tax charge 252 189
Deferred tax expense
Qngination and reversal of temporary differences - UK (2N 5
Adustment in respect of prior years - UK N n
Ongination and reversal of temporary differences - Overseas &N -
Adustment in respect of pnor years - Overseas m -
Total deferred tax {credit) charge (EB) 16
Taxation 184 205
b) Taxation recogrnised directly in equity
2015 2014
Em Em
Current tax credit relating to share-based payments @ ()]
Deferred tax credit relating to share-based payments [15)] -
Deferred tax charge (credit) ralating to cash flow hedges 20 (8)
3 an

) Reconciliation of effective tax rate

The Lax expense for the year s lower (2044 lower) than the expense that would have been tharged using the blended rate of corporation tax

in the UK (20 75%) applied to profit before tax The applicable enacted or substantively enacted effective rate of UK comporation tax far the year
was 20 75% (2014 22 5%) The differences are explained below

2015 2014
£m Em
Profit before tax from continuing operations 1516 1025
Profit before tax muluiphed by blended rate of corparation tax n the UK of 2075% (2014 22 5%) 315 2
Effects of
Different statutory tax rates of overseas jrisdicuons a2 -
Disposal of Group trvestments (125 -
Net effect of other non-taxable/non-deductible items 28 8)
Effect of tax rate changes (€)] 2
Adpsstrnents in respect of prioryears (9 20)
Taxation 184 205
10 Earnings per share
The werghtad average number of shares for the year wag
2015 2014
Mulbons of  Milkons of
shares shares
Ordinary shares 1706 1581
ES0P trust ordinary shares {15) 9
Basic shares 1690 1562
Dilutwve ordinary shares from share options 21 14
Diluted shares 1m 1576

There are no share options (2014 none) which could patentially dilute earmings per share in the future but which have been excduded from the caloutation
of diluted earmings per share as they are anu-didutive In the year

Basic and diluted earmings per share sre calculated by deading the profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders of the parent companyinto the
weighted average number of shares for the year In order to prowde a measure of underlying performance management have chosen to present an
adjusted profit fur the year which excludes items that may distort comparability Such items anse from events or transactions thay falt withuin the ordinary
actmtes of the Group but which management believes should be separately identified to help explam underiying perfermance
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2015 2014
£Em Em
Profit from continuing operations 1332 B2C
Loss attnbutable tonon-controlnginterests 5 -
Profit from continuing operations attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company 1337 820
Profit from discontinued operations 620 45
Profit attributable o equity shareholders of the parent company 1957 865
205 2014
Em £m §'
Reconcbation fram prefit from conunuing operations attnibutable to equity shareholders of the parent company to adjusted
profit for the year attnbutable to equity shareholders of the parent company é
Profit, for the year from continuing operations atiributable to equity shareholders of the parent company 1337 az0 5
Adwisory and transacuon fees and finance costs incurred on the purchase of Sky Deutschiand and Sky ltaka (see note 31) 107 -
Costs relating to corporate restructuning and efficiency programmes (see nate 2) 105 40
Costs relating to the integration of Sky Deutschland and Sky itala in the enlarged Group (see note 37 10 -
Costs relaung to the integration of the O2 cansumer broadband and fixed-hne telephony business - 49
Net credit recerved followang terminabion of an escrow agreement with a current wholesala operator - [¢k)]
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets 228 23
Profit on disposal of avalable-for-sale investments (see note 5) (492) -
Prafit on disposal of asseciate {see note 6) {299) -
Rermeasurement of all denvauve financial instruments not qualifying for hedge accounuing and hedge ineffectiveness (see note 4) 18 s
Tax adjusting stems and the tax effect of above tems ©h (32)
Adjusted profit for the year attnbutable to equity shareholders of the parent company 947 892
2015 2014
perke pence
Earrungs per share from profit for the year =
Basic §
Continung operations 791p 5255 @
Discontinued operations 367 29p ﬁ
Total 115 8p 554p g
Dituted -3
Continuing operations 78 2p 520p
Discontinued operations 3B 2p 29p
Total 114 4p 545p
Adjusted earnings pershare from adjusted profit for the year
Basx 56 0p 521p
Diuted 55 3p 56 6p
11 Dwvidends
2015 20M
Em Em é‘
Dwadends declared and paud dunng the year 2
2013 Final dwvidend paid 19 0Cp per ordinary share - 298 g
2014 Inkenm dwvidend pard 1200p per ordinary share - 187 5
2014 Final dimdend pad 2000p per ordinary share 340 - 3,
2015 Interim dwvidend pad 12 30p per ordinary share 209 - §
549 485 §

The 2015 final dwdend proposed 1s 20 5 pence per ordinary share bemng £3459 rmillion The dividend was not dedared at the balance sheet date and 1s

therefore not recognised as aliability as at 30 June 2015

Dividends are pad between Group comparies out of profits available for distnbution subject to mter alia the prowisions of the companies arucles of

assocation and the Companies Act 2006 The ESOP has waived its nghts to dwidends
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12 Goodwill

Em
Carmying value
AT July 2013 989
Other 0
At 30 June 2014 1,019
Purchase of Sky Deutschiand - - 2848
Purchase of Sky Itaka 752
Dispasal of Sky Bet (149)
Foreign exchange movements (344)
Other 34
At 30 June 2015 4560

Goodwill has principally ansen from the Groups purchases of Sky Deutschland Sky ltaha Briush Interactive Broadcasung ( 8:87) tasynets
UK broadband network assets and residential activities 365 Media s content activities Amstrad Lving TV The Claud and the O2 consumer broadband
and fixed-hna telephony busmess

Goodwill allocated by cash generating unit, 1s analysed as follows

2058 204

Em im

UK &Irgland' 904 87O
Gerrnany & Austnal 2576 -
[taly® 680 -
Bettmg and gaming* - 119
4160 1019

Impairment reviews were performed on these goodwll balances at 30 June 2015 which did not indicate impairment

Recoverable amounts for each of the cash generating units were calculated on the basis of value in use usingcash flows catculated for the next five years
as forecast by management Along-term growth rate of 3% was applied to all units in order Lo extrapolate cash flow projections beyond thes pencd

{20747 3%) The cash Nows of the UK & IFelard CGU were diStounted Taiiga pre-tax Giscount rate of 9% (20147 B%) thetasty IGws of the Germany &
Austna CGU were discounted using a pre-tax discount rate of 7% and the cash flaws of the lLaly CGU were discounted using a pre-tax discount rate of 8%

In determicung the applicable discount rate managemaent applied judgement i respect of several factors which included inter alia assessing tha nsk
attached to future cash flows and making reference to the capital asset pncing model (the CAPM) Management gave consideration to the selectionof
appropniate nputs to the CAPM which included the sk freerate the equity nsk premium and a measure of systematc nsk Management also considered
capetal structure and an appropriate cost of debt in arrving at the discaunt rate

The key assumptions on which the forecast five-year casn fiows of each urit were based include the Pumber of gross customer additions therate of
churn the average revenue per user levels of programming spend acquesition costs per customer and antiopated changes i Lthe product mix and
marketing mix of the broadcast actmvities The values assigned o each of these assumptions were determined based on the extrapolatton of histoncal
trends within the Group and external infarmation on expected future trends in the entertainment and communications ndustry in each termitory

1 UK & lreland

Formerly known as the Broadcast unit, the UK & Ireland urit includes goodwill ansing from the purchase of BiB Easynets UK broadband network assets
and residential actvities 365 Media s content actvities Amstrad Living TV The Cloud and the 02 consumer broadband and fixed-hne telephony business
The UK & Ireland unit ncludes intangibles wath indefinite Ives of £25 million (2014 €25 miliar)

2 Germany & Austria
The Germany & Austna unit includes goodwilt ansing from the purchase of Sky Deutschland For further detats seenote 33

3 ltaly

The Itaty unit ncludes goodwll ansing from the purchase of Sky ltalia The ltaly unit includes mtangibles with indefinite Ives of £E457 mibon Far further
detaills see note 31

4 Betting and gaming

The betung and gaming umt was compnsed of goodwill ansng on the purchase of the Sports Intemet Group( SIG ) and 365 Media s betting actvities
which were included within Sky Bet. A controfing stake in Sky Bet was sold on 19 March 2015 and the identifiable goodwill attnbutable to the CGU was
nciuded within the Group s profit on disposal See note 3 for further details
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13 Intangible assets

woda n8nens

Internaly
generated Acqued
Software Custemer nrangible mntangible
Internally  cevelopment contracts assets assets
generated (external) and related Other not yet notyet
intangible  and software customer ntangble available avatable
Traderdarks assets kcences  relabionships assets far use for use Total
Em £m Em Em Em £m Em £m
Cost
AUV Juty 2013 18 386 525 197 74 30 57 1487 ‘é‘
Additions from business combinations - - - 6 2 - - 8 I
Addibons - a7 36 - 64 84 a m 5
Despasals - 8 [45)) - (3 - - 3% o
Transfers - 43 N - 1 (43) (12) -
AL 20 tune 2014 18 498 558 203 338 n a8 1772
Addisons from business cembinauons 457 - 105 3070 28 - 21 3681
Addwions 5 76 75 - 60 m 35 362
Disposals O] (8) (145) - v - - (168)
Transfers - 60 22 - 2 (60) (24) -
Foreign exchange movements - - (12} {284) (4] - e} {309)
At 30 June 2015 476 616 603 2979 426 122 116 5338
AMOrtIsaton
At 1 Juty 2013 & 181 357 15 209 - - 768
Amortisatuon 1 76 53 32 64 - - 226
Dispeosals - (d:)] (4 - €3) - - {35)
Impairments - - 1 - 1 - - 2
At 30 June 2014 7 239 397 48 271 - - 962
Amortisation 1 B4 88 231 60 - - 464 3
Disposals (€)) (18) (45) - (U] - - (168} [
impairments = 4 1 = ~ - ] ﬁ
Foresgn exchange movements - B U] &) - . - ()] u
At 30 June 2015 4 309 140 2n 330 - - 1254 g
Carrying amounts g
At 1 July 2013 2 205 168 181 65 30 57 718 e
At 30 June 2014 n 255 161 155 67 Fil 85 ac
At 30 June 2015 472 307 263 2708 96 122 116 4,084
The Groups internalty generated intangible assets relate principally to software development associated with our cusiomer management systems
and set-top boxes The Groups other intangible assets mainly Include copynght kcenges and connection fees
The estimated future amorusation charge an intangible assets with finite lves for each of the next five years 15 set out befow It s likely that future
amor tisation will vary from the figures below as the estimate does not include the impact of any future nvestments disposals or capital expenditure
206 2017 28 2019 2020
£m Em £m Em Em
Estimated amorusation charge 598 427 356 30 24}
:
4
g
3,
:
g
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13 Intangible assets (continued)
wathin intangible assets there are certain assets with indefinite useful Iives The carrying value of these assets s E482milhon (2014 £25 mullion)

As part of the acquisition of Sky Italia the Group acquired the nghts to use trademarks in certain territories The nghts to use trademarks in certan

terntones are considered to have indefinite ives because the Graup has thentention and abliity to consume these nights over an indefinite peciod

Animpairment review of the assets is performed annually as part of the Group s inpairment reviews of its CGUs (note 12)

Included within custorer contracts and related customer relationships are rntanglble assets with a net book value of £1,522 million (2014 nil) and a
remaiming usefiul ife of 15 years relating to the acquired customer base in Germany & Ausina and mtangible 3ssets with a net book vatue of E1057 milkon

(2014 nif} and a remaning useful ife of 15 years relating to the acquired customer base mitaly

14 Property, plant and equipment

Equipment Assets
Freghold furnuture notyet
lang and Leasehold and Owned available
buildings™?  improvements fixtures  set-top hoxes foruse Total
£€m Em £m £m Em Em
Cost
ALY July 2013 334 58 1387 - 53 1832
Additions 4 - 13 - ng 254
Drsposals - )] (74) - - (75)
Transfers 3 - 34 - (65) -
At 30 June 2014 389 57 1478 - 107 2,0m
Additions from business combinations - 38 73 355 64 530
Additions 3 3 105 16 261 3gs
Disposals 5) - 78) ) (V) (92)
Transfers 24 - ) 45 (108) -
Foreign exchange movements - (3) (8) (35) &) (53}
At 30 June 2015 3N as 1609 372 17 2784
Depreciatian
A1 July 2013 46 34 m - - Ftl]
T —DepreCldbonT T T T T T 7 193 = 208— -
Drsposats - Q)] (74) - - (75)
Foraign exchange movements - - U] - - Q]
A1 30 June 2014 54 40 829 - - 923
Depreciation 10 10 194 B4 - 298
Imparrments 2 - 4 - - 6
Dispasals 5} - (78) (3) - (8a)
Foreign exchange movements - - m (€3] - (3)
At 30 June 2015 B1 50 948 79 - 1138
Carrying amounts
At July 2013 288 24 676 - 53 1041
At 30 June 2014 315 17 6549 - 07 1088
At 30 tune 2015 330 45 661 293 37 1646

1 The amounts shown include assets held under finance leases wath a net book value of E31 miion (2074 E14 milban) The cost of these assets was E48 milion (2014 £23 muthon)
and the accumulated deprecatran was E17 alhion (2014 €3 millon) Depreciatian charged dunng the year on such assatswas EB milhon (2004 €2 millon)

2 Depreciauon was not charged on E88 milion of land {2014 EBE mullion)

3 Aspartof the disposal of $ky Bet which has been treated as a discontinued operation (note 3) property plant and equipment with a carywig value of E9 million was dispased of
in addiion E4 milhon of depreciation relating to Sky Bet forms part of discontinued operations (2014 £4 milhan)
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15 Investments in joint ventures and associates

Alist of the Group s mvesuments in jomnt ventures and associates induding the name country of iIncorporatian and prosortion of ownership interest
5 gven in note 33 Lo the consolidated finanaal statements

The movement In jownt ventures and assocates dunng the year was as follows

2015 2014
Em - Em

Share of net assets
ALl July 173 164
Movement in net assets
- Funding nct of repayments 10 )
« Ddends receved @5 {32)
- Share of profits 28 35
- Acquisition of asscoate’ B -
- Disposal of associates? (49 -
- Exchange differences on translation of foreign joint ventures and assofiates 10 -
At 30 June 133 173

1 Dunngthe year the Group soid a contrafhng stake nSky Bet and retaned an equity stake of 20% in Sky Bat Seancte 3 for further detads
2 Dunng the year tha Group ¢riposed of iLs mterest «n NGC Network Internatona LLC and NGC Network Latn Amenca LLE See note 6 for further details

The Groups share of any capital commitments and contngent liabilibes of associates and jont ventures is shown 1n note 28

a) Invastments in assocates

For the penod between the date of compleuon of the sale of the controliing stake in Sky Bet and 30 June 2015 its revenue was EBO mulhon and profit for
the penod was £13 million

For the penod between 1 July 2014 and the disposal of NGC Network Intermational LLC and NGC Network Latin Amenca LLC therr revenue was £119 muikon
and profit for the penod was E26 mdiion

b) Investments injoint ventures

wodos w3aens

Representng the Group s share of each joint venture

2015 2004

Em Em

Non current assets 12 26
Cumrent assets 77 &6
Current habities (36) (74)
Non-current liabiities. (G m
Shareholders’ equity (8) 17
Revenue 106 93
Expense {9 [t
Taxation (€3] ()]
Share of profit from joint ventures 12 13

The aggregate camying amount of the investments in joint ventures and associates that are not individually matenal for the Group s £44 million as at 30
June 2015 (2014 £41 muthon)

16 Available-for-sale investments

205 2014
(1] Em

Listed investments 3 518
Unlested investments 28 15
N 533

The histed investments include rul {2014 £514 muthon) relating to the Group s ivestment in TV The Groups listed investments are carned at farr value
and the far value rs determined with reference to the equity shara price at the balance sheet date Unlisted smvestments consist of minority equity
stakes in a number of technology and start-up companies

Cn 17 July 2014 the Group sold a sharehalding of 6 4% n [TV pie consistng of 259 820 065 [TV shares for an aggregate consxderabon of E481 melion
Aprofit of £429 milhlon was realised on dispasal being the excess of the consideration above the previousty written-town value of the shares for
accounting purposes (E52 million)

On 5 November 2014 the Group sold a further sharehotding of 0 8% in [TV ple, consisting of 31 864 665 ITV shares for an aggregate consideration

of E65 mulon A profit of £58 millon was realised on disposal beng the excess of the consideration above the previously written-down value of
the shares for accounting purposes (E7 mithion)
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17 Deferred tax
1) Recogrused deferred tax assets (labitities)

Share-based Financial
Accelerated  Intangibles on Short-term payments  instruments
tax business temporary temporary temporary
depreciation  cominapons Taxlosses differences differences differences Total
Em Em Em Em £m £m Em
ALY Juty 2013 M - - 5 29 (3] 37
Credit (charge) to income 4 - - (U] 08 1 4y
Credil to equity - - - - 1 9 10
Acguisition of subsidiznes - 1 - - - - 1
Effect of change in tax rate
- Income - - - - 3 1 @
- Equity - - - - M m (2)
At 30 June 2014 3 1 - a 28 (6) 30
{Charge) credit to income (28) 6l i (3 16 (2) 65
Credit (charge) to equity - - - - 15 (20) s)
Acquisiuon of subsidianes - (895) 589 Qa0 - [©] (217}
Effect of change in taxrate
- Income 3 - - - - - 3
Foresgn exchange movernents 2 a (57) (8) - - 18
At 30 June 2015 (20) (752) 553 B3 59 (29 {106)

Deferred tax assets have beenrecognsed at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 on the basis that, from management s current forecast of the Group s
entiues 1it1s probable that there witl be suitabte taxable profits agamst which these assels can be utlised The farr value of deferred tax assets in excess
of deferred tax hatihties ansing on acquisibon of Sky Deutschiand was £115 m Lton on acquisition and has a carrying value of £147 million as at 30 June
2015 The majonty of the deferred tax asset relates to taxlosses Itis conduded to be probable that there will be sutable future taxable profits against
which the deferred Lax assets can be uulised takng account of Lthe current forecast of Sky Deutschland s results

Deferred tax assets and habihties are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the penods in which they reverse The UK Government

announced a reducuon in the mam rate of UK corporatien tax to 19% with effect from 1 Aprd 2017 and to 18% from 1 Apnl 2020 These changes have not

Heen substantielyenacted and have not theréfore bedn indiided i the figlires abiove Thempac t of the fatite Tal8 reCuctGhs will Beatcdunted fol t —T T
the extent that they are enacted at future balance sheet dates however 1tis estimated that this wiil not have a materal mpact on the Group The rate

enacted or substantively enacted for the relevant periods of reversal ts 20% as at 30 June 2015 (2014 20%) 0 the UK 31 4% 0 Italy and 27 4% in Germany

Certaindeferred Lax assets and labilibies have been offset jurisdiction by jurisdiction

W15 2014

£m Em

Defarred tax assets 175 52
Deferred tax liablities (281) 22)

(106) 30

u) Unrecognised deferred tax assets

2015 2014

Em Em

Tax losses ansing from tracding 219 245

Tax losses ansing from capnal disposats and prowisions aganst investments 278 283

497 528

Deferred tax assets have not been recogrised in respect of these itermns because 1L+s not probable that future taxable profits wil be avalable against
which the Group can utiise the losses

AL 30 June 2015 a deferred tax asset of £9 mulhon (2034 £9 milhion) principally arising from UK tradinglosses in the Group has not been recognised These
losses can only be of fset against taxable profits generated in the entities concerned There is currently insuffitient evidence to support the recagrition of
adeferred tax asset relating to these losses The UK trading losses can be carmed forward sndefinitely

At 30 June 2015 a deferred tax asset of £210 mihon (2014 £236 milhon) has not been recogrised i respect of overseas trading losses on the basis that it
15 not probable that these temporary differences will be utiised These losses include £207 mualion (2014 £233 million) with respect to the Groups German
holding company s former investment in KiIrchPayTV and £3 million (2014 £3 rllion) with respect to other subsidiaries

At 30 June 2015 adeferred tax asset of £274 milhion (2014 E£274 mullion) has not been recognised in respect of capital losses related to the Group s former
investment in KirehPayTV on the basis that utilisation of these temporary d fferences 15 not probable At 30 June 2015 the Group alsc has capital losses
with a tax value @stimated to be £4 million (2014 E9 mulion) incduding imparrment of a foatball ctub and other investments which have not been
recogrused as a deferred tax asset on the basis that it 1s not probable that they will be utihsed The capitallosses canbe carned forward indefimtely
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18 Inventories

woda xinens

2015 2034
Em £m
Television programme fghts an 488
Set-top boxes and retated equipment 26 50
Qther inventones 10 8
Current inventory B47 546
Non-current programme disgnbution nghts Ell 20
Tota!inventory 878 566
At 30 June 2015 75% (2014 81%) of Lhe television programme nghts and 100% (2014 100%) of set-top boxes and related equspment and other
inventones s expected to be recogresed in the incoma statement within 12 months
19 Trade and other receivables
2015 2014
Em £m
Gross traderecevables 337 235
Less provision for impairment of receivables {70 (95)
Net trade recervables 267 140
Amounts recervable from joint ventures and assocates 19 7
Amounts recevable From other related parties. 26 5
Prepayments 499 279
Accrued income 216 179
VAT 3 2
Other 66 23
Current trade and other recervables 1096 635
Prepayments ) 4
Amounts recervable from joint veritures and associates 70 -
Other recevables 10 3_
Non-current trade and other receivables 86 7
Totaltrade and other recervables 1182 642
Included wathuin current trade and other recervables s nil (2014 nul) which 1s due in more than one year
The ageing of the Groups net trade recevables which are past due but not impaired 15 as follows
2015 2014
£m £m
Upto 30 days past due date 27 27
30 to 60 days past due date a8 3
60 10120 days past due date 4 2
120+ days past due date 1 -
40 32
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates therr far vatues The Group is exposedto
credit risk on 1ts trade and other recevables however the Group does not have any significant concentrations of credit nisk, with exposure
spread over a large number of counterparties and customers Trade recervables pnncipally compnse amounts outstanding from subscnbers
advertisers and othei customers
Provisians for doubtful debts
2015 2014
Em Em
Balance at beginrung of year 95 89
Amounts utirsed (65) @n
Provided during the year a0 33
Balance at end of year 70 95
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20 Trade and other payables

2015 2014
Em £m
Trade payables 1361 802
Amounts owed to joint ventures and associates 15 1]
Amounits owed to other related parties 175 124
VAT 155 - 169
Accruals 1160 747
Deferred income 401 318
Other 162 "5
Current trade and other payables 21430 2286
Trade payables 3 23
Amounts owed to other related parties 5 10
Deferred income ] s
Other 52 18
Non-current trade and other payables 94 56
Total trade and other payables 31524 2342
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates thesr far values Trade payables principally
compnse amounts outstanding for programming purchases and ongoing costs
21 Provisions
At Provided Uthsed AL Acqursition Redassified Prowded Utilsed Fareign AL
uly during dunng 1July of Drsposalof duningthe during during  exchange 30June
2013 ctheyear theyear 2014 subsdianes subsidanes year theyear theyear movement 2015
£m Em £m £m Em im £m £m £m £m Em
Current hatilities
Restructnng provision’ 5 L] (8) 22 0 - - 9 [{5)] U] 21
Customer-related
provisiong? - - —a] £39) 2 3 33 e
Other provisions? 37 ] (19 24 3 - - 34 [4F3] - 49
04 20 (66) 48 13 - = 74 3N V)] 103
Non-current labihities
Other provisions* 14 10 [Q(0)] 14 20 (6) 6 5 5) [#3] 1]
Employee benefit
ebhigations® - - - - 30 - - - o [€)] 26
14 10 (10) 14 50 {6) 25 [€5] {5) 77
1 Thesaprovisions relate to costs mmcurred as part of corporate rastzuctunng and effioency programmes
2 These prowsions Inchude costs of a programme to replace agad customer equipment
3 Induded ncurrent other provisions are ameunts provided for legal disputes and warranty liabiloes
4

on the terms of the leases but are expected tocantinue up to August 2016
5  Durmng the year the Group acquired empliyee benefit obligations as part of its acquisition of Sky Deutschland and Sky Ralia on 12 November 2014 These obligauons are descnbad

further below

Employee benefit obligatrons

Inchuded within non-current other provisions are amounts provided for onerous conuacts for property leases and maintenance The timing of the cash flows are dependent

Acquired at Actuanal Foreign At

12 November Pension losses  exchange 30 June

2014 payments (gains) movement 2015

£m £m Em £m £m

Sky Deutschland defined benefit obligations 10 - 1 ()] 10
Sky [talia employee benefit obligations 20 m &) (&) 1%
30 m - (3 26
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a) Sky Deutschland

Sky Deutschland operates unfunded final salary defined benefit peasion plans that are not covered by plan assets These plans were closed to
future accrual The total defined benefit obligatson at 30 June 2015 was £10 milion The amount of the pension entitlement dependas on the salary
of the respective employee 8t the time of retirement. Employee benefit obligatons will be funded cut of current and future eamings

The present value of the chhigations was measured using the projected urit cred:t method apphang the followng principal assumptions

+ Actuanal projectrons (including assumptions about cost-of-lving increases salary tncreases etc) were made tovalue the future benefits expected
to be pard by the post-employment plan in the event of mortality (both dunng and after employment) disability and early retirement Semonty and
rates of employee tumover as well as salary and benefit levels at the measurement date were also taken into account in projecting future benefits

* The average present value at the measurement date has been caleulated on the basis of the assumed annual discount rate and the probability
of services being rendered

Tha following specific assumptions have been used
» Annual chscount rate of 2 45%

- Annual growth rate of 200%

- Annual salary growth rate of 2 50% and

- Annual fluctuation rate employees of 700%

Since there are no ptan assets as defined by IAS 13 {rewised 2011} and all actuanal gans and losses are recagrised when incurred the present value of
the defined benefit obligation of the penston obbgations and the cblrgations similarto pensions 1s equwalent to the provision recogrused on the balance
sheet

Reasonably possible changes to these assumpuions would not have a matenalimpact on the provision
The weighted average maturity of the defined benelit cbhigation 15 21 years as of the balance sheet date
Expected pension payments in the year to 30 June 2016 are tess than E1 milhion

b) Sky taha

Sky ltaka s emplovee benefit obligations retate to a provision for employee reurement determined using actuarial techriques (as discussed further
below) and regulated by Artucle 2120 of the ltalan Cvil Code These plans were dlosed o future dccrual The tatal employee benefit obligation at

30-Jene 2015 was £16 million -The benefit 1s pard upon retirement as a lump sum the amount of which corresponds to the total afthe provisions e m—— o —a

accrued dunng the employees service penad based on payroll costs as revalued until retrement Employee benefit cbligations will be funded out
of current and future earrungs

The present value of the obligations was measured using the projected unit credit method apphang the fallowsng principal assumprions

.

Actuanal projections (Including assumptions about cost-of-Iving Increases salary increases etc) were made o value the future benefits expected
to be paid by the post-employmaent plan in the event of mortakty (both dunng and after employment) disability and early retirement Senionty and
rates of employee tumover as well as salary and benefit levels at the measurement date were also taken inta accountin projecting future benefits

.

The average present value at the measurement date has been calculated on the basis of the assumed annual discount rate and the probatulity
of services being rendered

The following specific assumptions have been used
- Annual discount rate of 012%

= Annual infAation rate of 0 10%,

- Annualrevaluation rate of 1 58%

- Annual fluctuation rate employees of 5 39% and
- Annual mortality rate of 010%

Since there are no plan assets as defimed by 1A5 19 (revised 201) and afl actuanat gains and losses are recognised when incurred, the present value
of the defined benefit obhgation of the pension abligations and the obbigations sumilar to pensions 1s equivalent to the provision recogrised on the
balance sheet

Reasonably possible changes to these assumptions would nat have a matenal impact on the provision
The weighted average maturity of the defined benefit ebligation s 17 years as of the balance sheet date
Expected pension payments in the year to 30 June 2016 are less than £1 million
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22 Borrowings

2015 20%
£m Een
Current borrowings
Loan Notes 4 -
Us$780 milion of 5 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2015 468 -
Obligations under finance leases™ - - 22 -n
434 1
Non-current borrowings
US$750 mathan of 5 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Ogtober 2015 - 434
£400 mullion of 5750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2017} 399 400
US$750 mallion of 6100% Guaranteed Notes Fepayable in February 20184 474 442
U5%$3582 B million of 9 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Noevemnber 20180 372 353
U5%750 million of 2 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 20157 477 -
€600 million of Floatng Rate Notes repayable in April 20207 425 -
E450 mullion of 2 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable n November 20209 445 -
€1 500 million of 1 500% Guarantead Notes repayable in September 20218 1058 -
US$80C million of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Novermmber 2022¢ 504 466
€850 million of 1875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 20239 €0z -
US$1 250 mullan of 3 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2024 787 -
€1000 milhen of 2 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2026 705 -
£300 million of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 2027 296 26
£300 million of 4 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable n Novemnber 2029¢ 297 -
€400 muillion of 2 750% Guaranteed Motes repayable in November 20299 281 -
US5$350 million of 6 500% Guarartead Notes repayabie in October 20350 218 2
Loan Notes 2 1
Obblgavons under finarce leases™ 76 65
7418 2658
() Guaranteed Notes
At 30 June 2015 the Group had i 1ssue the Following Guaranteed Notes which were 1ssued by the Company
Interest Rate Hedging Hedged interest Rates
Hedged
Value* Fed Floaung
Em £m £m Fixed Floaung
US$750 million of 6 t00% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018 387 290 a7 6 829% EmLIBOR +1 892%
US$582 8 milkon of 9 500% Guaranteed Notesrepayable in Novemnber 2018 389 260 129 7091% &m LIBOR +5542%
£450 mulvon of 2 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2020 450 - 450 - 3Im LIBCR +1230%
1226 550 876
interast Rate Hedging Hedged interest Rates
Hedged
Value® Fixed Floating
€m €m €m Fixed Floating
US$750 miion of 2 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2019 581 - sa - 3m EURIBOR +0 656%
€600 milhon of Floating Rate Notes repayable n April 2020 600 - 600 - 3mEURIBOR +0750%
€1 500 milhon of 1 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2021 1500 1500 - 1500% -
US$800 mullion of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable tin November 2022 BBY 689 - 2N8% -
€850 million of 1875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2023 B850 BSD - 1875% -
US$1250 rullion of 3 750% Guaranteed Notes repayabte in September 2024 959 969 - 2187% -
€1 000 rmithon of 2 S00% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2026 1000 1,000 - 2500% -
E30Q million of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 2027 41 a4 - 5006% -
£300 mithon of 4 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2028 99 399 - 3122% -
€400 mithan of 2750% Guaranteed Notes repayable m Novernber 2029 400 400 - 2750% -
7399 5218 1,381
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A% 30 June 2015 the Group had inissue the followang Guararueed Notes which wera ssued by Sky Group Finance plc
Interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Value® Fixed Floatng
£m £Em Em Fixed Floaung
US$750 milion of 5 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable iy October 2015 428 7 257 5427% &m LIBOR + 0698%
£400 milhon of 5 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2017 400 350 50 5750% 6mUBOR - 0229%
US$350 milion of 6 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable In October 2035 200 200 - 5826% -
1028 721 307
At 30 June 2014 the Group had inissue the followang Guaranteed Notes which were issued by the Company
Interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Hedged
Vahe" Fixed Aoating
Em Em Em Fixed Roating
US%750 milion of 6100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018 387 290 a7 6 829% 6mLIBOR +1892%
US$582 B midbon of 9 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2018 389 260 129 7091% 6m LIBOR + 5542%
US$800 millkon of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2022 s03 503 - 3226% -
£300 mulon of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable n May 2027 300 300 - 6 000% -
1579 1353 226
AL 30 June 2014 the Group had inissue the fallowing Guaranteed Notes which were issued by Sky Group Finance plc
Interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Hedged
Value® Fixed Floating
Em Em £m Fixed Floating
US$750 milhon of 5 625% Guaranteed Notes repayablein October 2015 428 m 257 5427% 6m LIBOR + D 698%
E400 mdlon of S 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Qctober 2017 400 350 50 5 750% 6m UBOR - O 229%
US$350 million of & 500% Guarantead Notes repayable in October 2035 200 200 - 5 825% -
1028 721 307

Hedged value 13 the final fredempton vakie induding any hedging

The Group has a Global Medium-Term Note Programmae (the Programme ) which provides the Groupwith a standardised documentation

platform for semor debt issuance of up to £5 bilionin the major global bond markets All sterling and euwro Guaranteed and Floating Rate Notes 1ssued
dunng the year were 1ssued under a £10 bullion acquisition retated programme The £300 milion of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes matunng in May 2027 have
been issued under the Group s histerical EMTN Programme

(u) Finance leases
The murimum laase payments under finance leases fall due as follows

2015 2014
£m £m
Within one year 2 n
Between one and five years 53 39
After five years 128 136
203 186

Future finance charges on finance lease habilities {105) o}
Present value of finance lease habilities 98 76

The main obligations under finance leases are n relation to

@ finance arrangements in connection with the broadband network infrastructure Dunng the year repayments of £7 mullion (2014 £7 mdlon) were
made agamstthe lease A proporuon of these payments have been allocated against the capital outstanding The jease bears interest at a rate of
1% and expres in November 2039

{b) finance arrangements In connection with the contact centre in Dunfermline During the year repayments of E1milon (2014 £1million) were made
agamst thelease A proporuan of these payments have been allocated against the capital amount outstanding The lease bears interest at arate of
8 5% and expires in September 2020

(&) finarce arrangements in connection with datacentre equipment Dunng the year repayments of £3 million (2014 £3 mullion) were made aganst the
lease A proportionof these payments have been allecated agamst the capital amount cutstanding The lease bears interest at a rate of 3 6% end
éxpires in June 2016

[d) finance arrangements in connection with set-top boxes During the year repayments of £5million (2014 ndywere made against the fease A proportion
of these payments have been allocated against the capital amount cutstanding The lease bearsinterest at a rate of 7% and expires in March 2017
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22 Borrowings {(continued)

(1+) Revolving Credit Facilmy
The Group has a El billion RCF wath a matunty date of 30 Novernber 2020 syndicated across 15 counterparty banks each with a mimmum credit ratung
of Baa2 or equivalent from Standard & Poor s At 30 June 2015 the RCF was undrawn (2074 undrawn)

The Group s subject to two finanoal covenants under the RCF a maximum leverage ratio and a minumutm interest cover ratio which are tested at the end
of each sx-monthly penod The key finangial covenants are the rauo of Net Debt to EBITDA (as defined in tha loan agreements) and EBITDA to Net Interest
Payable (as defined n the loan agreements) Net Debt to EBITOA must bé no more than 4 00 1 and EBITDA to Net Interest Payable must be acleast 3501
The Group was in compliance with these covenants for pll penods presented .

{iv) Guarantces

The following guarantees are in place relatng to the Group sborrowings (a) Sky UK Limited Sky Subscribers Services Limited Sky Group Finance plc
and Sky Telecommurucations Services Limited have given jont and several guarantees n relation to the Company s E1 billion RCF and the outstanding
Guaranteed and Floating Rate Notes 1ssued by the Company and (b) the Company Sky UK Limited Sky Subscribers Services Limited and Sky

Telecommurucations Services Lirwied have given Joint and several guarantees i relation to the outstanding Guaranteed Motes issued by Sky Group
Finance plc

The Company has provided a back to-back guarantee in favour of 21st Century Fox inc of up to hatf the annual payment oblgations of Sky Deutschland
Fernsehen GmbH & Co KG under the 2013 2017 Bundeshga agreement It has also provided back-to-back guarantees in favour of 215t Century Fox Inc
inrelation to UEFA Champions League and other programming obligauons of Sky taha 5

23 Dervatives and other financial instruments

Set out below are the dervative finanaial iInstruments entered into by the Group to manage its interest rate and foreign exchange risks.

2015 2014
Asset Uabihty Assel Liability
Far Vake Notonal Faw Value Notional Fair Value Nauonal Fair Value Netonal
Em £m £m Em Em E£m Em Em
Fair value hedges
Interest rate swaps 62 1275 - - 77 o7 - -
- Cross-currency swaps — == —=—= 18 468 = = = = = =
Cash flow hadges
Cross-currency Swaps 137 1435 a2) 503 72 €561 (36> 503
Forward foreign exchange contracts 148 2191 (36) 1065 23 764 (76) 1464
Net mwestment hedges
Cross-currency swaps 150 1943 (3) 400 - - - -
Derivatrves notin a formal hedge relauonship
Cross-currency swaps S1 353 {25) 390 21 353 (59) 390
Forward foreign exchange contracts 17 244 7 4560 2 27 (4) 262
Interest rate swaps - - - 260 5 260 - -
Total SB3 79067 {83) 3 078 210 3022 {175) 2619
The matunty of the denvative finanoal instruments is as follows
2015 2004
Asset Liabitity Asset Liabality
Em Em Em £m
in one yesr or less. 130 (22) 15 (39)
Between cne and two years 46 (€] a3 (25)
Between two and five years 254 (40) 132 {75)
Inmore than five years 153 (14) 20 (36)
Total 583 (83) File] (175)

The far value of the Group's debt-related denvative porifolio at 30 June 2015 was a £378 mullion net asset (2014 net asset of £80 malion) wath notional
prnaipal amounts totaling £7025 mithon (2074 £2 934 mitlion) This comprised net assets of £125 millon designated as cash flow hedges (2014 net
assets of £36 mulion) net assets of £80 milion dasignated as fair value hedges (2014 net assets of £77 milion) net assets of £147 mellion designated
as net wwestment hedges (2014 ril} and net assets of £26 milllon not designated i a formal hedge relavonshp (2014 net assets of £33 millron)

AL 30 lune 2015 the carrying value of financial assets that were uponinitial recognition desrgnated as financial assets at farr value through profit or loss
was nil 2014 i)

In the pnor year the Group entered mto a collar arrangerent to manage its exposure to movements in the value of certan avalable-for-sale nvestments
aver a period of up to 18 months and with a notenal value of £22 milion The collar Instrument was not designated for hedge accounting purposes with
movemants In the fair value of the collar being taken to theincome statement thus collar arrangement was closed out in the current year
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Hedge accounting dassificatton and impact

The Group designated certan interest rate swaps as fairvalue hedges of interest rate nisk and cross-currency swaps as fair valug hedges of interest rate
ask and fareign exchange nsk this represents 25% (2014 26%) of the total debt refated dervative portfolia Movements in the fair value of the hedged
items are taken ta the ncome statement and are offset by movements in the Fair value of the hedgmg nstruments to the extent that hedge accountng
15 achueved

The Group designated certain fixed rate cross-currency swaps as cash flow hedges this represents 28% (2014 40%) of the total debt related derwatrve
partfolio As such rhe effective portion of the gain or loss on these contracts s  reported as a separate component of the hedging reserve and s then
reclassified to the income Statement m the same penods that the forecast transactions affect the income statement. Cash Aows on the swaps oceur
semt-annually up to and mclusve of the refevant bond maturity disclosed in note 22 During the curment year gains of £137 mulkon were removed From
the hedging reserve and charged to finance tosts in the iIncome statement to offset the currency translation movements in the undertying hedged debt
(2014 losses of E140 million)

The Group designated certain Cross-currency Swaps as netinvestment hedges this represents 33% (2004 i) of the total debt related dervative partfolic
Exchange differences ansing from the translation of the net investmeant in foreign eperatians are recagrised directly in equity Gains and losses on those
hedging nstruments {which include bonds and cross-currency swaps and are separately designated as net investment hedges) designated as hedges

of the net investments n foreign operations are recogrised In equity to the extent that the hedging relatonshipis effectve these amounts are included
n exchange differences on translation of forergn operations as stated in the statement of comprehensve income Gaing and losses relating to hedge
neffectveness are recognised immediatelyn the mcome statement for the penod Gains and lossas accumulated in the foreign currency transiation
reserve are included in the (ncome statement when the foreign cperation 1s disposed of

The Group designates certain forward foreign exchange contracts and the intninsic element of options (collars) as cash flow hedges of forecast forergn
currency sales and purchases Gains or losses are refeased from the hedging reserve and recycled to the income statement in the same period as the
hetiged item 15 recognised If forecast transactions are no longer expecied to occur any amounts ncluded in the hedging reserve related 1o that Forecast
transactuion would be recognised directly in the Income statement During the current year losses of £1 milion were removed from the hedging reserve
and credited to operating expense in the income statement (2014 gains of £7 mullion) Gans of £26 mifkon were removed from the hedging reserve

and debuted o revenue in the ingome statement (2014 losses of £2 milhon)

Hedge effecuveness testing 1s performed quarterly using the dollar-offset approach The actual movement in the hedging items 15 compared wich
the movementn the valuauon of the hypothetically perfect hedge of the underlying rsk at inception and any ineffectveness is recogrised drectly
n the income statement. For far value hedges ineffectiveness of £1 million was recogrised in the income statement dunng the current year (2014
Evmiilon) For cash flow hedges ineffectiveness of less than E1 million was recogrused in the mcome statement duning the current year {2014 rul)
For net investment hedges ineffectiveness of mil was recogmised in the income statement durng thea current year (2014 nil)

A hedge relavonship s deemed to be effective if the ratio of changes in valuation of the underinng hedged item and the hedging instrument 15 withm
the range of 80% to 125% Anyrelationship which has a ratio outside this range 1s deemed to be ineffective at whuch point hedge accounting 1s suspended
During the year ended 30 June 2015 there were no instances in which the hedge relationship was not highty effectve (2014 noinstances)

Financial itnstruments
(a) Carrying value and fair value
The accounting dassification of each dass of the Group s financial assaets and financial Tiabilities together with ther fairvalues s as follows

Held to Dervatives  Denvatves in Total
matunty Avatable- deemed held heaging Loans and Other carmng Total fair
HVeSUNCNLS far-sate fortracding refatonshups recenvablos habtines, value value
Em £m £m Em Em Em £m Em
At 30 June 2015
Quoted bond debt - - - - - (7808) (7808) (8 083)
Dervative financial nstruments - - 36 464 - - 500 500
Trada and other payables - - - - - (2894 (2894 (2 854)
Provisions - - - - - (29) (129 (129)
Obhgations under finance leases
and other borrowings - - - - - (104) 04 {104)
Available-for-sale imvestments - N - - - - k1l 3
Trade and other recervables - - - - BO7 - 807 807
Shoct-term deposits 1100 - - - - - 1100 1100
Cash and cash equvalents 50 - - = 1328 - 1378 1378
AU30June 2014
Quoted bond debt - - - - - (2592) (2592) (2 896y
Denvatne financial instruments - - {35) 70 - ~ 35 a5
Trade and other payables - - - - - (1788) (1788 (1788)
Provisions - - - - - (45) (45) (45)
Oblgations under finance leases
and other barrowings - - - - - an on o
Availabte-for-sale nvestments - 533 - - - - 533 533
irade and other recewables - - - - 349 - 349 349
Short-term deposits 295 - - - - - 295 295
Cash and cash equvalents 300 - - - 782 - 1082 1082
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23 Denvatives and other financial nstruments (conttnued)
The fair values of inancial assets and financa!l hiablities are determined as follows

.

as at 30 June 2075 and 30 June 2014 The volatile nature of the markets means that values at any subsequent date could be significantly chfferent

The farr value of financa) assets and financial labdites with standard terms and condiuons and whuch are traded on actve bquid markets

s determined with reference to quoted market pnces

The faw value of other financial assets and financial habilities (excluding dervative instruments) s determined 1in accordance with generally
accepted pnang models based on discounted cash flow analysts using pnces from observable current market transacuens and dealer quotes

for sundar instruments

Foreign currency forward contracts are measured using quoted forward exchange rates and yield curves denved from quoted interestrates

matching matunties of the cantracts

Interest rate and Cross-currency swaps are measured at Lthe present value of future cash flows estimated and discounted based on the

applcable yreld curves denved from quoted interest rates and

The farr value of obligations under finance leases and other borrowings 1s estimated by discounting the future cash flows to net present value

The farr value of short term deposits and cash ardd cash equivalents is equivatent to carmying value due to the short-term nature of these instruments
The differences between carrying values and Fair values reflect unrealised gains or losses inherant in the finanaal instruments based on valuations

from the values reported above

Cash and ¢ash equivalents classified as held to maturity investments compnse money market deposits which have matunty dates of less than
three manths from inception Money market deposits enhanced return investments and tn-party repurchase agreements which have matunty
greater than three months from inceptron are classified as short-term deposits

Cash and cash equivalents cfassified as loans and recervables mainty compnse investments in AAAM rated money market funds which can
be withdrawn without notice

(&) Faur value hierarchy

The foligwing table categonses the Group s financial instruments which are held at farr value into one of three levels to reflect the degree to which
observable inputs are used in determining therr fair values

Fairvalue Leveld Level 2 Level 3
Em Em £m Em

AL30 June 2005 ©
Financal assets
Available-for-sale financial instruments
Otherinvestments 3 3 - 28
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Interest rate swaps 62 - 62 -
Cross-currency swaps 356 - 356 -
Farward faresgn exchange contracts 165 - 165 -
Total 614 583 28
Financal labiities
Financial kabdives at fair value through profit orloss.
Cross-currency swaps [C1w)} - (a0} -
Forward fareign exchange contracts 43 - 43 -
Total (83) - (B3) -
At 30 June 2004
Finangial assets
Avalable-for-sale financial nstruments
ITV investrment. 514 514 - -
Other investments 19 4 - 15
Financal assets at fair vatue through profit or loss
Interest rate swaps B2 - 82 -
Crass-currency swaps 93 - 94 -
Forward foreign exchange contracts 35 - 34 -
Total 743 518 210 15
Financial habihties
Financrat habihtees at Fair value through profit orloss
Cross-currency swaps (95) - (95) -
Forward foreign exchange contracts 80) - 00 -
Tatal Q75 - (175) -

N4 Shyple




Annual Report 2015

Level 1
Fair values measured using quoted pnces (unadjusted) m active markets
for wdentical assets or habihties

Lavel 2

Fair values measured using inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the assat or liability either directly
orindwectly Dervative financial nstrument fair values are present, values
determined from future cash flows discounted at rates denved from
market source data

Lavel 3

Fair values measured ustng inputs for the asset or habiiky that are not
based ¢n ooservable marketdata Certain of the Groups available-for-
sale financial assets are held at fair value and are categorsed as Level 3
1 the faw value huerarchy

24 Financial nsk management

Group Treasury activity

The Group s Treasury function s responsible for rarsing finance for the Groups
operations Logether wmith associated hquichty management and managemment
of faremgn exchange interest rate and cadit nsks Treasury operauons are
conductad wthen a framework of polices and gudeknes authonsed and
reviewed annually by both the Audit Comumittee and the Board, whch recene
regular updates of Treasury actrty Denwvative instruments are transacted
for sk management purpeses only 1115 the Group s pohcy that all hedging is
to cover known nsks and No speculative trading 1s under taken Regular and
frequent reporung to management Is required for all transactions and
exposures, and the internal control ermronment s subject to penodi renew
by the Group s ntermal audit team

The Group s prinopal market nsks are exposures to changes i interest
rates and foretgn exchange rates which anse both from the Groups

Financal statements

Interest rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for both dervatives and non-denvative
financial instruments at the balance sheet date For floatmg rate
hatuliues the analysis 1s prepared assuming the amount of habiity
outstanding at the balance sheet date Is outstanding for the whole year

For each ane hundred bas:s point nse or fall in interest rates
at 30 June 2015 and if all other vanables were held constant

= The Groups prafit for the year ended 30 June 2015 wou!d increase
or decrease by less than £1 mition (2014 profit for the year would
merease or decrease by E8 million) The year-cn-year movement 1s
dnven by an mnarease in the level of floating debt held

Orther equity reserves would decrease of increase by £12 milion
(2014 decrease orincrease by £6 million) ansng from movements
n cash flow hedges

.

Aone hundred basis poit nse or fall 1 interest rates represents a large
but reahstic movement whech can easty be multiplied to give sensitivities
&t different interest rates

The sensitmty analyses prowded are hypothetical only and shauld be used
wath caubion as the impacts prenaded are not necessanly indecatrve of the
actual impacts that would be expenenced because the Groups actual
exposure to market rates changes as the Group s portfolio of debt, cash and
foresgn currency contracts changes In sdditon the effectof achangemna
partoutar market vanable on far values or cash ficws 15 calculated wathout
considenng interrelationships between the vanous market rates or
meigating actions that would be takentyy the Group The changes in
valuauons are estimates of the impact of changes in market vanables

and are not a prediction of future events or antcipated gans or losses

sources of finance and its operations Fol lowing evaluaticn of those
market risks the Group selectively enters into dernvatwve financal
Instruments to manage these exposuras The pancpal nstruments
currentdy used are interest rate swaps to hedge interest rate nsks and
cross-currency swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge
transactronal and transtational currency exposures

Interast rate sk

The Group has finanaal expesures to UX euro and USinterestrates ansing
pamanty from the Group s long-term bonds and other borrowings The Group s
hedgng policy requires that between 50% and 85% of borrowings are held at
fixed rates This s achweved by ssuing fixed rate bonds or floating rate notes
and then using interest rate swaps to adust the balance between fixed and
floabing rate debt. The Groups bank debt s at floating rates and when drawn
means that the mwx of fixed and floating rate debt Auctuates and is therefore
managed to ensure comphance with the Group s hedgng pohey At 30 June
2015 76% of borrowings were held at fixed rates after hedging {2014 80%)

The Group uses dervatives o convert all of its US dollar-denominated debt and
assoaated interest rate obligations to pounds stering or euros (5ee secton
on forergn exchange nik for furtherdetad) At 30 June 2015 the Grouphad

1o net US dollar denominated interest rate exposure onsts barrawings

The Group designates certain interest rate swaps as hedges of interest
rate nsk and certatn cross-curnency swaps as Fawr value hedges of bath
nterest rate nsk and currency risk. Movernents in the farr value of the
hedged exposure are taken to the income statement and are offset by
movements in the fair value of the hedging nstruments which are also
taken to the income statement Any hedge meffectveness s recogmsed
directly iy the income staterent In the year ended 30 June 2015 this
amounted to €1 million (2014 £1milior)

At 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 the Group s annual finance costs woukd
increase or decrease by less than £1 milhion for a cne-notch downgrade or
upgrade in rating assurming RCE remains undrawn

Foreign exchange nsk

upda) Ndnens

TOURLIBADY)

A combination of cross-turrency and interest rate swap arrangements

15 used to converk the Group s debt and associated interest rate
chligations to pounkds sterling or euros at fixed exchange rates

At 30 June 2015, the split of the Group s aggregate borrowings Into
their core curencres was US dollar 429 euros 39% and pounds sterfing
19% (2014 US dotlar 71% and pounds sterhing 29%) At 30 June 2015 30%
of the Group s long-term borrowangs after the impact of denvatives

are denominated in pounds sterling and 70% in euros

The Group s exposed ta currency translation on the consotidauon of its
foresgn operations It uses certamn borrowings and dervative instruments
to hedge s netinwvestments in these subsidianes

The majority of the Group s revenues and operating expenses are
denommated in pounds sterhng [n the current year approximately
2a% of operating expenses {£2 206 mdlion) was denominated n euras
(2014 approximately 4% (£272 miion)} and approxamately B% of
operating expenses (758 mihon) was denominated i US doflars
(2014 approumately 10% (E629 muilien)) In the current year
approximately 25% of revenues (£2 572 milion) was denomenated

In euros (2014 5% (€ 393 mullron))

Following the acquisitions of Sky Deutschland and Sky Itaka the Group
Treasury function hedges the foretgn currency exposure of its foresgn
subsiharies into s local reporung currency In all ternitones the US dollar
expense relates mainly to the Group s programmung contracts with US
supphers together with US dolfar-denominated set-top box costs in the
UK the eurc revenues primarily relate 10 subscribers located in iretand
The UK s exposure to euro-denominated revenue is offset to a certan
extent by euro-denominated costs related mainty to certamn
transponder costs and eure finanang costs on its borrowings the net
posiuon being a euro surplus (2014 surplus)

The Group hedges currency exposures on US dollar denorminated highty
probable cash flows byusing farward forergn exchange contracts
purchased up to five years ahead of the ¢ash flow and currently no langer
hedges transactronal eurg exposures arising in the UK
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24 Financial nsk management (continued)

it1s the Group s policy that all US dollar foreign currency exposures
are substanually hedged in advance of the year in which they occur

A¢ 30 June 2015 the Group had purchased forward foreign exchange
cantracts representing

+ Approximatety 92% of US dollar-denomunated tosts falling due wathin
oneyear (2014 95%) and on a dechnng basis across five-year planning
horizon are hedged via

- Qutstanding commitments to purchase In aggregate Us$2611
million (2014 USE2 358 milion) at an average rate of U5$158to
EV100 (2014 US$16C o £100)

- Quistanding commitments to purchase ¢ aggregate US$1891 millron
(2014 USSNI) at an average rate of US$118to £100 (2014 Ni)

= inrespect of its legacy euro hedging programme and ta hedge current
balance sheet exposures

- Ouistanding cormitments to sell in aggregate €976 mdbon (2014
€1078 mdltor) at an average rate of €122 1o £100 (2014 €118 to £100)

- Qutstanding commitments to purchase inaggregate €525 million
(2014 €11 milhon) at an average rate of £137 to E1 00 (2014 €118
to £100)

No forward foreign exchange contracts fall due beyond five years (2014 Two)

The Group designates the following as cash {low hedges for hedge
accounting purposes

+ Forward foreign exchange contracts

« Cross-currency swaps where interest on both legs 1s at a fixed
interest rate —

the vatuation of dervatives (2014 gansof £27 mufion) The same weakenmg
would have a bereficial impact on other equity of 538 milon (2014
benelioat impact of €479 muthion)

A 25% strengthening in pounds sterbng aganst the euro would have the
effect of increasing profit by £69 milion (2014 increasing profit by £2 rmalion)
of which gains of £53 milhon relate to non-cash movements in the valuation
of dervatives (2014 Nid) The same strengthening would have a beneficial
mpacton other equity of £102 mdhon 2014 beneficsal enipact of

E155 mithon)

A 25% weakening In pounds sterling aganst the curo waulkd have the effect
of decreasing profit by £ 15 milion (2014 decreasing profit by €3 milion) of
which losses of EB3 mdlionrelate to non-cash movements i the valuation of
denvatves (2014 Nil} The same weakenng would have an adverse rmpadt on
other equity of £170 million (2014 adverse impact of E259 milion)

A 25% strengthening in euro agasnst the US dollar would have the effect of
mngrasing peofit by €35 milion (2074 M) None of this amount relates to
non-cash maverments In the valuation of denvatives The same strengthening
would have a adverse impact on other equrity of €312 mdhon {2014 Ni)

A 25% weakenuing 11 euro aganst the S dollar would have the effect of

decreasing profit by €58 mulon (2014 Nil} None of this amount relates to
non-Cash movements in the valuaton of dervatrves. The same weakerung
would have an benefiaal impact on other equity of €520 mdlan (2014 NI}

The sensitraty analyses provided are hypotheocal only and should be used
with caution as the impacts prowided are not necessanly mdicative of the
actuahmpacts that would be expenenced because the Group s attual
exposure to markel rates s constantly changing as the Group s portfobo of
debt cash and foresgn currency contracts changes In addition the effectof a
change i a parucular market vanable on fair values or cash flows 1s calaulated
without considenng interelauoniships bebween the vanous market rates or

As such the effective poruon of the gain or koss on these contracts s
reported as a compaonent of the hadging reserve outside the income
staternent and is then reclassified to the income statement in the same
periods that the forecast transactions affact the iIncome statement.
neffecirveness of less than £1 milhon was recognised 1n the iIncome
statement dunng the year (2014 less than £1 millon)

Acombination af US dollar denominated interest rate and US doliar/
pound sterling Cross-currency swaps s used to convert fixed collar
denomnated dabt to loatng stering denominated debt The mterest
rate swaps are designated as farr value hedges The associated cross-
currency swaps are not designated as hedgnginstruments for hedge
accountng purposes and as such movements in ther valug are recorded
directly in the income statement

Foreign exchange sensitivity

The following analysis detatls the Group s sensitivity to movements

in pounds stering and euros against those gurrences mwhich it has
significant transactions The sensitivity anatysis includes foreign currency
denominated assets and liabrlities at the balance sheet date and
outstanding foregn currency denorminated financalinstruments

and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 25% change

n foreign currency rates

A 25% strengthering in pounds stering against the US dollar would have
the effect of reducing profit by £12 miion (2014 reducing profit by

£15 muttion) of which losses of £13 mellon relate to non-cash movements
m the vatuation of dervatves (2014 losses of £16 milion) The same
strengthening would have an adverse impact on other equity of

£359 mithon (2014 adverse impact of E28B milkon)

A 25% weakenimg i pounds sterling against the US dollar would have
the effect of increasing profit by £19 mithon (2014 increasing profit by
£25 million) of which gains of £21 muliion relate ta non-cash mavemenis in

TILZALNE ocuions that would 5@ taken by the Group The changesw .
valuabions are estimates of the impact of changes in market vanables and
are not a predicuon of future events or anticpated gains or losses.

Hedge accounting

Theinterest rate and foreign exchange rate nsk secuons above outhine the
Group s pohcies regarding use of denvauve products Further detad on
valuations and the mpact of hedlge accounting dunng the year are promded
nnote 23

Credit nsk

The Group 1S exposed to counterparty default nskamounting to iwested
cash and cash equivatents and short-term deposits and the positve far
value of denvatre finanoal assets held

Ths sk 1s deemed to be low Counterparty sk forms acentral part of the
Growup s Treasury polcy which is monitored and reported on regularly The !
Group manages ¢redit nsk by dversifiyng its exposunes across a wide number
of counterpartes such that the maximum exposure to any indmdual
counterparty was 5% of the total asset vatue of mstruments at the end of
the year Treasury policies ensure that all dervatve transactions ane only
effected with strong relationship banks and at the date of sigring each
camed a muumum credit raung of BaaZ or equivalent from Standard &
Poor's. To rmilgate remairng nsks counterpanty credit and soveregn ratngs
areclosely monitored and no more than 10% of cash deposits are held with a
single bank counterparty (with the exception of overnight deposits which are
rwested i a spread of ARAT rated liquidity funds)

The amount recogrused m the income statement mrespect of credit nsk for
dervatives deemed held for trading is £ million (2014 rul)

Credit nskin our residential customer base 15 mitigated by biting and
eollecung i advance for digital television subscnpbions for the majonty of
our resadenual customer base The Group s maximum expasure Lo credit sk
on trade recervables 1 the carnpng amounts as disclosed mnote 19
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Liguichty nsk

Our pnncipal source of hquidity 1s cash generated from operations combined with access to a £1 bilhon RCF which expires in November 2020 At 30 June

2015 thes facility was undravwn (30 June 2014 undrawn)

To ensure contnuity of funding, the Group s policy 1s Lo ensure that avadable funding matures over a period of years At 30 June 2015 70% (2014 29%)of

the Group s total avaiatide funding (including avadable undrawn amounts on our RCF) was due to matune inmore than five years

Full detads of the Group s borrowings and undrawn facilities are shown in note 22 other than trade and other payables shown innote 20 and provisions

shown In note 21

The following table analyses the Group s nan-derwative financiat labilittes net settled denvative financial nstruments and gross settled financia
INStrumMments Into relevant matunty groupings based on the remaming penod at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date The amounts
disclosed n the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows and may therefore not reconcile to the amounts disclosed on the balance sheet for
borrowings denvauve financial instruments provisions and trade and ather payables

8etween Between

Lass than one and twoand More than
12months  twoyears fveyears fiveyears
£m £

Em £m
At 30 June 2015
Non dervatve fnancal habilities
Bonds - USD 626 137 1615 1920
Bonds - EUR 57 55 £95 2948
Bonds - GBP 66 66 552 1309
Oblgations under finance leases and other borrowings 8 26 3 128
Trade and other payables 2676 123 -] 9
Provisions a1 15 3 16
Net settled denvatives
financial assars [€3)] (24) 40) (&)
Gross settled defivatves
Qutflow 2292 1046 3359 389
Inflow (2433) (1130) {3 665) (4 216)

1odu x3ens
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Between Between

Less than one and twoand  More than
2Zmonths  twoyears frveyears  five years

Em Em Em £m
AL 30 June 2014
Non denvative financial iabtlities
Bonds -USD n 541 1002 947
Bonds - GBP 4 a S0 444
Oblgatisns under finance leases and other borrowings il ” 27 139
Trade and other payables 16886 Q9 3 -
Prowisions a5 8 - 2
Net settled dervatwes
Financial assets (30) (24) [Z0)] -
Gross settied denivatives
Outflow 1356 1129 1867 960
inflow {1327 (1121 (1 865) (955)

Capstal Risk Management

The Groups cbjectives when managing capital are to endeavour to ensure that the Greup has the ability to access capital markets when necessary and
to optumise ity and operating flexibitity through the arrangement of new debt while seeking Lo minimuse the cost of capital The Group monitors
s hquidity requwrernents regularly and 15 satisfied that it has access to sufficient iquidity and operatng flexibility to meet its capital requirements

The Group manages its short and long-term capstal structure by seekng to matntain leverage ratios consistent wath along-term investment grade
credit rating (BBB or better from Standard & Poor’s and Baa3 or better from Mocdy s) The Groups current ratingsare BBB (Standard & Poor s)

and Baa2 (Moody 5) both with stable outlook Theleverage ratios assessed by these rating agencies are those of Net Debt EBITDA and Gross Debt
EBITDA Net Debt 1s defined as total borrowsngs ncluding the cash flows ansimng under operating leases and transponder prepayments less cash and
cashequivalents excluding dervatives Gross Debt does not reduce total borrowings by the inclusion of cash and cash eguivalents

The Group 1s also required tomaintain a Net Debt EBITDA ratio below 4 00 1 and an EBITDA to Nek Interast Payableratio at above 3 50 1under the
terms of tts RCF The RCF definition of Net Debt does not requtre the mclusion of future operating lease or transponder cash flows.

At 30 tune 2015 the Net Debt EBITDA ratio as defined by the terms of the RCF was 2 51 (2014 ©77) and the EBITDA to Met Interest Payable ratio
was 1061 (2014 1331)
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25 Share capital

2015 204

Em Em

Allotted called-up and fully paid shares of 50p 1713 017230 (2014 1562 885 017) B60 781
2015 02

Number of Numberof

ordwnary ardinary

shares shares

Allotted and fully paid dunng the year

Beginrung of year 1562885017 1593905152
Issug of own equity shares 156132213 -
Shares repurchased and subsequently cancelled - (31020165)
End of year 1719017230 1562885017

The Company has one class of erdinary shares which carry egual voting rights and na contractual nght to receve payment On 25 July 2014 the Company
announced the plaang of 156 132 213 new ordinary shares representing approximately 9 95% of existung issued share capital for total gross proceeds

of £1358 mdlron £12 milhon of transaction costs were accounted far as a deduction from equity

Share option and contingent share award schemes
The Company operates vanous equity-settled share option schemes (the Schemes ) for certarn employees

The number of newly 1Issued shares which may be allocated under the Schemes on ary day shall not when aggregated with the numbar of newty ssued
shares which have been allocated in the previous 10 years under the Schemes and any other employee share scheme adopted by the Company exceed
such number as represents 5% of the ordinary share capital of the Company in Issue immedrately prior to that day In deterruning this hmit no account

shall be taken of any newly rssued shares where the nght to acquire the newly issued shares was released lapsed cancelled or otherwise became

Incapable of exercise Opuons and awards which will be satsfied by ESOP shares do not fall wathin these headroom hmits

The share awards outstanding can be summansed as follows

2015 20

e Number af Number of

ordinary ordinary

shares shares

Executive Share Option Scheme options® - 147020
Sharesave Scheme options™ 8357072 7976924
Management LTIP awards™ 27108781 16 056 961
LTIP awardst 8895963 5575000
Management Co-lnvestment LTIP awargds™ 2021348 2085719
Co Investment LTIP awards™ 1768738 2235172
48161,902 34 056796

{) Executive Share Option Scheme options

All Executive Share Option Scheme options outstanding at 30 June 2014 have vested No opuons have been granted under the scheme since 2004

Grants under the Executne Share Option Scheme were made on an annual basrs to selected employees with the exercise price of options being equal

to the Company s share price on the date of grant For those optrons with perfarmance condiuons growth in EPS had to exceed growth 1n the Retail Prices

Index plus 3% per annum in order for awards ta vest Options vested on an actelerated basts over a perod of up Lo four years from the date of grant.

The contractual ife of all Executive Share Qption Scheme options was 10 years

{n} Sharesave Scheme options

All Sharesave Scheme options outstanding at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 have no performance cnitena attached other than the requwement that
the employee rematns in employment with the Group Options granted under the Sharasave Scheme rmust be exercased within six months of the relevant

award vesung date

The Sharesave Scheme 15 open to all employees in the UK and Ireland Options are normally exercisable after either three or five years from the date
of grant. The price at which aptions are offered s not less than BO% of the nuddle-markes, price on the deahng day immediately preceding the date
of Invitation It 1s the policy of the Group to rmake an invitation to employees 10 par tipate in the scheme followrng the announcement of the end

of year results
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{m) Management LTIP awards

All Management LTIP awards outstanding at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 vest only if performance condittons are met Awards granted under
the Management LTIP must be exercised within five years of the relevant award vesting date

The Company grants awards Lo selected employees under the Management LTIP Awards under this scheme marror the LTIP vath the same performance
conditons Awards exerased under the Management LTIP can only be satisfied by the issue of market-purchased shares

(v) LTIP awards

All LTIP awards outstanding at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 vest only if performance conditions are met Awards granted under the LTIP must be
exeroised within Five years of the relevant award vesting date

The Company operates the LTIP for Executive Directors and Semior Executives Awards under the scheme are granted in the form of a nd-pniced aption
The awards vestn full or 1n part dependent on the satisfaction of specified performance targets For awards made m 2008 and 2009 (1 e awards that
vested in 201 30% of the award vested dependent on TSR performance over a three year performance penod relatve to the consttuents of the FTSE
100 at the tima of grant and the remairung 70% vested dependent on performance aganst operational targets The TSR performance targets were not
applcable to awards made between July 2010 and March 2012 but have been re-introduced for awards granted from July 2012 onwards

(v) Management Co-lnvestment LTIP awards

All Management Co-Investment LTIP awards outstanding at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 vest only if performance conditions are met, Awards granted
under the Management Co-lnvestment LTIP must be exercised within frve years of the retevant award vesting date

The Company grants awards to selected employees under the Management Co-investment LTIP Awards under this scheme rnurror the Co-Investment LTIP
with the same performance condibions
(vi) Co-Investment LTIP awards

All Co-trvestment LTIP awards outstanding at 30 Jurve 2015 and 30 June 2014 vestonly If performance conditions are met Awards granted under the
Co-Irvestment LTIP must be exercised within five years of the relevant award vesting date

The Comparny operates the Co-Investment LTIP award for Executive Drrectors and Senor Executives Employees who participate tn the plan are granted
a conditional award of shares based on the amount they have invested in the Company S shares The investment vall be matched up to a rmaximum of
15 shares for every share invested subject to a three-year EPS performance condition

For the purposes of the disclosure below the Management LTIP LTIP Management Co-Investment LTIP and Co-Investment LTIP awards { Sensor Managemant.
S¢hemes”) have been aggregated

The movement in share awards outstanding 15 summarised in the following table

Senior management

Executrve Schame Sharesave Scheme Schemes Total

Weighted Weighted Wweighted Weghted

average average average average

exerose exgrase oxeraise exgrose

pnce pnce pace pnce

Number £ Number £ Number [3 Number 4

Qutstanding at ) July 2003 IN 247 579 750954 534 37253124 000 453442325 096
Granted duning the year - - 3022211 682 10068,6805 [a]¢]s] 13091016 157
Exerased dunng the year (77180&) 595 (1217391) 496 (20763738) Q00 (22752935) 047
Forfeited during the year (10 518) 503 {961166) 589 (625 339) 000 (1597021) 353
Expired dunng the year (1905) 662 (26684) 447 - - (28 589) 4861
Cutstanding at 30 June 2014 147020 s03 7976924 590 25932852 D00 34056796 140
Granved duning the year - - 33386m 708 16 874 287 000 20212968 n?
Exercised during the year (144 88B) 503 (1796 333) 499 (1887798) 000 (3829019) 253
Forfeited during the year - - (131874} 637 (124 511) 000 (2256385) 319
Expired dunng the year (2132) 503 (20326} 536 - - (22 458) 533
Qutstanding at 30 June 2015 - = B8 367,072 650 39794 830 000 48161902 113

The weighted average market price of the Groups shares at the date of exerase for share options exercised during the year was £9 09 (2014 £8 42)
For those exeraised under the Executive Scheme it was £8 90 (2014 £B 48) for those exercised under the Sharesave Scheme itwas £9 37 (2014 £882)
and for those exerased under the Senior Management Schemes 1t was £8 84 (2014 E8 40)

The rmuddie market closing pnce of the Company s shares at 26 June 2015 was £10 66 (27 June 2014 £893)
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25 Share capital (continued)

The follewing table suramatises mformation about share awards outstanding at 30 June 2015

Servor management

Sharesave Schema Schemes Total

werghted Weighted Weighted

average average average

T - remaimng - remairung remanng

contractual contractual contractual

Ife ife tife

Range of exercise pnces Nurnber Years Number Years Humber Years

£000- £100 - - 39794830 59 39794830 59

£400-£500 7827 o - 7827 01

£500-£6500 1586 366 1?7 - 1586 366 17

£600 - £700 3643835 21 - 3643835 2

£700-£800 2129044 34 - 3129044 34

8 367072 25 39794830 59 48161902 53

The following table summanses information about share awards outstanding at 30 June 2014
Senior management

Executive Scheme Sharesave Scheme Schemes Tatal

Weighted Wetghted Weighted Weighted

average average Fverage average

remalnmg remaimng remaining remamlng

contractual contractual contractiual contractual

hfe kfe bfe Ife

Range of exercrse pnces Number Years Number Years Number Years Number Years

EOOC - EN00 - - - - 25932852 60 25932852 60

£300-£4C0 - - 28381 03} - - 28 381 o

£E400~£500 - - 339644 n - - 339544 1
ESOO=~EG00~— - = - —147020 0Y—3239353 20 3386 373 19—

EGOD-E700 - - 4369546 31 - - 41369546 31

147020 01 7976 924 25 25932852 60 34056796 52

The range of exerase prices of the awards outstanding at 30 June 2015was between ni and E708 {2014 n! and E6 82) For those outstand:ng under the
Sharesave Scheme it was between £4 33 and £708 (2014 £372 and £6 82) and for all awards outstanding under the Senior Management Schemes the

exercise price was nil (2014 nul)

The following table summanses additonal information about, the awards exerasable at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014

2015 2014

Average Average
remaining  Weghted remaining  Weighted
contractual average contractual average
Options feof exerse Options kfeof exXCITISe
exernsable  exercrsabie pnce exerosable  exerusabie pnce
at 30 June options E at30 June apuons E
Executive Scheme - - - 147020 03 503
Sharesave Scheme 41293 o 494 78 668 01 495
Semor Management Schemes 273138 27 000 872229 is 000
314 411 23 065 1097917 28 103

Information for awards granted during the year

The weighted average farr value of equity-scttled share options granted during the year as esbimated at the date of grant was €603 (2014 E553)

This was calculated using the Black-Scheles share gption pricing model except for awards which have market-based performance conditions where a
Monte-Carlo simulation mode! was used and for grants of ni-priced options which were treated as the award of a free share The far value of nd-priced
options granted dunng the year was measured on the basis of the market price of the Company s shares on the date of grant discounted for expected
dmidends which would not be recewved over the vesting pened of the options
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The Monte-Caro simulation model reflected the histoncalvolatibties of the Company's share pnce and those of all other compares to which the

Company s performance would be compared, over a penad equal to the vesung penod of the awards

Expected volatihity was determined by calcutatng the histoncal volatiity of the Company $ share price over a penod equal to the expected hfe of the
options Expected ife was based on the contractual life of the awards and adjusted based onmanagement s best esumate for the effects of exercise

restrctions and behavioural considerations

() Sharesave Scheme

The weighted average farr value of equity-settled share awards granted dunng the year under the Sharesave Scheme as estimated at the date of grant

was £145 (2014 E189) This was calkculated using the Black-Scholes share option pnang mocdel

The following weighted average assumptions were used in calculating these fair values

Share pnce £8 82 EB 70
Exergse prce E708 £6 92
Expected volatiity 20% 2%
Expected Ufe ADyears 4 Dyears
Expected dvidends 35% 33%
Risk-free interest rate 15% 1 7%

(1) Senior management Schemes

The wesighted average far value of equity-settled share awards granted dunng the year under the Semor Management Schemes, as estmated at the date of
grant was £693(2014 E6 62) The far value of awards with market-based performance conditions was calculated using a Monte-Caro ssimulation model
Awards granted as nil-priced options were treated as the award of & free share For alt other awards fair value was calculated using the Black-Scholes

share optson pricaing model

The follawing weighted average assumpuons were used in calculating these fairvalues

2015 2014
Share price . Eg8s £828
Exertise price EO DO EQ QD g
Expected vaolatility. 1% e L 10%.
Expected life 30vyears 21years w
Expected dwidends 35% IMm &
Risk-free iInterest rate 14% O 4% g
[
26 Shareholders’ equity
2015 2014
Em £m
Share capital 860 781
Share prermium 2704 1437
ESOP reserve 25) {145)
Hedging reserve 62 @0
Avallable-for-sale reserve W 455
Other reserves 120 455
Retained earrungs (455) (1891)
3165 1,072

Purchase of own equity shares for cancellation

During the pnior year at the Companys AGM en 22 November 2013 the Company was granted authority to return £500 mull:on of capizal to shareholders
wia ashare buy-back programime This authonty was subject to an agreement between the Company and 215t Century Fox Inc (and others) dated 25 July
2013 whereby following any market purchases of shares by the Company 215t Century Fox Inc. would sell to the Company sufficient shares to maintain
its percentage shareholding at the same level as apphed prior to those market purchases The price payable to 2ist Century Fox, Inc would be the price

payable by the Comparry in respect of the relevant market purchases (the 2013 Share Buy-back Agreement )

VONEULIO DPINARS

At the Company s AGM on 1 Novemnber 2072 the Company was granted the authonty to return £500 sdhion of capital to shareholders via a share buy-back
programme This authornity was subject to an agreement between the Company and 2ist Century Fox Inc (and others) dated 28 July 2012 on substantially

the same terms as the 2013 Share Buy-back Agreement
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26 Shareholders’ equity (continued)

The followng table provides information about purchases of equity shares by the company inchuding purchases by the Group s ESOP
during the fiscal year

Total Average

number of phce pad

shares per share

- - - - ==+ = -—purchased - - £

Juty - -
August - -
September 1325800 886
October - -
November - -
December - -
January - -
February - -
March - -
Apnl - -
May - -
June - -
Total For the year ended 30 June 2015 1325800 B 86

1 Alshare purchases were open market transactons and are ndudec n the month of settement

Share premium and special reserve
On 10 December 2003 the High Court approved a reduction in the Company s share prefmum account of £1120 mullion as approved by the Comparwy s
shareholders at the AGM held on 14 November 2003 This amount was equal to the Company-only profit and loss account reserve defiot at 30 tune 2003
As part of the apphcation the Company s balance sheet at 30 September 2003 was required 1o be presented At thatdate the deficit on the Company-
only profit and loss account reserve had reduced by £14 million since 30 June 2003 to £1106 million As a condition of the reduction the reduction in the
share premium account of £1120 milhon was permitted to be offset against the profit and loss account reserve by the amount of the defiot at
30 September 2003 The excess of £14 mihon was credited to a specal reserve which s included in other reserves and under the terms of the reduction
— e wiill remain undistiibutable until all the creditors of the Company and its guarantors (as at 10.Decemtber. 2003) are paxd

£50P reserve

The cost of the Comparny s ordinary shares held by the Group's ESOP 15 treated as a deductionn armving at total shareholders equity The movement
in the ESOP reserve was as follows

Numberof Average
ordinary prce pad
shares per share Em
At1luly 2013 20527423 £715 147
Share aptians exercised during the year (22752935) E727 {i66)
Shares purchased by the ES0P dunng the year 19534 511 EB 40 164
At 30 June 2014 17,308,999 £8 40 145
Share options exercised during the year (3825019) EB39 32}
Shares purchased by the ESOP dunng the year 1325800 EB8 86 12
At 30 June 2015 14 805 780 EB 44 125

Hedging reserve

Changesin the fair vatues of derivatives that are designated as cash flow hedges are imtially recogmsed in the hedging reserve and subsequently
recogrused in the income statement when the retated hedged items are recognised in the income statement In addition deferred taxaton relating
to these denvatives s also imittally recogmised in the hedging reserve pnior to transfer to the income statement

Avalablo-for-sale reserve

Available-for-sale investments are carrred at fair value where this can be reliably measured with movements in the fair value recognised directly
nthe avadable-for-sale reserve At 30 June 2015 the Group s available-for-sale reserve was a defrot of £t milion (2004 reserve of £455 mulion)

Other rescrves
The Group s other reserves include a capital redemptionreserve a merger reserve a foreign currency translation reserve and a special reserve The caprtal
redemption reserve was £190 milion as at 30 June 2015 (2014 £190 mihon) The merger reserve was £125 million as at 30 June 2015 (2014 £222 million)

The speaial reserve was £14 madlion as at 30 June 2015 (2014 £14 million) The foreign currency translation reserve was £(209) nibon as at 30 June 2015
(2014 £29 millon)
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The merger reserve was created 1n accordance with the merger relief provisions under section 131 of the Companies Act 1985 (as amended) and section
612 of the Companies Act 2006 relauing to the accounting for business combinauons involving the issue of shares at a premium Merger relef providad
relief from the requirement to create a share premium account in a parent company s balance sheet In prepanng consolidated financial statements

the amount by which the fair value of the sharesissued exceeded therr nommal value was recorded wathin a merger reserve on consolidation rather than
v a share premium account This merger reserve was retaingd upon transaion to IFRS as allowed under LIX law

The merger reserve which 15 included in other reserves was created as aresult of the purchase by the Group of interests in two entities SIG was
purchased on 12 July 2000 where consideration was pad by the issue of equity shares in the Company BiB was purchased between 28 June 2001 and
11 November 2002 whera consideration was pad by the issue of equity shares in the Company Followsng the Groups disposal of a controlling stake in
Sky Bet, the merger reserve inrelabion to the purchase of SIG has been transferred to retamned eamings At 30 June2015 the Group's merger reserve

was £125 milhion (2014 €222 millon)

27 Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement

Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash generated from operations

liodo 2821ens

DIUBLLIDADG

2015 2014
Em Em
{ontinuing operations
Profit befora tax 1516 1025
Depreciation smparment and losses (prohits) on disposal of progerty plant and equipment 2597 204
Amorusation mpairment and losges (profits) on disposal of intangible assets 469 228
Share-based payment expense 91 60
Net finance costs 275 Ha
Profit ondisposal of avalable for-sale investments (492) -
Profit on disposal of associate (299) -
Share of results of joint ventures and assooates (28) (35)
1829 1596
Decrease (ncrease) in trade and other recenables 1 (28)
Decrease in rwentories 568 - o
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables (367) 172 g
Increase (decreasea) In provisions 65 A8y ;Ei—
(Decrease) increase in dervabive financial instruments 06) 4 3
Cash generated from operations 2080 1696 §'
28 Contracted commitments, contingencies and guarantees W
a) Future minimum expenditure contracted for but not recogmsed in the financial statements
Between Totalat Total at
Lessthan1 landS After 5 30 June 30 June
year years years 2015 2014
Em Em Em Em Em
Telewision programme rights 2936 8233 366 1535 440
Set-top boxes and related equipment. 305 - - 305 180
Third-party payments' 164 204 - 368 155
Transponder capaaty’ 146 683 334 1163 519
Property plant and equipment no 12 - 122 36
Intangble assets? 49 93 9 151 104
Smartcards® 55 187 30 272 178 EA
Other 509 546 144 1199 521 3
4274 9958 883 BN 6,094 g
(1]
Foreagn currency commitments are translated 1o pounds SteTing at the rate prevathing on the batance sheet date 3
The third-party payment Commitments aze inrespect of distnbution agreements for the telewsion channels owned and broadcast by thrd pares retaded by the Group to retail Q"
and commercial subscribers ( Sky Distnbuted Channels ) F
2 Transporder capacity commitments are m respect of the satelktes that the Group uses for digital transmisSens Lo both retad subserbers and cable cperators §'

3 Commuments in relation te the provision of smarteards Smartcards under development arg included within intangiole assets The amounts nchuded above are the expected

ongoihg smarteard costs based on fovecast customer levels
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28 Contracted commitments, contingencies and guarantees (continued)

b) Contingencies and guarantees

Certain subsidianes of the Company have agreed to provide additronal funding to several of therr investments in hmited and unhnuted companies
and partnerships in accordance wath funding agreements Payment of this additional funding would ba required if requested by the Investaesin
accordance with the funding agreements The maximum patential amount of future payments which may be required to be made by the subsidianes
of the Company to therr investments in both tmited and unlimited companues and par tnerships under the undertalings and additional funding
agreements 1s £8 mithon (2014 £17 million)

The Group has guarantees in place relating te the G;oups borrow:ng-s see note 22 For an overview of the ongong c;wes-tl-gatl-ons and reviews of
regulatory and competition matters involving the Group refer to the Regulatory matters sectton i the Strategic report
29 Operating lease commitments

The minimum lease rentals to be pad under non-cancellable operating leases at 30 June are as follows

2015 2014

Em £m

Within one ygar 65 47
Between one and five years 155 "z
After five years 190 Ex]
. 410 197

The majority of operating leases relate 1o property The rents payable under these leases are subject to renegotiation at the vanousintervals
speafied in the leases

The mintmumn sub-lease rentals to be recerved under non-cancellable cperating sub-leases at 30 June are as follows

2015 2014

£m Em

wathin one year 2 1
2 1

Sub-lease rentals primarily relate to property leases

30 Transactions with related parties and major shareholders

a) Entities with joint control or significant influgnce
Dunng the year the Group conducted business transactions with companies that form part of the 215t Certury Fox Inc group a major shareholder in the
Company

Transactions with related parues and amounts cutstanding in relation ta Lhose transactions and with related parties at 30 June are as follows

200% 2014

£m £m

Supply of goods or services by the Group 45 82
purchases of goeds or services by the Group 275) az7)

Amounts owed to the Group 26 5
Amounts owed by the Group {(120) (134)

At 30 June 2015 the Group had expenditure commitments of E580 million in relation to transactions withrelated partres (2614 £99 milhon) which
principally refated to mimimum television programming nghts commitments

Gaods and services suppled

Duning the year the Group supphed programming arume transmission and marketing services to 2ist Century Fox Inc companies v

124 Skyplc




Anrual Report 2015

Finantial statements

Purchases of goods and services and certain other relaucnships
During the year the Group purchased programming and technical and marketing services from 21st Century Fox tnc companies

On 25 July 2014 the Company announced the plaoing of 156 132,213 new ordinary shares representing approximately 999% of exsting issued share capital
(see note 25) 215t Century Fox Inc subscnbed for 51106 495 of these shares 50 as to maintain Its existng percentage shareholding in the Company
following the placing

©On 12 Novernber 2014 the Group acquired 100% of Siy ILalia Sd and 57 4% of Sky Deutschland AG from 21st Century Fox Inc For Further details see nate
31 In addion the Group repasd the loan that Sky Deutschland AG had outstanding with 215t Century Fox Inc of £105 milbon In connection with this
Sky dispased of its 21% stake n the National Geographic channel to 2ist Century Fox inc on the same date For further details seenote 6

0n 12 June 2015 Sky increased its shareholding in Tour Racing Lrmited (Team Sky ) as a consequence of the transfer to Sky of a 25% shareholdmg from
st Century Fox e The shares were purchased for £25 being therr par value

There s an agreement between 2152 Century Fox Inc and the Group pursuant to which it was agreed that for solong as 21st
Century Fox Inc directly orindirectly holds aninterest of 30% or more in the Group 2ist Century Fax Inc will not engage in the business
of satelite broacicastng in the UK or lreland

Shara buy-back programme
Dunng the prior year, the Company purchased and subsequently cancelled, 12 140 586 ordinary shares held by 21st Century Fox Inc as part
of its share buy-back programme

b) Joint ventures and assaciates
Transactions between the Company and its subsidhanes which are related parues have been eliminated on consolkdatien and are not disclosed
n this note Transactons between the Group and its joint ventures and associates are disclosed below

Transactions between the Company and its subsidianes joint ventures and associates are disclosed in the Company s separate financial siatements

2015 2014

Em £m

Supply of services by the Group 26 19
Purchases of goods or seraces by the Group (55) {65}

Amounts awed by Joint ventures and associates to the Group 89 8
Amounts owed tojoint ventures and associates by the Group {16} )

uoda aBnens

Services supphed are pnmanly the provsion of transponder capacity marketing, artime sales and suppart services Purchases represent fees payable
for channel carnage

Amounts owed by joint ventures and assocates indudes £70 million (2014 E1 million) relating to loan funding This Ioan bears interest at a rate of 8 20%
(2014 one month LIBOR plus 13%) The maximum amount of loan funding cutstanding i total from joint ventures and associates dunng the year was
£70 mithon (2014 E1 mithon)

The Group took out a number of forward exchange contracts wath counterparty banks dunng the year on behalf of the joint venture AETN UK
On the same dates as these forward contracts were entered into the Group entared into equal and apposite contracts with AETN UK inrespect
of these forward contracts

Consequently the Group was nat exposed to any of the net gains or losses on these forward contracts The face value of forward exchange contracts
with AETN UK that had not matured as at 30 June 2015 was £12 milon (2014 £4 mdlion)

During the year US$2 milkon (2014 US$4 million) was paid to the 1oint venture upon matunty of farward exchange contracts and US$nil {2014 fess than
US$1 midlion) was recerved from the joint venture upan matunty of forward exchange contracts

Durning theyear £1 milon (2014 £3 milior) was recerved from the jomnt veniune upon matunty of forward exchange contracts and €3 midion
{2014 £5 millhion) was paid to the joint venture upon matunty of forward exchange contracts

Burning theyear €3 milhion {2014 €5 milion) was recesved from the joint venture upon matuniy of forward exchange contracts and €l {2014 less than
€1 million) was paid to the jomnt venture upon maturity of forward exchange contracts

Al 30 June 2015 the Group had mintmum expenditure commitments of E1 million (2014 £3 millior) with sts gt ventures and associates

c) Other transactions with related parties

The Graup has engaged in a number of transactions with compantes of which some of the Company's Directors are also directors These do not meet
the definiuon of related-party transactons

d) Key management
The Group has a related-party relationship with the Directors of the Company At 30 June 2015 there were 14 (2014 15) members of key
management al! of whom were Directors.of the Company Key management compensation 1s disclosed in note B
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(continued)

31 Acquisition of subsidiarnies

a) Sky Deutschland

On 12 November 2014 the Group acquired 89 05% of the issued share capitat of Sky Deutschland AG obtaining contral of Sky Deutschiand with
8745% acquwed through the offer pracess and the balance acquired subsequent ta the dose of the offer acceptance penod on 3 November 2014
Sky Deutschland operates a pay TV business in Germany and Austna Sky Deutschland was acquired to take advantage of growth opportunities,
henefits of scale and synergy potential

The amounts recognised in respegt of the identifiable assets acquired and habiliies assumed are set out In the table below

Recogrused
far values
£m
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and habhities assumed
Intangible assets 1874
Property plant and equipment 170
Deferred tax assets G0%
Derrvauve financial assets 13
Inventones 344
Trade and other recenables 73
Cash and cash equivalents m
Trade and other payables 627)
Deferred tax habmties (494)
Derivative financial labslities (5)
Provisions 3)
Borrowings (N2)
1743
Non-controlling interest (191)
Goodwill 2848
4 400
Satisfied by
Cash 4323
Fair value of previously held interest: Y 7 S
Total consideration transferred 4 400
Net cash outflow arising on purchase
Cash consideration 4323
Less cash and cash equivalents acquired my
Net cash outflow arising on purchase 4212

The faw value of the financial assets acquired includes trade recewables with a fair value of E45 milhon and a gross contractual value of £108 mitiion
The best esumate at acguisition date of the contractual cash flows net ikely to be collected was £63 million

Goodwill of £2 848 multian ansing from the acquisition reflects growth opporturities and buyer-specific synergies None of the geodwll recognised s
expected to be deductible for ncome tax purposes

The value of the non-controlling interest in Sky Deutschland was estimated by calculating the non-controlling interest s share of net denufiable assets
at the acquisition date At 30 June 2005 the Group held 9613% of the issued share capitat of Sky Deulschland AG

From the close of the offer acceptance pened on 3 November 2012 and prior to abtaining control of Sky Deutschland the Group acquired a1 6% equity
invesument with a carrying vatue of £72 milhon The Group recogrised a gan of £5 mition within profit on disposat of available-for-sale investments as a
result of measuring this iInvesiment to fair value as at the date of the acquisition

Deferred tax assets and habilities which are shown separately above have been offset where appropnate on the balance sheet

Acquisiion related costs for the purchase of both Sky Deutschland and Sky Itala (see below} comprised advisory and transacton fees including nter
aka Financial adwvisary costs corporate legat advice due diltgence reporung. assurance services and tax advice of £50 milion within operating expense
and Finance costs of £57 mdlion incurred in connecoicn with £6 6 billion of firm underwnitten debt faokties and other associated transaction Costs

Far the perod between the date of purchase and 30 June 2015 the acquisition contnbuted £866 million to the Groups revenue and a £22 million loss
tothe Groups operating profit 1f the Group had completed the purchase on the first day of the financial year 1tis estimated Lhat the acquisition would
have contributed £1377 milhon to Group revenue and an £11 miltion 10ss to the Group s operating prafit for the year
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On 12 November 2014 the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Sky italia S obtatung control of Sky ltakia Sky Italia operates a pay TV

business inIzaly Sky Itaba was acquired to take advantage of growth opportunities benefits of scale and synergy potentaal
The amounts recogrused in respect of the identifiable assets acquired and habihues assumed are set out in the table below

woda xovens

TUBWAOD

Recogrised
fair values
Em
Recogrused amounts of identifiable assets acnuired and habilities assumed
Intangible assets 1780
Property plant and equipment 360
Deferred tax assets n
Derwvative financal assets 1
Inventories 600
Trade and ather recervab'es 43
Currgnt tax assets 13
Cash and cash equivalents s
Trade and other payables (10923
Deforred tax abilities (a03)
Current taxhabiies )
Provisions (50)
1,714
Goodwnll 752
2466
Satisfied by
Cash 2056
Disposal of iInvestmentin assooate 410
Tatal consideration transferred 2 466
Net cash outflow ansing en purchase
Cash consideration 2056
Less cash and cash equivalents acquired {(5)-
Net cash outlow ansing on purchase 2051

The farr value of the financial assets acquired includes trade recgivables with a far value of £305 million and a gross contractual valug of £394 muthon

The best estmate at acquisibion date of the contractual cash flows not likely to ba collected was £89 million

Goadwill of £752 milbon ansing from the acquisition reflects growth opportuniies and buyer-specific synergies None of the goodwill recognised s

expected to be deductible for ncome tax purposes
Deferrad tax assets and habdities which are shown separately above have been offset where appropnate on the balance sheet

Far the penod between the date of purchase and 30 June 2015 the acquisition contnibuted £1297 milhon to the Group s revenue and £25 million to the
Group s operating profit IF the Group had completed the purchase on the First day of the finanqal year it is estimated that the acquisitian would have

contrbuted E2 086 milion to Group revenue and £61 mithon to the Group s operating profit for the year
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32 Group investments

The Group and its subsidiaries are invohved in the aperabion of pay tefewision broadcasting and home communications services inctuding the prowsion
of broadband and telephone operations Certain subsichary companses provide anallary functions which support these operations Jont ventures and
associates are nvoitved in the transmussion of specalist channels and on'ine bettng actmities

Unless otherwise indicated all share holdings owned directly or indirectly by the Group represent 100% of 1ssued share capital of the subsidiary
All entities pnmarly operate in their counury of incorporation

Descripuon and Descrnption and
Name proportion of shares held (%) Name proportion of shares held (%)
Sky Group Lmited 1ordinary shara of E1
Subsidiaries Sky Heplthcare Scheme 2 Limited 2 ordinary shares of £1 each
Direct holdings of the Company Sky History Limited 2 ordinary shares of £1 each
Sky Holdings Lumated E00 orhinary shares of £1each
Incorporated m the UK Sky Home Communications Lirwted 9528 124 ordinary shares of £1each
British Sky Broadcastng Group 1ordnary share of £1 Sky In-Home Service Limited 1576 000 orgenary shares of E1each

Lmited

Sky International mited

1orchnary share of £1

Pricnuc Lmited 2138 ordinary shares of £1¢ach Sky Internaponal Oporations Limited 2 540 916167 ordinary shares of E1 each
Sky Finance Eurcpe Limited } ordinary share of £1 Sky IP InLernabional Limited 300 ordinary shares of Eleach
Sky Group Finance pk 50 000 ordinary shares of £1 each Sky IQ Lim:ted 100 ordhinary shares of E1 each
Sky Guarantee tnvestrments Limited Mambershipinterest (100%) Sky LLU Assets Lmited 90 orcknary shares of £1 each
Sky Operational Finance Limited 31440 638 ordinary shares of £1 each Sky Mobile Services Lmuted 1 ordinary share of £1
Sky Television Limized 11 376 982 ordinary shares of £1each Sky New Media Venture Limited 2 ordinary shares of E1 cach
Sky UK Limuted 10002 002 ordinary shares of £1each Sky News Limited 1ordinary share of £1
Sky Publications Limited 2 orchinary shares of £1 each

Incorporated in the Channel Istands

Sky Retail Stores Lirited

5001 055 ordinary shares of £0 0) each

Rainbow Finance (lersey) Lmited

100 ordinary shares of £1
1000 000 preference shares
of £0 01 each

Subsicharnias

Sky SNA Limited

100 erdinary shares of £1 each

Sky SNI Lirited

100 orcinary shares of EYeach

Sky SNI Operatons Limited

200 ardinary shares of 1 each

Indirect holdings of the Company

Incorporated in the UK

Sky SubsCribers Services Limited' & ordinary shares of EIEach

Sky Tetecommumcations Limited

1000 ordinary shames of £1 cach

Sky Telecommunications Seraces
Limuted

5 821 764 ordinary shares of £1 each

Sky Ventures Limited

912 ordinary shares of £1 each

365 Media Group Lirmited 172 orcinary shares of £001 each The Cloud Networks Limited 30583 988 ordinary shares of
Amstrad birmuted 160 ordinary shares of £010 each E£QDQ025 each

Britssh Sky Broadcasting bamited tordmnary share of £1 Taur Racing Limited? 85 ordinary shares of £1¢ach (B5%)
Ciel Bleu 6 Limrted 51850 ordinary shares of EQ 01 each Virtuous Systems Limited 125 ondinary shares of £1 each
Cymrud International Limited 2 orconary shares of El each 2nak Jones Productions Limited 1ardinary share of E1

Dolphun TV Limited 200 000 ordinary shares of E0 001 each

International Channel Pack
Distnbution Limited

1erdinary share of £1

Kidsprog Umited 2 ordinary shares of £1 each
Love Productions Lirmited 7724 oruinary shares of £ each (70%)
MEMSTV Limuted 10 ordinary shares of £1each

Multicultural & Ethnic Madia Sales
Limited

144 orawnary shares of Eleach

incorporated in Germany

B5kyB GmbH

2 orginary shares of €25 000 and €100

Premiere WIN Fernsehen GmbH

2 ordinary shares of €25 000 each

SCAS Satelite CA Services GmbH

1 ordinary shore of €25 000 each

Sky Deutschland AG

931114937 ordinary shares of €1each
{9613%)

Sky Deutschland Customer

25000 ordinary shares of €1 each

Newserge Limuited 100 ordinary shares of £1 each Center GmbH

NOW TV plc Yordinary share of £1 Sky Deutrschiand Fernsehen Partnership Interest (100%)
Parthenon 1 Limited 1 ordinary share of £1 GmbH & Co KG

Parthenon 2 Limited 2 ordinary shares of £1each Sky Deutschland Service Center 1ordinary share of €25 000
Parthenon Entertamment Umited 100 ordinary shares of £1each GmbH

Parthenon Media Group Limited

2 ordinary shares of £1each

Sky Deutschland Verwaltungs GmbH 1 ordinary share of €25000

Rwvals Digrtal Medha Limited

200 ordinary shares of EO01 each

S ATV Publishing Lirited 100 ordinary shares of £1 each
Sky Channel Lmited 1ordmary share of £1

Sky Comedy Limuted 2 orginary shares of El each
Sky CP Limited 1 sredinary share of E1

Sky Europe Limited 1 ordinary share of £1

Sky Global media plkc

1 ordinary share of E1

Sky German Holdings GmbH?

26000 orchnary shares of €1 ¢azh

Sky Hotel Entertamnment GmbH

9 erdinary shares of £17500 €107700
€50 D00 €88 600 €63000 €175700
£17500 €105 000 and £70000

Sky Media Network GmbH

2 orcinary shares of £6025 and €18975

Sky Osterraich Fernsehen GmbH

1 ordinary share of £35000

The Cloud Networks Germany
GmbH

2 orcinary shares of €975000
and €25000
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Name

Descnption and
proporucnof shares held (%)

Description and
Narme proporuon of shares held (%)

Incorporated inltaly

Joint venturas and associates

Sky Itaha S

Quata interest (100%)

Sky Itahan Holdings SpA

121000 ordinary shares of €1 each

Incorporated in the UK

Sky ttalia Network Services Sr

Quota interest (100%)

AETN UK 50 000 ordwnary shares of E1 each {50%)

Telepiu Srl

Quata interest (100%)

Incorporated in the USA

Attheraces Hold ings Limited? 1584 ordinary shares of £1 each
(4835%)

20 recoupment shares of £0 01 each

BSkyBUS Holdings Inc?

100 ordinary shares of $0 001 each

Bolt Pro Tem Lmated 100 ordinary shares of Et each (33 3%)

Callisto Media West LLC?

Membership interest (100%)

Jupiter Entertainment Holdings LLC? Membership interest (60%)

Supeter Entertanment LLC?

Membershipinterest (100%)

Jepiter Entertainment North LLC?

Membershup interest (100%)

Love Amenican Journeys LLCH

Membership interest (100%)

Love Baking LLC?

Membership interest (300%)

Love Productions USA In¢?

1000 ordinary shares of $1each

Love Sewing LUC*

Membership interest (100%)

PhotoDps LLC? Membership interest (1009%)
USA Love Development, LLC? Membership mterest (J00%)
Wild West Alaska LLC? Membership interest (100%)
2ITVLLE Membership interest (51%)

incorparated in other Overseas countnes

Acetrax AG (Switzerland) 12281326 ordinary shares of
CHF 0 01each
Sky Channel SA (Belgium} 1250 orchnary shares of €49 60 each

Sky Internauonal AG (Switzerdand)

200 0C0 ordinary shares of CHF 100
each

Sky lreland Limited (frelanc)

1aordinary share of €1

Sky Manufactunng Services Limited
{Hong Kong)

10000 orcinary shares of HKD 100 each

Sky Osterroch Verwaltumg GmbH 1 ordinary share of €36 336
{Austna)

The Cloud Netwerks Denmark APS 125000 ordinary shares of DKK 10D
{Lenmark) each

The Cloud Networks Nordics AB 640010 ordinary shares of SEK 100
{Swedany each

Colossus Productions Limited? 2000 orchinary shares of £0 01 each
(20%)

& Q00 ordinary sharas of £1each (209%)
Membership interest (25%)

4989 ordinary shares of £1each

(49 99%)

104 ordinary B shares of 0 O1 each
{40%)

Odeon and Sky Filmwarks Lmited? 2450 ordinary B shares of £1each (50%)
Paramount UK Partnerships® Partnership Interest (25%)

VERtTre 2009 Limited ™ 50 Grdinary shares of ET each(50W)

OTV Services Lurweed®
Interner Matters Umited?
Lovesport Productions Limited®*

Nickelodeon UK Lirnited®

incorporated inthe Channe stands
Cyan Blue Topeo Limited

200556 ordinary A2 shares of £001
each (20 06%)

200 conungent value shares of £0 01
each

Incorporated in the UAE
Sky News Aratwa F2-LLC

47616 666 oranary shares of $1 each
(50%)

Incorporated in Austrahia
Austrahan News Channel Pty Limited | ordinary share of ALID$T (33 3%)

This entity has 8n accounteng reference data of 1 Januafy

These encities have 8n accountmng reference date of 3 December

Thesa entities have an accounung reference date of 21 March

Trus enuty has an accounuing reference date of 31 May

These enuties hove an accounting reference date of 30 September
Tharegistered address of Paramount UK Partnership is 17419 Hawley Crescent
Camden London NW1BTT The Paramount UK Partnership1s  joent venture of the
Group and s inchuded within the consabdated sccounts 1n accordance with Note
UHo) Consequently the Paramount UY, Partnerstup has taken advantage of the
€xemptaon within the Partnerships (Accounts) Regutavons 2008 (regulation 7)
from filmg annual financial statements

AW oh e —

The folowang companies are axempt from the requirements relating to the sucit of
incdhvidual accounts for the year/penod ended 30 June 2015 by wirtue of section

4794 of the Campanies AcL 2006 Kidspmg Limted (02767224} Parthenan Medha Group
Limwted (06944157) Pronc Limited (05348872) S ATY Publishing bimited (MOBSS75)
Sky IP Internatonal Limited (07245844) Sky Operational Finance Limited (02906394)
and Sky Televis on Linuted (01518707)
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33 Events after the reporting period

As announced on 17 February 2015 Sky mitiated the necessary steps for the transfer of the remaining approximately 4% rmunonty shareholdings i Sky
Deutschland The requisite shareholder resclution was subsequently approved by 99 4% of the votes cast at an Extraordinary Genera! Meetng of Sky
Deutschland on 22 July 2015 and we expect the formal transfer of the minonty shareheidings to be effective in the second quarter of the 2015/16 financial
year

34 Sky plc company only financial statements

Company Income Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2015

2ms 2014
Notes £m Em
Revenue 229 225
Operatng expense 97 4a3)
Operating prafit 132 181
Dindend income from subsichanes o] 510 622
Investment income B 131 64
Finance costs B 2on {B81)
Profit before tax C 572 786
Taxauon o] (24) (316)
Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders 548 750
The accompanying notes are an tntegral part of this income statement,
Company Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 30 June 2015
2015 204
£m Em
— —— profut for the year attnibutable to equity shareholders 548 S0
Other comprehenswe incomea
Amounts recogrised directly i equity that may subsequently be recycled to the Income statement
Gain (loss) on cash Now hedges 76 {(79)
Tax on cash flow hedges (6) .18
60 4 (6D
Amounts reclassified and reported in the income statement > A A N
(Loss) gain on cash flow hedges m3 97
Tax on ¢ash flow hedges 23 22
(90} « « 75
Cther comprehensive (l05s) tncome for tha year {net of tax) (30) 14
Total comprehensive income for the year attnbutable to equity sharchofders 518 764

All results relate to continuing operations
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as at 30 June 2015
2015 201
Motes £€m £m
Non-current assets
Investments In subsichanes E 9517 8146
Other recewvables G 6 2
Dervauve financial assets J 358 175
Deferred tax assets F 1 -
5882 B 323
Current assets
Other recevables G 7859 3008
Cash and cash equvalents - 1
Denvative financial assets J 55 -
7914 3009
Total assets 17796 11 332
Current habdities
Other payables | 3479 3613
Derwvatve financial babihties 1 55 -
3534 Rk
Non-current habifities
Borrowings H B723 1557
Dervatve financial iab:ities J 74 156
Deferred tax habihities F - 4
5797 1717
Total hlabilities 10331 5,330
Share capital L B60 78
Share premiem L 2704 1437
Reserves 390 3784
_Total equity attnbutable to equity shareholdars L _ 7465 6 002_
Total kabiitias and shareholders equity 17796 1 332

comparnying notes are an integral part of this balance sheet

roved by the Board of Dirgctors
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34 Sky plc company only financial statements (continued)

Company Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2012
Notes Em £m
Cash Rlows from operatuing actvities
Cash generated from aperations M T s
Net cash from operating activities - -
Cash flows from financing actmities
Proceeds fram the exertise of share options 10 n
Loan to subsidianies (i (o
Net cash (usedn) from financing activities (] 1
Net {decrease) increase incash and cash equivalents [Q] 1
Cash and cash equrvalents at the neginring of the year 1 -
Cash and cash cquivalents at the end of the year - 1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this cash flow statement
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2015
Capita! Total
Share Share Specal redemption Capetal ESCP Hedging Retamned Sharehoiders
capital  premium  feserve reserve  Jeserve  reSen®  (eServe eanungs equity
£m £m Em Em Em Em Em Em Em
At July 2014 797 1,437 14 174 844 (47 03 3019 6125
Profit For the year - - - - 7. - - 750 750
Recogrution and transfer of cash flow hedges - - - - - - 8 - 18
Tax on items taken directly to equity - - - - - - (&) - (4)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - 14 750 764 g
Share-based payment - - - - - 2 - (95) £93) F
Share buy-back programme 3
= Purchase of own shares for cancellation {16) - - 16 - - - (250) (250} “
- Finaneial hability for ctose period
purchases - - - - - - - (53 (59)
Dwndends - - - - - - - (485) (485)
At 30 June 2014 81 1437 14 190 B44 _(145) 1 2880 6002
Profit for the year - - - - . . - 548 548
Recogrution and transfer of cash flow hedges - - - - - - leny) - 3n
Tax on items taken directy to equity - - - - - - - 7
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - - {30) 548 518
Share-based payment - - - - - 20 - 69 g9
Reversal of financal hability for close - - - - - - - 59 59
penod purchases
Issue of own equity shares 79 1267 - - - - - - 1346
Dmdends - - - - - - - (549) (549)
At 30 Juneg 2015 860 2704 14 190 Ba4 (125) (29) 3na7 7465

For a descnption of the nature and purpose of each equity reserve sce notel

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement of changes Inequity

A Accountng polcies

Sky ple (the Company’)ss a pubhc kmited company ncorporated in the United Kingdom and registered in England and Wales

1) Basis of preparation

The Company finanaal statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS consistent with the accountng policies set out in note 1 of the

Group s consobdated financial statements

n) Revenue

Revenue which excludes value added tax represents the gross inflow of economac benefit from the Company s operating actviues
Revenue 1s measured at the farr value of the conssderation recerved or recewvable The Company s man source of revenue 1$ from licensing

the Company s brand name asset to subsidianes This revenue 1s recognised on an acaruals basis under the terms of relevant hcensing agreements

m} Investment in subsidiaries

An mvestment in a subsidiary is recognised at cost less any provision for impairment As permitted by section 133 of the Comparuns Act 2006

SIUALYIL)S RDUCUY

'
L)
1

where the rehief afforded under section 131 of the Companies Act 2006 applies cost s the aggregate of the nomunal value of the relevant number
of the Company’s shares and the fair value of any other consideration given to acguire the share capiial of the subsidiary undertakings

UONBULION IIPIOYARYS
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34 Sky plc company only financial statements {continued)

B Investmant income and finance costs

2005 2014
£m Em
Investment iIncome
tnvestment ncome from subsicdiaries 130 64
interest on other loans and recervables with related partes 1- -
131 64
2015 2014
Em £m
Finance costs
- Interest payable and similar charges
Faciity related costs 33 [¢3)
Guaranteed Notes (see note H) (168) (80)
(201) (82)
- Cther finance income (expense)
Remeasurement of borrowings and borrowings-related denvatrve financial instruments (not quahfying for hedge accounting) 462 -
Forewgn exchange loss arising on loan with subsidianes {462) -
Loss ansing on dervatives in a designated fair value hedge accounting relationship ) (19) (14)
Gain ansing on adjustment for hedged item in a designated fair value hedge accounting relationship 9 15
- 1
(201) (81)

Finance costs include ES0 million meurred 1n connection with £6 & bilion of frm underwnitten debt Faciities and other associated transaction costs

relaung to the purchase of Sky Deutschland and Sky ftaka These faclues including the previous RCF have been repaud or cancelled dunng the penod with

the exception of the £1 bdlion revohang credit faciity (RCF) whith remams undrawn

C Profit before taxation

Employee benefits
The Company had nl employees (2014 nd) dunng the year

Key management compensation

Amounts paid to the Directors of the Company a-e disclosed in the Report on Directors remuneration on pages 51to 69

D Taxauon
1} Taxation recognised in the income statement

2015 2014
£m Em
Current tax expense
Current year 22 37
Yotal current tax charge 22 37
Deferred tax expense
Cngination and reversal of temparary differences 2 (4}
Total deferred tax charge (credit) 2 [U)
Taxation 24 36
1) Oeferred tax recognised directly in equity
205 2014
Em Em
Deferred tax (credit) charge on hedging actmities 7y 4

m) Reconciiation of effective tax rate

The tax expense for Lhe year s lower (2014 lower) than the expense that would have been charged using the blended rate of corporation tax inthe UK
(2075%) applied to profit before tax The applicable enacted or substantively enacted effective rate of UK corporation tax for the year was 20 75% (2014

22 5%) The differences are explained overleaf
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2015 2014
Em Em
Profit before tax 512 786
Profit before tax multiphed by blended rate of corporation tax in the UK of 20 75% (2014 22 5%) 19 77
Effects of
Non-taxable mcome (106} (140}
Non-geductible expenditure L n -
Taxrate change - V)]
Taxabion 24 3B
Al taxation relates to UK corporation tax
E Investments in subsidianes
£m
Cost
At1July 2013 9148
Additions 3
At 30 Junc 2014 9151
Addiuons 137
At 30 June 2075 10522
Provision
At July 2013 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2005 (1005)
Camying amounts
At 1uly 2013 8143
AL 30 June 20V4 Bld6
At 30 June 2015 G517
See note 32 for a st of the Company s Investments
F Deferred tax
Recogmised deferred tax assets (habihtres)
Financal
nstruments
temporary
differences
£m
At July 2013 m
Credtt to income 1
Charge to equity ()
At 30 June 2014 4)
Charge to Income [¥3)
Credit to equity 7

At 30 June 2015

1

At 30 June 2015 a deferredtax asset of £244 million (2014 €244 milhion) has not been recogrused in respect of caprtal losses related to the Groups
holding in KirchPayTV on the basis that vtilisation of these temporary differences is not probable At 30 June 2015 the Company has also not recogrised a
deferred tax asset of E1 mufhon (2014 £5 million) relating to capital losses and prowisions in respect of Football club investments on the basis that it 1s not

probable that they will be utdised

G Otherrecewvables

2015 2014

fm £m

Amounts recerable from subsidianes 7859 3008
Current other receivables 7.859 3008
Non-current prepayment ] 2
Tatal gther recavables 7865 3010

On1 April 2015, the Campany made a loan of €600 million to Sky Operational Finance Limited This loan bears interest at 3 month EURIBOR plus O 75% and

1s repayable on demand

On 27 Novernber 2014 the Company made aloan of €400 milhen to Sky Operational Finance Liruted This loan bears interast at 2 750% and 1s repayable

ondemand
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34 Sky pic company only financial statements (continued)

On 24 November 2014 the Company made loans of £200 million E450 mulion €850 nullion and €126 milion to Sky Operational Finance Lmited These
Jloans bear interest at a rate of 4 000% LIBOR plus 1 2296% 1875% and 2 940% respectvely and are repayable on demand

On16 September 2014 the Company made loans of €369 milion and €582 rilion to Sky Operattonal Finance Limited These toans bear interest at 2 1867%
and EURIBOR plus 06563% respectvely and are repayable on demand

On15 September 2014 the Company made loans of £1500 milhign and €1000 mitiron to Sky Operational Finance Uimited Theseloans bear interest at
1500% and 2 500% respectively and are repayable on demand

0On 26 November 2012 the Company 1ssued US$800 million Guaranteed Notes with a coupon rate of 3 125% and loaned proceeds to Sky Operavonal
Finance Limited Sky Operational Finance Limited pays the same annual effectmve interest rate to the Company

On 24 November 2008 the Company issued US$600 mullon Guaranteed Notes with a coupon rate of 9 500% andloaned the proceeds to Sky Operational
Finance Limited Sky Cperatonal Finance Umited pays the same annual effective interest rate to the Company

On 15 February 2008 the Company ssued US$750 million Guaranteed Notes with a coupon rate of 6100% and toaned the proceeds to Sky UK Limited
Sky UK Limited pays the same annual effective interest rate to the Company

All other amounts receivable from subsidianes are non-nterest beanng and are also repayable on demand
The Directors consider that the carmng amount of ather recervables approximates their farvatues

The Company s credit rsk 1s primarnly attnbutable to its other receivables The majponty of its other recervables balance 1s due from Sky Operational
Finance Limited and Sky UK Limited The nsk of these entes defaulung on amounts owed 1s considered low due to Sky Operational Finance United being
a condust to pass through intercompany finanang and due to Sky UK Limited s successful operation of pay television broadcasting and heme
commumcatons senaces in the UK and Ireland

H Berrowings

205 2014
£Em Em
Nan-current borrowings

US$750 muithon of 5100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018 474 aa2
US$582 8 million of 9 S00% Guaranteed Notes repayable In November 2018 372 353
US$750milicn of 2 625% Guarant@ed NotEs repayable v September 2019 a77 =
€600 milbon of Floaung Rate Notes repayable in April 2020 425 -
£450 mithan of 2 B75% Guaranteed Notes repayable wn November 2020 445 -
€1500 mullion of 1 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2021 1058 -
USSBOO million of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2022 504 466
€850 million of 1 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2023 602 -
US$H1 250 methion of 3 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2024 787 -
€1000 million of 2 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2026 705 -
£ 300 milhon of 6 D00% Guaranteed Notes repayable s May 2027 296 296
E300 mulhan of 4 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Novernber 2029 257 -
€400 mulhan of 2 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 281 -
6723 1557

At 30 June 2015 the Company had inissue the following Guaranteed Notes
Interest Rate Hedging Hedged intercst Rates

Hedged
Value Fixed Floating
Em Em Em Fixed Floaung
USE750 milhion of 6 100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018 387 280 97 | 650829% &m UBOR +1 892%
UsS$582 8 mificn of 9 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2018 389 260 129 7091% 6m UBOR +5542%
£450 mithon of 2 875% Guaranteed Notes reépayable in November 2020 450 - 450 - 3m LIBOR +1 230%
US$800 million of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2022 503 503 - 3 226% -
E300 million of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 2027 300 300 - 6000% -
E300 mellion of 4 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Novembaer 2029 200 200 - 4 000% -
2 229 1,553 676
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Interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Hedged
Value Fixed Roating
€m em Em Frxed Floatng
Us$750 milion of 2 625% Guaranteed Notas repayable in September 2019 5M - 581 - 3mEURIBOR +0 656%
€600 mullion of Floating Rate Notes repayable in April 2020 600 - 800 - 3mEURBOR +0 750%
£1500 million of 1 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2021 1500 1500 - 1500% _ L o-
€850 milion oF 1 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Novernber 2023 850 850 - T875% -
US$1 250 milion of 3 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2024 969 969 - 2187% -
€1000 milhon of 2 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2026 1000 1000 - 2500% -
E£300 mulhion of 4 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Novemnber 2029 126 126 - 2943% -
€400 mullion of 2 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 400 400 - 2750% -
5026 4 Bas 1181
See note 24 for details of Capital Risk Management and note 22 for details of the Company s Guaranteed Notes in the prior year
| Other payables
2005 2014
Em Em
Other payables
Amounts owed to subsidhary undertakings 3394 3536
Amounts owed to other related parties - 23
Other - 35
Accnuals 8s 18
3479 3613

Amounts payable to subsidianes are non-tnterest bearing and repayable on demand The balance compnses £2164 mithon of nen-interest beaning
lpans (2014 E£2164 million) and £1230 mihion of other payables (2014 £1372 millon) The Directars consider that the carrypng amount of other payables

approxtmates thesr Fair values

uoda n3nens

B0UBLIANDD

J Dervatives and other Financial nstruments

Fair values

Setout below 1s a companseon of the carrying values and the esumated far values of the Company s financial assets and financial habrfiues

at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014

2015 2015 2014 2014

Carrying Faw Carrying Far

valie value value value

£m £m £m Em

Financial a55ets and habitsties held orissued to finance the Company s operations

Quoted bond debt 6723 (6503) (1557) (1740)

Derprative financialinstruments 284 284 15 19
Other payables and recenvables 4380 4 380 (605) (605)

The farr values of financial assets and financial iabilities are determined as detaied in note 23 and all items held at far value are classified
as Leved 2in the far value herarchy

Set out below are the dervative financial instruments entered inta by the Company to manage 1ts interest rate and foreign exchange nsk

SIUSNENS POURUL

UBRPULIO L D OUBRYS,

|

2015 2014
Asset Liability Asset Liability
Fair value Nouonal Farr Value Notonal Farrvalue Nouonal Faur Value Notenal
£m Em £m Em Em Em Em £m
Fair value hedges
Interest rate swaps 48 939 - - S1 452 - -
Cross-currency swaps 19 466 - - - - -~ -
Cash flow hedges
£ross-currency swaps 88 1065 {2) 503 45 290 (36) 503
Derrvatives not tn a formal hedge relationshp
Interest rate swaps 14 335 (14} 596 N 574 (25} 314
Cross-currency swaps 244 2065 (103) 1017 48 725 (54) 1018
Total 413 487 (129) 2116 175 2041 {156) 1835
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(continued)

34 Sky plc company only financial statements (continued)
Note 23 prowdes further detais of the Group s denvative and ather financial mstruments
The matunty of the dermvative financialinstruments 1S shown below

2015 04

Asset babikty Asset bability

- - Em - - - Em = = Em -~ -fm

Inone year orless S5 {55) - “
Between one and two years - - 33 (33
Between two and five years mn (34) 122 (67)
In more than five years 147 {40) 20 (55)
Total 413 (129) 175 (356)

K Financial risk management

Interest rate and foreign exchange risk management

The Company manages its exposure ta Interest rates and foreign exchange movements which anse from the Company s sources of finance by selecuvely
entering INto denvative iinancial nstruments to manage its exposure The Company has also entered into dervative contracts on behalf of its
subsidiaries Sky Group Finance pic and Sky UK Limited and has back-to-back intercompany cantracts

Foreign exchange risk
The following analysis details the Company s sensitvity 1o movemnents in pounds sterling aganst all currencies in which it has significant transactions

The sensitiity analysis includes only outstanding foretgn currency denominated financial instruments and adjusts therr translation at the period end
for a 25% change i foreign currency rates

A 25% strengthenmg in pounds sterhng aganst the US dollar would have an adverse impact on profit of £13 miflion (2014 adverseimpact of £16 milhon)
relating to non-cash movements in the valuation of derivatves The same strengthen:ng would have an adverse impact on other eguity of £39 milion
(2014 adverse impact of £21 millior)

A 25% weakerung In pounds sterling against the US dollar would have a beneficial impact on profit of E21 milion (2014 beneficsal impact of £26 mulion)
relating to non-cash movements in the valuation of dervatves The same weakening would have a benefical mpact on other equity of E65 milion (2014
benefioal impact of E36 mullion)

A25% suengthemngE pounds stering agamnst the euro would have a benefical impact on profit by £37 milon (2034 nif) relabing to non-cash movements
in the valuations of dervatives

A 25% weakening in pounds stering against the eurc would have an adverse impact on profit of £28 million {2014 nil} relating to nan-cash movemnents
n the valuation of denvatives

Interest rate nsk

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both derwvatves and non-derivative financial
instruments at the balance sheet date For floating rate habilitses the analysis 1§ prepated assuming the amount of lability outstanding at the balance
sheet date was outstanding for the whole year

For each one hundred basis pont rise or fall in interest rates at 30 June 2095 and ff all other varables were held constant, the Company’s profit for the
year ended 30 June 2015 would decrease or ncrease by E18 milion (2014 decreasa orncrease by £3 milbon) and otherequity reserves would decrease
or increase by E6 million (2014 decrease orincrease by £1 milhion)

A one hundred basis pont nse or fall v interest rates represents alarge but realistic movement which can easily be muluphed to give sensitmtios
at different iInterest rates

The sensibwity analyses provided are hypothetical only and should be used with caution as the impacts provided are not necessarily indicatve of the
actual impacts that would be expenenced because the effect of a change in a particular market variable on fair values or cash flows 1s calcufated wathout
considenng interrelationshups between the vanous market rates of mibigating actions that would be taxen by the Company In addition the Company s
actual exposure to market rates changes as the Company s portfolio of debt changes

The changes in valuauons are estimates of the impact of changes m market vanables and are not a preciction of future events or antitipated gains
or losses

Liqusdity risk
See note 24 far the Company s palicy on liqusdity management

The following table analyses the Company s non-dervative financial habilities net settled interest rate swaps and gross settled currency swaps
and collars into relevant matunty groupings based on the remaining penicd at the balance sheet date to the contractual matunty dste

The amounts disclosed i the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows and may therefore not reconale to the amounts disclosed on the
balance sheet for borrowings denvatve financial instruments and other payables
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Between Hetween
Lesg than one and twoand More than
i2months twoyears fmeyears fiveyears

Em £m £m £m
At 30 June 2015
Non-denvative finanaal habihbes
Bonds -USD 122 122 1572 1474
Bonds =GAP - — oo 43 43 129 130%
Bonds - EUR 57 S5 595 2948
Other payables 3479 - - -
Net settled denvatives
Financial assers (22) n 37 [¢)]
Gross settled denvatives
Outflow 1058 141 199 347
Inflow

(1083) (166) (2192 (3147)

Between Between
Less than one and twoand Morethan
iZmonths  twoyears fiveyears  frevyears

Em £m Em Em
At 30 June 2014
Non denvative finanaal habdities
Bonds - USD 74 74 962 s
Bonds - GBP 18 18 S4 444
Other payables 3613 - - -
Net settled derivatives
Financisl assets (£5)] 0s) {36) -
Gross settled denvatves
Outflow 63 62 930 560
inflow {56) {56) __ (920} {521)

AL 30 June 2015 the Company had anundrawn E1000 million RCF with a matunty date of 30 November 2020 See note 22 for further infarmation

L Notes to the Company statement of changes in equity

for details of share capital share premium the special reserve the capital redemption reserve and the hedging reserve see notes 25 and 26

For details of dvidends see nota 11

Capitalrescrve

Thes reserve arose from the surplus on the transfer of trade and assets to a subsidiary undertaking

M Reconalation of profit before tax to cash generated from operations

2015 2014

£m £m

Profit before tax 572 786
Drvdend income {510) 622
Het finance costs 70 7
Increase sn other receivables (132) [4]:1)]
Cash generated from operations - -
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

{continued)

34 Sky plc company only financial statements {continued)

N Contingent liabilities and guarantees

The Company and certain of its subsidianes have undertaken in the normal course of business to prowide support 1o several of the Group s investments
in beth limited and unbimited companies and partnerships to meet thew habilities as they fall due Severalof these undertakings contain maximum
financial hmits These undertakings have been given for at least one year from the date of the signing of the UK statutory accounts of the relaved entity

A payment under these undertakings would be required in the event of an investment being unable to pay its habihties

The Company has provided parent company guarantees in respect of the various contracts entered into with the Premier League by Sky UK Limited -
covenng the 2012114 to 201819 football seasons In each case the guarantee covers all payment obhigations now or i the future due owing or tncunred
by Sky UK Limited under the contracts and afl habilites now or in the future anising or incurred under the indemruty given to the Premier League by Sky
U¥ Lirited under the contracts

The Company has provided a parent company guarantee in respect of the contract entered into with Sky UK Limsted and Stanhope plc inrelationto
the construction of a new corporate headquarters at the Osterley Campus The guarantee covers ali performance cbligations and payment obligations
imposed on Sky UK Limited under that contract

The Company has provided a back-to-back guaranitee in favour of 215t Century Fox inc of up to half of the annual payment obhgations of Sky Deutsehland
Fernsehen GmbH & Co KG under the 2013/17 Bundesliga agreement It has also previded back-to-back guarantees in favour of 21st Century Fox Inc n
relation to UEFA Champions League and other programming obhigations of Sky Italia Se

The Company has provided a parent company guaranteg to SGH Stream Sub Inc Inrespect of the obligations of Sky ltalian Holdings S p A underthe
Sky itaha 5 Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 25 July 2014 The Company has also prowided a parent company guarantee to 215t Century Fox Adelawe
Haldings BV in respect of the obligations of Sky German Holdings GmbH under the Sky Deutschland AG Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 25 July 204

Tha Company has guarantees in place relating to the Group s berrowings see note 22 and in relation to sudit exemptions see note 32

Q Transactions with related parties and majar shareholders

2005 2004

Em Em

Supply of services Lo subsidiaries 229 225

Interest recewed from funding to subsiciaries 130 64

Interest on other loans and recewvables with related parties 1 -

Amounts owed by subsidianes __ - 78582 3008
Amounts owed to subsidiaries (3354) (3536)
Amounts owed to other related partes - (23)

The Company has related-party transactions with 1ts subsidianes by virtue of its status as parent company of the Group In particular it.1s normal
treasury practice for the Company to lend and borrow cash to and from ts subsidiares as required Under this poliey Sky UK Limited settled habihties
of E130 milhgn and €17 million (2014 £83 million and €nd) on behalf of the Company dunng the year Interest s earned on certain loans to subsidiaries

The Company recogrused £229 milhon (2014 £225 million) for icensing the Sky brand name to subsidiaries The Company recognised dividends during
the year from subsidianes totalling £510 million (2014 £622 million)

Share buy-back programmse

During the prioryear the Company purchased and subsequently cancelled 12140 586 ordinary shares held by 215t Century Fax inc as part
ofits share buy back programme

The Group s related-party transactions are disclosed in note 30

P Events after the reporting perod
For detals see note 33 tothe consohdated financial statements
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Unaudited supplemental information
Consolidated results
Below 15 selected Nnancral information far the Group under IFRS as at and for each of the five years ended 30 June
Year Year Year Year Year
ended erded ended ended erded
30 June 30 June 30June 30 June 30 June
2015 2014 201 2012 201
Conschdated Income Statement Em Em £m Em Em
Conbnuing cperations
Revenug' 9989 7450 7082 6678 6518
Operatng expense? {9017) (6 345) (5835) (S469) (5467)
Operating profit 972 1104 1247 1209 1051
Share af results of jont ventures and assccates 28 35 46 39 34
Investment income 8 28 28 18 9
Finance costs (283) {140} (108} [(30)] )
Profit on disposal of available-for-sale investment 492 - - - 9
Profit on dsposal of assoaiate 299 - - - -
Profit before tax 1516 1025 1,213 1155 992
Taxatson (184) (205) (267} (274} (250)
Profit for the year from ¢continuing operations 1332 820 946 881 742
Discontinued aperations
Profit for the year from discontinued operatons 620 45 33 25 68
Profit for the year 1,952 B65 979 906 810
Profit for the year attrnbutable to
equuty shareholders of the parent company 1957 B6S 979 806 810
Non-controlling interests (5) - - - -
Net (loss) profit recogrused directly in equity (625) 73 129 64 (8)
Total camprehensive income for the year 1327 538 1168 970 802
Earnings per share from profit for the year (in pence)
Bask nsgp 554p 60 7p 526p 465p
Diluted 114 4p- 54 9p 597p 522p 459p—
Dividends per share (in pence) 328p 320p 300p 254p 233p
: 30 June 30 June 30 June A0 June 30 June
2015 2014 2013 2012 20m
Censolidated Balance Sheet £m Em Em £m Em
Mon current assets 10799 3ple 3776 3234 3023
Current assets 4559 2573 2569 2275 2329
Total assets 15358 6449 6345 5509 51354
Current iabdities (4 204) (2519) (2317) (2098) [1h227))
Non-current kabiities (7930) (2858) (3086 (2467) (2407)
Nat assets 3224 1072 1012 044 1035
Humber of shares missue {in millions) 1719 1563 1594 1674 1753

Sky plc
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Group financial record
(continued)
Unaudited supplemental information

Consolidated results

Yaar Year Year Year Year
ended ended ended ended ended
30 lune 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
2015 2014 2013 2002 201
Stausucs (000) (000 {000y (000) {000)
Products e
LK & Ireland 18036 34775 31634 28 365 25375
Germary N33 - - - -
Italy BE4 - - - -
Total paid-for subscription products 53783 34775 31634 28 365 25375
Customers
UK & Ireland 12001 N495 1153 10606 10294
Germany 4280 - - - -
Italy 4725 - - - -
Retanl customers 21006 1495 11153 10 606 10 294
UK & lreland 4028 4041 3877 3672 3522
Germany 146 - - - -
Italy - - - - -
Wholesale customers? 4174 4041 3677 3672 31522
Total customers 25180 15536 14,830 14 278 13,816
Churn
UK & Ireland 98% 109% 107% 10 2% 10 4%
Germany B6% - - - -
traly S 6% - - - -

1 sncluded withun revenue lor the year ended 30 June 2014 15 a E15 milon credit recewved following the tenmination of an ascrow agreement with a cusrent whole sale operatar
2__ Induded within operating expense foc tha year ended 30 June 2015 are costs of E30 milionin relation Lo advisory and transacion fees incurred on the purchase of Sky Deutsetdand

2rvd Sty taha ¢osts of £105 millon relating ta corporate rastructung and efficency programmes cosisof E10 mionrelatng to the integrat-an of Sky Ceutschland and Sky ltaha in
tha enlarged Geoup and tosts of £231 miion retating to the amartsaton of acqured inangbies
inciuded within operaung expense for the year ended 30 fune 20i4 are costs of EA9 milon relaling L5 the integraton of the 02 consumer broadband and fixed-ne telephony
business costs of £40 million retating 1o 8 Corporate restractunng and efficency programme E2 mikon a< a result of the temmenatan of anescrow agreement with a current
whotesate operator and £23 milion retating to the amarusat ion of acgquared intangibles
Included within Gperating expense for the year ended 30 June 2013 15 a credit of £32 mudlonm retation to 2 credit note recaved fotiowing an Ofcom determinanon a aredit of
£33 mrwlhon retating o the final settlement of disputeswath a farmer manufacturer of sel-1op boxes {net of associated costs) costs of £ 21 midbon relaung to one-off upgrade of
set tap boxes costs of £33 milion refatmg to a corperate efficency programme and costs of EISmdbonelaung 1o the acquismon and integration af the 02 consumer broadband and
fixedine telgphony business Also included are costs af €25 mudlon relating to the programme toaffer wirgless cannectors 1o salacted Sky Moves customers
Iincluded witha operating expense For the year ended 30 June 2012 a credit of E31mdlon n relation 1o the Naws Conporabion {subsequently remamed 2131 Century Fo, Inc ) proposal
i 2011 consusting of costs Incurred offset by the receipt of the break fee Alsa induded are restructunng costs of E11 milion which compITse severance payments m relaton Lo
approximately 35 serior roles as part of 3 FASUUCIUNNG MMUATIVE Lo KNPFOVE ODerating effraency
Induded within operating experse for the vear ended 30 Jung 207 s £26 rdlon of restnuclunng Cosks arming on the dequisition of Lnang TV which compnse pnnopally redundaney
payments and tha early Lerrmnation of 3 pre-acuisibon contract, £15 mikon of casts n relaton tothe News Corporation (Sutysequently renamed 21st Century Fox, Inc) proposal and a redit
of £41meion in relauon to the refund oFimport duty on set-ton baxes pard cut n pnoryears Ths duty was recoverad due to the judgment gen by the ECJ on 14 Apnl 2011

2 Wholesale customars are customers who take a package from one of Sky S Wholesale Partners inwhich thay recerve at least one pad for Sky channel
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Factors which matenally affect the comparability of the selected financial data

Discontinued operations

During frscal 2015 the Group sold a controlling stake in its online betting anc gaming business For further details see note 3 to the consoldated financial
statements

During fiscal 201 the Group sold its business-to-business telecommunications operation Easynet, to LOC

Available-for-sale tnvestment
During fiscal 2015 the Group disposed of its remaining investment INITV For further details see nate & to the eonsalidated financal statements

Dunng fiscat 2011 the Group disposed of Its equity investment i Shine and recognised a profit of £9 midhon

Business combinations and profit on dispasal of associate
Durmg fiscal 2015 the Group completed the acquisitions of Sky Deutschland and Sky Itaha Forfurther details see note 31 to the consoldated financial

statements As part of the consideration for the purchase of Sky Italia the Graup disposed of ts shareholding inthe Nationat Geographic channet For
further details see note 6 1o the consohdated financial statements

During fiscal 2013 the Group completed the acquisition of the 02 consumer braadband and fixed-ine telephony business from Telefonica UX comprising
100% of the share capital of Be Un LUimited The results of this acqursition were consohdated from the date an which control passed to the Group
(30 April 2013)

Dunng fiscal 201 the Group completed the acquisttions of Living TV and The Goud The results of these acquisiiions were consolidated fram the date
on which contrel passed to the Group (12 July 2010 and 23 February 2011 respectively)

Exchangerates

A significant portian of the Groups llabdities and expenses associated with the cost of programmng acquired from US film hicensars together with
set-top box costs are denormnated in US dollars A significant portion of the Group s revenues and expenses assocated with its operations in Italy and
Germany & Austna are denommated in euros For a discussion of the impact of exchange rate movements on the Group s financial condition and results
of operations see note 24 to the consolidated financial statements
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Non-GAAP measures

Unaudited supplemental information

Consolhdated Income Statement - reconciliation of statutory and adjusted numbers

P

Adusted

|taly and
Exducing Germany &

Adjusting - —Adjusng --  --Austna — - ——-

Statutary tems tems pre-acquisibon  Like for Like
Notes £m £m £Em £m £m

Revenue

Subsenpuon 8518 - B 518 1179 9687

Transactional 153 - 153 20 173

wholesale and syndication S4t - 54} 9 550

Advertsing 649 - £a9 67 7i6

Qther 128 - 128 9 W7
9989 - 9989 1254 11283

Operatng expense

Programming A @172 10 (4,162) (724) (4886

Direct network costs (840) - {B40) - (840

Sales general and administration B (4 003) 386 (361 (538) {4157)
S07) 396 (8621 (1262) (9 883)

[EBITOA 1738 163 1903 129 2030 |

Operating profit 972 396 1358 32 1400

Share of results of joint ventures and associates 28 - 28

Investment income 8 - 8

Finance costs C (283) 75 {208)

Profit on disposal of avalable-for-sale investment [»] 402 (492) -

Profit ondisposal of associate E 299 (299 -

Profit before tax 1516 (320} 1196

Taxation F {184 (G 251}

Profit for the year frorm continuing operaticns 1332 (387) 945

Loss attnbutable to non-controling interests 5 3) 2

Profit from conunuing aperations attnbutable to equity shareholders of the

parent compary 1337 (39CG} 947

[Earnings per share (basic) 791p (231p) 560p |

Notes explanat:on of adjusting items for the year ended 30 June 2015
A Costsof E10 mdion relating to corporate restructunng and efficency programmes.

B Adwisory and transaction fees incduding inter aia financial adwisory costs corporate legal adwice due giligence reporting assuranee services and tax advice of £50 milbonincurred
on the purchase of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia costs of £95 million refating to corporate restructunng and efficency pragrammes (ncluding amorusationof £2 millen i
relation to associatad intangible assets) costs of £10 mihon relating to the integration of Sky Deutschland and Sky fralia in the enlarged Group and amertrsation of acquired

intangible assets of £231 million

€ Financecosts of E57 milion incurred i connection wath £6 6 tithon of fum underwstten debt fackties and other associated transaction cosss relaling Lo the purchase of
Sky Deutsehland and Sky Itala and casts of £18 miflion relating to the remeasurement of 2% denva.ve linanaal Instruments not quakifyng for hedge accounting and hedze

neffectveness

D Profit on the sale of sharehalding m ITV and gan on equety interest in Sky Deutschiand held priorta the a2quUIsition

£ Profic on cispasal of a shareholding of 21% tin NGE Network Intermational LLG and 2 shareholding of 21% 1n NGC Network Latin Amenica LLC

F  Taxeffect of adusung items
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Financial statements
2014
Adjusted
Italy and
Exduding Germarny &
Adjusting Adusting Austna
Statutory ems stems fultyear Like for Like
Nates Em Em £m Em Em
Revenue
Subscription 6278 - 6278 2994 9272
Transactional B5 - 86 56 142
Wholesale and syndicauon A 448 (15) 433 9 524
Advertising 487 - a8y M 590
Other 51 - 151 [&)] 148
7450 05) 7435 31341 10776
Operating expense
Prograrnmung B (2657) 1 (2656) (2006) (4 662)
Direct network costs C (84%5) 29 (B16) - (B16)
Sales general end admnistration D [2B844) B84 {2760) (1353) “113)
(6 346) 14 (6232 (3359) (9597
|EBimoA 1536 70 1606 242 1848 |
Qperating profit 1104 a8 1203 (18) 1185
Share of results of joint ventures and associates as - 35
Investment income 26 - 26
Finance costs £ (140} 5 {(135)
Profit before tax 1025 104 1129
Taxation F (205) 32) (237)
Profit for the year from conbinuing operations 820 72 892
[Eamings per share (basic) 52 5p 46p 571p ]

Notes explanationof adpssung items for the year ended 30 Juna 2014

A

a8
C
[+]

nm

Revenue of €15 milion relating to credit received followang termination of an escrow agreemant with & ¢urrent wholesale cperator

Costs of El miton relatng to a corporate restructenng and efficiency programme

Costs of E29 mibon relating to the integration of the O2 consumer broadband and fired hne telephony business

Const of £20 mulhion relating 1O the 2CGUASIUon and integr ation of the 02 consumer broadband and fixed-lse

termination of an escrow agreement with a current wholesala operator

Rerneasurement of all ervatwe financial instruments not quabfying for hedge accounting and hedge neffectiveness

Tax adjusting tems and the tax ¢ffect of above itemrs

ding amortisation of E4 mdhion n retation to
associatad intangible assats), casts of £39 milton in 1elaton 10 a carparate restnuctunng and afficency programme (inctudng impaiments of £2 midion m relation Lo assoaated
mtangible and tangible assels) costs of £23 mullion in redation to amorusation of acquired intangible assets and cost of E2 million relating to anexpense as a resultof the
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Finandal statamants

Non-GAAP measures
(conunued)
Unaudited supplemental information

Reconcthiation of cash generated from operations to adjusted free cash flow

for the year ended 20 June 2015

205 204
Note £m €m

Cash generated from continuing operations 27 2080 1,696
Intgrast recerved and dividends from available-for-sale investments 9 27
Taxation paid - o T . [ =) R -7 1~ ) R
Dvadends recerved From joint ventures and assoctates ' 25 2
Net funding to joint ventures and assocates [¢[o)] (6)
Purchase of property plant and equipment (385) (238)
Purchase of intangible assets (357) (302)
Interest paid (246} 137
Free cash flow 897 843
Cash paid relating to advisery and transaction fees and finance costs incurred on the purchase of Sky Deutschland
and Sky italia no -
Cash paid relating to cerporate restructuring and efficiency programme 34 12
Cash paid relating to the integration of Sky Deutsehland and Sky italia in the enlarged Group 8 -
Cash paid under provisions recegrised in pnor penods 1 27
Cash paid relating to the integration of the O2 consurmer broadband and fixed-ine telephony business 3 22
Payment (recespt) following termination of an escrow agreement with a current wholesale cperator 3 a9
Adjusted free cash Flow 1060 885

Where appropnate amounts above are shown net of applicable corporaton tax
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Shareholder informaton

Shareholder information

Annual General Meeting

The venue and tming of the Company s 2015 AGM 1s detailed in the notice
convening the AGM which will be availatie for download from the
Company s corporate website at sky com/corporate

Financial calendar
Resuls for the financial year ending 30 June 2016 will be published In

October 2015
January 2016°
April 2016
July 2016*

Prowsional dates

The Sky website

Sharehoiders are encguraged ta wisit the Sky website sky com which has
a wealth of nformation about the Company There s a section designed
speafically forinvestors at sky comdcorporate where investor and meda
infarmation can be accessed This year s Annual Report and Notice of
AGM together wath pnior year documents can be viewed there along with
mformationon dnadends share price and avording sharehalder fraud

Managing your shares and shareholder
communications
The Company s sharehotder register s maintamned by its Registrac

Equnits Information on how to manage your shareholdings can be found
at help shareview co uk

Shareholders can contact Equiniti in relation to all admuristratve
enquines relatng to ther shares such as a change of personal details

Dividend tax vouchers

A consolidated tax voucher serwce 1s avallable for shareholders wha have
chosen Lo receive dvidends directly into thewr bank account A single
consohdated tax voucher will be maied by the end of November each
year to concide with the final dividend payment

Dividend Reinvestment Plan -- .

The Company operates 2 Dmvdend Reinvestrnent Plan ( DRIP Y which
enables shareholders to buy the Company’s shares on the London stock
market with thewr cash dvidend Further informauon about the DRIP s
avalable from Equirits

ShareGift

Shareholders who only have a small number of shares whose value makes
it uneconomic to sell therm may wish to consider donating them to charity
through ShareGift the independent charity share donation scheme
(registered chanty no 1052686} Further information may be obtamned
from ShareGift on 020 7930 3737 or at sharegiftarg

Shareholder fraud

Fraud s on the increase and many shareholders are targeted every year
If you have any reason to believe that you may have been the target of 8
fraud or attemipted fraud in relation to your shareholding please contact
Equintti immedsately

American Depositary Receipts (ADR")

The Company s ADR programme tractes on the aver-the-counter (OTC )
marketin the U5 Mare information can be obtained from the Company s

oda aBneng

ueuIdon

tha loss of a share certificate cut-of-date dvidend cheques change
of dividend payment methods and how 1o apply for the Dindend
Renvestment Plan

Shareholders wha have not yet elected to receve shareholder
documentation in electronic form can sign up byregistenng at
sharawiew co uk Should Shareholders who have elected for electronic
commurications require a paper copy of any of the Company s
shareholder documentation or wash to change therr instructrons
they should contact Equiniti

Shareholder Contact Centre

Equiruts Lemited

Aspect House

Spencer Road

Lancing

West Sussex

BN9S9 6DA

Telephone 0871384 2091*

Telephone number from outside the UX +44 121415 7567

' Unes are open Monday to Friday 8 30amto 5 30pm sxciuding UK Bank Holitays
Cals 1o our 0871 numbérs cost Bp per menute plus network extras

corporate website at skycom/corporate
All enquuines relating to the Company s ADRS should be addressed to

BNY Mellon Shareowner Services

PO Box 30170

College Station TX77842-3170

US residents (888) 269 2377

IFresident cutside the US +1 201 680 6825
email shrrelations@cpushareownerservices com

Company’s registered office

Grant Way

Istewarth

Middlesex

TW75QD

Telephone 0323 100 0333
Overseas +44 3331000333

Company registration number
2247735

Auditor

Delaitte LLP

2 New Street Square
London

EC4A 387

Skypic 147
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Accessibility

If you would kke advice regarding accessibihty
of this document please contact the Accessible
Customer Sernce team on +44 (0) 344 2410333

Tofind out more about Sky go to sky comicorporate

For more about how we e making a wider contnbution
go toskycom/biggerpcture
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